## TREATMENT AND VALORIZATION OF ANAEROBIC DIGESTATE

### A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL AND APPLIED SCIENCES OF MIDDLE EAST TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

BY

NİLÜFER ÜLGÜDÜR

## IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING

MARCH 2019

Approval of the thesis:

## TREATMENT AND VALORIZATION OF ANAEROBIC DIGESTATE

submitted by NİLÜFER ÜLGÜDÜR in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental Engineering Department**, **Middle East Technical University** by,

Prof. Dr. Halil Kalıpçılar Dean, Graduate School of <b>Natural and Applied Sciences</b>	
Prof. Dr. Bülent İçgen Head of Department, <b>Environmental Eng.</b>	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tuba Hande Ergüder Bayramoğlu Supervisor, <b>Environmental Eng., METU</b>	
Prof. Dr. Göksel N. Demirer Co-Supervisor, School of Engineering and Technology, Central Michigan Uni.	
Examining Committee Members:	
Prof. Dr. Filiz B. Dilek Environmental Eng., METU	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tuba Hande Ergüder Bayramoğlu Environmental Eng., METU	
Prof. Dr. Meryem Beklioğlu Biological Sciences, METU	
Prof. Dr. Anatoli Dimoglo Environmental Eng., Düzce University	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Selim Sanin Environmental Eng., Hacettepe University	
	Date: 21.03.2019

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name, Surname: Nilüfer Ülgüdür

Signature:

#### ABSTRACT

### TREATMENT AND VALORIZATION OF ANAEROBIC DIGESTATE

Ülgüdür, Nilüfer Doctor of Philosophy, Environmental Engineering Supervisor: Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tuba Hande Ergüder Bayramoğlu Co-Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Göksel N. Demirer

March 2019, 288 pages

Anaerobic digestion is a widely applied process for the stabilization and treatment of high-strength wastes. The process has two outputs, biogas and digestate. Even though biogas produced during the treatment is a renewable energy source and has positive impacts on improving the economics of the plant, the treatment and disposal of the digestates present a challenge. The treatment methods offered so far are either costly or low yielded which drives off these uneconomic and non-viable treatment processes from being solutions for digestate management. Digestates are still commonly applied on land as a fertilizer or soil conditioner. However, the land application of the digestate is exposed to several concerns regarding pollution, limited applicability and regulatory aspects. In this thesis study, a residual biogas potential (RBP) test was initially conducted on six digestate samples with the aim of developing a new approach for digestate management. The test indicated that significant biogas yields (0.111-0.326 L<sub>biogas</sub>/g VS) and total chemical oxygen demand (COD<sub>t</sub>) removal (21-84%) could be obtained from digestates in 70 days. The high-rate anaerobic treatment was then applied on the digestate having the highest residual biogas yield to reduce the time required to digest the residual organics. CODt was removed by 56-63% in 1.3-1.4 days of hydraulic retention time (HRT). A subsequent process of microalgal nutrient removal resulted in 92.7-93.7% of ammonium nitrogen and 95.6-97.8% of dissolved

phosphorus reduction. The results were promising and verified the applicability of the high-rate anaerobic and microalgal nutrient removal processes for the digestate management.

Keywords: Digestate, High-Rate, Anaerobic Treatment, Residual Biogas, Microalgae, Nutrient Removal.

## ANAEROBIK ÇÜRÜTÜCÜ ÇIKIŞ SUYUNUN ARITILMASI VE DEĞERLENDİRİLMESİ

Ülgüdür, Nilüfer Doktora, Çevre Mühendisliği Tez Danışmanı: Doç. Dr. Tuba Hande Ergüder Bayramoğlu Ortak Tez Danışmanı: Prof. Dr. Göksel N. Demirer

#### Mart 2019, 288 sayfa

Anaerobik çürütme, kirlilik yükü yüksek atıkların stabilizasyonu ve arıtılması için yaygın olarak uygulanan bir işlemdir. Bu işlemin biyogaz ve çürütücü çıkış suyu olmak üzere iki çıktısı vardır. Arıtım sırasında üretilen biyogazın yenilenebilir enerji kaynağı olmasına ve tesisin ekonomisini iyileştirme yönünde pozitif etkileri olmasına rağmen, çürütücü çıkış suyunun arıtılması ve bertarafı bu endüstri için bir engeldir. Şimdiye kadar önerilen artıma yöntemlerinin maliyetli veya düşük verimli olması bu ekonomik ve uygulanabilir olmayan işlemleri çürütücü çıkış suyunun yönetimi için çözüm oluşturmaktan uzaklaştırır. Çürütücü çıkış suyu hâlâ toprağa gübre veya düzenleyici olarak uygulanmaktadır. Ancak, toprak uygulaması kirlilik, sınırlı uygulanabilirlik ve yasal mevzuat ile ilgili bazı kaygılara sebep olmaktadır. Çürütücü çıkış suyunun yönetimine yeni bir yaklaşım getirmek amacı ile ilk olarak 6 çürütücü çıkış suyu numunesine kalan biyogaz potansiyeli (KBP) testi uygulanmıştır. Test, çürütücü çıkış sularından 70 gün içinde önemli miktarlarda biyogaz verimlerinin (0,111-0,326 L<sub>bivogaz</sub>/g VS) ve toplam kimyasal oksijen ihtiyacı (COD<sub>t</sub>) gideriminin (%21-84) elde edilebileceğini göstermiştir. Daha sonra kalan organik maddelerin çürütülmesi için gereken süreyi azaltmak üzere kalan biyogaz potansiyeli en fazla olan çürütücü çıkış suyu için yüksek hızlı anaerobik arıtım uygulanmıştır. 1,3-1,4 günlük hidrolik tutma süresinde oranında %56-63 CODt giderilmiştir. Takibindeki süreçte uygulanan mikroalg işlemi ile %92,7-93,7 amonyum azotu ve %95,6-97,8 çözünmüş fosfor giderimi sağlanmıştır. Sonuçlar ümit verici olup çürütücü çıkış suyunun yüksek hızlı anaerobik ve mikroalgal besiyer madde giderme işlemlerinin uygulanabilirliğini ortaya koymuştur.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Çürütücü Çıkış Suyu, Yüksek Hızlı, Anaerobik Arıtım, Kalan Biyogaz, Mikroalg, Besiyer Madde Giderimi.

To the Life

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all, I would like to record my deepest gratitude to my supervisors Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tuba Hande Ergüder Bayramoğlu and Prof. Dr. Göksel N. Demirer for their valuable advices, guidance and encouragement.

I wish to express my sincere thanks to my committee members, Prof. Dr. Filiz B. Dilek, Prof. Dr. Meryem Beklioğlu, Prof. Dr. Anatoli Dimoglo and Doç. Dr. Selim Sanin. I'm very grateful for their feedbacks and valuable recommendations.

I am also grateful to Nur Filiz and Duygu Tolunay, the members of Limnology Laboratory of the Department of Biological Sciences of Middle East Technical University, for their valuable support and help. I would also like to thank to the undergraduate student in my department, Duygu Keskin, for her pro bono help in the laboratory. I am very lucky to have so lovely friends; Elif Küçük, Ebru Koçak, İlker Balcılar and Selcen Ak. Thank you all for your encouragement and support all the time I need. I also appreciate the support held by my roommates in METU: Mert Erkanlı and Tercan Çataklı.

I want exclusively to thank my son, Oğuz Ege Ülgüdür, for being a motivation during my studies. I really appreciate his patience whenever I needed. It is impossible to express how I am thankful to my husband Yavuz Selçuk Ülgüdür, my mother Hanife Demirci and my father Cemal Demirci. Thank you all for the trust and the belief in me. This Thesis was supported by Office of Scientific Research Projects Coordination of Middle East Technical University [BAP- 03-11-2016-002].

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACTv
ÖZvii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSx
TABLE OF CONTENTS xi
LIST OF TABLES xvii
LIST OF FIGURESxx
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xxii
CHAPTERS
1. INTRODUCTION
2. ANAEROBIC TREATABILITY AND RESIDUAL BIOGAS POTENTIAL OF
DIGESTATES
2.1 Literature Background
2.1.1 Anaerobic digestion process
2.1.2 Digestate processing options10
2.1.2.1 Digestate processing for volume reduction
2.1.2.2 Digestate processing for the recovery of nutrients
2.1.2.3 Digestate processing for complete purification of the liquid phase
2.1.2.4 Digestate processing to reduce chemical oxygen demand14
2.1.3 Drivers for digestate treatment14
2.1.3.1 Lack of a viable treatment method for the management of digestates

2.1.	3.2 Pollution concerns	15
2.1.	3.3 Limitations regarding the land application	16
2.1.	3.4 Regulatory concerns	20
2.1.4	Anaerobic treatment potential of the digestates	22
2.2 M	Iaterials and Methods	24
2.2.1	Digestate sampling and characterization	24
2.2.2	Anaerobic Inoculum	24
2.2.3	Experimental setup	26
2.2.4	The methodology of the treatment measurements and calculations	28
2.2.5	Analytical Methods	30
2.3 R	esults and Discussion	30
2.3.1	Digestate characterization	30
2.3.2	Suitability of the inoculum	31
2.3.3	Eliminated data in calculation of residual biogas yields	32
2.3.4	Residual biogas production from digestates	32
2.3.5	Residual biogas yields of digestates related to volatile solids content	of
digesta	ates	34
2.3.:	5.1 Residual biogas yields without nutrient supplementation	35
2.3.	5.2 Effects of nutrient supplementation	39
2.3.	5.3 Regulatory evaluation on the RBYs of digestates	41
2.3.6	Residual biogas yields related to COD <sub>t</sub> removed from the digestates	42
2.3.7	Anaerobic treatability of digestates	43
2.3.2	7.1 pH and alkalinity	43
2.3.2	7.2 The changes in total chemical oxygen demand concentrations	44

2.3.7.3 The changes in volatile and total solids concentrations	19
2.3.7.4 The changes in ammonium and total kjeldahl nitroge	en
concentrations5	54
2.3.7.5 The changes in dissolved reactive and total phosphore	us
concentrations5	59
2.4 The decision on the digestate selection on further anaerobic treatment6	55
2.5 Conclusions	55
3. HIGH-RATE ANAEROBIC TREATMENT OF DIGESTATE USING FIXED	)-
FILM REACTORS	57
3.1 Literature Background	58
3.1.1 High-rate anaerobic reactors	58
3.1.1.1 First generation high-rate anaerobic reactors	50
2.1.1.2 Second concretion high rate anacrobic reactors	50
3.1.1.2 Second generation high-rate anaerobic reactors	
3.1.1.3 Third generation high-rate anaerobic reactors7	75
3.1.2 Anaerobic fixed-film treatment of the waste streams	30
3.2 Materials and Methods	37
3.2.1 Liquid digestate	37
3.2.2 Anaerobic seed sludge	37
3.2.3 Analytical methods	38
3.2.4 Experimental setup	39
3.2.5 Operation of anaerobic fixed-film reactors	<del>)</del> 1
3.3 Results and Discussion	<del>)</del> 2
3.3.1 pH and alkalinity	- 22
	12
3.3.2 Hydraulic retention time and organic loading rate	<b>)</b> 4

3.3.3	The changes in total and soluble chemical oxygen demand concent	trations
		95
3.3.4	The changes in nutrient concentrations	101
3.3.4	4.1 Ammonium and total kjeldahl nitrogen concentrations	101
3.3.4	4.2 Dissolved reactive and total phosphorus concentrations	106
3.3.5	The changes in total and volatile solids concentrations	110
3.3.6	Biofilm	113
3.3.7	Biogas	114
3.3.7	7.1 Biogas production	114
3.3.7	7.2 Biogas yields	119
3.3.8	Global warming potential of the captured biogas from digestate	124
3.4 Co	onclusions	127
4. NUTE	RIENT REMOVAL FROM THE EFFLUENT OF ANAEROBIC F	IXED-
FILM REA	CTOR USING MICROALGAL CULTURES	129
4.1 Li	terature Background	129
4.2 M	aterials and Methods	141
4.2.1	Mixed microalgal culture	141
4.2.2	Wastewater origin	141
4.2.3	Analytical methods	142
4.2.4	Particle size distribution analysis	142
4.2.5	Microalgal species characterization	143
4.2.6	Settling test	143
4.2.7	Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) Imaging	144
4.2.8	Experimental Setup	144

4	.3 R	esults and Discussion	146
	4.3.1	Determination of the microalgae species	146
	4.3.1	1.1 Microalgae species in mixed microalgal culture	146
	4.3.1	1.2 Microalgae species grown after nutrient removal processes	147
	4.3.2	pH control and adjustment	149
	4.3.3	The removal of the nutrients by microalgal-bacterial consortium	151
	4.3.3	3.1 The changes in $NH_4^+$ - N, $NO_3^-$ -N and $NO_2^-$ -N concentrations	153
	4.3.3	3.2 The changes in DRP and TDP concentrations	168
	4.3.4	Biological Growth	181
	4.3.4	4.1 Overall growth of microalgal-bacterial consortium	181
	4.3.4	4.2 Microalgal growth	183
	4.3.5	Particle Size Distribution	186
	4.3.6	SEM imaging	188
	4.3.7	Settleability of the microalgal biomass	189
4	.4 C	onclusions	191
5.	CONC	CLUSIONS ON THE ENTIRE PROCESSES APPLIED	AND
RE	COMM	IENDATIONS	193
RE	FEREN	ICES	197
AP	PENDI	CES	
A.	Applic	cation and evaluation of solids removal methods for a digestate sample	e231
B.	The sta	atistical evaluation of the results of the analysis obtained from R2 rea	ctors
		- 	245
C.	Calcul	lations regarding anaerobic treatment in RBP test	249
D.	Effect	of chloride ion concentration on COD measurements	265

E.	Negative biogas production periods in the related reactors
F.	Inconsistent data observed in RBP test
G.	Correlation between biogas yields and removed volatile solids from digestate
sam	ples
H.	Calculations on the concentration of free ammonia275
I.	A sample calculation for NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N removal in T1a277
J.	NH <sub>4</sub> <sup>+</sup> -N removal kinetics
K.	A sample calculation on DRP and TDP removal
L.	TDP removal kinetics
M.	DRP removal kinetics
CU	RRICULUM VITAE

## LIST OF TABLES

## TABLES

Table 2.1. Biogas yields obtained from various raw feedstocks10
Table 2.2. General characterization of the liquid digestates (Xia and Murphy, 2016).
Table 2.3. The residual biogas yields (RBYs) of various digestates previously studied
in anaerobic batch reactors
Table 2.4. The capacities and operating conditions of the anaerobic digesters24
Table 2.5. The initial characterization of the digestates and inoculum
Table 2.6. Nutrient medium used in RBP test (modified from WRAP, 2010)27
Table 2.7. Total biogas production per unit volume of digestate ( $L_{biogas}/L_{digestate}$ )33
Table 2.8. The residual biogas yields with respect to volatile solids concentration. 35
Table 2.9. The residual biogas yields with respect to $\text{COD}_r$ concentrations43
Table 2.10. The change in alkalinity concentrations after 70 days of anaerobic batch
treatment45
Table 2.11. The change in $\text{COD}_t$ concentrations after 70 days of anaerobic batch
treatment48
Table 2.12. The change in VS concentrations after 70 days of anaerobic batch
treatment51
Table 2.13. The change in TS concentrations after 70 days of anaerobic batch
treatment53
Table 2.14. The change in $\mathrm{NH_4^+}\text{-}\mathrm{N}$ concentrations after 70 days of anaerobic batch
treatment55
Table 2.15. The change in TKN concentrations after 70 days of anaerobic batch
treatment
Table 2.16. The change in DRP concentrations after 70 days of anaerobic batch
treatment61

Table 2.17. DRP/TP ratio for the digestate before and after RBP test
Table 2.18. The change in TP concentrations after 70 days of anaerobic batch
treatment
Table 3.1. The studies on high-rate anaerobic treatment of various wastewaters 70
Table 3.2. The studies on two-phase anaerobic treatment of wastewaters79
Table 3.3. The studies on the anaerobic treatment of various waste streams using
anaerobic fixed film reactors
Table 3.4. Seed sludge and digestate characterization. 88
Table 3.5. Operational Parameters (as calculated) of AFFRs.
Table 3.6. The influent and effluent CODt concentrations and the corresponding
removal efficiencies
Table 3.7. The influent and effluent CODs concentrations and the corresponding
removal efficiencies
Table 3.8. The influent and effluent $NH_4^+$ -N concentrations and the corresponding
removal efficiencies
Table 3.9. The influent and effluent TKN concentrations and the corresponding
removal efficiencies
Table 3.10. The influent and effluent DRP concentrations and the corresponding
removal efficiencies
Table 3.11. The influent and effluent TP concentrations and the corresponding
removal efficiencies
Table 3.12. The influent and effluent VS concentrations and the corresponding
removal efficiencies
Table 3.13. The influent and effluent TS concentrations and the corresponding
removal efficiencies
Table 3.14. Nitrogen, methane and carbon dioxide contents of the biogas116
Table 3.15. Power that can be generated by the treatment of digestate in AFFRs118
Table 3.16. Biogas yields relative to the COD <sub>t</sub> removal for R1121
Table 3.17. Biogas yields relative to the COD <sub>t</sub> removal for R2122

Table 3.18. Biogas yields relative to the added amount of VS (VS <sub>added</sub> ) for R1 and R2.
Table 3.19. tCO <sub>2</sub> e of methane and carbon dioxide fractions of the biogas captured
from the digestate
Table 4.1. Studies on digestate treatment using microalgae species135
Table 4.2. The characterization of the AFFR effluent, AFFR liquor and microalgal
inoculum
Table 4.3. Dilution ratios and total operation periods for reactors.      145
Table 4.4. Microalgae counts and biovolumes in the sample of Lake Eymir147
Table 4.5. $NH_4^+$ - N, $NO_3^-$ -N and $NO_2^-$ -N concentrations at the initial and final stages
of the experiment157
Table 4.6. The calculations on the removal of $NH_4^+$ - N including the dissolution
process
Table 4.7. The corrected nitrified and biomass uptake of $NH_4^+$ - N via dissolution
consideration166
Table 4.8. DRP and TDP concentrations at the initial and final stages of the
experiment170
Table 4.9. The calculations on the biological TDP uptake including the dissolution
process
Table 4.10. The calculations on the biological DRP uptake including the dissolution
process
Table 4.11. Biomass production and biomass productivity at the end of the operation.
Table 4.12. Chlorophyll-a concentrations at the start-up and second measurement.
Table 4.13. Volume fraction of the particles within the approximated size ranges.

## LIST OF FIGURES

# FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Proposed digestate treatment scheme
Figure 1.2. The basic flowchart representing the scope of the Thesis
Figure 2.1. Degradation of the substrates during anaerobic digestion process (de Mes
et al., 2003)
Figure 2.2. Digestate processing options (Drosg et al., 2015)11
Figure 2.3. Biogas production from digestates (a) with (b) without nutrient
supplementation per unit volume of digestate (Lbiogas/Ldigestate)
Figure 2.4. RBP curve for the digestates (a) with (b) without nutrient supplementation.
Figure 3.1. Experimental setup of AFFRs
Figure 3.2. Biomass immobilization medium90
Figure 3.3. The change of HRT, OLR and the effluent pH and alkalinity (a) R1 and
(b) R2
Figure 3.4. The change of $COD_t$ and $COD_s$ concentrations (a) R1 and (b) R297
Figure 3.5. Effluent NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N and TKN concentrations of (a) R1 and (b) R2 103
Figure 3.6. Effluent TP and DRP concentrations of (a) R1 and (b) R2107
Figure 3.7. Immobilized biomass after the reactor operation
Figure 3.8. Daily biogas production in R1 and R2115
Figure 3.9. Biogas production per volume of digestate in R1 and R2117
Figure 4.1. Illumination of the experimental setup
Figure 4.2. Microscopic images taken from the samples of (a) T1b and (b) T2b 148
Figure 4.3. Microalgal species dominated at the end of the reactor operations 148
Figure 4.4. pH change and adjustment during the operation of microalgal batch
reactors151
Figure 4.5. The change in NH <sub>4</sub> <sup>+</sup> - N concentration during the operation

Figure 4.6. The change in NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> N concentration during the operation160
Figure 4.7. NH <sub>4</sub> <sup>+</sup> - N removal profiles estimated by one-half-order reaction kinetics
analysis162
Figure 4.8. Correlation between total and actual removed $NH_4^+$ - N concentrations.
Figure 4.9. Correlation of chlorophyll-a concentration with ammonium assimilation.
Figure 4.10. The change in TDP concentration during the operation of the reactors.
Figure 4.11. The change in DRP concentration during the operation of the reactors.
Figure 4.12. TDP removal profiles estimated by zero-order reaction kinetics analysis.
Figure 4.13. DRP removal profiles estimated by zero-order reaction kinetics analysis.
Figure 4.14. The change in the concentration of total solids during operation182
Figure 4.15. The change in chlorophyll-a concentrations during the operation184
Figure 4.16. The chlorophyll-a contents at the end of the operational periods185
Figure 4.17. Particle size distribution of the samples
Figure 4.18. SEM images for sample from (a) T1b at 6000x, (b) T1b at 1500x, (c) T2b
at 6000x, (d) T2b at 1500x
Figure 4.19. Settling test applied to samples from randomly selected reactors190

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

## ABBREVIATIONS

AAF	Anaerobic attached film	
ABR	Anaerobic baffled reactor	
ACT	Anaerobic contact reactor	
AD	Anaerobic digestion	
AF	Anaerobic filter	
AFBR	Anaerobic fluidized bed reactor	
AFFBR	Anaerobic fixed film bed reactor	
AFFEBR	Anaerobic fixed film expanded bed	
AFFFBR	Anaerobic fixed film fixed bed reactor	
AFFR	Anaerobic fixed film reactor	
AMBR	Anaerobic mitigating blanket reactor	
APBR	Anaerobic packed bed reactor	
ASBR	Anaerobic sequencing batch reactors	
ASTBR	Anaerobic structured bed reactor	
ATS	Attached total solids	
AVS	Attached volatile solids	
BMP	Biochemical methane potential	
BSI	British Standards Institution	
BTL	Biomass to liquid fuel	
C:N	Carbon to nitrogen	
$CH_4$	Methane	
СМ	Completely mixed	
$CO_2$	Carbon dioxide	
COD	Chemical oxygen demand (mg/L)	
COD <sub>a</sub>	Chemical oxygen demand-added (mg/L)	
COD <sub>eff</sub>	Chemical oxygen demand-effluent (mg/L)	
COD <sub>inf</sub>	Chemical oxygen demand-influent (mg/L)	

CODr	Chemical oxygen demand-removed (mg/L)	
COD <sub>s</sub>	Chemical oxygen demand-soluble (mg/L)	
CODt	Chemical oxygen demand-total (mg/L)	
CSAR	Continuously stirred anaerobic reactor	
CSTR	Continuously stirred tank reactor	
DLD	Diluted liquid digestate	
DOP	Dissolved organic phosphorus	
DRP	Dissolved reactive phosphorus (mg/L)	
	1/10 diluted, sequentially filtered liquid digestate	
DSFLD	from 600, 425, 175, 100, 63 and 53 $\mu m$ pore-sized	
	filters	
DUP	Dissolved unreactive phosphorus	
DWW	Dilution wastewater	
EEAD	Electrolysis enhanced anaerobic digestion	
EGSB	Expanded bed granular sludge blanket	
FBR	Anaerobic fixed bed reactor	
GLS	Gas-liquid-solid	
GWP	Global warming potential	
HRT	Hydraulic retention time	
IA	Intermediate alkalinity (mg/L as CaCO <sub>3</sub> )	
IC	Internal circulation reactor	
LD	Liquid digestate	
MBBR	Moving bed biofilm reactor	
MFDLD	Diluted and mesh filtered liquid digestate	
$N_2$	Nitrogen gas	
$N_2O$	Nitrous oxide	
NH <sub>3</sub>	Ammonia	
$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	Ammonium	
NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N	Ammonium nitrogen (mg/L)	
NO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup> -N	Nitrite nitrogen (mg/L)	
NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> -N	Nitrate nitrogen (mg/L)	

OLR	Organic loading rate	
PA	Partial alkalinity (mg/L as CaCO <sub>3</sub> )	
PAS	Publicly Available Specification	
PBR	Photobioreactor	
PO4 <sup>3-</sup>	Phosphate	
PolyP	Polyphosphate	
PP	Particulate phosphorus	
R	Correlation coefficient	
$\mathbb{R}^2$	Coefficient of determination	
RBP	Residual biogas potential	
	Residual biogas yield ( $L_{biogas/g} VS_{added}$ , m <sup>3</sup> biogas /kg	
RBY	VS <sub>added</sub> , m <sup>3</sup> biogas/kg CODt removed, m <sup>3</sup> biogas/kg	
	COD <sub>r</sub> )	
RWW	Raw wastewater	
SB	Sludge bed	
SRT	Solids retention time	
TA	Total alkalinity (mg/L as CaCO <sub>3</sub> )	
TAN	Total ammonia nitrogen (mg/L)	
TDP	Total dissolved phosphorus (mg/L)	
ThOD	Theoretical oxygen demand	
TKN	Total kjeldahl nitrogen (mg/L)	
TP	Total phosphorus (mg/L)	
TS	Total solids (mg/L)	
TSN	Total soluble nitrogen	
UASB	Upflow anaerobic sludge blanket	
VFA	Volatile fatty acid	
VS	Total volatile solids (mg/L)	
WAS	Waste activated sludge	
WRAP	Waste and Actions Resources Programme	
WW	Wastewater	

### **CHAPTER 1**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Anaerobic digestion (AD) is a commonly applied process for the treatment and stabilization of high-strength wastes. The process has two outputs, the biogas and the digestate. Generated from wastes, biogas is a renewable energy source and mainly composed of a mixture of methane and carbon dioxide gasses. The industry related to the anaerobic digestion of wastes, known as biogas sector, has a growing trend and is expected to get larger due to the policies and the incentives provided for the investors to support energy production from wastes. On the other hand, the industry still lacks a feasible and cost effective treatment process for the environmental management of the digestate which remains as a challenge.

Digestate is the slurry effluent leaving the anaerobic digester which hosts high nutrients levels, chemical oxygen demand and total solids concentrations. Advanced treatment processes such as vacuum evaporation, membrane processes, struvite precipitation, and ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) stripping have been offered so far for the management of digestates (Drosg et al., 2015; Fechter and Kraume, 2016). These processes offered are either costly, low-yielded or require chemical addition which limits the applicability of such processes. Digestate is commonly being applied to land as a fertilizer or soil conditioner as a consequence of the lack of feasible and cost-effective methods for digestate management.

On the other hand, the land application of the digestates has several concerns. Digestates when applied on land creates potential chemical, physical and biological pollution problems (Xia and Murphy, 2016). Even though the pollution aspect of land

application is underestimated as it is a commonly employed practice, the management of the land application process has additional challenges. Digestates are mostly applied to near-by agricultural land. When large volumes of digestate production which range between several hundreds to several thousands of cubic meters in AD plants are considered, the available agricultural land may become limited. The digestate may be transported to the lands where it can be used as a fertilizer or soil conditioner. However, composed of 90-95% of water (Fechter and Kraume, 2016), the transportation may create logistical problems. Even if the digestate can be dried and marketted as a fertilizer, the transportation of dried digestate may shade the value of digestate as a fertilizer replacement. Another logistical problem may be created by the storage of digestates. The digestate is required to be stored due to its seasonal applicability on land which is limited to a few months of the year (Section 2.1.3.3.4). The reserved area for the plant may not be adequate for long storage periods that is ruled by the regulations. Thus, it is required to be transported and stored elsewhere from the reserved area of the plant. Moreover, several analysis should be performed on both digestate, crop and soil to prevent overloading and to maintain the soil balance. The analysis may be problematic and even may not be applicable depending on the variable digestate compositions. Digestate compositions may alter by each change of the operational conditions of the AD plants such as HRT and organic loading rate (OLR). Any change applied on the AD process ends up with a digestate of different quality and requires to be re-analyzed. In addition to the limitations regarding the applicability on land, the regulations rule several obligations (Section 2.1.3.4). These obligations can be addressed as the applicable maximum nitrogen load on land, the stability, solid content and heavy metal concentrations of the digestate. The legal limitations governed by regulations and more specifically strict interpretations of these regulations which can change from country to country can be considered as a barrier in the development of AD processes.

Biological waste management is to be grounded on the reuse and recyle approaches based on the regulatory improvements world wide. Being a biological waste, digestates have high organic contents due to incomplete or partial degradation of organic matters and short-circuiting in the digester (Section 2.1.4). The presence of biodegradable organics in the digestates may result in the production of an unstable high organic loaded waste stream. This waste stream has a potential to be further treated to reduce high residual organic loads it preserves. It is also probable to obtain residual biogas during the treatment in the meantime if anaerobic conditions are maintained.

Anaerobic treatment of the wastes are commonly employed in continuously stirred tank reactors (CSTRs) which are known as first generation digesters (Section 3). The retention of the microorganisms that degrade organics (solids retention time, SRT) within the digester is directly related to the hydraulic retention time of the wastewater in these type of digesters. Thus, hydraulic retention time (HRT) is required to be kept long enough to prevent wash-out of the microorganisms. The long HRTs can be maintained in the digester installations that have large footprints. The recent applications for anaerobic treatment of wastes, second and third generation digesters, generally uncouple SRT and HRT. The extended SRT by immobilization or entrapment of the biomass within the digester provides a means of uncoupling of these two parameters. Holding larger biomass in such digesters, the HRT and the related footprint of the digester can be decreased. The decrease in the areal requirement as well as digester volumes consequently decreases the investment costs associated with the new installations, thereby increasing the applicability of an additional process. Being a second generation high-rate anaerobic reactor, anaerobic fixed-film reactors (AFFRs) can be operated in relatively short HRTs whilst they can retain large amounts of biomass.

Even though digestates are the waste streams produced at the end of AD processes, they contain high concentrations of nutrients. The nutrients in digestate composition are mostly in the form that can be easily consumed by microalgal species. The microalgal uptake of nutrients from the digestate is advantageous in terms of both clarifying of the nutrient content and accumulating them into biomass through metabolization of microalgal species. The microalgal biomass produced can further be employed in downstream processes as energy products.

The treatment requirement of the digestates is grounded on the limitations regarding the digestate application on land and the pollutional concerns associated with land application. On the other hand, further AD of the digestates offers both the reduction of residual organic loads and the residual biogas production associated with the decomposition of this organic content. An additional microalgal nutrient removal process has a potential to further removal of nutrients from the wastewater as well as build up microalgal biomass. Therefore, an integration of an addional anaerobic treatment unit with a microalgal nutrient removal process can be applied for digestate treatment and have a potential to maximize the energy profit from the treatment process. Likewise, a digestate treatment scheme covering the AFFRs and microalgal photobioreactors (PBRs) were integrated in this Thesis study (Figure 1.1). To this purpose, six digestate samples of full-scale anaerobic digesters digesting animal manures, mixtures of organic wastes and manures, and sewage sludge were investigated for their residual biogas production potential and further treatability under anaerobic conditions. The digestate having the highest residual biogas yield (RBY) was used in the high-rate treatment using anaerobic fixed-film reactors. The effluent of the AFFRs was then employed in microalgal nutrient removal process. The scope of the Thesis from sampling to microalgal treatment is given in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.1. Proposed digestate treatment scheme



Figure 1.2. The basic flowchart representing the scope of the Thesis.

Similar studies on the residual biogas production potential of the digestates mostly focused on the capture of additional biogas associated with the undigested organic content that could possibly be produced during storage of the digestates. These studies did not broadly cover the further treatment potential of the digestates under anaerobic

conditions. The further anaerobic treatability investigation has a potential to open a gate for new approaches for digestate management. Moreover, high-rate anaerobic treatment of the digestates has firstly been investigated under the scope of this Thesis. Additionally, the integration of high-rate treatment with a microalgal nutrient removal process for the management of digestates has been firstly proposed. The proposed integrated process can create a cost-effective and feasible management solution for the digestates based on the additional energy capture potential.

This Thesis study involves three main chapters about experimentation and resultsdiscussions on treatment and valorization of anaerobic digestate. Further anaerobic treatability and residual biogas production potential of six different digestates are given in Chapter 2. Chapter 3 includes the application of high-rate treatment of a digestate sample using anaerobic fixed-film reactors. Microalgal nutrient removal process applied to the effluent of the AFFRs is described in Chapter 4. The conclusions derived from the overall applications and the related recommendations are covered in Chapter 5.

### **CHAPTER 2**

# ANAEROBIC TREATABILITY AND RESIDUAL BIOGAS POTENTIAL OF DIGESTATES

Liquid digestates have a potential to favor the growth of many microalgal species due to their high nutrient concentrations. However, the solid content of the digestate may be considerably high (3-30%) depending on the substrate composition and its degradability and digestion process (Drosg et al., 2015) which may prevent the microalgal growth. A preliminary study on decreasing the solids content of a liquid digestate sample had shown that an effective reduction could not be achieved using a cost-effective method such as gravity sedimentation, filtration, coagulation-flocculation and even centrifugation (Appendix A). Approximately 70% of the particles contained in digestates was previously reported to be less than 1 mm in size and cannot be separated easily due their small sizes, negatively charged surfaces and density (Fechter and Kraume, 2016). Poor settleability of the solids in digestate content represents one of the main obstacles in digestate management (Camilleri-Rumbau et al., 2013) which decreases the efficiency in downstream processing of digestates.

Digestates are also known to hold high chemical oxygen demand (COD) concentrations besides high solid contents. COD concentration of the digestates can range between 50 and 120 kg/t which prevents it to be treated by a classical wastewater treatment method (Fechter and Kraume, 2016). On the other hand, high COD concentrations of the digestates is an indication for the requirement for further treatment as well as the potential for additional biogas production which is mostly lost with the discharge or storage of the digestates.

The requirement to decrease COD and the potential for additional biogas production was investigated under anaerobic batch treatment of digestates called RBP test. To this purpose, the samples taken from six full-scale anaerobic digesters digesting animal manures, mixtures of organic wastes and manures, and sewage sludges were subjected to the RBP test. This chapter covers the literature background for further anaerobic treatment requirement of the digestates and the results of the RBP test applied with the background methodology.

### 2.1 Literature Background

AD is a valuable well-established technology which combines the treatment of highstrength wastes with the production of renewable energy. AD can be applied in many types of wastes such as animal manures, sewage sludges, municipal solid wastes, agricultural products or residue of these products, food residues, household wastes, industrial wastes and by-products that have high organic content (Lukehurst et al., 2010). AD process is briefly described in Section 2.1.1.

### 2.1.1 Anaerobic digestion process

Biodegradable organic matters in the waste are converted into methane, carbon dioxide, inorganic nutrients and biomass under anaerobic conditions through hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis processes. Hydrolysis is the breakdown of the biopolymers into soluble compounds. Soluble organic compounds are converted into volatile fatty acids (VFAs) and carbon dioxide in acidogenesis phase. Acetate and hydrogen gas are produced by the decomposition of VFAs in acetogenesis. Methanogenesis is the phase in which acetate, carbon dioxide

and hydrogen gas are converted into methane (de Mes et al., 2003). Simple conversion diagram of substrates during AD process is given in (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1. Degradation of the substrates during anaerobic digestion process (de Mes et al., 2003).

Anaerobic digestion has two outputs, biogas and digestate. Biogas is mainly the mixture of methane and carbon dioxide gases. Significant biogas yields can be obtained by decomposition of the organics under anaerobic conditions (Table 2.1). Digestate is the slurry effluent leaving the digester which is rich in nutrients, mainly in terms of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium (McPhail et al., 2012). Digestates can be considered as a waste stream of AD processes. Several processing options have been developed so far for digestate management (Section 2.1.2).

Raw feedstock	Biogas yield, m <sup>3</sup> /kg VS	Reference
Unscreened dairy manure	0.076-0.470	Demirer and Chen, 2005a
Dairy cattle manure and agricultural residues	0.087-0.324	Alkaya et al., 2010
Cattle manure Chicken manure Secondary sludge (municipal) Molasses distillery slops Maize distillery slops Potato distillery slops Municipal biowaste (Source separated) Grey waste	0.15-0.35 0.35-0.6 0.2-0.35 0.42 0.4 0.47 0.40 0.08-0.15	Braun, 2007
Municipal wastewater sludge Pig stomach content Vegetable wastes Straw from cereals Cattle manure (liquid) Pig excreta Sheep excreta	0.3-0.5 0.3-0.4 0.3-0.4 0.2-0.5 0.1-0.8 0.2-0.5 0.3-0.4	Zupančič and Grilc, 2012

Table 2.1. Biogas yields obtained from various raw feedstocks.

### 2.1.2 Digestate processing options

Digestates can be processed completely or partially after liquid-solid phase separation (Figure 2.2). Complete treatment technologies require more energy input, more investment and operating expenditures. These technologies are also of variable maturity. The technologies applied for partial treatment, which mostly aim at volume reduction, are relatively simple and economical which commonly ends up with the land application of the digestate (Drosg et al., 2015).



Figure 2.2. Digestate processing options (Drosg et al., 2015).

### 2.1.2.1 Digestate processing for volume reduction

The separation of solid-liquid phase is generally the first step in digestate processing. Screw presses, vibrating screens, decanters, belt filter presses or flotation can be used for solids removal (Fechter and Kraume, 2016). Some flocculants or precipitants may be added to improve the efficiency of phase separation. Digestates can be composted or dried before land application or marketing. Drying can be applied on the whole digestate or on the phase separated digestate (Drosg et al., 2015). A maximum 15 % dry matter content can be achieved for the liquid digestates of mesophilic digesters (Fechter and Kraume, 2016).

### 2.1.2.2 Digestate processing for the recovery of nutrients

Struvite precipitation and ammonia stripping are the two methods applied for the recovery of nutrients from the digestates.

### 2.1.2.2.1 Struvite precipitation

Struvite precipitate (magnesium ammonium phosphate) can be achieved by the addition of magnesium oxide and phosphoric acid into digestates (Drosg et al., 2015). The formation of struvite enables the removal and recovery of nitrogen and phosphorus from the digestates in the form of a valuable slow releasing fertilizer (Uludag-Demirer et al., 2005). The large amount of chemical necessity is the main drawback of this nutrient recovery method which corresponds to high operational costs (Drosg et al., 2015).

### 2.1.2.2.2 Ammonia stripping

Ammonia stripping is applied on the liquid portion of the digestates. The principle behind is the conversion of ammonium ions (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) into ammonia gas by increasing the pH and the heat of the liquid digestate. When ammonia is formed, it is then stripped using a stripping gas (usually steam) and introducing sulfuric acid in a column to enable the formation of ammonium sulfate (Fechter and Kraume, 2016). Clogging of the packed columns by the residual solids in the digestate is a major problem in ammonia stripping. Therefore, an efficient solids removal is required before the process (Drosg et al., 2015). Such a process requires 7 kWh electrical energy for a cubic meter of digestate (Fechter and Kraume, 2016).

### 2.1.2.3 Digestate processing for complete purification of the liquid phase

Vacuum evaporation and membrane processes have been offered for complete purification of the liquid digestates.
#### 2.1.2.3.1 Vacuum evaporation

Liquid digestate is treated in a vacuum evaporator that reduces the boiling point of water to 40-70°C. Evaporated water contains high ammonia content which is stripped by an acidic scrubber to obtain ammonium sulfate. The water content is then condensed in a condenser. 13 kWh of electrical energy for a meter cube of digestate is required for such a process (Fechter and Kraume, 2016).

## 2.1.2.3.2 Membrane processes

Membrane processes enables physical separation of the solids from the digestates. The process is called either micro-, ultra- or nano-filtration depending on the pore sizes of the membranes used. Nano-filtration and additionally reverse osmosis membrane processes can even separate dissolved salts (ions) from the water. The digestate is typically solid-liquid phase separated using screw presses or decanter centrifuges. The particles in the liquid fraction of the digestate is further removed by enhanced solids removal processes such as precipitation/flocculation, flotation, screens and filters, etc. The liquid fraction of the digestate is then micro- or ultra-filtrated and followed by reverse osmosis in a typical membrane application for digestate processing (Drosg et al., 2015). Ultra-filtration can handle waste streams of up to 2.5 % dry matter content which requires an elaborate solids removal system before the application of ultra-filtration. Such a process should be capable of removing all particles from the waste stream because reverse osmosis taking place right after ultra-filtration can be clogged by the particles reaching to the unit (Fechter and Kraume, 2016).

Membrane processes offer purified water as well as a nutrient concentrate which can further be used as a liquid fertilizer. However, the purified water is only 50 % of the

treated digestate. The rest 50% is composed of the separated solids before membrane application and the concentrates in membrane filtration processes (Drosg et al., 2015). Approximately 21 kWh electricity is required for one cubic meter of digestate for membrane processing including the solids removal prior to membrane application (Fechter and Kraume, 2016). Ion-exchange can also further be applied for the removal of ions from the membrane-reverse osmosis treated liquid digestate (Drosg et al., 2015).

#### 2.1.2.4 Digestate processing to reduce chemical oxygen demand

An integrated flocculation-aeration-chemical oxidation process has also been proposed for further treatment of digestates. The process reduces the solids and COD contents (Camarero et al., 1996). The biological oxidation processes have high-operational costs (Peng and Pivato, 2017) which is a major drawback in their applicability.

# 2.1.3 Drivers for digestate treatment

Anaerobic digestion is a well-established treatment process for the high-strength wastes. On contrary, the treatment and disposal of its effluent, digestate, are still challenges for the industry which might represent a barrier against the improvement of wet fermentation processes (Li et al., 2015). The problems in the treatment and the disposal of the digestates can be addressed as the lack of viable digestate treatment processes, pollution concerns regarding the storage, land application and disposal of the digestates, limited applicability of digestates to land and regulatory restrictions covering the management of the digestates.

#### 2.1.3.1 Lack of a viable treatment method for the management of digestates

The advanced digestate processing options such as vacuum evaporation, membrane processes, struvite precipitation, and ammonia stripping either require chemical addition or high energy supply. Thus, such treatment options end up with a considerable investment on installation for the supply of proper equipment and for the treatment of digestates (Drosg et al., 2015). As a consequence, the most widely used option for digestate management remains as either direct disposal to the environment or land application as a fertilizer or soil conditioner (Monnet, 2003; McPhail et al., 2012; Cheng et al., 2015; Romero-Güiza et al., 2016a; Xia and Murphy, 2016).

#### 2.1.3.2 Pollution concerns

Digestates have high nutrient concentrations (nitrogen and phosphorus), light metals such as magnesium, aluminum and heavy metals like cadmium, copper, manganese, zinc, chromium in their composition (Table 2.2). The application of digestates on land has a potential to cause chemical (i.e. heavy metals), biological (i.e. pathogens) and physical (i.e. plastics) pollution (Xia and Murphy, 2016).

The high nutrient concentrations in the digestate composition may lead to eutrophication when transported into receiving water bodies (García-Albacete et al., 2014). Heavy metal concentration of the digestates may also reach to high levels. The application of the digestates of food wastes as a fertilizer were reported to be problematic and likely to affect the economy of biogas producers due to the high cadmium to phosphorus ratio (mean value of 37 mg/kg P) of the food wastes (Karlsson et al., 2014). Some trace elements such as copper and zinc are intentionally added as a metabolic nutrient to the feed of the livestock resulting in the high concentrations in

digestates. The application of such digestates as a fertilizer may result in the accumulation of the related elements and pose a risk of entering the food chain of humans (Sigurnjak et al., 2015). Even though digestion process has a sanitation effect on many pathogens in the waste, the pathogens may even survive after digestion which requires additional measures such as pasteurization or pressure sterilization (Al Seadi and Lukehurst, 2012).

Greenhouse gasses such as carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide and general atmospheric pollutants such as ammonia gas can also be emitted to the atmosphere during storage or land application of the digestates (Menardo et al., 2011).

Table 2.2. General characterization of the liquid digestates (Xia and Murphy, 2016).

Parameter	Range	Parameter	Range
pH	6.7-9.2	Cobalt (Co), mg/L	0.02-0.04
Chemical oxygen demand (COD), mg/L	210-900	Copper (Cu), mg/L	0.09-21.4
Total organic carbon (TOC), mg/L	939-353	Iron (Fe), mg/L	0.9-65
Total nitrogen (TN), mg/L	139-456	Lead (Pb), mg/L	0.03-2.8
Percentage of ammonia nitrogen (TAN/TN)	65-98%	Magnesium (Mg), mg/L	3-659
Total phosphorus (TP), mg/L	7-381	Manganese (Mn), mg/L	0.1-17
Percentage of phosphate (PO <sub>4</sub> -P/TP)	82-90%	Molybdenum (Mo), mg/L	<1.8
Aluminum (Al), mg/L	0.1-34	Nickel (Ni), mg/L	<1.4
Boron (B), mg/L	0.9-4	Potassium (K), mg/L	102-2707
Cadmium (Cd), mg/L	<1	Silicon (Si), mg/L	26-72
Calcium (Ca), mg/L	65-1044	Sodium (Na), mg/L	126-709
Chlorine (Cl), mg/L	160-438	Sulfur (S), mg/L	111-115
Chromium (Cr), mg/L	<1.2	Zinc (Zn), mg/L	0.9-13

## 2.1.3.3 Limitations regarding the land application

The volume of anaerobic digesters ranges between a hundred to several thousand cubic meters (de Mes et al., 2003) which already results in the large volumes of digestate production. A typical anaerobic digester in Germany with 500 kW installed capacity was previously reported to have 7,600  $m^3$  digestate production in a year

(Dahlin et al., 2017). The large volumes of digestate production present a challenge for the industry in terms of management, disposal or even the storage of the digestates.

The number of AD plants is increasing worldwide which is mainly related to the biogas policies of the countries. Germany, providing incentives for the farmers, increased the total capacity of the AD plants by more than 150% between the years of 2006 and 2011 which corresponded to the doubling of the number of plants (Appel et al., 2016). The total number of biogas installations had reached to 48,269,864 by the end of 2014 in five countries: China, India, Nepal, Vietnam and Bangladesh (REN21, 2016). The growth of the biogas sector is also expected to expand on occasion that many countries have declared a target of installed capacity and/or generation for biogas power (REN21, 2018). Nevertheless, the increasing number of AD plants results in the higher volumes of digestate production. The increasing volumes of digestate production also increases the requirement for the development of a feasible and cost-effective management process for the digestates. The following sections point out the limitations regarding the land application of the digestates as a widely applied way for handling of the digestates.

# 2.1.3.3.1 Limited available agricultural land for digestate application

Digestate is commonly used as a fertilizer on nearby agricultural land since it has high nutrient levels that can be easily metabolized by crops. Large agricultural fields should be reserved for digestate to be used as a fertilizer (García-Albacete et al., 2014). The applicability of digestates as fertilizers, thus, becomes limited with the availability of nearby agricultural lands. The presence of limited agricultural land for the produced digestate together with the large and increasing volumes of the digestates have a potential to result in the oversupply of the digestate for local scale.

### 2.1.3.3.2 Limitations on digestate transportation

Digestate can be transported to the agricultural fields of nutrient deficit or to the plants where it can be further processed when it is in excess of local demand. However, the water content of the digestate is approximately 90-95% (Fechter and Kraume, 2016) which may create logistic problems in the transportation of the digestate without processing. Digestate can be packed and carried over long-distances to be used as a fertilizer after getting concentrated or dried as a marketing option. Long-distance transportation may not be a cost-effective solution which may shade the value of the digestate (Xia and Murphy, 2016). Thus, the cost of transportation to be used elsewhere is probable to offset the economic value of the digestate. Marketing of the digestates may even be limited (WRAP, 2012).

## 2.1.3.3.3 Limitations on the management of land application procedure

Land application should be carried out depending on the type of soil, nutrient status and the need of crops (DEFRA, 2016). Each crop requires different nutrient concentrations and each digestate differ in the composition depending on the feedstock used and the operating parameters/conditions of the plants (Nkoa, 2014). The quality and the quantity of the organic matter to be applied are also to be known to maintain the soil humus balance (Gong et al., 2010). Thus, the land application of the digestates should be carried out depending on the results of various analysis and additional knowledge on both soils, crops and digestates.

Additionally, the digestates should be stabilized before applying on land to prevent further methane, carbon dioxide and ammonium emissions (Wojnowska-Baryla et al., 2018). The stability of the digestate is too much interrelated with the operational

conditions of the plants. High organic loading rate and short HRT lead to large amounts of organic matter to be left undigested (Menardo et al., 2011) which in turn ends up with an unstable digestate. If the digestate is unstable, digestate produced will not also be a good soil amendment material (Makádi et al., 2012). Therefore, the land application of the digestates also requires good management practices even during the operation of the digesters. Therefore, the land application becomes a multi-parameter task covering the information, analysis and experimental evaluations as well as the management of the digester operation.

## 2.1.3.3.4 Seasonal applicability on land

The digestates can be applied on land seasonally which is limited to a few months in a year. The land application during the periods of excess precipitation especially in winter months results in the pollution of water bodies. Therefore, the digestates are required to be held in a storage tank at the seasons of high precipitation. The storage tank should be sized according to the volume of the digestate produced during the entire storage period and should be capable of retaining the whole volume of the produced digestate (URL 1). The minimum storage period of the digestates is determined by regulations and may result in the requirements of large volumes for storage. The reserved area of the individual plants may not be adequate for storing the digestate for the entire storage period. The digestate produced is to be stored in other areas rather than the reserved area of the plant in such cases (Fechter and Kraume, 2016). Transportation and the associated costs of transportation can be considered as additional challenge for these plants. The storage of the digestates also bring about some necessities such as hygienization. Digestate is required to be pasteurized which means heating up the digestate to a certain temperature for a time period (Liu et al., 2017). Such an application is probable to create a financial burden for individual anaerobic digesters.

#### 2.1.3.4 Regulatory concerns

National and international regulations that are related to the digestate management are briefly described in the following sections.

## 2.1.3.4.1 National regulations

The land application of the digestates has been regulated in Turkey depending on the conditions ruled by the Notification on Mechanical Separation, Bio-Drying and Bio-Methanation Plants and Fermented Product Management (Official Gazette No: 29498, date 10.10.2015). This notification restricts the application of fermentates to land in terms of the total annual nitrogen (max. 170 kg N/ha) and the dry weight (minimum 30%). Fermentates having less than 30% dry weight should be phase-separated and dried before disposal. The liquid phase of the digestate is not directly allowed to be applied on land.

The stability of the digestate is evaluated in three terms in the Notification as respirometric index, organic acids content and residual biogas potential. The respirometric index is to be less than 50 mmol  $O_2$  /kg organic matter/hour. The organic acids content is to be lower than 1500 mg/L acetic acid equivalent. Residual biogas potential is to be less than 0.25 L/ g VS. The digestate is expected to meet at least one criterion among these three. If the residual biogas potential test is employed to decide on the stability of the digestates, the ones that have more than 0.25 L/ g VS residual biogas can be decided as unstable. The unstable digestates cannot be applied on land. The concentrations of heavy metals; cadmium, chromium, copper, mercury, nickel, lead zinc and PAH16, are also regulated under the Notification. The Notification also rules the hygienization requirement for the digestates of animal manures. These

digestates should be hygienized for 15 days at 55°C or for 7 days at 60°C or for 5 days at 65°C or for 1 hour at 70°C.

## **2.1.3.4.2** International regulations

Anaerobic digestion of animal wastes and digestate application on land has been regulated under Animal By-Products Regulation (EC, 2009) in the member states of European Union (EU). The interpretation of this regulation changes from country to country in the member states. Ireland is one of the countries which interpret the regulation stringently such as avoiding the use of slaughterhouse wastes in AD processes. However, the controls related to the limitations of the feedstocks and processing of the feedstocks create barriers for the development of industry. Additionally, the land applications of the digestates have a potential to be severely limited by Animal By-Products Regulation which may bring about new challenges to the industry (Smyth, 2013). Total annual nitrogen load applied to land has already been limited by Nitrates Directive (91/676/EEC) covering the member states.

European Union has also adopted a legislative proposal involving the phasing out of landfilling of bio-wastes in non-hazardous waste landfills by 2025 (EC, 2014). Since aerobically and anaerobically degradable wastes are also defined as bio-waste (EC, 2014), landfilling of digestates will no longer be a disposal method for digestate management. Thus, digestates will not be landfilled leaving the attention on the choice of the recovery and reuse of nutrients from the digestates (de Mes et al., 2003).

#### 2.1.4 Anaerobic treatment potential of the digestates

Digestates leaving anaerobic digesters still contain considerable amounts of undigested organic matter (Gioelli et al., 2011; Menardo et al., 2011; Rico et al., 2011). The organic matter content of digestates in terms of volatile solids can be up to 70% of its total solids content (Drosg et al., 2015). Operating conditions of anaerobic digesters such as high organic loading rate and low HRT (Menardo et al., 2011; Rico et al., 2011) as well as short circuiting within digester (Angelidaki et al., 2005) and partial degradation of recalcitrant organic matters in anaerobic digesters (Thygesen et al., 2014) were pointed out as the reasons for the presence of undigested organics in digestates. The presence of undigested organics in digestates provides additional potential for further biogas production (Angelidaki et al., 2005; Gioelli et al., 2011; Thygesen et al., 2014). The studies related to RBYs of digestates conducted in batch reactors are compiled in Table 2.3. These studies involved the digestates obtained from the plants operated with different feedstocks. The total test period was very variable (21-136 days). The testing methodology was also different from each other. Some tests were conducted with the use of inoculum (Schievano et al., 2008; Thygesen et al., 2014) and some were without (Menardo et al., 2011; Rico et al., 2011). Therefore, an available standard test methodology, RBP test was preferred as a guideline to quantify the additional biogas production and the further treatment potentials of the digestates. The RBP test was developed by United Kingdom Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP) (WRAP, 2010) and is used to provide an evidence for an effective AD process. It was stated that it could also provide an indication of the environmental impacts arising from the use of digestates and could potentially be used to control these environmental impacts (WRAP, 2013). The RBP test is a compulsory component of British Standards Institution's Publicly-Available Specification (BSI PAS 110). The related test methodology is described under the Materials and Methods section.

10010 2:3. 1110 10310001 010203 JICI	TO (GI TIN) ON	munications provided and an and a second second and an and a second s	our daten reactors.
Feedstock of the AD process	Duration, d	Biogas Yield	Reference
Animal effluents and energy crops	02	0.021-0.082 NL/g VS	Menardo et al., 2011
Animal manure and mixture of animal manure and industrial waste and sewage sludge	60	0.156-0.240 NL CH4 /g VS	Thygesen et al., 2014
Agricultural wastes (cattle, horse wastes silages etc.)	50	0.134 ± 0.039 NL CH₄/g VS	Ruile et al., 2015
Waste from commercial and municipal sources	28	0.032-0.381 L/ g VS	WRAP, 2013
Liquid cow manure and its mixture with maize	125-136	0.075-0.140 NL CH <sub>4</sub> /g VS	Seppälä et al., 2013
Liquid fraction of dairy manure	60	$0.013-0.102 \text{ L CH}_4/\text{g VS}$	Rico et al., 2011
Municipal organic waste	125	0.225 NL CH4 /g VS (55°C)	Hansen et al., 2006
Liquid and solid manures, maize and grass silage, and grain	35	0.023 ± 0.003 LCH4/g VS (untreated) approx. 0.084 LCH4/g VS (mechanically treated)	
Hay/straw mixture	35	$0.229 \pm 0.019$ L CH <sub>4</sub> /g VS (untreated) $0.267 \pm 0.008$ L CH <sub>4</sub> /g VS (mechanically treated)	Lindner et al., 2015
Maize silage	35	$0.291 \pm 0.028$ L CH <sub>4</sub> /g VS (untreated) $0.318 \pm 0.019$ L CH <sub>4</sub> /g VS (mechanically treated)	
		0.070-0.090 NL CH <sub>4</sub> /g VS (untreated)	
Animal manures, maize and sorghum silages and olive waste	65	0.057-0.079 NL CH <sub>4</sub> /g VS (thermal treatment) 0.102-0.106 NL CH <sub>4</sub> /g VS (enzyme treatment)	Sambusiti et al., 2015
		0.042-0.081 NL CH <sub>4</sub> /g VS (alkali treatment)	
Solid fractions of digestate, composted and dried solid fraction of digestate from 14 plants	40	<0.0005-0.094 NL CH4 /g VS	Maynaud et al., 2017
A mixture of energetic crops, pig manure slurry,	ç		
agro-industrial waste and organic fraction of municipal solid waste	60	0.066-0.437 NL/g TS	Schievano et al., 2008
Multi-component agri-food	120	0.051-0.115 L/g TS (20°C)	Wojnowska-Baryla et al., 2018
Domestic wastewater treatment plant sludge	24	0.048 L CH4/g VS (unprocessed) 0.088 L CH4/g VS (ultrasonicated)	Garoma and Pappaterra, 2018

Table 2.3. The residual biogas vields (RBYs) of various digestates previously studied in anaerobic batch reactors.

## 2.2 Materials and Methods

# 2.2.1 Digestate sampling and characterization

The digestate samples were collected from six anaerobic digesters operated under the conditions given in Table 2.4. The samples were preserved at 4°C before use and characterized for pH, total solids (TS), volatile solids (VS),  $COD_t$ , soluble chemical oxygen demand ( $COD_s$ ), total kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN), ammonium nitrogen ( $NH_4^+$ -N), total phosphorus (TP), dissolved reactive phosphorus (DRP), intermediate alkalinity (IA), partial alkalinity (PA) and total alkalinity (TA) concentrations (Table 2.5).

Table 2.4. The capacities and operating conditions of the anaerobic digesters.

Anaerobic	Raw	HRT,	Digestate	Installed		
Digester	Feedstock	d	production,	capacity		
			tons/d			
1	Beef cattle manure	30	278-288	1.4 MW		
2	90% laying hen and 10% cattle manure	48-50	83	1.8 MW		
3	40 % dairy cattle manure, 5% chicken	28	550	6.4 MWh		
	manure, 15% organic vegetable waste,					
	40% recycled digestate					
4	60% dairy cattle manure, 20% laying	38-40	450	4x1067 kWh		
	hen manure and 20% organic waste			(4268 kWh)		
	mixture (orange pulp, grain silage etc.)					
5	67% dairy cattle manure and 33% laying	44	83	330 kWh		
	hen manure					
6	56% primary and 44% secondary	14-21	3197-3996	8x1.5 MW		
	sewage sludge			(12 MW)		

## 2.2.2 Anaerobic Inoculum

Anaerobic inoculum was collected from the inside of an anaerobic digester located at the same plant of the anaerobic digester 6. The digester of anaerobic inoculum sampling was operated under the same conditions of anaerobic digester 6 (Table 2.4). Anaerobic inoculum was sieved through 1mm pore-sized screen before use and characterized for the constituents given in Table 2.5.

	1 auje 2		ularacterizatio	ni oi uie aige		cututti.	
		Th	e digestate of an	aerobic digester			Inoculum
Consultaent	1	2	3	4	5	6	Ι
Hd	8.78	8.50	8.72	8.87	8.60	8.36	8.71
TS, mg/L	$105,250\pm1152$	$53,263\pm593$	$59,053\pm 321$	74,830±255	$49,920\pm524$	$18,773\pm176$	$14,107\pm 255$
VS, mg/L	$72,630 \pm 1139$	$25,970\pm 260$	$38,013\pm213$	$50,953\pm 82$	$28,180 \pm 425$	$9,837 \pm 160$	7,330±264
Solid content, %	10.2	5.1	6.0	7.4	4.9	1.9	1.4
Density, kg/m <sup>3</sup>	$1,028 \pm 4.1$	$1,035 \pm 9.3$	$989 \pm 8.0$	$1,014{\pm}1.5$	$1,010 \pm 4.8$	$999 \pm 4.0$	$1,005{\pm}5.0$
COD <sub>t</sub> , mg/L	$111,056\pm 6992$	$39,010\pm913$	$57,334\pm 2635$	76,675±4025	$43,751 \pm 488$	$21,079\pm798$	$12,893\pm540$
COD <sub>s</sub> , mg O <sub>2</sub> /L	$14,007\pm941$	$14,809\pm761$	$3,642\pm647$	$10,969 \pm 805$	$11,310\pm5417$	656±51	$548{\pm}16$
TKN, mg/L	$3,694 \pm 35.3$	$8,394{\pm}283.6$	$2,285 \pm 37.9$	$5,147\pm100.5$	$4,815\pm469.7$	$1,051\pm 21.7$	$1,274{\pm}197.3$
$NH_4^+$ - N, mg/L	$3,288\pm 24.9$	$7,703 \pm 41.8$	$1,782\pm11.7$	$4,569\pm66.8$	$4,071 \pm 17.8$	$826 \pm 14.9$	$892 \pm 6.0$
TP, mg/L	$2,314{\pm}5.8$	$2,786 \pm 0.0$	$1,340{\pm}0.0$	$1,555\pm0.0$	$1,725{\pm}0.0$	$352\pm 5.1$	$409 \pm 0.0$
DRP, mg/L	$1,156.1 \pm 3.74$	$1,097.9\pm3.74$	$289.7 \pm 0.00$	465.6±3.74	$548.9 \pm 1.87$	$33.7{\pm}0.04$	$27.2 \pm 0.04$
TA, mg/L as CaCO <sub>3</sub>	15,555	30,529	9,740	18,012	16,573	3,620	3,227
IA/PA	0.12	0.11	0.13	0.12	0.09	0.06	0.07
COD:TKN	30:1	5:1	25:1	15:1	9:1	20:1	10:1
COD:TP	48:1	14:1	43:1	49:1	25:1	60:1	32:1

inocul
and
digestates
the
of
characterization
e initial
The
Table 2.5.

# 2.2.3 Experimental setup

RBP test was conducted in glass reactors with 400 mL effective and 200 mL empty volume. All reactors were set up in triplicates. Each reactor was only fed at the beginning of the experiment and operated in batch for 70 days. The reactors containing digestates from all six digesters (Table 2.4) were named R1-R6. The amount of inoculum and digestate added into reactors were based on their VS concentrations. The inoculum to substrate (i/s) ratio (g VS<sub>inoculum</sub> /g VS<sub>digestate</sub>) of 4 was used in all digestate containing reactors (WRAP, 2010). The quantities of inoculum and digestate used were calculated using equations 1, 2 and 3 for a total test volume of 400 mL (WRAP, 2010).

Digestate added, 
$$g = \frac{400}{1 + (\frac{R * VS_{digestate}}{VS_{inoculum}})}$$
 [2.1]

$$R = \frac{g \, VS \, of \, inoculum}{g \, VS \, of \, digestate} \quad \text{where } R = 4 \tag{2.2}$$

Inoculum added, 
$$g = 400 - digestate added$$
 [2.3]

Cellulose (Merck microcrystalline cellulose for thin-layer chromatography) containing reactors (C) were also set up as positive controls with an i/s ratio of 6 to test the activity of the inoculum (WRAP, 2010). The amount of cellulose and inoculum used as positive controls were calculated using the following formula (WRAP, 2010):

Cellulose added, 
$$g = \frac{400}{1 + (\frac{R * VS_{cellulose}}{VS_{inoculum}})}$$
 [2.4]

$$R = \frac{g VS of inoculum}{g VS of cellulose} \quad \text{where } R = 6$$
[2.5]

Inoculum added, 
$$g = 400$$
 – cellulose added, g [2.6]

RBP test consisted of two sets of reactors to observe the effect of nutrient supplementation. The first set was supplemented with nutrients while the second set was not. The two sets were identical except nutrient supplementation. The composition of the nutrient solution is given in Table 2.6. Each set included inoculum-only reactors (I) which were set to observe and to exclude the contribution of inoculum in residual biogas production from digestate and cellulose containing reactors (WRAP, 2010).

Major elements (10 mL added)	Concentration, g/L
KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	13.2
NH <sub>4</sub> Cl	13.5
CaCl <sub>2</sub> .2H <sub>2</sub> O	1.88
MgCl <sub>2</sub> .6H <sub>2</sub> O	2.5
Trace elements (1 mL added)	Concentration, mg/L
FeCl <sub>2</sub> .4H <sub>2</sub> O	50
$H_2BO_3$	1.25
ZnCl <sub>2</sub>	12
CuCl <sub>2</sub> .2H <sub>2</sub> O	1.7
MnCl <sub>2</sub> .4H <sub>2</sub> O	160
$(NH_4)_6Mo_7O_{24}.4H_2O$	2.5
AlCl <sub>3</sub> .6H <sub>2</sub> O	2.5
CoCl <sub>2</sub> .6H <sub>2</sub> O	5.0

Table 2.6. Nutrient medium used in RBP test (modified from WRAP, 2010).

After all the components were added into the reactors, the reactors were capped with rubber stoppers and the headspace of the reactors was flushed with pure nitrogen for 3 minutes to achieve anaerobic conditions. The reactors were then placed on a rotary shaker and kept at 50 rpm in a constant temperature room at  $35\pm1^{\circ}$ C. Biogas production was measured by a water displacement device.

#### 2.2.4 The methodology of the treatment measurements and calculations

Anaerobic treatability of digestates was evaluated in terms of TS, VS,  $COD_t$ , TKN,  $NH_4^+$ -N, TP and DRP. To this purpose, the initial concentrations of the relevant constituents (Table 2.5) of the digestates and inoculum as well as the final concentrations at the end of reactor operation were determined. One reactor from each triplicate was randomly selected for the analysis of the relevant constituent for the final characterization of the reactors.

All triplicates of R2 both with and without nutrient supplementation were also characterized for the relevant constituents. The data obtained for R2 reactors were subjected to statistical analysis using Minitab 17 software by normal and t-test distribution tools. The relevant results obtained are given in Appendix B. The statistical analysis indicated that the results were representative within the 95% confidence interval. Therefore, random selection of one reactor over the triplicates ensured the reliability and representability of the data.

The concentrations of all constituents at the beginning and at the end of the experiment were determined for inoculum-only reactors in order to assess self-removal due to inoculum activity. The initial concentrations in digestate containing reactors were calculated based on the volumes and the constituent concentrations of the digestates, inoculum and nutrient medium (Appendix C). The final concentrations of the constituents were measured at the end of the 70-days of operation. Final characterization of the constituents in the inoculum-only reactors showed that large fractions still remained at the end of 70 days. Additionally, the volumes of inoculum added into the reactors were comparably higher than the digestates in digestate

containing reactors. The final concentrations of the constituents measured at the end of 70 days of operation in the digestate containing reactors were the summation of the retained amounts after the activity of the inoculum itself and the non-degraded portion of the digestate. Therefore, the removal of the constituents was calculated for both the overall reactor content and for only from the content of the digestates. The removal calculations of the constituents from digestates were calculated by excluding the retained amounts corresponding to the inoculum (Appendix C). This estimation was done based on the specific removal of the constituents in inoculum-only reactors which represented the amount of removed constituent per unit volume of the inoculum. The removed amount of the constituents due to inoculum activity was calculated by multiplying the specific removal of the constituents with the volume of inoculum used in the digestate containing reactors. The retained amounts due to inoculum addition were found from the difference between the overall constituent amount in the inoculum added and the removed amount of the constituent due to inoculum activity. When the retained amounts of the constituents were subtracted from the overall reactor content, the final concentration of the digestates could be obtained. Thus, the retained amounts of the constituents corresponding to the inoculum in digestate containing reactors could be excluded (Juncà, 2010) in order to estimate the actual removal amounts of the constituents from digestates. The formula derived for the exclusion of the retained amounts corresponding to the inoculum and the related calculations are presented in Appendix C.

The interference of chloride ions in COD measurement was also tested to eliminate the probability of the effect of chlorides on large COD concentrations of the digestates (Table 2.5). It was found that chloride ions did not interfere with the COD measurements (Appendix D).

# 2.2.5 Analytical Methods

Standard Methods (APHA, 2005) were used to determine TS, VS,  $COD_t$ , TKN,  $NH_4^+$ -N, TP and DRP concentrations.  $COD_s$  was measured photometrically as described in the manual provided by the manufacturer (Aqualytic, 2014). The samples were first filtered from 0.45 µm pore-sized filters for  $COD_s$  and DRP determination. The digestion of the samples before TP analysis was performed based on the procedure described in International Organization for Standardization BS EN ISO 15587-1:2002 (ISO, 2002). PA is representative of the bicarbonate alkalinity and measured to the pH of 5.75. IA is measured to the pH of 4.3 as described by Ripley et al. (1986). pH was measured with Oakton PC 450 portable pH meter.

## 2.3 Results and Discussion

#### 2.3.1 Digestate characterization

The solids content of the digestates showed high variability in the range of 1.9-10.2 % at the initial characterization (Table 2.5). The digestates of anaerobic digesters 1-5 were in between 4.9 and 10.2 % which were in agreement with the ones previously reported for the digestates of the mixtures of animal manures and energy crops (3.7-9.6%) (Menardo et al., 2011). The digestate of anaerobic digester 6 operated with sewage sludge had the lowest solid content (1.9%) compared to that of obtained from anaerobic digesters operated with animal manures at high proportions.

The ammonification ratio (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N/TKN) was 0.78-0.92 for digestates of anaerobic digesters 1-6. High ammonification indicated the high ammonium concentrations in the composition of the digestates. The digestate of anaerobic digester 2 had the highest

ammonium and TKN concentrations  $(7,703\pm41.8 \text{ and } 8,394\pm283.6 \text{ mg/L},$  respectively) which could be attributed to feedstock composition having 90 % of laying hen manure. Poultry manures are characterized as having high NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N/TN ratios (Möller and Müller, 2012).

 $COD_s/COD_t$  ratio of digestates of anaerobic digesters 1-5 were 12.6, 38.0, 6.4, 14.3 and 25.9, respectively. The soluble COD content of total COD was within the range of previously reported ones for the digestates of commercial and municipal wastes (6.8-53.6%) (WRAP, 2013). The lowest ratio of  $COD_s/COD_t$  was observed in the digestate of anaerobic digester 6 (3.1%) was probably due to operation of the digester with sewage sludges.

Total phosphorus contents of the digestates ranged between 0.4-2.7 g/Mg fresh matter which were also found to be comparable to that of previously reported for various digestates as 0.4-2.6 g/Mg fresh matter (Möller and Müller, 2012).

The alkalinity ratio of intermediate to partial alkalinity was in the range of 0.06-0.13 and found to be lower than 0.3 for all digestates. Being lower than 0.3, IA/PA ratios indicated the operational stability of the sampling digesters (Alcaraz-Gonzalez et al., 2015). IA/PA is an indicator of VFA accumulation within the reactor which is encountered before pH drop and the failure of the reactor (Monhonval, 2015).

#### 2.3.2 Suitability of the inoculum

The RBYs of the cellulose positive controls with and without nutrient supplementation were found as  $0.496\pm0.125 L_{biogas}/g VS$  and  $0.631\pm0.005 L_{biogas}/g VS$ , respectively, at

the end of  $28^{\text{th}}$  day of operation. WRAP (2013) stipulated a minimum biogas yield for cellulose positive control reactors as 0.5 L<sub>biogas</sub>/ g VS using i/s ratio of 6 on VS basis as applied in this study. Therefore, inoculum used in this study was found to be active to utilize cellulose. The suitability of the inoculum and the efficacy of the test procedures are to be controlled by determination of the RBP of a standard reference material such as cellulose using the same inoculum employed in the test (WRAP, 2010).

#### 2.3.3 Eliminated data in calculation of residual biogas yields

One R1 and R2 reactor with nutrient supplementation had at least 5 days of negative biogas production period (Appendix E). The data obtained from these reactors were excluded from the calculations due to potential inhibition of the inoculum (WRAP, 2010). Additionally, RBP graphs of one R6 with nutrient supplementation and one R5 without nutrient supplementation had spikes (Appendix F) possibly due to a leakage problem. The data obtained from these two reactors were also eliminated from the RBP calculations as suggested by WRAP (2010).

# 2.3.4 Residual biogas production from digestates

Biogas production was evaluated in terms of total biogas volume produced per unit volume of digestate at the end of the total test period of 70 days (Table 2.7 and Figure 2.3). 2.23-18.62 and 1.91-15.26  $L_{biogas}/L_{digestate}$  were produced with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively, for the digestates of anaerobic digester 1-6. The digestate of anaerobic digester 1 which was operated with beef cattle manure had the highest production with and without nutrient supplementation. This digestate was characterized as having the highest TS, VS, COD<sub>t</sub> and DRP concentrations (Table

2.5). The lowest volume of biogas per volume of digestate was recorded for the digestate of anaerobic digester 6 ( $1.91 \pm 0.13 \text{ L}_{\text{biogas}}/\text{L}_{\text{digestate}}$  with and  $2.23 \pm 0.01 \text{ L}_{\text{biogas}}/\text{L}_{\text{digestate}}$  without nutrient supplementation). This digestate had the lowest VS and CODt concentrations. On the other hand, the digestate of anaerobic digester 2 and 4 had approximate residual biogas production ( $8.48 \pm 0.23$  and  $8.92 \pm 0.78 \text{ L}_{\text{biogas}}/\text{L}_{\text{digestate}}$ , respectively) even if the VS and CODt concentrations of the former were almost the half of the latter (Table 2.5). Thus, residual biogas production could not be correlated with the VS and CODt concentrations of the digestates. This fact can be attributed to variable biodegradability of the digestates. The biodegradability of the digestates and the effect of nutrient addition were comprehensively evaluated in the following section considering the biogas production per unit volatile solids added, so-called biogas yield, as applied by WRAP (2013). Such evaluations are mostly based on the biogas yields not the productions since the economic feasibility of AD plants is linked to biogas yields in general (Romero-Güiza et al., 2016b).

Digestate of	Biogas product	ion, L <sub>biogas</sub> /L <sub>digestate</sub>
anaerobic digester	with nutrient supplementation	without nutrient supplementation
1	$18.62\pm1.40$	$15.26\pm1.08$
2	$7.77\pm0.13$	$8.48\pm0.23$
3	$4.23\pm0.50$	$4.67\pm0.34$
4	$9.21\pm0.73$	$8.92\pm0.78$
5	$4.12\pm0.37$	$5.11 \pm 0.36$
6	$2.23\pm0.01$	$1.91\pm0.13$

Table 2.7. Total biogas production per unit volume of digestate ( $L_{biogas}/L_{digestate}$ ) at the end of 70 days.

Note: Refer also Table 2.5 for the relevant characteristics of the digestates.



Note: Refer also Table 2.5 for the relevant characteristics of the digestates.

Figure 2.3. Biogas production from digestates (a) with (b) without nutrient supplementation per unit volume of digestate (L<sub>biogas</sub>/L<sub>digestate</sub>).

# 2.3.5 Residual biogas yields of digestates related to volatile solids content of digestates

RBYs with respect to the VS concentration of the digestates (calculated as described by WRAP, 2010) were evaluated for the  $28^{th}$  and  $70^{th}$  day of operation (Table 2.8). 28 day is the indicated test period by WRAP (2013). The biogas yields of digestates were observed to be variable and ranged between 0.078-0.257 and 0.081-0.234 L<sub>biogas</sub>/g VS

with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively, at the  $28^{th}$  day of operation. The RBYs increased by further incubation for 42 days, as expected, and reached to 0.111-0.299 and 0.123-0.326 L<sub>biogas</sub>/g VS with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively. The RBYs of the digestates were found to be comparable to the ones obtained in other studies as complied in Table 2.3.

28th day Digestate 70<sup>th</sup> day of RBY, L VS RBY, /g VS L /g % RBY % RBY anaerobic increase<sup>b</sup> with n.s.<sup>a</sup> without n.s. increase with n.s. without n.s. digester 1  $0.168 \pm 0.007$  $0.120 \pm 0.005$ 40  $0.256 \pm 0.024$  $0.210 \pm 0.015$ 22 2  $0.257 \pm 0.007$   $0.234 \pm 0.007$ 10  $0.299 \pm 0.005 \quad 0.326 \pm 0.009$ -8 3  $0.081 \pm 0.007$  $0.111 \pm 0.013 \quad 0.123 \pm 0.009$  $0.078 \pm 0.008$ -4<sup>c</sup> -10 4  $0.142 \pm 0.015 \quad 0.134 \pm 0.004$  $0.181 \pm 0.014 \quad 0.175 \pm 0.015$ 3 6 5  $0.115 \pm 0.003$   $0.122 \pm 0.005$  $0.146 \pm 0.013 \quad 0.181 \pm 0.013$ -19 -6  $0.188 \pm 0.001 \quad 0.169 \pm 0.012$  $0.227 \pm 0.001 \quad 0.195 \pm 0.014$ 6 11 16

Table 2.8. The residual biogas yields with respect to volatile solids concentration.

<sup>a</sup> n.s.: nutrient supplementation.

<sup>b</sup> % RBY increase indicates the increase in biogas yields of digestates when nutrients were added with respect to the RBYs of the digestates without nutrient supplementation.

<sup>c</sup> Minus sign indicates the decrease in RBYs of digestates when nutrients were added.

#### 2.3.5.1 Residual biogas yields without nutrient supplementation

Technical digestion time of 90%, that is the time at which 90% of the total biogas yield was recorded, was observed on the 53.8, 35.7, 56.6, 43.6, 56.6 and 33.7<sup>th</sup> day of operation in the RBP test for the digestates of anaerobic digesters 1-6, respectively. The time required to obtain 90% of the biogas yield from five different animal manures (dairy, horse, goat, chicken and swine manures) was found to range between 17-44 days in a biochemical methane potential (BMP) test (Kafle and Chen, 2016). The time required to further digest the digestates of animal manures (digestates obtained from anaerobic digesters 1-5) were comparably longer than the digestion of raw feedstocks, as expected.

The biogas yield of the digestate of anaerobic digester 1 operated with beef cattle manure was moderate ( $0.210 \pm 0.015 \text{ L}_{\text{biogas}/\text{g}}$  VS) at the end of the 70 days. The digestate did not have the highest biogas yield, in spite of having considerably higher COD<sub>t</sub> and VS concentrations in its initial characterization (Table 2.5) and the high biogas production per unit volume of the digestate (Table 2.7). Additionally, 42 days more incubation yielded 75 % more biogas compared to 28 days of incubation. Moreover, the RBP curve of this digestate (Figure 2.4-b) did not plateaued at the end of the 70<sup>th</sup> day. These facts suggested the presence of slowly degradable materials at high proportion in the digestate of anaerobic digester 1. The slow degradation of this digestate can be attributed to the presence of rigid lignocellulosic fibers materials in cattle manures (Langone et al., 2018) which have low biodegradability (Nasir et al., 2012).

The digestate of anaerobic digester 2 operated with 90 % laying hen manure had the highest COD<sub>s</sub>, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N, DRP and considerable total alkalinity and DRP concentrations (Table 2.5). The RBP curve without nutrient supplementation (Figure 2.4-b) indicated a stationary phase between the days of 4-13 for this digestate. Despite the stationary biogas production period of approximately 9 days, the digestate reached to the highest yield both at the 28<sup>th</sup> day (0.234  $\pm$  0.007 L<sub>biogas</sub>/g VS) and 70<sup>th</sup> day (0.326  $\pm$  0.009 L<sub>biogas</sub>/g VS). The biogas yield increased by 39 % at the end of 70 days compared to the yield of 28<sup>th</sup> day of operation. The digestate was evaluated as a moderately biodegradable one depending on the time required to obtain 90 % of the biogas yield (35.7 days).



Figure 2.4. RBP curve for the digestates (a) with (b) without nutrient supplementation.

The lowest biogas yields for short-run and long-run operation was obtained from the digestate of anaerobic digester 3 ( $0.081 \pm 0.007$  and  $0.123 \pm 0.009$  L<sub>biogas</sub>/g VS, respectively). The increased concentration of recalcitrant materials in the digestate as a result of recycling of the digestate within the plant (by 40% proportion) (Table 2.4) can be a reason for the low biogas yields obtained from this digestate. Recalcitrant VS may be recycled back into the digester and may lead to the accumulation of the recalcitrant materials in the digester (Estevez et al., 2014). Therefore, it is probable to

observe low residual methane production as a result of digestate recycling as previously noted by Nges et al. (2015). The recalcitrance of the digestate could possibly avoided a better degradation performance even if COD:TKN ratio represented an optimum value (25:1) for anaerobic degradation. Even though a carbon to nitrogen (C:N) ratio between 20:1 and 30:1 was previously reported as an optimum ratio for anaerobic degradation (Zhang et al., 2008), it may not represent the bioavailable or biodegradable fractions (Puyuelo et al., 2011) as in the case of the digestate of anaerobic digester 3.

The digestates of anaerobic digesters 4 and 5 had biogas yields of  $0.175 \pm 0.015$  and  $0.181 \pm 0.013$  L<sub>biogas</sub>/g VS, respectively, at the end of 70 days. The proximity of the yields may be due to slightly alike compositions of feedstocks used in both digesters and similar HRTs of the plants compared to the other digesters (Table 2.4). The yields obtained at the end of 70 days were comparably lower than the other digestates which is probably due to the composition of the raw feedstock dominated by dairy manure. Longer periods were required to obtain 90 % of the total biogas yield for the digestates of anaerobic digesters 4 and 5 (43.6 and 56.6 days, respectively) when compared to the ones of the digestates of anaerobic digesters 2 and 6 (35.7 and 33.7 days, respectively). This fact indicated the presence of slowly degradable material in the digestates of anaerobic digesters 4 and 5.

The digestate of anaerobic digester 6 had the second highest RBY  $(0.169 \pm 0.012 L_{biogas}/g VS)$  at the end of 28 days even though it had considerably low concentrations of VS, COD<sub>t</sub> and COD<sub>s</sub> compared to the other digestates at the initial characterization (Table 2.5). The time required to obtain 90 % of the biogas yield was the least of all digestates (33.7 days) which indicated better biodegradability of this digestate compared to the others. Higher biodegradability of this digestate was probably due to raw feedstock of the digester composed of sewage sludges which is not a feedstock

containing animal manures or mixtures. The biogas yield for sewage sludge (0.310-0.740 L/ g VS) was previously reported to be higher than the ones for animal manures such as pig (0.340- 0.550 L/ g VS), sheep and cow manure (0.090-0.310 L/ kg VS) for comparably shorter operation periods of 10 to 20 days (ISAT and GTZ, 1998).

The biogas yields of the digestates were also comparable with the biogas yields of many raw feedstocks. These raw feedstocks are grey waste (0.08-0.15  $L_{biogas}/g$  VS), dairy manure (0.076-0.470  $L_{biogas}/g$  VS), cattle manure (0.15-0.35  $L_{biogas}/g$  VS), horse manure (0.222  $L_{biogas}/g$  VS), municipal secondary sludge (0.20-0.35  $L_{biogas}/g$  VS), sheep excreta (0.3-0.4  $L_{biogas}/g$  VS) and vegetable wastes (0.3-0.4  $L_{biogas}/g$  VS) (Demirer and Chen, 2005a; Braun, 2007; Zupančič and Grilc, 2012; Kafle and Chen, 2016).

## 2.3.5.2 Effects of nutrient supplementation

The effects of nutrient supplementation on biogas yields of digestates were evaluated for the operation period of 28 days and 70 days. Nutrient supplementation increased the RBYs of the digestates of anaerobic digesters 1, 2, 4 and 6 by 40, 10, 6, and 11%, respectively, in short-run operation (Table 2.8). The digestates of anaerobic digesters 3 and 5 were negatively affected from the addition of nutrients resulting in a decrease of RBYs but at a lower proportion (4-6 %) compared to that of positively affected digestates (6-40%) at the end of 28 days.

The average daily biogas yields of the digestates were also compared for the period of 0-14 days of operation for the cases of with and without nutrient supplementation. The digestates of anaerobic digesters 1-6 had an average daily biogas yields of 6.3, 7.7, 3.6, 7.0, 6.8 and 10.8 mL<sub>biogas</sub>/g VS.d with nutrient supplementation and 4.1, 2.5, 4.6,

3.6, 7.1 and 10.1 mL<sub>biogas</sub>/g VS.d without nutrient supplementation, respectively. The digestates that are positively affected from the addition of nutrients for 28 days of operation (the digestates of anaerobic digesters 1, 2, 4 and 6) were also observed to have higher average daily biogas yields when nutrients were supplemented in the first 14 days of operation. Moreover, the addition of nutrients to the digestate of anaerobic digester 2 eliminated the stationary phase observed in the residual biogas production which lasted for approximately 9 days between the 4<sup>th</sup> and 13<sup>th</sup> day of operation (Figure 2.4-a and b).

When the operation period was further extended to 70 days, the nutrient supplementation had comparably different results (Table 2.8). The digestate of anaerobic digester 2, which yielded 10 % more biogas by nutrient supplementation in short-run, had 8% less yield in long-run operation compared to the case of without nutrient supplementation. Nutrient supplementation decreased the RBYs of the digestates of 3 and 5 at a higher proportion (10 and 19%) at the 70<sup>th</sup> day of operation than that of  $28^{\text{th}}$  day of operation (4 and 6 %, respectively). The digestates of anaerobic digesters 2, 3 and 5 (the ones negatively affected from nutrient addition in long-run) had a COD:TP ratio in the range of 14:1-43:1 (Table 2.5). The high phosphorus concentration relative to the COD concentration (lower COD:TP ratios) and the addition of phosphorus via nutrient medium were probable to have a cumulative inhibitory effect when COD:TP was in the range of 14:1-43:1. High concentrations of phosphorus create phosphorus inhibition on methanogenesis causing a decrease in the production of biogas as previously noted by Mancipe-Jiménez et al. (2017). The digestates of anaerobic digesters 1, 4 and 6 yielded 22, 3, 16% more biogas at the end of 70<sup>th</sup> day, respectively. The increase in the RBYs due to the addition of nutrients to the digestates of anaerobic digesters 1 and 4 was observed to be lower at the 70<sup>th</sup> day of operation (22 and 3 %, respectively) compared to the 28<sup>th</sup> day of operation (40 and 6 %, respectively). The only digestate having higher increase in RBYs at the 70<sup>th</sup> day of operation as an effect of nutrient supplementation was the digestate of anaerobic

digester 6. This fact was probably due to the distinct raw feedstock composition (sewage sludges) compared to the other digestates containing animal manures.

As a result of the analysis and discussions on the effect of nutrient supplementation, nutrient supplementation was found to be more effective for comparably shorter operation periods. Therefore, nutrient supplementation is recommended for the RBP tests of less than 28 days. Consequently, resulting in the release of more biogas within a relatively shorter time period, the addition of nutrients has a potential to decrease the HRT of a full-scale plant installed with the aim of capturing the residual biogas from digestates.

# 2.3.5.3 Regulatory evaluation on the RBYs of digestates

British Standard Institute (BSI) had set an RBP limit of 0.45  $L_{biogas}/g$  VS in 2014 by PAS 110 to decide on the stability of the digestate (PAS110:2014). Even though the RBYs of the digestates (Table 2.8) tested did not exceed the limit of PAS110:2014, the digestates were regarded as having a significant potential for biogas capture depending on the comparable biogas yields of digestates to many raw feedstocks used in AD plants.

The digestates having a maximum RBY of 0.25 L/g VS can be considered as stable according to the Notification on Mechanical Separation, Bio-Drying and Bio-Methanation Plants and Fermented Product Management (Official Gazette No: 29498, date 10.10.2015) in Turkey. The only digestate missing the stability criterion is the digestate of anaerobic digester 2, thus the land application would not be allowed before its stabilization.

## 2.3.6 Residual biogas yields related to CODt removed from the digestates

RBYs were additionally evaluated with respect to the removed  $\text{COD}_t(\text{COD}_r)$  from the digestates at the end of the total operation period (Table 2.9). The digestate of anaerobic digester 1 and 6 had very close biogas yields in terms of  $\text{COD}_t$  removed from each digestate (0.203 ± 0.032 and 0.194 ± 0.023 m<sup>3</sup> biogas/kg COD<sub>t</sub> removed, respectively). The raw feedstock composition and the operating conditions of the digesters were completely different from each other (Table 2.4). Therefore, no clear reason could be identified for the almost identical biogas yields with respect to the COD<sub>t</sub> removal.

The digestate of anaerobic digester 2 had  $0.420 \pm 0.154$  and  $0.466 \pm 0.171 \text{ m}^3$  biogas/kg COD<sub>t</sub> removed from digestate with and without nutrient supplementation. These yields were comparably higher than the yields of other digestates and observed to be close to the theoretical biogas production of 0.5 m<sup>3</sup> per kg COD<sub>r</sub> as previously given by Jingura and Kamusoko (2017).

The biogas yields of the digestates of anaerobic digesters 3, 4 and 5 were obtained as  $0.308 \pm 0.079$ ,  $0.262 \pm 0.078$  and  $0.166 \pm 0.118 \text{ m}^3$  biogas/kg COD<sub>r</sub>. The decreasing biogas yields of these digestates with respect to the COD<sub>r</sub> can be attributed to the increasing contents of dairy cattle manures in raw feedstock compositions (by 40, 60, 67 %, respectively). The increase of share of dairy cattle manure is probable to increase the amount of lignocellulosic materials in the digestate. High lignin content of the raw feedstock may result in low biogas yields as well as low biodegradation rate (Wang et al., 2017).

Digestate of anaerobic	Residual biogas yields, m <sup>3</sup> dig	biogas/kg COD <sub>t</sub> removed from gestate
digester	with nutrient supplementation	without nutrient supplementation
1	$0.237\pm0.041$	$0.203 \pm 0.032$
2	$0.420\pm0.154$	$0.466 \pm 0.171$
3	$0.279\pm0.076$	$0.308\pm0.079$
4	$0.270\pm0.079$	$0.262\pm0.078$
5	$0.201\pm0.018$	$0.166 \pm 0.118$
6	$0.216\pm0.025$	$0.194\pm0.023$

Table 2.9. The residual biogas yields with respect to COD<sub>r</sub> concentrations.

# 2.3.7 Anaerobic treatability of digestates

Anaerobic treatability of the digestates was evaluated in terms of COD<sub>t</sub>, TS, VS, TKN, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N, TP and DRP at the end of the 70-day of operation. pH and alkalinity measurement were done to control the operational stability of the anaerobic digestion process.

## 2.3.7.1 pH and alkalinity

The initial pHs of the digestates and inoculum were in the range of 8.36-8.87 (Table 2.5). The final pH values in the reactors after AD were observed as 7.97-8.22 and 8.00-8.24 with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively. Anaerobic processes can tolerate to the pHs of 6.5-8.0 (Cioabla et al., 2012) and the measured pHs were close to the tolerable range.

The overall alkalinity in the reactors were increased by 13-18 % and 15-20 % with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively (Table 2.10). Alkalinity is produced with the consumption of hydrogen ions during methanogenesis (Acharya et al., 2008). When the initial and final alkalinities of the digestates were calculated, it was found that all digestates except the one including the digestate of anaerobic digester 3 built up additional alkalinity (Table 2.10). Alkalinity was rather removed from the digestate of anaerobic digester 3 which was a sign of its acidification. This was probably due to the recalcitrance of the digestate which was discussed in detail in the following sections.

## 2.3.7.2 The changes in total chemical oxygen demand concentrations

The reactors containing only inoculum had 12-16 and 15-17% COD<sub>t</sub> removal which corresponded to  $10775\pm225$  and  $10850\pm150$  mg/L of retained COD<sub>t</sub> with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively (Table 2.11). The digestate containing reactors (R1-R6) had 16-27 and 17-24 % overall COD<sub>t</sub> removal efficiency with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively. Higher removal efficiencies compared to the inoculum-only reactors and the corresponding removal amounts of COD<sub>t</sub> (Table 2.11) indicated the degradation of the digestates within the reactors, as expected.

	ז מטור			and an and a con	contraction and	uu vu uuy	0 01 011001	עטוע טמועוו ו	I VAUIIVIII.	
		Alkalinity	concentration mg/L as Ca(	n in the reactor, 30 <sub>3</sub>	Alkalinity accumulation	The digestate	Alkalinity	concentration mg/L as Ca	t of the digestate, CO <sub>3</sub>	Alkalinity accumulation
Nutrient supplementation	Reactor	Initial	Final	Accumulation	in the reactor, %	of . anaerobic	Initial	Final	Accumulation	of digestates, %
		Calculated	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	digester	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	Calculated
	I	3141	3693	552	18					
	R1	3437	3983	546	16	1	15555	15892	337	2
414	R2	4891	5505	614	13	2	30529	32048	1519	5
WIU	R3	3432	3954	522	15	с	9740	9629	-111	-1
	R4	3642	4187	545	15	4	18012	18359	347	2
	R5	3933	4448	515	13	5	16573	16516	-57	0
	R6	3200	3722	522	16	9	3620	3971	351	10
	Ι	3227	3867	640	20					
	R1	3532	4187	655	19	1	15555	16812	1257	8
	R2	5027	5805	778	15	2	30529	33260	2731	6
without	R3	3526	4100	574	16	ю	9740	8934	-806	8-
	R4	3740	4390	650	17	4	18012	18946	934	5
	R5	4042	4681	639	16	S	16573	17200	627	4
	R6	3289	3838	549	17	9	3620	3682	62	2
*The alkalinity m	leasuremer	its were done	e once, not re	plicated.						

Table 2.10 The change in alkalinity concentrations after 70 days of angerobic batch treatment

The efficiency of COD<sub>t</sub> removal without nutrient supplementation was the highest for the digestate of anaerobic digester 1 and 2 (57-64 and 37-60 %, respectively). The corresponding removed COD<sub>t</sub> concentrations were  $67144 \pm 4005$  and  $18955 \pm 3463$ mg/L. These two digestates were initially characterized as having the highest COD<sub>s</sub>, TP and DRP concentrations (Table 2.5). Even though the digestate of anaerobic digester 1 had considerably higher removed concentrations of COD<sub>t</sub>, the biogas yield in terms of COD<sub>t</sub> removed from digestate  $(0.203 \pm 0.032 \text{ m}^3 \text{ biogas/kg COD}_t)$  was less than a half when compared to that of digestate of anaerobic digester 2 ( $0.466 \pm 0.171$ m<sup>3</sup> biogas/kg COD<sub>t</sub>). Therefore, the digestate of anaerobic digester 2 had a much better biogas conversion from the removed COD<sub>t</sub> compared to the digestate of anaerobic digester 1 as its unit indicated. The biogas yield of the digestate of anaerobic digester 1 (digestate of beef cattle manure) can be increased by the application of pretreatment methods to break down the lignocellulosic structures. These applications were previously addressed as aqueous ammonia soaking (Lymperatou et al., 2015), codigesting with other raw feedstocks or by-products of other processes (Simm et al., 2017) or other thermal, mechanical, chemical or biological pretreatment methods (Borgström, 2011). On the other hand, the addition of nutrients has also potential to increase both the biogas yield and CODt removal efficiency for such digestates. The biogas yield of the digestate of anaerobic digester 1 could be improved to  $0.237 \pm 0.041$  $m^3$  biogas/kg COD<sub>t</sub> (approximately 17 %) by nutrient supplementation (Table 2.9) with a corresponding increase in the COD<sub>t</sub> removal efficiency from 57-64% to 61-84%. If the biogas yield can be improved, better COD<sub>t</sub> removals can be obtained and additional anaerobic treatment of the digestate becomes viable to be implemented by supporting the economics of the plants.

The digestate of anaerobic digester 3 had a moderate  $COD_t$  removal efficiency when nutrients were not supplemented (45-45 %). The addition of nutrients considerably decreased the COD<sub>t</sub> removal efficiency to 21-35 % which also resulted in a decrease in RBY from 0.308  $\pm$  0.079 to 0.279  $\pm$  0.076 m<sup>3</sup> biogas/kg COD<sub>t</sub> removed from

digestate. This fact was probably due to the accumulated recalcitrant matters in the sample as a result of 40% recycling of the digestate within the plant and the probable inhibition due to high phosphorus content as previously mentioned in Section 2.3.5.2. The COD<sub>t</sub> removal efficiency from the digestates of anaerobic digesters 4, 5 and 6 without nutrient supplementation were 25-47 %, 25-27 % and 45-46 % respectively. The addition of nutrients promoted the removal of COD<sub>t</sub> for these three digestates to 35-62, 47-47 and 44-55%, respectively (Table 2.11) with the corresponding increase in the biogas yields with respect to the removed COD<sub>t</sub> from digestates (Table 2.9).

As a general assessment, the initial COD<sub>t</sub> concentrations of the digestates were significantly lowered by AD (from the range of 21079-111056 to 11522-43912 mg/L) (Table 2.11). The corresponding removal efficiencies ranged between 25-64% without nutrient supplementation. COD removal efficiency between 32-78% and 37.9-94% can be obtained by AD of raw feedstocks of poultry manures and cattle manures, respectively, as compiled by Sakar et al. (2009). The removal efficiencies obtained in the digestate treatment were lower compared to these ranges probably due to the relative recalcitrance of the digestates compared with raw feedstocks. Nutrient supplementation reduced the COD<sub>t</sub> content of the digestates further to the range of 10609-30512 mg/L corresponding to a removal efficiencies of raw feedstocks given by Sakar et al. (2009). Therefore, nutrient addition was decided to have a potential to enhance the COD<sub>t</sub> removal during anaerobic treatment of the digestates.

CODt removal from	digestates, % Calculated	Carbon	(61)-(84)	(35)-(75)	(21)-(35)	(35)-(62)	(47)-(47)	(44)-(55)		(57)-(64)	(37)-(60)	(45)-(45)	(25)-(47)	(25)-(27)	(45)-(46)
digestate,	Removal	Calcalance	80544	22157	16132	36968	20504	10470		67144	18955	25896	27678	11244	9557
ration of the mg/L	Final Calculated	Calcalate	30512	16853	41202	39707	23247	10609		43912	20055	31438	48997	32507	11522
COD <sub>t</sub> concent	Initial Measured	no monotur	$111056 \pm 6992$	39010±913	57334±2635	76675±4025	43751±488	21079±798		$111056\pm 6992$	39010±913	57334±2635	76675±4025	43751±488	21079±798
The digestate	anaerobic digester	in and in	1	5	3	4	5	9		1	7	ю	4	5	9
COD <sub>t</sub> removal in the reactor.	Calculated	(12)-(16)	(23)-(27)	(18)-(25)	(16)-(18)	(18)-(23)	(20)-(20)	(21)-(24)	(15)-(17)	(23)-(24)	(20)-(24)	(21)-(21)	(18)-(21)	(17)-(18)	(23)-(23)
he reactor,	Removal	1792	3685	3098	2434	2985	2903	3118	2043	3651	3158	3138	2933	2605	3223
entration in th mg/L	Final	10775±225	$11240 \pm 302$	$11142 \pm 326$	12122±176	11744±353	11495±8	$10699 \pm 185$	$10850 \pm 150$	$11667 \pm 99$	11457±228	$11795 \pm 4$	12174±288	12172±25	10956±27
COD <sub>t</sub> conc	Calculated	12567	14925	14239	14556	14729	14398	13816	12893	15318	14615	14933	15107	14777	14178
Reactor		-	R1	R2	R3	$\mathbb{R}4$	R5	R6	I	R1	R2	R3	$\mathbb{R}4$	R5	R6
Nutrient	supplementation				with							without			
#### 2.3.7.3 The changes in volatile and total solids concentrations

Volatile solids degradation obtained in inoculum-only reactors were 15-16 and 13-14% with and without nutrient addition, respectively (Table 2.12). The overall VS removal efficiencies in the digestate containing reactors (R1-R6) accounted for more VS removals from these reactors (13-23% and 16-25% with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively) compared to the inoculum-only reactors. VS removal efficiencies without nutrient supplementation for R1-R6 (13-23%) were observed to be improved to 16-25 % with the addition of nutrients.

Volatile solids were destroyed from the digestate content by 19-65% with and 13-64% without nutrient supplementation (Table 2.12). VS removal obtained from the digestate content was found to be comparable with the raw feedstocks of cattle manures and their mixtures with kitchen waste, fish offal, lipids, whey, agricultural residues, beef manure and dairy manure previously reported in the range of 7.3-78% (Nasir et al., 2012). The removal efficiency of VS from the digestate of anaerobic digester 2 was the highest both with (50-65%) and without nutrient supplementation (42-64%). These high ratios of VS removals also corresponded to the highest RBYs with and without nutrient supplementation at the end of the 70 days (Table 2.8). High VS reduction in the digestate of anaerobic digester 2 operated with 90% laying hen manure, can be attributed to better hydrolysis of the digestate (Demirer and Chen, 2005a). The digestate of anaerobic digester 1 was observed to have the second highest VS removal efficiency both for the cases of with and without nutrient supplementation (34-41%) (Table 2.12) which corresponded also the second highest RBY of the digestate at the end of the 70 days (Table 2.8). The digestate of anaerobic digester 3 had the lowest VS removal efficiency from the digestate content with and without nutrient supplementation (19-20 and 16-18%, respectively) which was probably due to recalcitrant nature of the digestate as previously mentioned.

Depending on the fact that high VS degradation yielded more biogas regarding the digestates of anaerobic digesters 1, 2 and 3, a correlation between these two variables was also evaluated including all the digestates (Appendix G). The coefficient of determination  $(R^2)$  was found as 0.8956 and 0.9247 with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively, excluding the digestate of anaerobic digester 6. Following the approach of eliminating the digestate of anaerobic digester 6, the higher VS removal amounts corresponded to higher RBYs for the digestates of anaerobic digesters 1-5. This observation was agreed with the one stated as methane production is directly related to the VS degradation (Jingura and Kamusoko, 2017). However, the  $\mathbf{R}^2$  values were altered to 0.6214 and 0.8026 with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively, when the digestate of anaerobic digester 6 was included. The created effect as a result of the inclusion the digestate of anaerobic digester 6 in the correlation analysis was probably based on the more biodegradable nature of the digestate of anaerobic digester 6 (sewage sludge) compared to the digestates containing animal manures. Even though the removed VS amounts from the digestates of anaerobic digesters 3 and 6 were approximately same (117 mg for each) (Appendix G), the removed amounts from the digestate of anaerobic digester 6 was obtained by adding less VS at the initial setup. Thus, the RBY obtained was found to be higher for the digestate of anaerobic digester 6 ( $0.195 \pm 0.014 \text{ L}_{\text{biogas}/\text{g VS}_{\text{added}}$ ) compared to that of 3 ( $0.123 \pm 0.009 \text{ L}_{\text{biogas}/\text{g}}$  VS<sub>added</sub>). VS removal and the RBYs of the digestates have a potential to be correlated on the condition that the digestates obtained should not originate from anaerobic digesters operated with too distinctive feedstock compositions which has a considerable effect on the biodegradability of digestates. On oppose to the idea that methane production is directly related to the VS degradation (Jingura and Kamusoko, 2017), the correlation analysis demonstrated that the biogas yields was dependent on both degraded VS and biodegradability of the digestates.

	olon I	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			on anona a	i o anda	Aloo lonin 10	caren acar		
Nutrient		VS concei	ntration in th mg/L	le reactor,	VS removal in the	The digestate	VS concent	ration of the c mg/L	digestate,	VS removal from
supplementation	Reactor	Initial	Final	Removal	reactor, %	on - anaerobic	Initial	Final	Removal	digestates, %
		Calculated	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	digester	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	Calculated
	I	7522	6345±15	1177	(15)-(16)					
	R1	9093	7285±65	1808	(19)-(21)	1	72630±1139	45208	27422	(34)-(41)
	R2	8719	6668±89	2051	(22)-(25)	2	25970±260	11174	14796	(50)-(65)
with	R3	8898	7445±5	1453	(16)-(16)	б	$38013 \pm 213$	30693	7320	(19)-(20)
	R4	9003	7470±20	1533	(17)-(17)	4	50953±82	39282	11671	(22)-(24)
	R5	8762	7215±75	1547	(17)-(19)	5	$28180 \pm 425$	20786	7394	(22)-(31)
	R6	7906	6600±30	1306	(16)-(17)	9	9837±160	7817	2020	(19)-(23)
	I	7330	6350±10	980	(13)-(14)					
	R1	8943	7315±65	1628	(17)-(19)	1	72630±1139	45408	27222	(34)-(41)
	R2	8559	$6737\pm111$	1823	(19)-(23)	2	25970±260	12214	13756	(42)-(64)
without	R3	8738	7510±20	1228	(14)-(14)	б	$38013 \pm 213$	31620	6393	(16)-(18)
	R4	8844	$7485 \pm 105$	1359	(14)-(17)	4	50953±82	39053	11900	(17)-(29)
	R5	8603	7280±50	1323	(15)-(16)	5	$28180 \pm 425$	21581	6299	(21)-(26)
	R6	7724	6605±85	1119	(13)-(16)	9	$9837 \pm 160$	7974	1863	(13)-(24)

Table 2.12. The change in VS concentrations after 70 days of anaerobic batch treatment.

The overall total solids removal in inoculum-only reactors was observed to be 10% and 7% with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively (Table 2.13). AD resulted in the reduction of the overall TS concentration in all reactors including digestate samples. TS removals in the reactors containing the digestates of animal manures at a high proportion (R1-R5) were observed to be at least equal to or higher than the inoculum-only reactors for both the cases of with and without nutrient supplementation. This fact suggested the degradation of TS from the digestate content. The addition of nutrients improved the TS removal efficiency for all the reactors from the range of 4-13% to 8-13%. However, the final TS concentrations in the reactors were not significantly altered in nutrient supplemented reactors compared to the ones without nutrient supplementation (Table 2.13). This fact was probably due to the additional solids introduced by the addition of nutrient medium. The TS concentration of the nutrient medium was measured to be 26590±220 mg/L. When the TS amounts corresponding to the retained amounts of inoculum was excluded, TS removals from the digestates were found to be variable (-2)-(29)% with and (-6)-(37)% without nutrient supplementation) and independent of the initial TS concentration of the digestate itself (Table 2.13).

Nutrient	Denotor	TS concenti	ration in the re	eactor, mg/L	TS removal in the	The digestate	TS concentra	ation of the d mg/L	ligestate,	TS removal from
supplementation	INCAULUI	Initial	Final	Removal	reactor, %	anaerobic	Initial	Final	Removal	415-03tuco, %
		Calculated	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	digester	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	Calculated
	I	14441	13005±15	1436	(10)-(10)					
	R1	16634	$14645\pm155$	1989	(11)-(13)	1	$105250\pm1152$	80810	$24440^{*}$	(17)-(29)
	R2	16955	14967±213	$1988^*$	(10)-(13)	2	53263±593	43223	$10040^*$	(9)-(27)
with	R3	16456	14845±25	1611	(10)-(10)	б	$59053 \pm 321$	53719	$5334^*$	(8)-(10)
	R4	16503	14725±95	1778	(10)-(11)	4	74830±255	63316	$11514^{*}$	(12)-(19)
	R5	16570	14665±65	1905	(11)-(12)	5	49920±524	40595	9325	(16)-(21)
	R6	15155	$13940 \pm 70$	$1215^{*}$	(8)-(8)	9	$18773 \pm 176$	18781	-8*	(-2)-(2)
	I	14107	13125±65	982	(7)-(7)					
	R1	16359	$14545\pm105$	1814	(10)-(12)	1	$105250\pm1152$	70599	34651	(29)-(37)
	R2	16689	$14893\pm 232$	$1796^*$	(9)-(13)	2	53263±593	39942	$13321^{*}$	(19)-(37)
without	R3	16170	$14960 \pm 60$	$1210^{*}$	(7)-(8)	б	$59053 \pm 321$	53100	$5953^{*}$	(8)-(12)
	R4	16215	$14940\pm 250$	$1275^{*}$	(6)-(9)	4	74830±255	65420	$9410^*$	(3)-(22)
	R5	16294	15255±75	$1039^*$	((2)-(2)	5	49920±524	48009	1911	(1)-(6)
	R6	14840	$14065 \pm 125$	775*	(4)-(6)	9	$18773\pm176$	19112	-339*	(-6)-(2)
*The values calcul	lated for V	/S removal w	ere higher the	an that of TS	removals bé	used on both	n standard devia	tions of the	measured va	lues and the
estimation of the in	uitial conce	intrations with	uin reactors fro	om the averag	e concentrati	ons of the co	onstituents in the	e related con	ponent of the	e reactor (not
measured).										

Table 2.13. The change in TS concentrations after 70 days of anaerobic batch treatment.

#### 2.3.7.4 The changes in ammonium and total kjeldahl nitrogen concentrations

The initial NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentration in the reactors was in the range of 946-1393 and 882-1341 mg/L with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively. These NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentrations in the reactors were expectedly increased due to the addition of nutrient medium (Table 2.14) which involves ammonium in its composition (Table 2.6). The ammonium concentration further increased with the decomposition of organic nitrogen within the reactors (negative signs in Table 2.14 indicates accumulation). The increase in NH4<sup>+</sup>-N concentrations during digestion can be explained by anaerobic degradation of proteins into amino acids and then to ammonia (Demirer and Chen, 2005a). The NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N accumulation corresponded to 6-19 and 9-19 % with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively. It was observed that the accumulation of the NH4<sup>+</sup>-N concentration due to degradation was in a good agreement with the ones (12.7-37.9%) obtained from 7 different types of on-site anaerobic digesters operated with variable feedstock composition (Gooch et al., 2006). Final NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentrations in the reactors were in the range of 1120-1363 and 1037-1470 mg/L with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively, which were below the inhibitory level of 1700-1800 mg/L for anaerobic processes without the acclimation of the inoculum to the substrate (Yenigün and Demirel, 2013).

			C	-		ſ				
Nutrient	Donator	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N con	centration in mg/L	the reactor,	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N removal in the reactor	The digestate	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N di	concentratic igestate, mg/	on of the L	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N removal from
supplementation	NCALIOI	Initial	Final	Removal	· ure reactor, %	on anaerobic	Initial	Final	Removal	digestates, %
		Calculated	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	digester	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	Calculated
	-	956	1120±3	-164	(-17)-(-17)					
	R1	1014	1196±12	-181	(-19)-(-17)	1	3288±24.9	4186	-898	(-41)-(-13)
	$\mathbb{R}2$	1393	1537±61	-144	(-17)-(-6)	2	7703±41.8	7554	149	(-16)-(13)
with	R3	966	1139±2	-142	(-14)-(-14)	3	1782±11.7	1456	326	(17)-(20)
	$\mathbb{R}4$	1081	1212±1	-130	(-12)-(-12)	4	4569±66.8	3733	836	(18)-(19)
	R5	1145	1285±2	-140	(-12)-(-12)	5	4071±17.8	3836	235	(5)-(7)
	R6	946	$1118\pm 2$	-171	(-18)-(-18)	9	826±14.9	1035	-209	(-27)-(-24)
	I	892	$1037\pm 0$	-145	(-16)-(-16)					
	R1	951	$1108 \pm 13$	-156	(-18)-(-15)	1	3288±24.9	3878	-590	(-33)-(-2)
	<b>R</b> 2	1341	$1470 \pm 14$	-129	(-11)-(-9)	2	7703±41.8	7600	103	(-1)-(4)
without	R3	933	$1074 \pm 7$	-141	(-16)-(-14)	ю	1782±11.7	1840	-58	(-12)-(5)
	$\mathbb{R}4$	1020	$1166 \pm 9$	-146	(-15)-(-13)	4	4569±66.8	4739	-170	(-9)-(2)
	R5	1086	1280±14	-194	(-19)-(-17)	5	4071±17.8	5007	-936	(-29)-(-17)
	R6	882	$1044\pm 2$	-162	(-19)-(-18)	9	$826 \pm 14.9$	1080	-254	(-33)-(-29)

Table 2.14. The change in NH<sup>4+</sup>-N concentrations after 70 days of anaerobic batch treatment.

NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N removal efficiencies varied in the range of (-12)-(5), (-9)-(2) and (-29)-(-17)% for the digestates of anaerobic digesters 3, 4 and 5, respectively. These digestates share a common feature of including dairy cattle manure at a large proportion in their raw feedstock composition (Table 2.4). The variable NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N removal efficiencies indicated both the accumulation and removal potential of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N from the content of the digestates. The addition of nutrients provided the removal of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N with an efficiency of 17-20, 18-19 and 5-7%, respectively, from these digestates. However, the overall final NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentrations in the related reactors were higher in the nutrient supplementated ones (1139-1285 mg/L) compared to the ones without nutrient supplementation (1074-1280 mg/L) (Table 2.14). Therefore, nutrient supplementation to the digestates resulted in higher NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentrations in the effluent which would develop the pollutional concerns related to increased ammonium concentrations.

The overall TKN removal in reactors was in the range of 2-14 and 7-14% with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively (Table 2.15). TKN is a lumped parameter composed of organic nitrogen and ammonium nitrogen. The degradation of organic nitrogen results in the increase in ammonium content (Ghyselbrecht et al., 2017). The ammonium loss from the reactor potentially reduces the TKN content. The probable pathways of ammonium reduction under anaerobic conditions can be the volatilization of ammonium to ammonia gas above pHs of 7 (Evangelou, 1998), denitrification of oxidized nitrogen (Acharya et al., 2008) and/or anaerobic ammonia oxidation (Anammox) (Li et al., 2017).

		TKN conce	antration in t	ha reactor	TKN	The	TKN concer	tration of the	a di aactata	I IIIII
Nutrient	Reactor		mg/L	IIC ICACIOI,	removal in the	digestate of		mg/L	o ungestate,	I KJN removal from
supplementation		Initial	Final	Removal	reactor, %	anaerobic	Initial	Final	Removal	digestates, %
		Calculated	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	digester	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	Calculated
	I	1328	1189±5	139	(10)-(11)					
	R1	1386	1237±12	149	(10)-(12)	1	$3694 \pm 35.3$	$3139^{*}$	555	(1)-(29)
	R2	1785	$1630 \pm 73$	155	(2)-(14)	7	8394±283.6	8005	389	(-16)-(21)
with	R3	1373	1214±21	160	(10)-(13)	З	2285±37.9	1692	593	(5)-(46)
	$\mathbf{R4}$	1460	$1300 \pm 1$	160	(11)-(11)	4	$5147\pm100.5$	4412	735*	(14)-(15)
	R5	1539	1362±3	176	(11)-(12)	5	4815±469.7	4052	763	(15)-(17)
	R6	1294	$1185 \pm 9$	109	(8)-(8)	9	$1051 \pm 21.7$	1107	-56	(-11)-(0)
	I	1274	1124±29	151	(10)-(14)					
	R1	1334	$1194 \pm 35$	140	(8)-(13)	1	3694±35.3	3979	-285	(-46)-(31)
	R2	1744	1547±21	197	(9)-(13)	2	8394±283.6	7543*	851	(4)-(16)
without	R3	1320	$1146\pm 6$	175	(13)-(14)	ю	2285±37.9	$1605^*$	680	(24)-(36)
	$\mathbf{R4}$	1408	1272±17	136	(8)-(11)	4	$5147\pm100.5$	5406	-259*	(-14)-(4)
	R5	1490	$1383 \pm 0$	107	(2)-(2)	5	4815±469.7	5375	-560	(-12)-(-12)
	R6	1239	$1106 \pm 14$	133	(10)-(12)	9	$1051\pm 21.7$	$1011^*$	40	(-4)-(12)
*The values calcula	ted for NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N	removal were	higher than	that of TKN	I removals b	ased on bot	h standard de	viations of th	ne measured	values and the
estimation of the in	itial concentration	ons within rea	ictors from t	he average c	oncentration	s of the con	stituents in th	e related co	mponent of t	he reactor (not
measured).										

Table 2.15. The change in TKN concentrations after 70 days of anaerobic batch treatment.

Free ammonia nitrogen (FAN) concentrations were also calculated to evaluate the probability of volatilization of ammonia nitrogen (Appendix H). The initial FAN concentrations in the reactors with nutrient supplementation were estimated to be in the range of 370-409, 365-509, 364-369, 395-491, 354-418 and 193-346 mg/L for R1-R6, respectively. The ones for the case of without nutrient supplementation were between 347-384, 351-490, 341-346, 373-463, 335-397 and 180-322, respectively. On the other hand, the removal of TKN from the reactor content (Table 2.15) were in the range of 109-176 mg/L with and 107-197 mg/L without nutrient supplementation. Thus, the estimated initial FAN concentrations were much higher than the removed TKN concentrations (Table 2.15). When TKN removal was assumed to follow only the pathway of organic nitrogen (if any) to ammonium, ammonium to ammonia gas conversion, complete removal of FAN via volatilization was not feasible due to lower removed TKN concentrations than FAN. The final FAN concentrations were estimated to be 44, 128, 56, 72, 169 and 130 with and 62, 148, 90, 77, 86 and 93 without nutrient supplementation for R1-R6, respectively. These final FAN concentration estimates were always lower than the TKN removals in the related reactors (Table 2.15) except R6 with nutrient supplementation. Even if all final FAN concentrations volatilized, TKN removal could not be equilibrated. This fact can be speculated to be dependent on two main reasons: (1) the decrease in pH and increase in ammonium concentration during operation may have led to FAN concentrations different from the estimated ones and (2) the other removal mechanisms than the volatilization of ammonium. In fact, the volatilization of ammonia under the pH values less than the pK<sub>a</sub> of the volatilization column has been evaluated as a minor mechanism in the literature (Al Nozaily, 2000). A study on pH-based ammonia control in the biogas composition during the treatment of synthetic medium demonstrated that the increase of pH from 7.43 to 7.74 resulted in an increase in FAN concentration to 600 mg/L in a laboratory-scale thermophilic (60°C) continuous flow stirred tank reactor (Strik et al., 2006). However, the corresponding NH<sub>3</sub> in biogas composition was reported as having a maximum of 95 ppm. The authors also addressed a huge liquid/gas transfer limitation for NH<sub>3</sub> in the anaerobic digestion process because of the concentration of ammonia being lower than theoretical liquid/gas equilibrium. Thus, volatilization of NH<sub>3</sub> was expected to have a minor impact on ammonium removal depending on the pH ranges (7.53-8.87 in overall) (Section 2.3.7.1) lower than the pK<sub>a</sub> at 35°C (8.95) and liquid/gas transfer limitations of NH<sub>3</sub> in anaerobic digestion. Anammox process can represent another potential removal mechanism for NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N from the digestate content. It is an autotrophic conversion of ammonium to dinitrogen gas using nitrite as an electron acceptor under anaerobic environment (Henze et al., 2008). The process reported to be succeptible to inhibition in terms of organic content when COD concentration was above than 290 mg/L (Molinuevo et al., 2009). The COD concentrations of above 10000 mg/L in the reactor content (Table 2.11) can thus be expected to inhibit anammox process in the RBP test of the digestates. Sabumon (2007) investigated an additional route for the anaerobic ammonia removal in the presence of organic matter. The author reported that the oxygen required for nitrite and nitrate compounds under anaerobic conditions could be formed during the catalase enzyme activity under oxidative stress and anoxic conditions. Further denitrification step could either be autotrophic or heterotrophic; the latter using organic matter in the conversion of nitrate to dinitrogen gas (Sabumon, 2007). Therefore, ammonium removal in the anaerobic treatment of the digestates can be speculated to be achieved via the pathway of the formation of oxidized nitrogen compounds by enzymatic catalase activity followed by autotrophic and/or heterotrophic denitrification. This conversion pathway for ammonium still remains as another research field.

# 2.3.7.5 The changes in dissolved reactive and total phosphorus concentrations

The treatment potential of the phosphorus was evaluated for dissolved reactive and total phosphorus parameters. Phosphates that can be detected in colorimetric tests without the application of hydrolysis or oxidative digestion as a pretreatment are defined as the reactive phosphorus which includes various forms of orthophosphates  $(PO_4^{3-}, HPO_4^{2-}, H_2PO_4^{-}, H_3PO_4)$  (Gu et al., 2011). The overall DRP concentrations in

reactors decreased by 67-94% and 68-83% with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively (Table 2.16). The removed DRP concentrations in the reactors were 1.75folds higher with nutrient supplementation than without nutrient 5.01 supplementation. AD processes are known to increase the availability of the phosphorus (Moody et al., 2009), thus the DRP content. Reactive phosphorus represents the readily available form of phosphorus to chemical reactions via coulombic attraction (Venkiteshwaran et al., 2018). On the other hand, Güngör and Karthikeyan (2008) could not observe a consistent increase in DRP concentrations in the investigation of the influent and effluent phosphorus concentrations of 6 full-scale on-farm anaerobic digesters processing dairy manures, even though the breakdown of dissolved unreactive phosphorus in AD suggested mineralization. The authors rather observed a decrease in the influent DRP concentrations after AD by a majority of measurements which approximately ranged between 10-64%. They concluded that DRP might have been precipitated or incorporated in particulate matter and subsequently removed from the dissolved phase (Güngör and Karthikeyan, 2008). Phosphate removal in AD processes were also reported as precipitation and coprecipitation as well as biological phosphorus uptake (van Langerak et al., 1998). The high removal amounts of DRP and the expectation of phosphorus release rather than removal by microorganisms under anaerobic conditions also suggested similar removal mechanisms for DRP in the anaerobic reactors. Thus, the removal amounts of DRP can be linked to the prevalence of readily available precipitating or incorporable matters in the anaerobic environment. This may also be reason why the DRP removal from the digestates of anaerobic digesters 1, 3, 4 and 6 with nutrient supplementation reflected itself as being over 100% in calculation (Table 2.16). Over 100% removal indicated the constituent removed from the other contents in the reactor, which was probably from the nutrient solution added. The addition of the nutrients may have enhanced the formation of readily precipitating matters, thus the precipitation of DRP in the overall reactor content may have promoted.

	Table	: 2.16. The	change in D	RP concen	trations afte	er 70 days	of anaerobi	c batch trea	atment.	
Nutrient	Deactor	DRP cone	centration in th mg/L	le reactor,	DRP removal in the reactor	The digestate	DRP conce	ntration of th mg/L	e digestate,	DRP removal from
supplementation	INCAULUI	Initial	Final	Removal	uic reactor, %	anaerobic	Initial	Final	Removal	digestates, %
		Calculated	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	digester	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	Calculated
	I	115.0	$24.4 \pm 0.06$	90.6	(6L)-(6L)					
	R1	142.7	$14.1\pm0$	128.5	(06)-(06)	1	$1156.1 \pm 3.74$	-519.9	1676.0	(145)-(145)
	R2	184.3	$58.8 \pm 2.94$	125.5	(67)-(71)	2	$1097.9 \pm 3.74$	459.8	638.0	(55)-(64)
with	R3	127.2	$7.6 \pm 0.04$	119.5	(94)-(94)	с	$289.7 \pm 0.00$	-450.4	740.1	(255)-(256)
	R4	130.4	$22.3 \pm 0.04$	108.1	(83)-(83)	4	465.6±3.74	-145.6	611.2	(131)-(132)
	R5	146.5	$32.5 \pm 0$	113.9	(78)-(78)	5	$548.9 \pm 1.87$	62.4	486.5	(88)-(88)
	R6	116.4	$20.6\pm0$	95.8	(82)-(82)	9	$33.7 \pm 0.04$	-92	125.7	(373)-(373)
	Ι	27.2	6.5±0.07	20.7	(76)-(76)					
	R1	55.1	$11.3\pm0$	43.7	(6L)-(6L)	1	$1156.1 \pm 3.74$	203.5	952.6	(82)-(82)
	R2	97.8	$26.3 \pm 0.79$	71.5	(72)-(74)	7	$1097.9 \pm 3.74$	306.7	791.2	(71)-(74)
without	R3	39.2	$7.6 {\pm} 0.04$	31.7	(81)-(81)	б	$289.7 \pm 0.00$	30.7	259	(80)-(68)
	R4	42.4	$8.7{\pm}0.04$	33.7	(08)-(60)	4	465.6±3.74	70.5	395.1	(85)-(85)
	R5	59.1	$10\pm0.04$	49.0	(83)-(83)	5	$548.9 \pm 1.87$	64.5	484.4	(88)-(88)
	R6	28.2	$9.1 {\pm} 0.04$	19.1	(68)-(68)	9	$33.7 \pm 0.04$	23.0	10.7	(31)-(32)

	Ξ
	Ħ
	ö
	Ē
	2
-	5
	Ĕ
	3
	2
-	õ
	9
	G
	ģ
	Э
	.0
ç	Ξ
	-
	Š
	6
-	ð
~	-
í	$\leq$
`	ے
	Ð
Ċ	Ħ
	ದ
	Ś
	ğ
	2
	H
	ñ
	g
	อ
	Q
	Ξ
	2
	~
ſ	5
ĥ	Y
4	ב
	Ļ
•	Π
	Ø
	pľ,
	Ц
	la
-	5
	2
	З
Ē	
1	ö
<del>.</del>	-
	~i
-	P
-	ō
r	G
	-

Initial total phosphorus content of the digestate including reactors was between 480-641 mg/L with and 400-566 mg/L without nutrient supplementation. The high phosphorus concentration of the nutrient medium (Table 2.6) resulted in higher initial TP content in the reactors with nutrient supplementation (Table 2.18). TP was removed by 14-24 % and 19-29 % with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively, in digestate containing reactors. TP removal from unscreened dairy manure was previously reported as 27-61 % in a conventional one phase digester (Demirer and Chen, 2005a). TP content in the reactor had a potential to be removed from the reactor by volatilization since the only mechanism allowed as an outlet from the reactor was volatilization during the ejection of the biogas produced. Volatile phosphine compounds were previously noted to be present in anaerobic digesters but at very low concentrations in the orders of nanograms per cubic meter gas (Roels and Verstraete, 2001). Such a removal mechanism is not explanatory for the overall TP removals from the reactors. It can thus be speculated that the compounds that are resistant to acid digestion in TP determination may be formed at the end of the reactor operation. Organophosphorus compounds such as AMP (adenosine monophosphate) may require more time to digest to be degraded (APHA, 2005). The reactors with nutrient medium had lower or at most equal TP removal efficiency compared to the ones without nutrient medium (Table 2.18). This fact can be attributed to the increased initial phosphorus concentration via addition of nutrients into the reactors which eventually resulted in higher final TP concentrations.

The TP content of the digestates were either removed or accumulated by -50 to 34% with and -17 to 26% without nutrient supplementation (negative values indicates the accumulation) (Table 2.18). The highest TP accumulation observed was in the digestate of anaerobic digester 6 (50-46%) which was probably due to the comparably much lower TP removal within the reactor (69.2 mg/L) than the other reactors (104.9-124.9 mg/L). Accumulation of TP was previously observed in two-phase anaerobic

treatment of unscreened dairy manure with a TP removal range of (-14)-42% (Demirer and Chen, 2005a).

The solubilization of TP into reactive form (DRP/TP) was found to be 0.500, 0.394, 0.216, 0.299, 0.318 and 0.096 for the digestates of anaerobic digesters 1-6, respectively, at the initial stage of the experiment. The DRP fractionation of the total phosphorus were significantly reduced to the range of 0.031-0.113 after AD process (Table 2.17). Thus, dissolved reactive phosphorus released in the anaerobic environment did not have a potential to remain in a soluble state and rather removed as particulates or incorporated forms in particulates.

Digestate of anaerobic digester	Initial DRP of digestate, mg/L	Initial TP of digestate, mg/L	Initial P solubilization of digestate	Final DRP of digestate, mg/L	Final TP of digestate, mg/L	Final P solubilization of digestate
1	1156	2314	0.500	203	1934	0.105
2	1098	2786	0.394	307	2711	0.113
3	290	1340	0.216	31	985	0.031
4	466	1555	0.299	71	1191	0.059
5	549	1725	0.318	65	2024	0.032
6	34	352	0.096	23	360	0.064

Table 2.17. DRP/TP ratio for the digestate before and after RBP test.

supplementation	Reactor	TP concent	tration in the re	actor, mg/L	TP removal in the reactor %	The digestate	TP conc	entration of the mg/L	e digestate,	TP removal from digestates,
		Initial	Final	Removal		anaerobic	Initial	Final	Removal	%
		Calculated	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	digester	Measured	Calculated	Calculated	Calculated
	Ι	488	$376.7 \pm 0.94$	111.7	(23)-(23)					
	R1	535	$423.3 \pm 0.94$	111.2	(21)-(21)	1	$2314{\pm}5.8$	2220.6	93.4	(3)-(6)
	R2	641	516.7±1.63	124.6	(19)-(20)	2	2786±0.0	2472.0	314	(9)-(13)
with	R3	530	$408.7 \pm 0.94$	121.7	(23)-(23)	З	$1340{\pm}0.0$	1004.6	335.4	(23)-(26)
	$\mathbb{R}4$	528	$402.7 \pm 0.94$	124.9	(23)-(24)	4	$1555\pm 0.0$	1052.0	503.0	(30)-(34)
	R5	567	$462.0 \pm 0.00$	104.9	(19)-(19)	5	$1725 \pm 0.0$	1727.5	-2.5	(0)-(0)
	R6	480	$410.7 \pm 0.94$	69.2	(14)-(15)	9	352±5.1	517.9	-165.9	(-50)-(-46)
	I	409	$288.0 \pm 0.00$	121.0	(30)-(30)					
	R1	456	$328.7 \pm 0.94$	127.4	(28)-(28)	1	$2314{\pm}5.8$	1934.0	380.0	(14)-(18)
	R2	566	$447.8 \pm 6.83$	118.0	(19)-(22)	2	2786±0.0	2710.9	75.1	(-3)-(6)
without	R3	452	$320.0 \pm 0.00$	131.7	(29)-(29)	З	$1340{\pm}0.0$	985.1	354.9	(26)-(26)
	R4	449	$319.3 \pm 0.94$	129.4	(29)-(29)	4	$1555 \pm 0.0$	1190.8	364.2	(22)-(26)
	R5	489	$394.0 \pm 0.00$	95.4	(19)-(19)	5	$1725 \pm 0.0$	2024.0	-299.0	(-17)-(-17)
	R6	400	$299.3 \pm 0.94$	100.7	(25)-(26)	9	$352\pm 5.1$	360.2	-8.2	(-4)-(0)

at
ë
=
-F
at
ã
$\mathbf{C}$
ē
2
g
n
g
of
Ś
Ŋ
ď
0
5
G
Ψ
а
JS
ō
Ē
Ľ
<u>n</u>
S
ũ
8
õ
Ξ
·=
မ္မ
Ĩ
na
$\overline{\mathbf{C}}$
le
۰.
8
2

#### 2.4 The decision on the digestate selection on further anaerobic treatment

The digestate of anaerobic digester 2 operated with 90 % laying hen manure was selected as the digestate to be used in high-rate anaerobic treatment process. This digestate had the highest residual biogas yield with respect to both the added amounts of volatile solids in digestate  $(0.326 \pm 0.009 \text{ L}_{\text{biogas}}/\text{g VS})$  and the removed amount of COD<sub>t</sub> from the digestate  $(0.466 \pm 0.171 \text{ m}^3/\text{kg COD}_r)$  without nutrient supplementation. Higher biogas yields may increase the economic feasibility of AD plants. The biogas yield of the digestate was very close to the theoretical one and did not require any pretreatment step to increase the yield. Additionally, the biogas yields obtained from this digestate was higher than the limit value (0.25 L/g VS) set by the Notification on Mechanical Separation, Bio-Drying and Bio-Methanation Plants and Fermented Product Management to be applicable on land. Thus, the digestate required further stabilization before land application. Moreover, significant COD<sub>t</sub> removals (37-60%) from the digestate could be obtained by further anaerobic treatment which has a potential to decrease the environmental aspects associated with its land application or storage.

# **2.5 Conclusions**

The biogas yields obtained in the range of 0.111-0.326  $L_{biogas}/g$  VS were found to be comparable to the raw feedstocks such as cattle, dairy cattle, horse manure. The highest biogas yield was obtained from the digestate of the raw feedstock containing 90% laying hen manure with the highest VS degradation. The biogas yields were considerably different from the biogas production per unit volume of digestates probably due to their variable biodegradability. The digestate of sewage sludge was more easily biodegradable relative to the digestates of animal manures. The digestate obtained from the plant in which digestate was recycled by 40% had the lowest biogas yield due to accumulation of the recalcitrant matters even if the digestate had an optimum COD:TKN ratio for further anaerobic degradation. The addition of nutrients resulted in phosphorus inhibition when nutrients were added for the digestates having a COD:TP ratio in the range of 14:1-43:1.

Further AD of the digestates resulted in a  $COD_t$  removal efficiency in the range of 25-64% which had a potential to be increased to 35-84% by nutrient supplementation. Even if nutrient supplementation enhanced the  $COD_t$  removal, it resulted in higher nutrient concentrations in the effluent. Thus, nutrient addition may not be considered as a viable option for decreasing the environmental impacts associated with the land application, storage or disposal of digestates.

Volatile solids content of the digestates could be degraded by 19-65% and 13-64% with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively. VS degradation was found to have a potential to be correlated with the residual biogas yields only if the digestates were not obtained from the AD plants that were operated with too distinct feedstocks such as the ones of sewage sludges and animal manures. The highest COD<sub>t</sub> and VS removals were obtained for the digestates of raw feedstocks of 100% beef cattle manure and 90% laying hen manure which had the highest COD<sub>s</sub>, TP and DRP concentrations and the highest RBYs at the end of 70 days.

# **CHAPTER 3**

# HIGH-RATE ANAEROBIC TREATMENT OF DIGESTATE USING FIXED-FILM REACTORS

The results of the RBP test (Chapter 2) indicated that digestates contained high COD concentrations and had significant residual biogas production potential. The digestate taken from an anaerobic digester operated with a manure mixture of 90% laying hen and 10% cattle manure (digestate of the anaerobic digester 2 in Chapter 2) was found to have the highest RBY (0.299  $\pm$  0.005 with and 0.326  $\pm$  0.009 L<sub>biogas</sub>/g VS<sub>added</sub> without nutrient supplementation) among 6 digestate samples. This yield was found to be comparable to that of many raw feedstocks such as cattle manure (0.15-0.35 L/g)VS), municipal secondary sludge (0.2-0.35 L/g VS), cereal straw (0.2-0.5 L/g VS), liquid cattle manure (0.3-0.8 L/g VS) and pig excreta (0.2-0.5 L/g VS) (Braun, 2007; Zupančič and Grilc, 2012). Furthermore, considerable CODt removal (35-75% with and 37-60 % without nutrient supplementation) was also achieved in the 70-day batch anaerobic treatment of this digestate sample. It was therefore concluded that additional COD removal and biogas production from digestates could be practiced to decrease the pollution load as well as to capture the residual biogas associated with the degradation of residual organics. Having the highest RBP and considerable COD removal, digestate of the anaerobic digester 2 was selected for further treatment and residual biogas capture by using high rate fixed-film anaerobic reactors.

The reason behind the selection of a high-rate anaerobic reactor was mainly related to recent studies demonstrating the possibility of reducing the HRT and thus increasing the applicable organic loading rates. Operating an AD process using shorter HRTs creates an opportunity for further COD removal and biogas capture from digestates with minimum footprint and installation costs.

An anaerobic fixed-film reactor which is known with its small area requirement for installation, simplicity in construction and operation as well as durability against process instabilities was selected as a well-suited configuration for high-rate treatment of the digestate. The commonly used high-rate anaerobic digesters are reviewed in this chapter with a special emphasis on the digestate treatment using AFFRs.

#### **3.1 Literature Background**

# 3.1.1 High-rate anaerobic reactors

Low-rate anaerobic digesters can be referred as slow reactors which require 4-6 weeks of HRT to maintain the digestion at a significant extent. Unstirred, semi-continuous digesters in rural areas, septic tanks and Imhoff tanks can be considered as low-rate digesters (Tauseef et al., 2013).

The rate of digestion processes was increased by the invention of the high-rate anaerobic reactors which dated back to 1960s with the introduction of anaerobic filters for the treatment of wastes. High-rate anaerobic configurations can be operated with shorter HRTs while maintaining high solids retention time within the reactors (Abbasi et al., 2012) which eventually results in the reduction of reactor footprint and volumes (Barber and Stuckey, 1999). High solids retention time can be obtained by bacterial sludge entrapment between the spaces and the attachment of the bacteria to the walls of the supporting media and/or bacterial immobilization on fixed or mobile particulate surfaces, and/or sludge blankets (Lettinga et al., 1984). The prolonged solids retention time in high-rate anaerobic digesters enables the reactors to be operated at high organic loadings. The applicability of high organic loadings and less sludge production are the two drivers for the growing interest on high-rate anaerobic treatment of wastes/wastewaters (Rajagopal et al., 2013). Many different configurations of high-

rate reactors have been introduced and used for the treatment of wastewaters from the time of invention. The studies on high-rate AD of various wastes are compiled in Table 3.1. High-rate anaerobic reactors can be classified as first, second and third generation based on their evolution. A brief description on the configurations of high-rate anaerobic reactors is given in the following sections.

#### 3.1.1.1 First generation high-rate anaerobic reactors

Anaerobic CSTRs and anaerobic contact reactors (ACTs) can be considered as the first generation high-rate anaerobic digesters (Abbasi and Abbasi, 2012; Tauseef et al., 2013). CSTRs have been widely applied in the treatment of high strength wastewaters such as liquid animal manure and organic wastewaters (Mao et al., 2015). However, the performance of these reactors is affected by the microbial wash-out along with the effluent. ACT has been developed for the purpose of increasing the solids retention time by recycling the microbial biomass back to the reactor in order to prevent the wash-out of the microorganisms (Tauseef et al., 2013). ACT reactor design was inspired from aerobic activated sludge processes and therefore can be referred as anaerobic activated sludge processes. Both the CSTRs and ACTs have been widely used for the treatment of wastewaters of high suspended solid concentrations (Mao et al., 2015).

#### 3.1.1.2 Second generation high-rate anaerobic reactors

Anaerobic filters, downflow stationary fixed film reactors, upflow anaerobic sludge blankets, fluidized bed and expanded bed reactors, sequencing batch reactors and baffled reactors can be considered as second generation high-rate reactors (Tauseef et al., 2013).

	Tabl	e 3.1. The studie	ss on hig	gh-rate an	aerobic treatme	ent of various wastewaters.		
Reactor type	Wastewater	Support material	T,°C	HRT	OLR	Biogas	COD removal	Reference
Hybrid SB/FFR	Synthetic sewage WW	Packed pumice stone	12	8-24 h	0.4-1.5 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d		COD <sub>t</sub> 84% COD <sub>s</sub> 87%	Keating et al., 2016
AAF	Dairy cattle WW	*limestone gravel *non-woven polyester matting *mixture of the two WWs	10-37	33 d	0.12 kg VS/m <sup>3</sup> .d	*0.012-0.054 m <sup>3</sup> / m <sup>3</sup> .d *0.009-0.037 m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> / m <sup>3</sup> .d *0.05-0.21 m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /kg COD <sub>r</sub>	76-94%	Vartak et al., 1997
UASB Hybrid UASB (fixed-film)	Molasses WW	- Rope	35	p Z	2.3-9.4 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d 2.3-9.1 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.33-0.91 m³ CH₄/ m³.d 0.44-1.12 m³ CH₄/ m³.d	(-20)-60%	Lo et al., 1991
UASB	*Molasses waste *Synthetic volatile acids wastes	·	35	0.34- 30 d	0.8-20.4 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.21-0.51 m <sup>3</sup> /kg COD <sub>r</sub>	52-98%	Jhung and Choi, 1995
AFBR	Cotton textile WW (supplemented)	Pumice	35	24-50 h	0.38-5 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d		27-89%	Şen and Demirer, 2003
AFBR + Ultrasonication AFBR	Thickened waste activated sludge	High density polyethylene	37	4, 8 d	4.5-11.5 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.28-0.35 m <sup>3</sup> CH₄/kg CODr 0.33-0.36 m <sup>3</sup> CH₄/kg CODr	38-43% 43-65%	Chowdhury et al., 2017

Reactor type	Wastewater	Support material	T,⁰C	HRT	OLR	Biogas	COD removal	Reference
AFBR	Synthetic carbohydrate rich WW	Anox Kaldness-K1	37	15-20 d		0.08-0.41 m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /kg COD <sub>a</sub> .d	95%	Yeshanew et al., 2016
Anammox UASB	Chicken manure digested in CSAR	ı	35	13 d	ı	1	63% COD <sub>t</sub> 26 % COD <sub>s</sub>	Yangin- Gomec et al., 2017
UASB	Raw and filtered pig slurry	ı	36	1.5, 3 d	7.2-16.4 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.236-0.248 m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /kg COD		Rico et al., 2017
UASB	Cattle manure	ı	37	5.3-16 d	2.35-8.63 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	64.7-73.7 % CH4	36.2-75.5%	Marañón et al., 2001
Ľ	Poultry		36 00 26	8-36 h (start- up)	0.77-3.43 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.024 m <sup>3</sup> biogas/d 46-56% methane	70 % CODt 79 % CODs 50 78 %	Rajakumar et
AL.	slaughterhouse	r v C tilly	CC-K7	12 h	2.27-15.4 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.24 m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /kg COD <sub>r</sub>		al., 2011
MBBR	Winery wastewater	PE carriers	31-39	1.55- 4.66 d	1.3-29.59 kg/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.45-14.06 m <sup>3</sup> / m <sup>3</sup> .d 45.11-82.61% CH <sub>4</sub>	30.6- 91%COD <sub>s</sub>	Chai et al., 2014

Table 3.1. The studies on high-rate anaerobic treatment of various wastewaters.

71

# 3.1.1.2.1 Anaerobic filters (fixed-bed) and anaerobic fixed-film reactors

A stationary packing material is present in both anaerobic filters (AFs) and anaerobic fixed-film reactors. The main distinction between each type of anaerobic reactors is that a large fraction of sludge is entrapped between the spaces of packing material in AFs which makes the shape of the packing material less important. On the other hand, AFFRs are designed to avoid the entrapment of suspended solids among the packing material to enable the treatment of wastes with considerable amounts of suspended solids such as screened manure (Lettinga et al., 1984). The shape of the packing material thus becomes the most important component of the reactor configuration in AFFRs. Ideally the packing material is required to have high porosity and large surface area, to be light in weight and to enable biomass attachment to the surface as well as to be economical (Acharya et al., 2008). AFs were previously tested for the treatment of landfill leachate, food processing wastes, pharmaceutical wastes, high strength acid wastewater, wheat starch gluten plant waste, organic particulates, pig slurry and waste, poultry slaughterhouse wastewater and cattle slurry which was observed to yield considerable COD removals (Tauseef et al., 2013). Clogging is one of the main problems in the operation of the AFs, but, can be overcome by a primary settler or preacidification step (van Lier et al., 2008).

AFFRs have several advantages compared to other high-rate anaerobic reactors. Hydraulic retention time of fixed film anaerobic reactors can be lower than 5 days which may decrease the area requirement of installations (Hamilton, 2012). AFFRs also show better stability at high organic loading rates and are durable against large toxic shock loads (Acharya et al., 2008). Large amounts of biomass can be retained within the reactor (Rao et al, 2005) which is due to the both attached and granular growth of microorganisms (Salkinoja-Salonen et al., 1983). Therefore, the sludge production is minimized (Nandy and Kaul, 2001; Kocadagistan et al., 2005). AFFR was also found to be more adaptable to different substrates than upflow anaerobic

sludge blanket reactors (UASB) (Jhung and Choi, 1995). These reactors were also reported as stable against intermittent operation with weekend breaks and also observed to recover quickly and satisfactorily after stopping the operation for four months (del Pozo et al., 2000). Moreover, AFFRs does not require any mechanical mixing. These reactors are also simple to construct (Acharya et al., 2008). Apart from these advantages, clogging may be considered as a disadvantage of AFFRs. Recirculation of the effluent and gas, supplying a relatively thin layer of immobilization media near the inlet and improving the distribution of flow in order to avoid too low velocities are the measures that can be taken against the problem of clogging (Kishore, 2010). On the other hand, a recent tracer study applied in the treatment of dairy effluent revealed that AFFRs were not clogged during operation and even the reactors were close to CSTR in flow pattern inside the reactor (Koshta et al., 2017).

# **3.1.1.2.2** Upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactors

The main principle of an UASB is the treatment of wastewaters by the anaerobic granules formed during the start-up period of the reactors. The sludge with good settling properties settles at the bottom of the reactors and forms anaerobic sludge granules. These granules compose a sludge blanket (or bed) in the lower part of the reactors (Lettinga et al., 1984). The retention of the biomass within the reactor is, thus, dependent on the formation of well settleable, granular microbial biomass (O'Flaherty et al., 2006). Various physical, chemical and biological parameters such as the type of the wastewater, the operating conditions, active microbial population in the seed sludge can be effective in the formation of the granules (Singh and Singh, 2015). The selection of the pressure, low surface tension, the presence of the inorganic nuclei and readily acidifiable chemical oxygen demand can also be considered as factors effecting the granulation of the biomass (O'Flaherty et al., 2006). Some wastes may not develop granules or result in poor granular development (Tauseef et al., 2013). Even the low

concentration of substrates may result in the disintegration of the granules (Grotenhuis, 1992). UASB and AF filter designs are based on the suspended growth of the microorganisms, thus, same types of wastes are applicable for both designs (Tauseef et al., 2013).

# 3.1.1.2.3 Anaerobic fixed-film expanded bed (anaerobic expanded bed) and fluidized bed reactors

Extended biomass retention in the reactor is supplied by mobile biomass carriers such as sand and clay particles in both anaerobic fixed-film expanded bed (AFFEBR) and fluidized bed reactors (AFBR). The biomass carriers are lifted up in the reactor by the inlet flow. The effluent is recycled back to the inlet to provide sufficient flow rate for both lifting the carriers and providing the feed to attached biomass. The sludge is present at the lower part of the reactor in expanded bed reactors whereas it is distributed almost over the entire reactor volume in fluidized bed reactors (Lettinga et al., 1984). The wastewaters of highly soluble organic content or of suspended material which is easily biodegradable such that whey, permeate of whey, condensate of black liquor can be successfully treated by AFFEBRs and AFBRs (Tauseef et al., 2013). Operational complexity and high costs are the disadvantages of the reactors due to the expansion of the bed by incoming flow (Barber and Stuckey, 1999)

# **3.1.1.2.4** Anaerobic sequencing batch reactors

Anaerobic sequencing batch reactors (ASBRs) are operated discontinuously in five discrete steps: fill, react, settle, draw and idle, in a single batch type of reactor. The requirement of mixing for increasing the transfer of the substrate to microorganisms is handled by mechanical stirring or recirculation of the liquid or gas. ASBRs are simple to operate and flexible for use, and offer efficient quality control of the effluent while

high biogas yields are obtained (Tauseef et al., 2013). These reactors have channeling and clogging problems and may have poorly settleable effluents due to inadequate self-immobilization and biogas entrapped in the sludge (Mao et al., 2015). Dairy, textile, brewery, pulp mill, tannery and petrochemical industry and other effluents have been tested for the treatment in ASBRs (Tauseef et al., 2013).

#### **3.1.1.2.5** Anaerobic baffled reactors

The design of anaerobic baffled reactors (ABRs) includes hanging and standing baffles in a pattern. The baffles make the wastewater flow upward and downward from one compartment to another while flowing through the reactor (Tauseef et al., 2013). ABRs act as a two-phase system in which acidogenesis and methanogenesis occurs at different stages, due to baffled compartmentalization of the reactor (Barber and Stuckey, 1999). (A detailed description of the two-phase systems is given in Section 3.1.1.3.3). ABRs are simple and inexpensive to construct and operate; durable to hydraulic shock loads and shows high stability to organic shocks. Uneven distribution of the inflow wastewater and the shallow reactor design to maintain convenient upward flow velocities for the liquid and the gas are the main drawbacks of the ABRs (Barber and Stuckey, 1999).

# 3.1.1.3 Third generation high-rate anaerobic reactors

Third generation high-rate anaerobic reactors have evolved to provide solutions for the problems associated with the operation of the second generation high-rate reactors. Clogging of the reactors, wash-out of the biomass from the reactor, insufficient mixing, poor settleability of the granules and inapplicability to certain types of wastewaters were the main driver problems in the development of third generation

high-rate anaerobic reactors. These reactors are generally modified versions or hybrids of second generation anaerobic reactors (Tauseef et al., 2013).

# 3.1.1.3.1 Modifications on UASB reactors

The modifications were mostly made on the UASB reactors. Expanded bed granular sludge blanket (EGSB), internal circulation reactor (IC), anaerobic mitigating blanket reactor (AMBR) and electrolysis enhanced anaerobic digestion (EEAD) are among these modifications. The granules are partially or fully expanded in EGSB reactors, thus, the mass transfer between granular sludge and wastewater is increased (Zheng et al., 2014). IC reactor was developed as a solution for the wash-out problems in conventional UASB reactors. A single IC reactor is composed of two UASB compartments on top of each other working in series (Tay et al., 2010). AMBRs require at least three compartments and mechanical mixing at multiple points to avoid clogging problems and to improve the distribution of the substrate (Tay et al., 2010). Water electrolysis inside UASB reactors creates micro-aerobic conditions in EEAD reactors which improve the hydrolysis of the organic matters, COD removal and methane production (Tartakovsky et al., 2011).

#### 3.1.1.3.2 Hybrid anaerobic reactors

The configurations of hybrid anaerobic reactors have been developed to integrate the unique features of two or more anaerobic processes (Bajpai and Kondo, 2012). Hybrid reactors can be composed of an anaerobic filter or an anaerobic fixed film located at the upper part of an UASB (Tauseef et al., 2013). Such a configuration can minimize the limitations of both reactors in their individual use (Demirer and Chen, 2005b). The sludge bed remaining at the lower part takes the advantage of suspended biomass and act as a buffer zone against toxicity and inhibitory effects of influents. The upper part

can thus deal with relatively harmless feed with the biomass attaching on the surface of bio-filter media (Tauseef et al., 2013).

# 3.1.1.3.3 Multi-phase anaerobic reactors

The reaction steps of anaerobic digestion pathway are hydrolysis, acidification, acetogenesis and methanogenesis. All these reaction steps occur simultaneously in one phase reactors (Jo et al., 2018). Two phase anaerobic reactors have been developed with the aim of partitioning the hydrolysis/acidification step in the first phase and acetogenesis/methanogenesis step in the second phase regarding the different growth requirements of the microorganisms specific to each phase (Demirer and Othman, 2008; Nasir et al., 2012). Acidifying (acidogenic) bacteria has an optimum pH environment of 5.2-6.5 and the growth rate of these microorganisms is approximately 2 days. On the other hand, methanogens are slow growing microorganisms which require an environmental pH of 7.5-8.5 as an optimum growth condition (Solera et al., 2002). These two consortia differ also in terms of their nutritional requirements. Organic matters are the metabolized by acidogenics forming carbon dioxide, hydrogen and fatty acids. The simplest form of fatty acids (acetic acid) and hydrogen are required for the growth of methanogens. Additionally, acidogens and methanogens differ in their resistance to environmental stresses as well as their physiology, growth and nutrient uptake kinetics (Demirer and Chen, 2004). The operation conditions in onephase anaerobic digesters such as pH adjustment to near neutral and the extended retention times (usually more than 20-30 days) (Jo et al., 2018) are adjusted depending on the requirements of slow growing consortium, methanogens. The acidic conditions developing in the reactor as a result of acidogenic activity may have an inhibitory effect on the growth of methanogenic organisms (Demirer and Chen, 2005a). As a consequence of the differences in their growth requirements and in reactor operation, two-phase AD processes have been developed. Two-phase reactors usually consist of two reactors operated in series. The first reactor is operated at pHs around 5-6 and at short HRTs (less than 5 days) to favor the growth of acidogenic organisms and the second reactor is operated to dominate the methanogens (Jo et al., 2018).

Separating the reactors for each phase provides the selection and enrichment of the related bacteria within the specific phase (Demirer and Othman, 2008). The enhanced stability as a result of controlling the acidification phase and the ability to be operated at low HRTs and high OLRs compared to conventional reactors can be accounted as the advantages of the two-phase AD processes (Demirer and Chen, 2005a). Additionally, the installations of two-phase digesters can be cost-effective and smaller in size (Demirer and Chen, 2005a). Acidification in the first phase also acts as a pretreatment step for the waste before methanogenesis (Demirer and Othman, 2008). This fact gains importance especially for the AD of high solids containing wastes. Acidogenesis also results in the liquefaction of the wastes reducing the liquid to be added and the related energy requirements for heating, storing and spreading (Demirer and Chen, 2005a). Studies on the treatment of two-phase reactors are illustrated in Table 3.2.

In addition to two-phase reactors, three-phase digesters have been developed for the purpose of separating three reaction steps in the AD pathway as hydrolysis, acidogenesis and methanogenesis (Abbasi and Abbasi, 2012). Zhang et al. (2017) has recently developed a vertical three-phase digester separated into 3 chambers for high-solids containing wastes. The authors reported 24-54% more methane yield compared to one- and two-phased reactors at an organic loading rate of 10 g VS/L of food waste.

Ilmon	Overall removal, Reference %	Demirer and Othman, 2008	Ergüder et al., 2001	30.3-62.4 Demirer and VS Chen, 2004	30-71 Demirer and COD Chen, 2005a	Solera et al., 2002	70.6-86.3 COD Jo et al., 78-84.4 2018 VS	58-75.5 COD Fuess et al., 63.2-82.6 2017 COD	60-67 Dalkılıç and VS Uğurlu, 2015 49-52 TS
COD	removal enhancement, %	26.2-49.4	27.2-59.6						
	COD removal, %	34.8-55.4	27.2-59.6			61.5-71.7		54.8-62.9 5573.9	
phase	OLR, g/L.d		0.82-2.52 COD		1.19-15.06 COD	2.43-2.65 COD	0.5 -5 COD	15-30 COD	1.9-4.67 VS
Second	HRT		1.76- 3.50 d			4 d	16- 96 d	18- 37 h	10 d
	T,°C	35		35	36	55	35	μŢ	53
	Type	Batch	UASB	Batch	Daily fed	CSTR	Daily or semi- daily fed	UASB ASTBR	CSTR
	COD removal	18.2- 33.3%	91.9-97 %			30.1- 31.9%		~20%	
ase	OLR, g/L.d		11.7-24.6 COD	4-30 VS	0.96-6.02 COD	3.79-9.17 COD	0.5 -5 COD	84.2 COD	1.9-4.67 VS
First ph	HRT	2,4 d	2.06- 4.95 d	1.25- 4 d		1.7- 4 d	4 d	7.5 h	2 d
	T,°C	60		35	35	55	35	55	37
	Type	CM	UASB	CM	Daily fed	CSTR	Daily or semi- daily fed	APBR	CSTR
	Wastewater	WAS	Cheese whey	Unscreened dairy manure	Unscreened dairy manure	Vinasses	Food waste	Sugarcane vinasse	Chicken manure

Table 3.2. The studies on two-phase anaerobic treatment of wastewaters.

### 3.1.2 Anaerobic fixed-film treatment of the waste streams

AFFR reactors are known to hold large biomass in the reactor (Rao et al., 2005) which considerably reduces the HRT (Nikolaeva et al., 2013). Upflow configurations may be preferred to retain more biomass in the reactor since upflow configurations are faster in biofilm development due to lower wash-out effect of the suspended biomass compared to the downflow configurations (Tritt and Kang, 2017). In spite of many different types of packing media used in AFFRs (Table 3.3), the media is required to have a large surface to volume ratio for the immobilization of the microorganisms. High porosity and higher surface area help efficient biomethanation by predomination of methanogenic organisms as well as acidogenics in bacterial biofilm (Acharya et al., 2008).

AFFRs have been previously used for the treatment of wastewaters such as distillery spent wash (Acharya et al., 2008), pharmaceutical (Nandy and Kaul, 2001; Rao et al., 2005), molasses (Jhung and Choi, 1995), cheese whey (Patel et al., 1995), dairy (Qazi et al., 2011; Nikolaeva et al., 2013), food processing (Murray and van den Berg, 1981), petrochemical based (Nel et al., 1985; Noyola et al, 1990; Patel and Madammar, 2002), slaughterhouse (del Pozo et al., 2000) wastewaters as well as various phenolic compounds (Latkar et al., 2003) (Table 3.3). 28.2-82.1% COD removal efficiency was previously obtained in the treatment of dairy wastewater using batch anaerobic fixed bed reactors. The removal efficiency was reported as increasing by decreasing the OLR from 24 to 4.4 kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>.d with a corresponding increase in HRT from 1 to 5.5 days (Nikolaeva et al., 2013). Even if the configuration used by the authors was named as anaerobic fixed bed reactor, the media employed in the reactor aimed at immobilization of the microorganisms on the surface and thus could be considered as an AFFR. AFFRs were also applied to high solids containing wastewaters such as distillery spent wash having a TS concentration in the range of 110000-190000 mg/L without any dilution. 80% COD removal was obtained at an OLR of  $6.2 \text{ kg COD/m}^3$ .d at a HRT of 30 days (Acharya et al., 2008). COD treatment efficiency was in the range of 60-70% in the treatment of the wastewater from a bulk drug industry at a HRT and an OLR of 1.7 days and 10 kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>.d, respectively. HRT was not further reduced below 1.7 days which was probably due to comparably longer time requirement for the hydrolysis of the particulate matters (Rao et al., 2005). Anaerobic reactors can be operated with wastewaters containing high solids content but only at reduced organic loading rates (Lettinga et al., 1984). AFFR treatment was applied as a pre-treatment step for high-strength wastes in various studies (del Pozo et al., 2000; Nandy and Kaul, 2001). Besides the treatment of the wastes, AFFRs has been observed to yield a methane production close to the theoretical one (Hamoda and Kennedy, 1987; Noyola et al., 1990; Rao et al., 2005). 0.36 L CH<sub>4</sub>/g COD<sub>r</sub> yield could be obtained in the treatment of synthetic wastewater (Michaud et al., 2002). The treatment of wastewater from a bulk drug industry also yielded 0.3-0.5 L<sub>biogas</sub>/ g COD<sub>r</sub> (Rao et al., 2005)

The acclimation of the anaerobic seed sludge to the wastewater is the first step in the start-up of the AFFRs. To this purpose, anaerobic seed sludge is fed with an easily utilizable carbon source such as glucose. This carbon source is gradually replaced by the wastewater to be applied to acclimate the microorganisms to wastewater (Nel et al., 1985; Rao et al., 2005). Another approach to acclimate the microorganisms is to feed the microorganisms with diluted wastewater and gradually increase the organic loading rate by decreasing the dilution (Rao et al., 2005; Nikolaeva et al., 2013). Using diluted wastewater in acclimation previously reported to provide 30 days of start-up period for an AFFR to treat wastewater from a bulk drug industry (Rao et al., 2005). Incremental increase in the organic load is a common practice during the start-up of the high-rate anaerobic reactors (de Lemos Chernicharo, 2007) to prevent overloading (Escudié et al., 2011). The time required for the start-up of an anaerobic reactor can be reduced by using anaerobic seed sludge that is previously acclimated to the wastewater (de Lemos Chernicharo, 2007).

The organic loading rate can also be progressively increased during the operation of the AFFRs to test the durability to high OLRs. The progressive increase of OLR from 8 to 30 kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>.day in the treatment of poultry slaughterhouse wastewater using upflow AFFR resulted in a decrease of COD removal efficiency from 85-95% to 55-75% but without any sign of destabilization of the reactors (del Pozo et al., 2000). Additionally, being common in most of industries, a shock load, which carried 50 kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>.day, was applied for 12 hours with an HRT of 3 h in the same study. This application ended up with a decrease in the COD removal efficiency from 72 to 58% and the reactor could be recovered after 8 days into its original working performance. On the other hand, destabilization of the reactor was not experienced as tracked by alkalinity ratios and pH levels (del Pozo et al., 2000). Nandy and Kaul (2001) pointed out that AFFRs were durable against a hydraulic overloading that is the twice of the influent flow and could be stabilized back in 5 days during the treatment of herbalbased pharmaceutical wastewater. Not the OLR but the HRT had a great influence in the process instability in AFFRs (del Pozo et al., 2000). Hydraulic overloading created by the application of excessively reduced HRTs may result in the sloughing of the biofilm attached on the immobilization medium and washout of the biomass from the reactor (Chua et al., 1997). On the other hand, AFFRs observed to be slightly affected from 2-5 times hydraulic overloading in terms of COD removal efficiency (Chua et al., 1997). The authors reported that the reactors could recover after the reactor failure by the application of 10 times hydraulic shock load. The process stability under the operation with lower HRTs could also be maintained during the intermittent operation of the AFFRs with weekend breaks (del Pozo et al., 2000). The preservation of the stability was attributed to the decreased volatile fatty acids concentration during the breaks (del Pozo et al., 2000). A maximum 5 days with no-feed period was reported to be applicable in AFFR treatment of herbal-based pharmaceutical wastewater as a demonstration of intermittent breaks. The increase in the no-feed period beyond 10 days required more than 7 days to regain the stability of the reactor (Nandy and Kaul, 2001). AFFR reactors were additionally reported as being more adaptable to the changes in feedstock characteristics than the UASB reactors (Jhung and Choi, 1995).

Reactor type								
	Wastewater	Support material	Temp, °C	HRT	OLR	Biogas	COD removal	Reference
AFFR 1 (upflow)	Distillery spent wash WW	*Charcoal *Coconut coir *Nylon fibers	37	6-30 d	6.2-31 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	7.25 m <sup>3</sup> /m <sup>3</sup> .d	80 %	Acharya et al., 2008
AFFR/ AFBR	Synthetic WW containing glucose as carbon source	Mineral granules mainly composed of silica and alumina	35	1.5-6.4d	1.1-6 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.05-0.36 m <sup>3</sup> CH4/kg COD <sub>r</sub>		Michaud et al., 2002
AFFR (upflow) i	a bulk drug ndustry WW	PVC pall rings	35	Min 1.7 d	0.5-11 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.25 m <sup>3</sup> /kg COD <sub>r</sub> (58-62% CH <sub>4</sub> content) 0.3-0.5 m <sup>3</sup> /kg COD <sub>r</sub> (65-70% CH <sub>4</sub> content)	35-60% (start-up) 47-66% (operation)	Rao et al., 2005
AFFBR 1 (upflow)	Dairy WW	Hybrid material of tire rubber and zeolite	22-26	1-5.5 d	4.4-24 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.07-0.18 m <sup>3</sup> CH₄/kg COD <sub>a</sub>	28.2-82.1%	Nikolaeva et al., 2013
AFFR ] (upflow, § downflow)	Poultry slaughterhouse WW	Vertical corrugated PVC tubes	35	6 h	2-12 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	,	approx. 30- 90%	del Pozo et al., 2000
AFFR <sup>1</sup> (upflow) <sup>1</sup>	Herbal-based pharmaceutical WW	Nylon scrubber	35	20 h- 6 d	1 - 48 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	*0.42-15.10 m <sup>3</sup> biogas/ m <sup>3</sup> .d *0.200-0.350 m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /kg COD <sup>r</sup> *51.5-66.5% CH <sub>4</sub> content	36.5-98%	Nandy and Kaul, 2001

Biogas COD Reference removal	*62.9-98.1% Hamoda and 50-86% (soluble) Kennedy, nethane content *56.8-97.0% 1987 (total)	0.21-0.44 67-90% Yousefzadeh m³ CH₄/kg CODr 58-87% et al., 2017 m³ CH₄/kg CODr 58-87%	0.30-0.74 m <sup>3</sup> /kg 49-95% Jhung and Choi, 1995	69-93.5% ).296-0.355 m <sup>3</sup> /kg with trace Nel et al., COD <sub>r</sub> 1985 supplementat				
OLR	1.3-17 kg COD/m³.d	1.387-4.162 g COD/m <sup>2</sup> .d	0.75-21.4 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	4.26 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d				
HRT	0.4-5.7 d	12-36 h	0.3-30 d	3d				
Temp, ⁰C	35	25	35	35				
Support material	Oriented needle- punched polyester	High density polyethylene	Kock plastic media	Inert cylindrical polyethylene carrier				
Wastewater	Acetic acid based synthetic WW	Synthetic WW	*Molasses waste *Synthetic volatile acids wastes	Petrochemical effluent				
Reactor type	AFFR (downflow)	Baffled AFFR AFFBR (upflow)	AFFR (downflow)	AFFR (downflow)				
Table	e 3.3. The studie	es on the anaei	robic trea	utment of v	various waste stre	ams using anaerobic	fixed film re	actors.
---------------------------------------	-----------------------	---	-------------	-------------	--------------------------------------	--	----------------	-----------------------
Reactor type	Wastewater	Support material	Temp, ∘C	HRT	OLR	Biogas	COD removal	Reference
		Charcoal	37	1-5 d	ı	6.0-6.7 m <sup>3</sup> /d. m <sup>3</sup> digester (64-72% CH <sub>4</sub>	76.6-81.5%	
AFFR (upflow)	Cheese whey	Brick pieces, pumice stone, gravel, PVC pieces		1 d	ı	content) 3.8-5.4 m <sup>3</sup> /d. m <sup>3</sup> digester (64-68% CH <sub>4</sub> content)	67.5-73.7%	Patel et al., 1995
AFFR (batch, repeated batch)	Dairy WW	Foam cubes, bamboo rings, fire bricks, PVC rings, gravels	35	1-8 d	2-21 kg COD/m³.d		96% maximum	Qazi et al., 2011
AFFR (upflow)	Simulated dairy WW	Fire expanded clay spheres	28-30	5d	1800 mg COD/d	0.25 m <sup>3</sup> /kg CODr	98.1%	Chua et al., 1997
			25	6-15 d	3.6-9.0 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.20-0.33 m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /kg COD <sub>a</sub> .d	95-98%	
AFFR	Acidic	Bone	37	1.5-15 d	3.6-27.2 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.37-0.45 m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /kg COD <sub>a</sub> .d	45-98%	Patel and
(upflow)	petrochemical WW	charcoal	45	3-15 d	3.6-18.1 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.33-0.41 m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /kg COD <sub>a</sub> .d	89-96%	Madamwar, 2002
			55	2.5-15 d	3.6-21.7 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.11-0.66 m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /kg COD <sub>a</sub> .d	77-98%	

1 4016		es on une anaei	rouic urea		allous waste su	callis usilig allacrou		actors.
Reactor type	Wastewater	Support material	Temp, °C	HRT	OLR	Biogas	COD removal	Reference
AFFR (downflow)	Terephthalic acid plant WW	PVC tubes	33	3.4, 5.8 d	1.08, 1.89 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	0.36 Nm <sup>3</sup> CH₄/kg COD <sub>r</sub>	74.5-77.4%	Noyola et al., 1990
AFFR (downflow)	Food processing waste	Inert needle- punched polyester	ı	0.38-1.0	ı	0.0137-0.280 m <sup>3</sup> /d	ı	Murray and van den Berg, 1981
AFFFBR (upflow)	resorcinol catechol hydroquinone	Basalt chips	33-37	3-6 h	1.91-12.34 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d 0.88-13.88 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d 1.88-12.05 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> .d	110-515 mL/d 46-305 mL/d 65-290 mL/d	77.59- 95.34% 56.40- 90.81% 29.15- 82.75%	Latkar et al., 2003
FBR	Slaughterhouse wastewater	Bamboo ring		2-8 d	1-4 kg COD/m³.d	0.35-1.5 m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> / m <sup>3</sup> .d 72-75 % CH <sub>4</sub>	74-95 %	Tritt and Kang, 2017
AFFR (upflow)	Lactate containing synthetic substrate	polypropylen e pall rings	20	20 h	1-12 kg ThOD/m³.d		ı	El Bayoumy et al., 1999
*FBR: Anaerc theoretical oxy	bic fixed bed reactives vgen demand.	tor, AFFBR: Ana	lerobic fixe	d film bed, /	AFFBR: anaerobi	c fixed film fixed bed re	actor, COD <sub>a</sub> : CO	D added, ThOD:

### **3.2 Materials and Methods**

### 3.2.1 Liquid digestate

Digestate used in high-rate AD experiments was selected based on the RBP test applied on six different digestates (Chapter 2). The digestate of a manure mixture of 90% laying hen and 10% cattle manure (digestate 2 in Chapter 2) which had the highest RBY was selected for further processing. It was settled for one day before used. Liquid digestate (supernatant) was collected after settling and was then used as the feed for high-rate anaerobic fixed-film reactors. Digestate (before settling) and liquid digestate were characterized for the parameters given in Table 3.4.

### 3.2.2 Anaerobic seed sludge

Anaerobic seed sludge and digestate were obtained from the same anaerobic digester. Anaerobic seed sludge was taken from the inside of the digester and concentrated by settling for 1 day to obtain a dense culture of anaerobic microorganisms. Settled portion was sieved from a 1 mm screen to remove large particles. Each AFFR was inoculated with 500 mL (517.5 g) of settled and sieved anaerobic seed sludge (will be referred as seed sludge) which corresponded to 63% and 57.5% of effective volume of R1 and R2, respectively.

		Dig	jestate
			After settling
Parameter	Seed sludge	Before settling	(liquid digestate)
pH	8.4	7.85	8.01
Density, kg/m <sup>3</sup>	$1,035 \pm 5.37$	$1,025 \pm 1.13$	$997\pm5.27$
TS, mg/L	$88,455 \pm 425$	$57,\!670 \pm 240$	$40,\!138 \pm 400$
VS, mg/L	$38,065 \pm 125$	$34,625 \pm 135$	$22,\!640\pm294$
Solid content, %	$8.54\pm0.003$	$5.62\pm0.017$	$4.03\pm0.022$
COD <sub>t</sub> , mg/L	$74,991 \pm 1,458$	$76,795 \pm 548$	$65,066 \pm 1,527$
COD <sub>s</sub> , mg/L	$19,460 \pm 449$	$33,006 \pm 196$	$40,304 \pm 1051$
TKN, mg/L	$12,236 \pm 0$	$7,092 \pm 85$	$6{,}977 \pm 189$
$NH_4^+$ - N, mg/L	$7,\!434 \pm 42$	$6,339 \pm 53$	$6,\!637 \pm 140$
TP, mg/L	$18,992 \pm 292$	$8,242 \pm 42$	$7{,}180\pm100$
DRP, mg/L	$253\pm0.8$	$157 \pm 2.1$	$151 \pm 0.2$
Alkalinity, mg/L as CaCO <sub>3</sub>	$23,\!275 \pm 247$	$21,406 \pm 472$	$19,248 \pm 116$
NH4 <sup>+</sup> - N/TKN	61 %	89 %	95 %

Table 3.4. Seed sludge and digestate characterization.

### 3.2.3 Analytical methods

TS, VS,  $COD_t$ ,  $COD_s$ , TKN,  $NH_4^+$ -N, TP and DRP were analyzed as described in the Standard Methods (APHA, 2005). Samples were first filtered from 0.45 µm pore-sized filters for  $COD_s$  and DRP measurement. Alkalinity was measured by following the procedure described by Ripley et al. (1986). pH was monitored by Oakton pH/CON 450 pH meter.

Methane, carbon dioxide and nitrogen contents in biogas were determined using Agilent Technologies 6890N Gas Chromatograph (Agilent Technologies, California, USA) with thermal conductivity detector (TCD). The device was equipped with a HP-Plot Q capillary column with dimensions of  $30.0 \text{ m x } 530 \text{ } \mu \text{m x } 40.0 \text{ } \mu \text{m}$ . Gas contents were measured three times at 2-3-day intervals in the last cycle when steady-state COD<sub>t</sub> removal was achieved. Each measurement was done in two replicates (except pH) and the related measurements are given in average with standard deviations.

### 3.2.4 Experimental setup

Anaerobic fixed-film reactors were made of glass in cylindrical shape (Figure 3.1). The first reactor (R1) had 793 mL of effective volume and 56 cm of height. The second reactor (R2) had 870 mL of effective volume and 55.5 cm of height. 150 pieces of polypropylene biomass immobilization (bio-filter) media ( $500 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^3$  efficient surface and 0.96-0.98 g/cm<sup>3</sup> density) (Figure 3.2) were fixed to a spiral cord which was extended through the reactor in order to prevent moving of the media inside the reactors. These types of immobilization media have been commonly applied in moving bed biofilm reactors (Yeshanew et al., 2016). The media was filled up to approximately 2/3 of the effective height of the reactors. Total volume occupied by biomass immobilization media was  $61.5 \pm 1.5$  mL within the reactors which corresponded to  $0.41 \pm 0.01$  mL of volume per piece of medium.

Reactors were equipped with a gas-liquid-solid (GLS) separator, which was located 1-2 mm close to the deflected surface of the reactors (Figure 3.1). Deflection of reactor surface enabled the direction of biogas produced into GLS separator. Gas flow was then transmitted into a liquid displacement setting (gasmeter) where it was quantified in terms of volume. Biogas volume was recorded daily. The solution used in gasmeter contained 270 g/L of salt and was acidified to pH 2 using concentrated H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (WRAP, 2010). Reactors were purged with nitrogen for half an hour before start-up to ensure the strict anaerobic conditions developed within the reactor. Two AFFRs were operated in parallel.



Figure 3.1. Experimental setup of AFFRs.



Figure 3.2. Biomass immobilization medium.

### 3.2.5 Operation of anaerobic fixed-film reactors

The reactors were continuously operated in a constant temperature room  $(35 \pm 2^{\circ}C)$  by feeding the liquid digestate using a peristaltic pump (Masterflex) in upflow mode. The feed was refreshed daily. AFFRs were operated for 81 days in six cycles which corresponded to different operational parameters (Table 3.5). Total duration of the cycles 1-6 was 7, 12, 15, 15, 15 and 17 days, respectively. The organic loading rate was incrementally increased at the end of each cycle either by decreasing the dilution of liquid digestate or by increasing the inflow rate. The organic loading rate was doubled by decreasing the dilution of liquid digestate between the cycles 1 and 3. The flow rate of the feed and hydraulic retention time within the reactors were not altered during the first three cycles. Organic loading rate was then increased by increasing the flow rate of the feed at 0.1 mL/min intervals in the last three cycles (4-6), and the dilution ratio for liquid digestate was kept constant at 1/3. The difference between the organic loading rates of R1 and R2 (Table 3.5) was due to the different effective volumes of the reactors used. All dilutions were made with tap water. The decision on increasing the organic loading rate was made based on the criteria set about the COD<sub>t</sub> removal efficiency. The CODt content of the digestate could be reduced by 37-60% in the RBP test (Chapter 2). The organic loading rate was increased when more than 50% COD<sub>t</sub> removal was achieved in two consecutive measurements. At least 60% COD or BOD reduction was advised to increase the organic loading rate at the start-up of anaerobic reactors (de Lemos Chernicharo, 2007). However, 60% represented the uppermost COD<sub>t</sub> removal efficiency from the digestate in the RBP test applied at the end of 70 days of incubation for the digestate and might have not be achieved. Thus, the 50% COD<sub>t</sub> removal criteria was selected as an approximate mid-range COD<sub>t</sub> removal efficiency. The removal efficiencies were calculated based on the removed amounts of constituents with respect to the influent concentrations.

Donator	Cycle	Time,	Flow rate,	HRT,	Organic loading	Dilution
Reactor	Cycle	days	mL/min	days	rate, g/L.d	ratio applied
	1	0-7	0.1	5.09	1.07	1/12
	2	7-19	0.1	5.09	2.13	1/6
D 1	3	19-34	0.1	5.09	4.28	1/3
KI	4	34-49	0.2	2.53	8.56	1/3
	5	49-64	0.3	1.69	12.83	1/3
	6	64-81	0.4	1.27	17.11	1/3
	1	0-7	0.1	5.64	0.96	1/12
	2	7-19	0.1	5.64	1.92	1/6
<b>D</b> 2	3	19-34	0.1	5.64	3.86	1/3
K2	4	34-49	0.2	2.81	7.71	1/3
	5	49-64	0.3	1.88	11.57	1/3
	6	64-81	0.4	1.41	15.42	1/3

Table 3.5. Operational Parameters (as calculated) of AFFRs.

## **3.3 Results and Discussion**

## 3.3.1 pH and alkalinity

Liquid digestate sample had a pH of 8.01. AD process resulted in an increase in the effluent pH to  $8.39 \pm 0.14$  and  $8.41 \pm 0.13$  for R1 and R2, respectively (Figure 3.3). These values stayed almost stable during the course of the operation. The increase in the pH during anaerobic digestion can be attributed to methanogenic activity since hydrogen and H<sub>3</sub>O<sup>+</sup> ions are consumed during methanogenesis resulting in the increase in pH and alkalinity (Acharya et al., 2008). The pH of the AFFR effluents was higher than the optimum pH range for AD. The optimum pH for AD processes was previously reported to be in the range of 6.8-7.2, and the process can tolerate a pH range of 6.5-8.0 (Cioabla et al., 2012). Highly alkaline pHs may result in the disintegration of microbial granules and consequently failure of the process (Franke-Whittle et al., 2014). However, the effluent pH was stable during the operation of the reactors at around 8.40 and the methane composition of the biogas was at appreciable levels (70.7-80.3 % of biogas composition). In addition, the ratio of intermediate to partial alkalinity (IA/PA) ranged between 0.05-0.16 for R1 and 0.06-0.16 for R2 during the

operation. The IA/PA values lower than 0.3 indicated the operational stability of the AFFRs (Alcaraz-Gonzalez et al., 2015). IA/PA is an indicator of VFA accumulation within the reactor which is encountered before pH drop and the failure of the reactor (Monhonval, 2015). The increase in pH during digestion was concluded not to affect the process stability based on the almost stable pH values of the effluent and IA/PA values less than 0.3.

The liquid digestate was initially characterized as having high alkalinity  $(19,248 \pm 116 \text{ mg/L} \text{ as CaCO}_3)$  (Table 3.4). The inflow alkalinities in cycles 1-6 (Table 3.5) corresponded to 1604, 3208 and 6416 mg/L as CaCO<sub>3</sub> for the dilution ratios of 1/12, 1/6 and 1/3, respectively. The alkalinity of R1 and R2 effluent remained on the range of 7943  $\pm$  206 and 7940  $\pm$  177 mg/L as CaCO<sub>3</sub> (Figure 3.3) for the cycles 3-6 when the inflow alkalinity was 6416 mg/L as CaCO<sub>3</sub> (Table 3.5). The increase in alkalinity in cycles 3-6 during digestion of the liquid digestate can be attributed to methanogenic activity as previously mentioned. The alkalinity level of 2000-4000 mg/L as CaCO<sub>3</sub> is typically required in AD processes to be able to keep the pH at neutral levels (Tchobanoglous et al., 2003) to ensure the stability of the process (Córdoba et al., 2017). The stability of the process was therefore preserved for approximately 53 days for 1/3 diluted liquid digestate indicating sufficient buffering capacity of the liquid digestate against acidic releases.



(Data points for HRT, OLR and pH are given for a single measurement, data points for alkalinity are given as the average of two measurements)

Figure 3.3. The change of HRT, OLR and the effluent pH and alkalinity (a) R1 and (b) R2.

# 3.3.2 Hydraulic retention time and organic loading rate

The reactors were operated in six cycles. Each AFFR was initiated with 0.1 mL/min inflow rate which corresponded to an HRT of 5.09 and 5.64 days for R1 and R2, respectively (Table 3.5). R1 had 1.07 g/L.d and R2 had 0.96 g/L.d OLR at the initial cycle. The initial organic loading rate applied was consistent with the ones used in the studies using AFFR (Table 3.3). OLR applied ultimately reached to 17.11 g/L.d and 15.42 g/L.d at 6<sup>th</sup> cycle for R1 and R2, respectively, which was slightly above to the typical OLR range of 10-15 g/L.d reported for anaerobic fixed-film reactors (Hall, 1992).

HRT was reduced from 5.09 to 1.27 days for R1 and from 5.64 to 1.41 days for R2 at the end of 81 days. The minimum HRTs applied at the 6<sup>th</sup> cycle of operation (1.27-1.41 days) resulted in slightly lower COD<sub>t</sub> removal efficiencies at 6<sup>th</sup> cycle (57-63% for R1 and 56-62% for R2) compared to the previous cycle (52-63% for R1 and 64-66% for R2). COD<sub>t</sub> removal efficiencies indicated that further HRT reduction may end up with lower COD<sub>t</sub> removal efficiencies. Therefore, the HRTs applied at the 6<sup>th</sup> cycle was considered as the least applicable HRT in the operation of AFFRs.

1.27-1.41 days of HRTs applied in high-rate treatment of the digestate corresponded a moderate minimum HRT application in the treatment using AFFR. Variable HRTs were previously applied for the treatment of different wastewaters in AFFRs with a minimum ranging between 6 hours to 6 days (Table 3.3). Hydraulic retention time is a biodegradability or recalcitrance dependent parameter. Longer retention times are required to decompose comparably difficult to degrade feedstocks (Kim et al., 2018). Thus, wastewaters having comparably better biodegradability can be expected to be treated in a shorter HRT in similar reactor configurations. The digestate can therefore be evaluated as having a moderate biodegradability compared to that of the feedstocks such as wastewaters of slaughterhouse, distillery spent wash, bulk drug industry, herbal-based pharmaceutical and molasses used in previous studies (Table 3.3). This digestate also found to be moderately biodegradable compared to the other digestates in the RBP test (Chapter 2).

# 3.3.3 The changes in total and soluble chemical oxygen demand concentrations

COD content of the digestate in the influent and effluent was evaluated both in terms of total and soluble COD.  $COD_t$  reduction was approximately preserved during the cycles 2-4 for both reactors (53-57% for R1 and 51-59% for R2) considering the end-cycle measurements even though the OLR was increased from 2.13 to 8.56 g/L.d for

R1 and from 1.92 to 7.71 g/L.d for R2 (Table 3.5). CODt reduction was increased with the increase in flow rate from 0.2 to 0.3 mL/min in cycle 5 (62-63 and 64-66 % for R1 and R2, respectively). Additional increase in the flow rate to 0.4 mL/min resulted in a slight reduction in CODt removal efficiencies in cycle 6 in the first measurement (57-57% for R1 and 55-56% for R2). However, these removal efficiencies were observed in the application of 1.33 fold higher organic loading rate in cycle 6 (17.11 g/L.d for R1 and 15.42 g/L.d for R2) compared to those of cycle 5 (12.83 g/L.d for R1 and 11.57 g/L.d for R2) (Table 3.5). Thus, the optimum loading rate was achieved at the 6<sup>th</sup> cycle. Since the change in CODt removal between 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> cycle was not significant, the higher OLRs applied can be preferred to further decrease the footprint of installations. OLR was not further increased to avoid the wash-out of the microorganisms by the increase in the flow rate.

The steady-state COD<sub>t</sub> removal at the sixth cycle was achieved between 74 and 81 days of operation (Table 3.6 and Figure 3.4) which corresponded a COD<sub>t</sub> removal efficiency of 61.5±1.12 and 59.5±2.5%. The OLR was 17.11 and 15.42 g COD/L.d and the HRT was 1.27 and 1.41 days for R1 and R2, respectively, under steady-state. These COD<sub>t</sub> removal efficiencies corresponded to the reduction of 13137 – 13538 and  $12429 - 13389 \text{ mg/L COD}_t$  from the 1/3 diluted liquid digestate for R1 and R2, respectively. Same digestate (before settling, not the liquid portion) could be treated by 35-75% and 37-60% (CODt removals) with and without nutrient supplementation in 70 days using anaerobic batch reactors (Chapter 2). The CODt removal efficiency of the liquid digestate using AFFRs (56-63%) was representative of the batch test without nutrient supplementation (37-60 %) (Chapter 2, Section 2.3.7.2). The batch RBP test applied can be resembled by a hydraulic retention time of 70-days. Therefore, similar COD<sub>t</sub> removals were attained using AFFRs, but, in a comparably much shorter retention time (1.27 and 1.41 days for R1 and R2, respectively). It is therefore possible to treat more digestate in a relatively short time using AFFRs which in turn decreases the required footprint of the plant aiming anaerobic treatment of the digestates.

COD<sub>t</sub> reduction efficiencies obtained in this study were found to be comparable and higher than several studies employing anaerobic high-rate treatment. Nikolaeva et al. (2013) previously used semi-continuous anaerobic fixed film bed reactor for the treatment of dairy wastewater and had a COD removal efficiency of 46.2% at 12 g/L.d OLR for an HRT of 2 days. When the authors increased the OLR to 24 g/L.d (HRT of 1 d), they observed a lower COD removal (28.2%). Even though COD<sub>t</sub> and COD<sub>s</sub> concentrations of the pre-digested chicken waste (lab-scale) were lowered by 1/25 dilution ratio to be convenient for anammox process, Yangin-Gomec et al. (2017) found 63 % COD<sub>t</sub> reduction (initial COD<sub>t</sub> of 807 mg/L) using anammox UASB which was comparable to the one obtained in this study (57-63%). However, COD<sub>s</sub> reduction obtained by Yangin-Gomec et al. (2017) was very low (26% at an initial concentration of 295 mg/L) which may be due to high level pre-degradation of chicken manure under laboratory conditions. Digestate used in this experiment was taken from a full-scale plant which retained a high portion of organics that could further be decomposed (Chapter 2).



(Data points for alkalinity are given as the average of two measurements) Figure 3.4. The change of  $COD_t$  and  $COD_s$  concentrations (a) R1 and (b) R2.

				R1				R2	
Cvcle	Time,	Influent	Effluent	CODt	CODt	Influent	Effluent	CODt	$COD_t$
c) vic	days	COD <sub>t</sub> ,	COD <sub>t</sub> ,	Removed,	Removal,	COD <sub>t</sub> ,	COD <sub>t</sub> ,	Removed,	Removal,
		mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	%	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	%
1	S	5422	7827±117	-2405±117	(-47)-(-42)	5422	9638±234	-4216±234	(-82)-(-73)
2	13	10844	3607±50	7238±50	(66)-(67)	10844	$3236 \pm 124$	7609±124	(69)-(71)
7	18	10844	4640±0	6204±0	(57)-(57)	10844	<b>4582</b> ±116	6262±116	(57)-(59)
3	27	21689	7139±74	14550±74	(67)-(67)	21689	6645±25	15044±25	(69)-(69)
3	32	21689	9828±0	$11861 \pm 0$	(55)-(55)	21689	<b>9310±230</b>	12378±230	(26)-(58)
4	38	21689	9338±49	12351±49	(57)-(57)	21689	8893±99	12796±99	(59)-(59)
4	44	21689	<b>9898±283</b>	11791±283	(53)-(56)	21689	$10633 \pm 0$	$11055\pm0$	(51)-(51)
5	52	21689	9141±50	12549±50	(58)-(58)	21689	9091±198	12598±198	(57)-(59)
S	61	21689	8104±119	13586±119	(62)-(63)	21689	7581±119	14108±119	(64)-(66)
9	67	21689	9289±50	12401±50	(57)-(57)	21689	$9437 \pm 0$	$12252\pm 0$	(56)-(56)
9	74	21689	8152±149	13538±149	(62)-(63)	21689	9259±0	$12429\pm 0$	(57)-(57)
9	81	21689	8552±118	13138±118	(60)-(61)	21689	8300±0	$13389 \pm 0$	(62)-(62)
Note: Tł	ne bold nun	nbers indica	te the measure	ements at end	of the cycle.				

Table 3.6. The influent and effluent COD<sup>t</sup> concentrations and the corresponding removal efficiencies.

98

In spite of the preserved COD<sub>t</sub> reduction during the cycles 2-4, COD<sub>s</sub> reduction had a general increasing trend at each increase in the organic loading rate (Table 3.7 and Figure 3.4). COD<sub>s</sub> removal efficiency increased from 58-59 % (cycle 2) to 84-88 % (cycle 6) for R1 and from 67-67 % (cycle 2) to 79-88 % (cycle 6) for R2. COD<sub>s</sub> removal at the 6<sup>th</sup> cycle was observed to reached to steady-state between 74 and 81<sup>th</sup> day of operation corresponding to a removal efficiency of 86-88% for both of the reactors (Table 3.7). Approximated to 87%, the COD<sub>s</sub> removal obtained in this study was found to be comparable to the one obtained in the treatment of acetic acid based synthetic wastewater (83% COD<sub>s</sub> removal) using a downflow AFFR at a similar HRT and OLR (1.3 days and 17.10 g COD/L.d, respectively) (Hamoda and Kennedy, 1987).

The inflow COD<sub>t</sub> and COD<sub>s</sub> concentrations of the liquid digestate applied to AFFRs at 1/3 dilution were 21689 and 13435 mg/L, respectively, representing a COD<sub>s</sub>/COD<sub>t</sub> ratio of 62%. The steady-state COD<sub>s</sub> reduction thus corresponded to COD<sub>s</sub> removals of 11534-11822 and 11682-11755 mg/L for R1 and R2, respectively (Table 3.7). COD<sub>s</sub> concentration can also be expected to increase during the decomposition of organic matters as the removal of TS and VS suggested (Section 3.3.5). The complex organic compounds are solubilized by fermentative bacteria (de Lemos Chernicharo, 2007) which would result in the increased COD<sub>s</sub> concentration. Therefore, COD<sub>s</sub> degradation could be speculated to be higher when the solubilized COD from the organic content of the digestate is considered. The ratio of COD<sub>s</sub>/COD<sub>t</sub> of the removed COD<sub>t</sub> ranged between 85-90% for R1 and 88-94% for R2, respectively. Thus, COD<sub>t</sub> removal was mainly due to its soluble content. This result indicated the fact that high-rate treatment of the digestate can be used to further degrade the COD<sub>s</sub> content to readily extract the associated biogas amounts. It is therefore advisable to test the COD<sub>s</sub> content of the digestate as well as COD<sub>t</sub> for the application of high- rate processes as a further treatment option.

							<b>T</b>	0	
			1	81				R2	
Cvcle	Time,	Influent	Effluent	COD	COD	Influent	Effluent	COD	CODs
o j ere	days	COD <sub>s</sub> ,	CODs,	Removed,	Removal,	CODs,	COD <sub>s</sub> ,	Removed,	Removal,
		mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	%	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	%
1	S	3359	3738±350	-380±351	(-22)-(-1)	3359	4108±58	-750±59	(-24)-(-21)
2	13	6717	$1087 \pm 99$	$5631 \pm 99$	(82)-(85)	6717	1877±33	4840±33	(72)-(73)
7	18	6717	2784±29	<b>3933±29</b>	(58)-(59)	6717	2219±15	4499±15	(67)-(67)
3	27	13435	2602±33	$10833 \pm 33$	(80)-(81)	13435	$1680 \pm 33$	11755±33	(87)-(88)
3	32	13435	3161±0	$10274\pm0$	(26)-(76)	13435	2557±86	$10877\pm 86$	(80)-(82)
4	38	13435	3458±33	9976±33	(74)-(75)	13435	3673±82	9762±82	(72)-(73)
4	4	13435	2790±75	10645±76	(08)-(61)	13435	4167±94	9268±94	(68)-(70)
5	52	13435	2750±16	$10685 \pm 17$	(08)-(60)	13435	3294±198	$10141 \pm 198$	(74)-(77)
S	61	13435	<b>2091</b> ±48	11344±48	(84)-(85)	13435	2757±24	$10678\pm 24$	(79)-(80)
9	67	13435	2174±33	$11261 \pm 33$	(84)-(84)	13435	2322±16	11113±17	(83)-(83)
9	74	13435	1901±17	11534±17	(86)-(86)	13435	1753±99	11682±99	(86)-(88)
9	81	13435	$1613 \pm 67$	11822±67	(87)-(88)	13435	$1680 \pm 101$	11755±101	(87)-(88)
Note: Th	le bold n	numbers ind	licate the mea	isurements at	end of the cy	cle.			

Table 3.7. The influent and effluent CODs concentrations and the corresponding removal efficiencies.

100

### **3.3.4** The changes in nutrient concentrations

 $NH_4^+$ -N, TKN, TP and DRP concentrations (Figure 3.5) were analyzed to evaluate the removal of nutrients from liquid digestate using AFFRs.

### 3.3.4.1 Ammonium and total kjeldahl nitrogen concentrations

Influent NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentration of the AFFRs varied between 553-2212 mg/L through the cycles 1-6 (Table 3.8). Total ammonia nitrogen (TAN) levels of 1700-1800 mg/L can have inhibitory effect with unacclimated inoculum but if the inoculum is acclimated, inhibitory TAN concentrations can be up to 5000 mg/L (Yenigün and Demirel, 2013). The inflow carried a NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentration of 1106 mg/L (1422 mg/L NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) for 12 days at the second cycle which was below the inhibitory concentration of 1700-1800 mg/L. The organic load of the inflow was doubled by decreasing the dilution ratio of the liquid digestate which also resulted in the doubling of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentration after 12 days. The stability of the reactor thereafter indicated no inhibition arising from the increase of the inflow ammonium content relying on the pH, alkalinity (Section 3.3.1) and biogas measurements (Section 3.3.7). Lower NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentrations applied during the first two cycles may have provided the acclimation of the microorganisms to high ammonium concentrations.

The ammonification (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N/TKN) of the digestate before settling was found to be 89 % (Table 3.4). The ammonification ratio of 46.2 - 57.6 % for the digestates of the mixtures of animal manure, energy crops and by-products of food industries (if included) were previously reported (Menardo et al., 2011). The authors also observed the highest ammonification (77.9 %) in the digestate of pig slurry and energy crops which was probably due to the feedstock composition. Likewise, the feedstock composition having 90% laying hen manure and 10 % cattle manure probably resulted in high ammonification of the

digestate used in this setup. It is expected to have high ammonium nitrogen to total nitrogen ratio in poultry manures (Möller and Müller, 2012). The settling of the digestate resulted in the increase in the NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N/TKN ratio (95 %) which indicated the partial removal of organic nitrogen via settling. The particulate fraction of organic nitrogen can be removed in gravitational sedimentation (U.S. EPA, 2007) leading to an increase in the fraction of the ammonium content in TKN.

The ammonification ratios of the AFFR effluents (anaerobically treated liquid digestate) were in the range of 96-98% for R1 and 95-97% for R2 for cycles 1-6 considering the endcycle measurements. The treatment of poultry slaughterhouse wastewater using anaerobic fixed-film reactors previously resulted in the ammonification rates of 85-96% (del Pozo et al., 2000) which were found to be comparable with this study. The lowest ratios of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N/TKN were observed in the first two cycles when the biogas production was also the lowest (Figure 3.8). As the organic loading increased at each cycle change, ammonification was found to be in the ranges of 96-98% which was slightly higher than the one of the influent (liquid digestate, 95%). This fact may be considered to be due to the development of acclimated culture of microorganisms after second cycle.

The influent concentrations of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N and TKN in cycle 6 were 2212 and 2326 mg/L, respectively. The ammonium nitrogen was removed by 9-15% for R1 and 10-12% for R2 at the 6<sup>th</sup> cycle of operation (Table 3.8). The corresponding TKN removals were 12-16 % and 11-14 % of TKN in R1 and R2, respectively (Table 3.9). The removed concentrations of TKN were always higher than that of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N (Figure 3.5). Since TKN is the sum of ammonium nitrogen and organic nitrogen, the removed concentrations of TKN being more than ammonium nitrogen indicated simultaneous removal of organic and ammonium nitrogen. When the organic nitrogen is biologically degraded, ammonium is produced (Ghyselbrecht et al., 2017). As the pH of the effluent of AFFRs ranged between 8.06-8.64

(Section 3.31) which was lower than the pK<sub>a</sub> of ammonia (8.95 at 35°C), volatilization was expected to have a minor impact on ammonium removal as previously discussed in Section 2.3.7.4. Nitrogen gas content (N<sub>2</sub>) of the biogas produced in AFFRs varied between 2.7-12.2 % for R1 and 3.0-16.0 % for R2 at steady-state COD removal period at the 6<sup>th</sup> cycle of operation (Table 3.14 in Section 3.3.7.1). Variable nitrogen contents detected in biogas can be an indication for Anammox and denitrification processes within reactors. Even though the Anammox process could be inhibited by the high organic matter concentration of the digestate, the potential pathway of the formation of oxidized nitrogen compounds by enzymatic catalase activity followed by autotrophic and/or heterotrophic denitrification can be explanatory for the ammonium removal from the AFFRs (Sectin 2.3.7.4).



(Data points for alkalinity are given as the average of two measurements) Figure 3.5. Effluent  $NH_4^+$ -N and TKN concentrations of (a) R1 and (b) R2.

							-	)	
				R1				R2	
Cvcle	Time,	Influent	Effluent	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N	Influent	Effluent	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N
o juno	days	$NH_4^+-N$ ,	$NH_4^+-N$ ,	Removed,	Removal,	$NH_4^+-N$ ,	$NH_4^+-N$ ,	Removed,	Removal,
		mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	%	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	%
1	S	553	<b>1970±1</b>	-1417±1	(-256)-(-256)	553	2079±13	-1526±13	(-278)-(-274)
2	13	1106	1051±7	55±7	(4)-(6)	1106	$1030\pm 6$	76±6	(6)-(7)
7	18	1106	1022±6	85±6	(7)-(8)	1106	997±15	110±16	(8)-(11)
3	27	2212	1838±7	374±7	(17)-(17)	2212	$1746 \pm 13$	467±13	(21)-(22)
3	32	2212	2009±1	204±2	(6)-(6)	2212	2008±3	205±3	(6)-(6)
4	38	2212	1957±20	256±20	(11)-(12)	2212	1973±15	240±16	(10)-(12)
4	44	2212	2006±1	<b>2</b> 07 <b>±</b> 2	(6)-(6)	2212	2061±6	152±6	(1)-(1)
5	52	2212	2047±17	166±17	(7)-(8)	2212	2061±17	152±17	(6)-(8)
S	61	2212	<b>1971±8</b>	<b>242</b> ±9	(11)-(11)	2212	<b>1961</b> ±7	251±7	(11)-(12)
9	67	2212	1935±22	278±23	(12)-(14)	2212	1957±8	256±9	(11)-(12)
9	74	2212	$1880\pm4$	332±4	(15)-(15)	2212	1952±8	$261 \pm 9$	(11)-(12)
9	81	2212	1985±20	228±20	(9)-(11)	2212	1975±10	237±10	(10)-(11)
Note: The	the pold num	mbers indic	ate the meas	surements at e	and of the cycle.				

Table 3.8. The influent and effluent NH4<sup>+</sup>-N concentrations and the corresponding removal efficiencies.

Table 3	3.9. The	e influent	and efflue	ent TKN co	ncentrations a	ind the co	rrespondir	ıg removal	efficiencies.
				R1				R2	
Cvcle	Time,	Influent	Effluent	TKN	TKN	Influent	Effluent	TKN	TKN
c j'ere	days	TKN,	TKN,	Removed,	Removal,	TKN,	TKN,	Removed,	Removal,
		mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	%	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	%
1	Ś	581	2028±1	-1447±1	(-249)-(-249)	581	2177±43	-1596±44	(-282)-(-267)
2	13	1163	$1096 \pm 10$	$67{\pm}10$	(5)-(7)	1163	1057±1	$106\pm 2$	(6)-(6)
7	18	1163	1059±12	<b>104±12</b>	(8)-(10)	1163	1047±6	117±7	(9)-(11)
3	27	2326	$1918\pm 8$	$408\pm9$	(17)-(18)	2326	1828±28	497±28	(20)-(23)
3	32	2326	2066±11	259±11	(11)-(12)	2326	2075±3	251±3	(11)-(11)
4	38	2326	$2015 \pm 18$	$311 \pm 18$	(13)-(14)	2326	2027±8	299±9	(12)-(13)
4	4	2326	<b>2079±1</b>	<b>2</b> 47 <b>±</b> 2	(11)-(11)	2326	2142±3	184±3	(8)-(8)
5	52	2326	2113±24	213±24	(8)-(10)	2326	2129±15	197±16	(8)-(8)
S	61	2326	<b>2040</b> ±1	<b>286±2</b>	(12)-(12)	2326	<b>2026±1</b>	300±2	(13)-(13)
6	67	2326	2013±31	$313 \pm 31$	(12)-(15)	2326	2036±3	<b>290</b> ±3	(12)-(13)
9	74	2326	1957±6	369±6	(16)-(16)	2326	2020±13	$306{\pm}13$	(13)-(14)
9	81	2326	2022±17	$304{\pm}17$	(12)-(14)	2326	$2051 \pm 21$	275±21	(11)-(13)
Note: Th	ne bold nu	umbers indi	icate the me	asurements at	end of the cycle				

	les
	enc
•	Š
ş	Ē
	Ð
	a
	2
	Ĕ
	ē
	ы
	Ξ
	g
	Б
	20
	ğ
	Ы
	õ
	Ge
-	₽
	no
	ਡ
	ns
	ē
	at
	н
	Ξ
	ent
	ncent
	concent
	N concent
	<b>NN</b> concent
	TKN concent
	it TKN concent
	ent TKN concent
	luent TKN concent
	etfluent TKN concent
	d ettluent TKN concent
	und etfluent TKN concent
	t and ettluent TKN concent
	ent and etfluent TKN concent
	uent and etfluent TKN concent
201 E	ntluent and etfluent TKN concent
	influent and etfluent TKN concent
	he influent and effluent TKN concent
	The influent and effluent TKN concent
	). The influent and effluent TKN concent
	5.9. The influent and effluent TKN concent
	e 3.9. The influent and effluent TKN concent
	ble 3.9. The influent and effluent TKN concent
	able 3.9. The influent and effluent TKN concent

### 3.3.4.2 Dissolved reactive and total phosphorus concentrations

Phosphorus removal was investigated in terms of DRP and TP concentrations. There was not an exact removal profile in the DRP and TP concentrations as the organic loads altered. DRP (Table 3.10) and TP (Table 3.11) concentrations in the influent at the sixth cycle were 50 mg/L and 2393 mg/L, respectively. Significant DRP removal was obtained in R1 and R2 (54-64 and 48-66 %, respectively) in high-rate anaerobic treatment of the digestate (Table 3.10). The corresponding retained concentrations of DRP in the effluent were in the range of 17-23 and 17-27 mg/L (Figure 3.6). Total phosphorus concentration was also reduced by 33-48% in R1 and by 34-47% in R2 at the 6<sup>th</sup> cycle (Table 3.11) leaving 1262-1470 and 1291-1524 mg/L of TP in the effluent (Figure 3.6), respectively. The initial concentration of TP was approximately 48-fold higher than the DRP concentration. Thus, the TP removal could not only be attributed to the removed amount of DRP. Different forms of phosphorus other than DRP can also be removed from the liquid digestate. TP measurement includes the forms of phosphorus as DRP, dissolved unreactive phosphorus (DUP) or dissolved organic phosphorus (DOP) and particulate phosphorus (PP) (Alaica, 2012). Therefore, an AFFR application in the treatment of liquid digestates has also a potential to decrease the concentrations of DUP or DOP and PP as well as DRP. A hybrid sludge bed/fixed film reactor was previously reported to reduce the dissolved phosphate concentration by 28-78% in the treatment of synthetic sewage wastewater at 12°C (Keating et al., 2016). The study indicated that the dissolved phosphate removal was in excess of the requirement for microbial growth. Phosphate was claimed to be removed biologically by the formation of intracellular inorganic polyphosphate (polyP) granules which was mediated by biofilm and fixed-film unit. Even though strictly anaerobic archaeal species had a potential to be applied in phosphorus removal under anaerobic conditions due to their capability of luxury polyP uptake (Keating et al., 2016), it could not clearly be concluded whether these species were responsible for phosphate removal from the wastewater in the study of concern. On the other hand, the formation of calcium phosphate precipitates was also previously reported as a removal and recovery mechanism of phosphate from black waters using UASB reactors (Tervahauta et al., 2014). The compounds identified were addressed as hydroxyapatite, calcium phosphate hydrate and carbonated hydroxyapatite. These compounds were observed in the granular formations in UASB reactors mostly concentrated at the inner part of the granules. The outer part of the granules was found to be mostly organic in nature. (Tervahauta et al., 2014). Observing the effects of calcium and bicarbonate concentrations in the treatment of black water in UASB reactors, Cunha et al. (2018a) revealed that  $Ca_x(PO_4)_y$  precipitation was favored by low bicarbonate concentrations. These precipitates then reported to act as a nucleus for granular formations by which a surface was provided for the attachment of microorganisms. When additional calcium at a Ca<sup>2+/</sup>PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup> molar ratio of 3 was added to the effluent of UASB reactors, phosphate concentration could be reduced by 63% (Cunha et al., 2018a). The addition of calcium during the treatment of black water in UASB was also observed to improve the calcium phosphate precipitation without inhibiting the COD removal and the associated biogas capture capability from the black water (Cunha et al., 2018b). Hence, biologically mediated removal and the formation of calcium phosphate granules under anaerobic treatment could explain the phosphorus removal observed in this experiment.



Figure 3.6. Effluent TP and DRP concentrations of (a) R1 and (b) R2.

							<b>T</b>	0	
				R1				R2	
Cvcle	Time,	Influent	Effluent	DRP	DRP	Influent	Effluent	DRP	DRP
	days	DRP,	DRP,	Removed,	Removal,	DRP,	DRP,	Removed,	Removal,
		mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	%	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	%
1	S	13	43±0	<b>-</b> 31±0	(-246)-(-246)	13	<b>41</b> ±0	-28±0	(-223)-(-223)
2	13	25	$2\pm 0$	23±0	(91)-(91)	25	$1{\pm}0$	$24\pm0$	(95)-(95)
7	18	25	7±0	$18\pm0$	(72)-(72)	25	10±1	15±1	(26)-(60)
3	27	50	$10\pm 1$	$40\pm1$	(77)-(81)	50	$10\pm0$	$40\pm0$	(62)-(62)
3	32	50	<b>29</b> ±1	22±1	(42)-(46)	50	30±0	<b>21</b> ±1	(40)-(42)
4	38	50	21±1	$30\pm1$	(58)-(62)	50	$18\pm0$	$32\pm0$	(64)-(64)
4	44	50	<b>23</b> ±0	<b>28</b> ±0	(56)-(56)	50	<b>2</b> 4±0	<b>27±1</b>	(52)-(54)
5	52	50	$38\pm0$	$12\pm0$	(24)-(24)	50	$40\pm0$	$11 \pm 1$	(20)-(22)
S	61	50	17±1	34±1	(89)-(99)	50	$18\pm0$	32±0	(64)-(64)
9	67	50	$20\pm0$	$31\pm1$	(60)-(62)	50	$20\pm0$	$31\pm1$	(60)-(62)
9	74	50	$19\pm0$	32±0	(64)-(64)	50	$17\pm0$	$33\pm0$	(99)-(99)
9	81	50	23±0	27±0	(54)-(54)	50	27±0	$24\pm0$	(48)-(48)
Note: The	rind blod o	where india	ata tha maas	uramante at a	nd of the curle				

Table 3.10. The influent and effluent DRP concentrations and the corresponding removal efficiencies.

Note: The bold numbers indicate the measurements at end of the cycle

	Time			R1				R2	
Cycle	days	Influent TP, mg/L	Effluent TP, mg/L	TP Removed, mg/L	TP Removal, %	Influent TP, mg/L	Effluent TP, mg/L	TP Removed, mg/L	TP Removal, %
-	S	598	678±25	-80±25	(-18)-(-9)	598	695±8	-97±9	(-18)-(-15)
2	13	1197	$353 \pm 0$	$843\pm0$	(0)-(0)	1197	337±8	$860\pm8$	(71)-(73)
7	18	1197	227±19	971±19	(80)-(83)	1197	515±8	<b>682</b> ±9	(26)-(58)
3	27	2393	658±13	$1736 \pm 13$	(72)-(73)	2393	924±21	1469±21	(61)-(62)
3	32	2393	$1107 \pm 0$	$1287 \pm 0$	(54)-(54)	2393	1590±17	$804{\pm}17$	(33)-(34)
4	38	2393	$1283 \pm 4$	$1111\pm 4$	(46)-(47)	2393	$1008\pm21$	1386±21	(57)-(59)
4	4	2393	1370±8	$1024\pm 9$	(42)-(43)	2393	1970±133	<b>424</b> ± <b>1</b> 34	(12)-(23)
5	52	2393	1762±92	632±92	(23)-(30)	2393	$1541 \pm 54$	853±55	(33)-(38)
S	61	2393	1341±62	1053±63	(41)-(47)	2393	<b>837±0</b>	1557±0	(65)-(65)
9	67	2393	1470±125	923±125	(33)-(44)	2393	$1433 \pm 21$	961±21	(39)-(41)
9	74	2393	1262±8	$1132 \pm 9$	(47)-(48)	2393	$1524{\pm}62$	870±63	(34)-(39)
9	81	2393	1353±25	$1040 \pm 25$	(42)-(44)	2393	$1291 \pm 29$	$1103 \pm 30$	(45)-(47)
Note: T	he bold r	numbers indica	te the measurem	nents at end of the	e cycle.				

al efficiencies.
corresponding remov
and the c
concentrations
Ŀ
t and effluent 7
The influent
Table 3.11.

### 3.3.5 The changes in total and volatile solids concentrations

Liquid digestate was characterized by its high TS ( $40.1\pm0.40$  g/L) and VS concentrations ( $22.6\pm0.29$  g/L) (Table 3.4) representing a VS/TS ratio of 56%. The solid content of the liquid digestate was initially 4%. AFFRs can handle a solid content less than 2 % at the inflow (Wilkie, 2005). Thus, the liquid digestate was used at least by 1/3 dilution which corresponded to a solids content of 1.34% to comply with the operational condition of AFFR related to the solids content.

Inflow total solids concentration in the last cycle was 13.4 g/L for both of the reactors. TS was reduced by 10-24 and 11-20 % for R1 and R2, respectively, during the treatment using AFFRs (Table 3.13). The reduction efficiencies of VS concentrations (Table 3.12) were observed to be slightly higher (24-33% for R1 and 19-30 % for R2) than that of the TS removal. Total solid is a solids parameter that is composed of volatile and fixed solids. When the removal amounts for both TS and VS were compared for the last two measurements, it could be concluded that total solids removal was mainly due to the destruction of volatile solids (by 78-96%). The large fraction of volatile solids removal addresses to the degradation of organic matter since volatile solids determination is an approximation of organic matter present in the samples (Mata-Alvarez, 2002). The solid content of the effluent in the last measurement was calculated as 1.13 and 1.08 % for R1 and R2, respectively. Thus, solid content could be reduced by 15.7 % for R1 and 19.4 % for R2 by the treatment of 1/3 diluted liquid digestate in AFFRs.

	Ē			R1				32	
Cycle	l ime, days	Influent VS, mg/L	Effluent VS, mg/L	VS Removed, mg/L	VS Removal, %	Influent VS, mg/L	Effluent VS, mg/L	VS Removed, mg/L	VS Removal, %
<b>–</b>	w	1887	3555±45	-1668±45	(-91)-(-86)	1887	3855±15	-1968±15	(-105)-(-104)
2	13	3773	1885±85	$1888 \pm 85$	(48)-(52)	3773	$1640\pm 20$	$2133\pm 20$	(56)-(57)
7	18	3773	1945±35	1828±35	(48)-(49)	3773	<b>2040±10</b>	1733±10	(46)-(46)
3	27	7547	3645±115	$3902 \pm 115$	(50)-(53)	7547	4045±55	3502±55	(46)-(47)
3	32	7547	<b>4430</b> ±20	3117±20	(41)-(42)	7547	4705±35	2842±35	(37)-(38)
4	38	7547	$5060 \pm 150$	2487±150	(31)-(35)	7547	$4480\pm0$	3067±0	(41)-(41)
4	44	7547	4985±5	2562±5	(34)-(34)	7547	<b>5390</b> ±60	2157±60	(28)-(29)
5	52	7547	5275±15	2272±15	(30)-(30)	7547	5245±25	2302±25	(30)-(31)
S	61	7547	<b>4920</b> ±30	2627±30	(34)-(35)	7547	4395±45	3152±45	(41)-(42)
9	67	7547	5755±5	1792±5	(24)-(24)	7547	5335±85	2212±85	(28)-(30)
9	74	7547	$5130{\pm}60$	2417±60	(31)-(33)	7547	5855±235	1692±235	(19)-(26)
9	81	7547	5530±20	2017±20	(26)-(27)	7547	<b>5</b> 360±0	$2187\pm0$	(29)-(29)
Note: T	he bold r	numbers indicat	e the measurem	ents at end of the	cycle.				

Table 3.12. The influent and effluent VS concentrations and the corresponding removal efficiencies.

	Table	e 3.13. The	influent and $\epsilon$	effluent TS coi	ncentrations a	nd the corre	sponding ren	noval efficienc	ies.
	Ë			R1				R2	
Cycle	days	Influent TS, mg/L	Effluent TS, mg/L	TS Removed, mg/L	TS Removal, %	Influent TS, mg/L	Effluent TS, mg/L	TS Removed, mg/L	TS Removal, %
	S	3345	7970±10	-4625±10	(-139)-(-138)	3345	<b>8350±20</b>	-5005±20	(-150)-(-149)
2	13	0699	4285±115	2405±115	(34)-(38)	6690	3880±20	$2810 \pm 20$	(42)-(42)
7	18	0699	<b>4070</b> ±30	2620±30	(39)-(40)	0699	4225±25	2465±25	(36)-(37)
б	27	13379	$8070 \pm 80$	5309±80	(39)-(40)	13379	8115±5	5264±5	(39)-(39)
e	32	13379	8995±25	4384±25	(33)-(33)	13379	<b>9480</b> ±70	<b>3899±70</b>	(29)-(30)
4	38	13379	$10250 \pm 70$	3129±70	(23)-(24)	13379	9455±5	3924±5	(29)-(29)
4	4	13379	10185±15	3194±15	(24)-(24)	13379	11320±90	<b>2059</b> ±90	(15)-(16)
5	52	13379	$11345\pm15$	$2034{\pm}15$	(15)-(15)	13379	$11125\pm 5$	2254±5	(17)-(17)
Ś	61	13379	10185±75	3194±75	(23)-(24)	13379	8825±65	4554±65	(34)-(35)
9	67	13379	$12015\pm 65$	$1364{\pm}65$	(10)-(11)	13379	$10905 \pm 185$	$2474\pm 185$	(17)-(20)
9	74	13379	$10280 {\pm} 70$	3099±70	(23)-(24)	13379	$11610 \pm 270$	$1769 \pm 270$	(11)-(15)
9	81	13379	11055±5	2324±5	(17)-(17)	13379	$10730 \pm 10$	$2649{\pm}10$	(20)-(20)
Note: TI	ie bold n	numbers indica	te the measurem	ients at end of the	e cycle.				

# 3.3.6 Biofilm

Biofilm formation was evaluated by gently washing the biomass immobilization media using deionized water and measuring the related attached total solids (ATS) and volatile solids (AVS) concentration of the biomass at the end of the reactor operation. ATS and AVS were  $0.298 \pm 0.082$  and  $0.118 \pm 0.031$  g per immobilization media, respectively. Biomass immobilization media at the end of the reactor operation is depicted in Figure 3.7.



Figure 3.7. Immobilized biomass after the reactor operation.

## 3.3.7 Biogas

The biogas formed during the operation of AFFRs was evaluated in terms of biogas production (Section 3.3.7.1) and biogas yields (Section 3.3.7.2).

### **3.3.7.1 Biogas production**

Biogas production was evaluated in terms of daily production (Figure 3.8) and production per unit volume of the liquid digestate applied (Figure 3.9). Negligible biogas production was observed during the first two cycles for both of the reactors (Figure 3.8). Acclimation and adaptation of the bacteria can result in lower biogas production at the initial stages of the experiment (Acharya et al., 2008). No or negligible biogas production at the initial stages of the start-up of bio-film reactors was also previously noted (Michaud et al., 2002).

Biogas production progressively increased from the third to the sixth cycle. The production was  $138 \pm 89$ ,  $470 \pm 98$ ,  $1117 \pm 187$ ,  $1864 \pm 216$  mL for R1 and  $37 \pm 31$ ,  $320 \pm 76$ ,  $955 \pm 317$  and  $1713 \pm 267$  mL for R2 in the cycles 3-6, respectively. The progressive increase in the biogas production together with the COD<sub>t</sub> removals attained in the range of 51-69% during cycles 2-6 (Table 3.6) suggested the catabolism of organic compounds by the anaerobic bacteria for respiration rather than anabolic activity for biopolymer synthesis (Michaud et al., 2002).



Figure 3.8. Daily biogas production in R1 and R2.

The biogas composition was measured during the steady-state COD<sub>t</sub> removal period at the sixth cycle. Methane composition of the biogas was detected to be in the range of 77.5-80.3 % (an average of 78.9 %) and 70.7-78.0% (an average of 74.4 %) in R1 and R2, respectively (Table 3.14). The methane contents were found to be comparable with the ones obtained in the treatment of slaughterhouse wastewater using fluidized bed reactors (72-75 % CH<sub>4</sub>) (Tritt and Kang, 2017) and of winery wastewater using moving bed biofilm reactors (45.1-82.6 % CH<sub>4</sub>) (Chai et al., 2014). The corresponding carbon dioxide content of the biogas was 9.0-17.0% for R1 and 13.0-19.0% for R2.

Reactor	Measurement	Nitrogen (N <sub>2</sub> ) Content, %	Methane (CH <sub>4</sub> ) Content, %	Carbon dioxide (CO <sub>2</sub> ) Content, %
	1	$5.5 \pm 1.1$	$77.5\pm0.7$	$16.9\pm0.3$
R1	2	$2.7\pm0.0$	$80.3\pm0.0$	$17.0\pm0.1$
	3	$12.2\pm4.1$	$78.8\pm2.5$	$9.0\pm1.6$
	1	$3.0\pm2.0$	$78.0\pm1.6$	$19.0\pm0.3$
R2	2	$7.3\pm2.1$	$77.4\pm1.2$	$15.3\pm0.9$
	3	$16.0\pm0.4$	$70.7\pm0.3$	$13.0\pm1.0$

Table 3.14. Nitrogen, methane and carbon dioxide contents of the biogas.

An average of 3.3 and 3.0 mL of daily biogas per mL digestate volume was produced during the cycle 6 in R1 and R2, respectively (Figure 3.9). When the total daily volume of digestate produced in the plant is considered (approximately 80 m<sup>3</sup>) (Chapter 2digestate of anaerobic digester 2), daily biogas production would correspond to 240-264 m<sup>3</sup>. The volume of biogas produced was converted into energy terms to be illustrative of the power generation capability (Table 3.15). Lower heating value of CH<sub>4</sub> was taken as 36 MJ/ m<sup>3</sup> CH<sub>4</sub> and assumed conversion efficiency of CH<sub>4</sub> to electricity was 35% (Manyuchi et al., 2018). Reporting approximately 80 m<sup>3</sup> of digestate production daily (Chapter 2- digestate of anaerobic digester 2), the plant was found to be capable of generating an additional 21.9-27.4 kW power output via anaerobic treatment of the digestate. The power output of the digestate corresponded to 1/53-1/66 that of obtained from the digestion of raw feedstock which was declared as 12691000 kWh/year (1449 kW). The plant considers increasing the installed capacity from 1.8 MW to 3.11 MW to meet the electricity requirement for 40 000 residences. If the targeted installed capacity and the projection on the energy supply for 40 000 residences were considered, the power output of the digestate treatment process obtained from the plant without capacity increase was predicted to be capable of meeting the energy requirement of 282 to 352 residences (for 80 m<sup>3</sup> of digestate). The capacity increase within the plant in turn results in the increase in the volume of digestate. As the volume of the digestate production increases, the power that can be generated increases via the treatment of more digestate in AFFRs (Table 3.15).



(The influent COD<sub>t</sub>, COD<sub>s</sub> and VS were 21.7, 13.4 and 7.5 mg/mL digestate, respectively, for both reactors) Figure 3.9. Biogas production per volume of digestate in R1 and R2.

Item	Formula		R1	R	2
Biogas production,	А	3.3	3.3	3.0	3.0
m <sup>3</sup> /m <sup>3</sup> digestate.d					
		Min	Max	Min	Max
CH <sub>4</sub> content, %	В	77.5	80.3	70.7	78.0
CH <sub>4</sub> production at 35°C,	C= <u>AxB</u>	2.558	2.650	2.121	2.340
m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /m <sup>3</sup> digestate.d	100				
CH <sub>4</sub> production at STP <sup>(1)</sup> , m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /m <sup>3</sup> digestate.d	$D = C_x \frac{273.15}{308.15}$	2.267	2.349	1.880	2.074
Lower heating value of $CH_4^{(2)}$	E	36	36	36	36
MJ/m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>					
Energy yield,	F=DxE	81.61	84.56	67.68	74.66
MJ/m <sup>3</sup> digestate.d					
Energy equivalents,	G=F/3.6	22.67	23.49	18.80	20.74
kWh/m <sup>3</sup> digestate.d					
(1kWh=3.6 MJ)					
Electrical efficiency,	H=Gx0.35	7.93	8.22	6.58	7.26
kWh/m <sup>3</sup> digestate.d					
(conversion efficiency=35% <sup>(2)</sup> )					
Power generation,	I= H/24	0.33	0.34	0.27	0.30
kW/m <sup>3</sup> digestate					
Power generation, kW					
for 80 m <sup>3</sup> digestate	J=Ix80	26.4	27.4	21.9	24.2
for 100 m <sup>3</sup> digestate	J=Ix100	33.1	34.3	27.4	30.2
for 200 m <sup>3</sup> digestate	J=Ix200	66.1	68.5	54.8	60.5
for 500 m <sup>3</sup> digestate	J=Ix500	165.3	171.3	137.1	151.2

Table 3.15. Power that can be generated by the treatment of digestate in AFFRs.

<sup>(1)</sup> : Standard temperature and pressure <sup>(2)</sup> : Manyuchi et al., 2018<sup>.</sup>

### 3.3.7.2 Biogas yields

Biogas yields were calculated relative to the COD<sub>t</sub> removal (Table 3.16 and Table 3.17) and the added amount of volatile solids through the inflow (Table 3.18). The yields in cycle 1 were excluded from the calculations due to wash-out of the seed sludge. The average biogas yields in the cycles increased from 0.030 to 0.249  $m_{biogas}^3$ /kg COD<sub>r</sub> for R1 and from 0.003 to 0.235  $m_{biogas}^3$ /kg COD<sub>r</sub> for R2 (Table 3.16 and Table 3.17, respectively). The biogas yields obtained in the sixth cycle when the reactors were operated under steady-state COD<sub>t</sub> removal were found to be comparable with the ones obtained in the treatment of cattle manure using UASB reactors (Marañón et al., 2001). The authors reported a biogas yield of 0.20-0.29 m<sup>3</sup>/kg COD<sub>r</sub> when HRT was between 8.9-22.5 days and OLR was in the range of 2.35-4.91 g COD/L.d.

When the biogas yields were converted into methane yields using the average of methane contents in the biogas (78.9 and 74.4 % for R1 and R2, respectively), average methane yields were calculated as 0.196 and 0.175 m<sup>3</sup> CH<sub>4</sub>/ kg COD<sub>r</sub> for R1 and R2, respectively. The yields were found to be comparable to the ones obtained in the anaerobic treatment of dairy cattle wastewater using attached film media (0.05-0.21 m<sup>3</sup> CH<sub>4</sub>/kg COD<sub>r</sub>) (Vartak et al., 1997). Even though 0.35 Nm<sup>3</sup>/kg COD is the theoretical maximum methane production, the actual methane productions are often much lower than the theoretical level (van Haandel and van der Lubbe, 2012; Nielfa et al., 2015).

Biogas yields were additionally calculated relative to the added VS to the reactor through the influent (Table 3.18). R1 had an average of 0.430  $m_{biogas}^3/kg VS_{added}$  with a maximum 0.494 and a minimum 0.277  $m_{biogas}^3/kg VS_{added}$  at the sixth cycle whereas R2 had 0.395  $m_{biogas}^3/kg VS_{added}$  biogas yield (max. 0.499, min 0.225  $m_{biogas}^3/kg$ 

 $VS_{added}$ ). The yields of the digestate was found to be higher than the ones obtained in the 70-day RBP test for the same digestate (0.299±0.005 m<sup>3</sup>/kg VS<sub>added</sub> and 0.326±0.009 m<sup>3</sup>/kg VS<sub>added</sub> with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively) (Chapter 2). This fact can be due to employment of different portions of the digestate used in each experiment. RBP test was conducted on the digestate itself and AFFR treatment was applied on the liquid portion of the digestate after settling. The biogas yields of the liquid digestate at the end of the fixed film treatment resembled more raw feedstocks compared the ones in RBP test due to higher yields obtained. These raw feedstocks can be accounted as municipal wastewater sludge (0.3-0.5), pig stomach content, sheep excreta and vegetable wastes (0.3-0.4), straw from cereals and pig excreta (0.2-0.5), liquid cattle manure (0.1-0.8) given by Zupančič and Grilc (2012) and molasses, maize and potato distillery slops (approximately 0.40) given by Braun (2007) (the biogas yields in the parenthesis are given in m<sup>3</sup>/kg VS<sub>added</sub>). Thus, an AFFR establishment is capable of extracting more biogas with higher yields especially from the COD<sub>s</sub> content of the liquid portion of the digestates.
			5		mond and and					
Cycle	Time, d	COD <sub>inf</sub> , mg/L	COD <sub>eff</sub> , mg/L	COD <sub>r</sub> , mg/L	Average COD <sub>r</sub> in the cycle, mg/L	Average daily volume of digestate applied in the cycle, mL	Average daily biogas production in the cycle, mL	Biogas yield in the cycle, m <sup>3</sup> biogas/kg COD <sub>r</sub>	Max. biogas yield in the cycle, m <sup>3</sup> /kg	Min biogas yield in the cycle, m <sup>3</sup> /kg
		А	В	C=A-B	D=average C	Е	F	G=(F*1000)/(C*E)	CODr	CODr
ç	13	10844	3607	7237	1023	C11	00	0.030	0.072	
1	18	10844	4640	6204	17/0	142	67	0.00.0	C10.0	0000
	27	21689	7139	14550	20001		120		011 0	200 Q
n	32	21689	9828	11861	00701	14/	001	0.0/1	0.170	C70.0
	38	21689	9338	12351	15001	700	ULV	0 136	0 102	0.062
+	44	21689	9868	11791	1/071	007	4/0	061.0	C01.U	con.u
   u	52	21689	9140	12549	01001	C C F	C111	0 100	0360	0.120
n	61	21689	8140	13549	640C1	CC4	/111	0.170	0(7.0	661.0
	67	21689	9289	12400						
9	74	21689	8151	13538	13025	574	1864	0.249	0.286	0.161
	81	21689	8552	13137						

Table 3.16. Biogas yields relative to the CODt removal for R1.

	Min biogas yield in the cycle, m <sup>3</sup> /kg	CODr		0.000	100.0	0.004	0.057	100.0	100.0	160.0		0.134	
	Max. biogas yield in the cycle, m <sup>3</sup> /kg	CODr	0.015	C10.0	0.055	<i>cc</i> 0.0	111	0.141		677.0		0.297	
al for R2.	Biogas yield in the cycle, m <sup>3</sup> biogas/kg COD <sub>r</sub>	G=(F*1000)/(C*E)	0.003	C00.0	010	610.0	100.0	+c0.0	2110	0.140		0.235	
COD <sub>t</sub> remov	Average daily biogas production in the cycle, mL	F	6	r	L C	10	000	070	055	CCK		1713	
relative to the	Average daily volume of digestate applied in the cycle, mL	E	146		115	140	200	007		41/		575	
Biogas yields	Average COD <sub>r</sub> in the cycle, mg/L	D=average C	6025		C12C1	71/01	11076	07611	20221	C/0C1		12690	
ble 3.17.	COD <sub>r</sub> , mg/L	C=A-B	7608	6262	15044	12379	12796	11056	17242	14108	12252	12430	13389
Ta	COD <sub>eff</sub> , mg/L	В	3236	4582	6645	9310	8893	10633	4447	7581	9437	9259	8300
	COD <sub>inf</sub> , mg/L	A	10844	10844	21689	21689	21689	21689	21689	21689	21689	21689	21689
	Time, d		13	18	27	32	38	44	52	61	67	74	81
	Cycle		¢	1	, ,	n	-	t	u	n		9	

		Table 🤅	3.18. Biogas yields	relative to the add	ed amount of VS (VS <sub>a</sub>	dded) for R1 and R2.	
		Average	Average daily	Average daily	Biogas yield	Max. biogas yield	Min. biogas yield
Reactor	Cycle	VS <sub>added</sub> in the cycle,	volume of digestate	biogas production	in the cycle,	in the cycle,	in the cycle,
		mg/L	applied, mL	in the cycle, mL	$m^3$ biogas/kg VS <sub>added</sub>	$m^3$ biogas/kg VS <sub>added</sub>	$m^3$ biogas/kg VS <sub>added</sub>
		A	В	C	$D=(C^*1000)/(A^*B)$		
	5	3773	142	29	0.053	0.130	0.000
	3	7547	147	138	0.125	0.312	0.041
R1	4	7547	286	470	0.218	0.293	0.100
	5	7547	433	1117	0.342	0.447	0.240
	9	7547	574	1864	0.430	0.494	0.277
	2	3773	146	3	0.005	0.028	0.000
	3	7547	145	37	0.034	0.101	0.007
<b>R</b> 2	4	7547	286	320	0.148	0.223	0.090
	5	7547	417	955	0.303	0.463	0.188
	9	7547	575	1713	0.395	0.499	0.225

### 3.3.8 Global warming potential of the captured biogas from digestate

Global warming potentials (GWP) were calculated based on the measured average daily biogas production per unit volume of digestate and the minimum and maximum  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  contents at the steady-state COD removal period at the 6<sup>th</sup> cycle for R1 and R2 (Table 3.19). 100-year GWP was taken as 1 for  $CO_2$  and 28 for  $CH_4$  (Myhre et al. 2013). The  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  contents of biogas were measured at room temperature (around 25°C). The densities of  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  used for the calculations are taken as 1.7989 and 0.6556 kg/m<sup>3</sup> for 25°C (Lide, 2006).

Biogas generated was found to have a daily GWP of 47.4-49.7 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/m<sup>3</sup> digestate for R1 and 39.6-44.0 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/m<sup>3</sup> digestate for R2 in terms of total CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> captured. CH<sub>4</sub> contributed to the highest portion of GWP (daily 46.9-48.6 and 38.9-43.0 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/m<sup>3</sup> digestate for R1 and R2, respectively) which was obviously due to 28-fold higher GWP of CH<sub>4</sub> compared to CO<sub>2</sub>. GWP of the CH<sub>4</sub> captured in this study was much higher than the one calculated for the CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from storage of untreated and anaerobically digested cattle slurry with and without starch addition (Clemens et al., 2006). The authors reported cumulative CH<sub>4</sub> emissions in the range of 0-36 kg  $CO_2e/m^3$  (0-30°C) during the storage period (55-140 days). The study demonstrated the GWP of the digestate during the storage of cattle slurry, thus, showed the possibility of the further decomposition if anaerobic conditions favored. The high-rate anaerobic treatment of the digestate, on the other hand, revealed the significance of the extent of further anaerobic decomposition in terms of the resultant GWP of the captured gas. Furthermore, the complete sequestration or recovery of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> content of the biogas may result in 1157-1450 tCO<sub>2</sub>e/yr for 80 m<sup>3</sup>/d digestate production in the plant (Table 3.19). The total emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O from anaerobic lagoons were previously reported as 703±195 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/m<sup>2</sup>.yr (Owen and Silver, 2015). The potential to capture CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> from the digestate used in the high-rate treatment is thus equivalent to the overall emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O from anaerobic lagoons having a total surface area of 1646-2062 m<sup>2</sup>. It should also be noted that this estimation was based on the total digestate volume produced ( $80 \text{ m}^3/\text{d}$ ). Thus, more volumes of digestate produced would eventually result in the folded increase in the GWP of the digestates (Table 3.19).

Another fact to mention here is that, nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) and NH<sub>3</sub> were not quantified in the biogas composition. Even though NH<sub>3</sub> emission was discussed as having a minor impact in ammonium removal during the treatment, even these emissions may possibly add in the GWP of the captured gas. NH<sub>3</sub> is not a greenhouse gas, however, its deposition results in the conversion of NH<sub>3</sub> into a greenhouse gas, N<sub>2</sub>O. Moreover, N<sub>2</sub>O has a GWP of 265 (9.5 fold higher than CH<sub>4</sub>) (Myhre et al. 2013). The quantification of N<sub>2</sub>O and NH<sub>3</sub>, thus, becomes important for estimates of the GWP of the captured gas. The capture of the associated gasses would also enhance the reduction of GWP of the digestate if the contents of the biogas produced is properly managed, sequestered or recovered.

				R	11		R2
	Uni	t	Formula	Min	Max	Min	Max
Biogas production	m <sup>3</sup> /:	m <sup>3</sup> digestate.d	A	3.3	3.3	3.0	3.0
		Me	thane				
Methane content	%		B	77.5	80.3	70.7	78
Methane production	m <sup>3</sup> (	CH4/m <sup>3</sup> digestate.d	$C=A^*B/100$	2.558	2.650	2.121	2.340
Density of methane at 25°C	kg/1	m <sup>3</sup>	D	0.6556	0.6556	0.6556	0.6556
Mass of methane	kg (	CH4/m <sup>3</sup> digestate.d	E=C*D	1.677	1.737	1.391	1.534
GWP of CH <sub>4</sub>	GW	/P	Ч	28	28	28	28
CO <sub>2</sub> equivalent of methane	kg (	CO2e/m3 digestate.d	G=E*F	46.9	48.6	38.9	43.0
		Carboi	n dioxide				
Carbon dioxide content	%		IJ	7.5	17.2	12.6	19.3
Carbon dioxide production	m <sup>3</sup> (	CO <sub>2</sub> /m <sup>3</sup> digestate.d	H=A*G/100	0.248	0.568	0.378	0.579
Density of carbon dioxide at 2	25°C kg/1	m <sup>3</sup>	Ι	1.7989	1.7989	1.7989	1.7990
Mass of carbon dioxide	kg (	CO <sub>2</sub> /m <sup>3</sup> digestate.d	J=H*I	0.4	1.0	0.7	1.0
GWP of CO <sub>2</sub>	GW	/P	K	1	1	1	1
CO <sub>2</sub> equivalent of CO <sub>2</sub>	kg (	CO2e/m <sup>3</sup> digestate.d	K=J*K	0.4	1.0	0.7	1.0
Total CO. admissalant	kg (	CO2e/m <sup>3</sup> digestate.d	L=K+F	47.4	49.7	39.6	44.0
	t C(	D <sub>2</sub> e/m <sup>3</sup> digestate.yr	M=L*0.365	17.3	18.1	14.5	16.1
for 80 $m^3/d$ di	igestate t C(	D₂e∕yr	N=M*80	1384	1450	1157	1285
for $100 \text{ m}^3/\text{d}$ di	igestate t C(	D <sub>2</sub> e/yr	0=M*100	1730	1813	1446	1606
for 200 $m^3/d$ di	igestate t C(	D <sub>2</sub> e/yr	P=M*200	3460	3626	2892	3212
for $500 \text{ m}^3/\text{d} \text{ di}_1$	igestate t C(	D <sub>2</sub> e/yr	R=M*500	8649	9064	7230	8029

Ś
e.
. <u>en</u>
÷
-
Я
t†
-
Ц
0
Ъ
Ξ
Ŋ.
9
Ξ
Ē
<u>d</u>
5
0
S
50
$\tilde{\omega}$
2.
ā
-
Je
tt
فس
ō
5
Ξ
· Ħ
5
ă
H.
-
<u>e</u>
0
2
õ
Ξ
p
Ц
ō
ã
H
ğ
C
Ч
Ĩ
a
d)
ŭ
ອ
Ч
5
ц
Ц
ч
0
0
5
$\mathbf{O}$
2
<u> </u>
9
—
<i>~</i> :
$(\mathbf{r})$
O)
5

### **3.4 Conclusions**

The application of an AFFR in the treatment of liquid digestates had a potential to decompose COD<sub>t</sub> by 56-63% which was mainly composed of the COD<sub>s</sub> (85-94 %). Yet, it is still possible to decompose VS portion and remove it in AFFR via CODs removal. This addresses the fact that it becomes possible to extract the related biogas from the soluble COD in a relatively such time period (HRTs of 1.3-1.4 days). The biogas yields obtained (0.395-0.430 L<sub>biogas</sub>/g VS<sub>added</sub>) was relatively high which corresponded to the yields of many raw feedstocks such as municipal wastewater sludge, pig stomach content, sheep excreta, vegetable wastes, straw from cereals and pig excreta, liquid cattle manure molasses, maize and potato distillery slops. Significant phosphorus removal was also attained (47-66% DRP and 36-47% TP) which resembled the formation of calcium phosphate precipitates in anaerobic reactors. Such a removal mechanism is the subject in the most recent studies for phosphate recovery in the form of calcium phosphate precipitates from high-rate anaerobic reactors (Tervahauta et al., 2014; Cunha et al., 2018a and 2018b), even though final characterization of the granular phosphate formations is yet to be further investigated to be employed in agriculture and/or industry in terms of feasibility, safeness and bioavailability (Cunha et al., 2018b).

The treatment of the liquid digestate using AFFRs requires approximately 7-38 times less volume compared to the conventional digesters depending on the hydraulic retention times required for both reactors (1.3-1.4 days for AFFR, 10-50 days for conventional digesters). Therefore, AFFR treatment of digestate would yield less footprint and decrease the associated financial costs. The simplicity of construction and operation and the flexibility against operational instabilities can be considered as additional factors that can promote the application of AFFRs as a treatment unit for digestates. Moreover, alkalinity dosing was not required during the digestate treatment

which can be accounted as a factor to reduce the operational costs. The required alkalinity levels are seldom satisfied in the influent wastewater of AD processes. Alkalinity addition is required to maintain the pH to assure the stability of digestion process which may affect the economics of the plant considerably (Tchobanoglous et al., 2003).

Even though the power generation capacity from the further anaerobic treatment of the digestate was not even close to megawatt levels for the plant, it should be noted that the major consideration in such a process is to reduce the pollution load of the digestate. Energy extraction can be considered as a by-product of the process aiming at digestate treatment. In addition to the reduction of organic load and providing an alternative way to phosphate recovery, yearly 14.5-18.1  $tCO_{2e}/m^{3}$  digestate (CH<sub>4</sub>+CO<sub>2</sub>) or more (inclusion of NH<sub>3</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O) can be prevented before emitting to the atmosphere if biogas produced form digestate is properly managed.

#### **CHAPTER 4**

# NUTRIENT REMOVAL FROM THE EFFLUENT OF ANAEROBIC FIXED-FILM REACTOR USING MICROALGAL CULTURES

Liquid digestate, itself, is a waste stream that can be favorably employed in microalgal processes for nutrient removal and valorization of the microalgal biomass grown. High nutrient concentrations that can be easily metabolized by microalgal species and the favorable pH range for fresh water microalgae are the main drivers for liquid digestates to be used in microalgal processes. Additionally, large volumes of digestates produced in AD plants have a potential to provide continous feed supply for microalgal species.

Even if further anaerobic treatment of the digestate would reduce the COD content, the concentration of the nutrients in AFFR effluent would still be high (Chapter 4). The pH range of the AFFR effluent was suitable for freshwater microalgae to survive and grow (approximately 8.40). Moreover, AFFR effluent is produced in large quantities. Therefore, the digestate after being additionally treated using AFFRs have still potential to be employed in nutrient removal processes using microalgal cultures. This chapter covers the literature background, materials, methods, results and discussions on the treatment of AFFR effluent by using microalgal cultures.

#### 4.1 Literature Background

Microalgae are unicellular species having sizes in the range of a few micrometers to a few hundred micrometers. The existing number of microalgae species is estimated to be the range of 200 000-800 000 (Venkatesan et al., 2015). The photosynthesis by

microalgal species contributes to the 50% of the world's oxygen production (Cadoret et al., 2012). Diatoms (Bacillariophyceae), green algae (Chlorophyceae) and golden algae (Chrysophyceae) are the three major classes of microalgae in terms of abundance. Cyanobacteria (blue-green algae) are also regarded as prokaryotic microalgae under the class name of Cyanophyceae (Venkatesan et al., 2015).

Microalgae require water, sunlight, nutrients and some specific environmental conditions for growth such as pH, temperature, salinity and dissolved gases. Microalgae convert light energy into potential chemical energy in the presence of carbon dioxide and water via photosynthesis in the presence of light during a day period (Yildiz et al., 2013). On the other hand, microalgae may exhibit different types of metabolisms (autotrophic, heterotrophic, mixotrophic and photo-heterotrophic growth) as a response to changes in environmental conditions. Light is the sole energy source which is converted to energy by photosynthesis in photoautrophic growth. Organic compounds are carbon and energy sources in heterotrophic cultivation. Microalgae can live autorotrophically or heterotrophically in mixotrophic type of growth. Light is the energy source and organics are the carbon sources in photoheterotrophic growth of microalgae (Gouveia, 2011).

Microalgal biomass can be used to produce co-products and by-products (Gouveia, 2011) as feed additives for animals and fishes, supplements for health food and dietary, pharmaceutical/medicinal compounds (Berg-Nilsen, 2006). The biomass can also be employed in the production of various kinds of fuel synthesis by taking the advantage of different cellular components such as biohydrogen production by proton and electrons, bioethanol from sugars and starch, biodiesel from oils, biomethane and biomass to liquid fuel (BTL) from biomass (Gouveia, 2011).

Microalgal biomass has been considered as the most important reneweable fuel feedstock for future applications (Gouveia, 2011). It is believed to be capable of replacing fossil fuels (Chisti, 2007; Wijffels and Barbosa, 2010; Liu et al., 2013; Calicioglu and Demirer, 2015, 2016). This fact is due to the many advantages offered by microalgal biomass. These advantages can be regarded as (Gouveia, 2011):

- higher photon conversion efficiency (3-8%) compared to that of terrestrial plants (0.5%).
- high biomass yields and growth rates.
- high carbon dioxide capturing capacity.
- ability to be grown in the fields apart from agricultural lands which eliminates the probability of competing with the crops for arable land.
- ability to be harvested more than once a year which is not applicable for seasonal crops.
- ability to be stimulated to produce a feedstock with high concentration (biomass, oil, starch).
- ability to be grown in a liquid medium or salt and wastewater streams which results in less fresh water consumption.
- ability to remove nitrogen and phosphorus from wastewaters such as industrial and municipal wastewaters, agricultural run-off, concentrated animal feed operations.
- ability to be grown without fertilizers and pesticides reducing the environmental impacts arising from their use.

Wastewaters contain organic and inorganic nutrients which require to be treated before the discharge to decrease the environmental impacts. Microalgae has been proven to have a potential to be grown in wastewater by metabolizing inorganic nutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorus (Kesaano and Sims, 2014; Olguin, 2012). Being a costeffective process, major nutrients and also micronutrients required for the growth of microalgae can be supplied from wastewater (Yu et., 2017). Thus, the microalgal wastewater treatment provides both the removal of the associated components from the wastewater via accumulating them into biomass and the growth of the microalgal biomass that can be used in a further downstream process. Microalgal wastewater treatment can be effectively applied for nutrient removal from wastewaters with a lower cost than conventional methods which in turn offers an environmentally friendly nutrient recovery process. On the other hand, algal biofuel production can not be an economically viable option unless algae species are grown in wastewater (Christenson and Sims, 2011).

The integration of microalgae and digestate was first conducted at 1950s (Golueke and Oswald, 1959). However, the interest on the subject has recently developed because of the increasing demand of biogas industry to treat digestates as well as to benefit from the high nutrient content of the digestates (Xia and Murphy, 2016). The constituents of the liquid digestates (liquid portion of digestates after solid-liquid phase separation) make processing of this waste stream easy for microalgal cultures. Slightly alkaline or near neutral pHs of the liquid digestates enables freshwater and alkaliphilic microalgae to survive and grow. The primary nutrients for microalgal growth are present in digestates at high concentrations (total nitrogen: 139-3456 mg/L, total phosphorus: 7-381 mg/L). Even the fractions of easily utilizable ammonium and phosphate has a large proportion in total nitrogen and total phosphorus content (65-98% and 82–90%, respectively). Additionally, the presence of organic carbon sources such as volatile fatty acids (e.g. acetates) enables microalgae to be grown mixotrophically. This type of algal growth results in higher biomass productivity and concentration and it is less affected from photoinhibition/limitation than phototrophic algal growth. High inorganic carbon concentrations of digestates (939-1353 mg/L) have also potential to be employed in photosynthesis (Xia and Murphy, 2016). Therefore, liquid digestates have a great potential to be used in microalgal nutrient removal processes.

Many studies have been conducted integrating the microalgae with digestate treatment up to date (Table 4.1). *Chlorella* and *Scenedesmus* sp. were the most commonly used species in the digestate treatment. These species were previously reported as being among the top eight pollution-tolerant genera (Palmer, 1969). Digestates required dilution, filtration and/or dilution and autoclaving as a pretreatment before microalgal treatment. The pretreatment methods are applied to reduce the solids content and to eliminate interferences of other microorganisms (like bacteria, protozoa) in microalgal cultivation (Abu Hajar et al., 2016). Digestates are also diluted before microalgal applications in order for decreasing the probability of inhibition due to high ammonium concentrations (Yan et al., 2012).

The researches indicated that the digestate treatment using microalgal cultures can remove 100% TN, NH4<sup>+</sup>-N, TP and PO4<sup>3-</sup> (Table 4.1) after the pretreatment methods applied. *Desmodesmus* sp. was reported to remove 4.542-9.494 mg/L total nitrogen and 0.244-0.390 mg/L phosphate phosphorus daily from the filtered and diluted digestate of pig manure in batch and fed-batch cultivation (Ji et al., 2014 and 2015). The removal rate of ammonium nitrogen achieved in these related studies was 5.284-8.920 mg/L.d and the corresponding biomass concentration ranged between 0.324-1.039 g/L. The nitrogen and phosphorus removal rates noted by Åkerström et al. (2014) and Cai et al. (2013a) were significantly larger for *Chlorella* sp. and *Nannochloropsis salina* obtained in the treatment of digestates of sludges and municipal wastewater. 42.6 mg/L total nitrogen and 4.1 mg/L phosphorus was removed daily by *Chlorella* sp. treating the liquor of anaerobically digested sludge in batch treatment of 7-8 days (Åkerström et al., 2014). The semi-continuous operation of the reactors using *Nannochloropsis salina* as inoculum yielded 13.4-56.5 mg/L.d total nitrogen and 2.3-4.3 mg/L.d total phosphorus removal (Cai et al., 2013a).

The digestate treatment using microalgal cultures additionally resulted in microalgal biomass production at variable quantities (Table 4.1). The treatment of the digestate of pig manures using *Desmodesmus* and *Chlorococcum* sp. resulted in the lowest biomass productivity (between 0.024 and 0.029 g/L.d) (Ji et al., 2014; Montero et al., 2018). The highest biomass productivities were observed using *Scenedesmus* sp., *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* and *Chlorella* PY-ZU1 as 0.67, 0.63 and 0.60 g/L.d, respectively (Tan et al., 2014; Cheng et al., 2015; Dickinson et al., 2015). The biomass concentrations covered in the studies given in Table 4.1 was in the range of 0.324-4.81 g/L whereas the studies conducted using *Chlorella* sp. resulted in 0.494-4.81 mg/L of biomass.

Apart from the ability to assimilate the nutrients from the liquid digestate and store the nutrients within their biomass, microalgal cultures can be further employed in downstream processes to make use of their cellular compounds such as carbonhydrates, proteins, fats, lipids, pigments. Even if microalgal biomass production in wastewater treatment has been proved to be viable, there remains a bottleneck for commercialization of microalgal applications. For many years up to now, this bottleneck has been addressed as the cost of harvesting and dewatering of suspended microalgal culture which accounts for approximately 20-30% of the total operating cost (Gudin and Thepenier, 1986; Larronde-Larretche and Jin, 2016; Quijano et al., 2017). The poor settleability of the microalgal biomass is the reason behind the 20-30% share of the harvesting and dewatering costs (Quijano et al., 2017). The algal biomass is in the form of dilute suspensions (Irving and Allen, 2011). The harvesting processes such as centrifugation, filtration and flocculation are not cost-effective solutions for microalgal biomass to obtain a dense culture. On the other hand, the formation of the microalgal bacterial aggregrates during wastewater treatment was noted as having excellent settling characteristics. Such formations of biomass can be easily separated by simple gravitational settling and provides efficient and costeffective harvesting of the microalgal biomass (Quijano et al., 2017).

S.	Jutrient removal	gen Phosphorus Reference	2.6 P: 4.1 Åkerström d mg /L.d et al., 2014	00% TP: 100% Cai et al.,	2013a 4-56.5 TP: 2.3-4.3 d mg/L.d	00 % TP: 100% Cai et al., 2013h	00% TP: 100%
microalgae specie	iomass	ductivity/ Nitro	45 g/L.d N: 4 .11 g/L mg //	92 g/L.d TN: 1	55 g/L.d TN: 13. mg/l	51 g/L.d TAN: 10	12 g/L.d TN: 10
reatment using r	Specific B	growth Proor rate Con-	*0. *2	*0.C 0.334- *0 0.645	1/d 0.1:	0.1	. 0.2
ble 4.1. Studies on digestate t		Type	Batch (7-8 d)	Batch (10 d)	Semi-cont. (18 d)	Batch (10 d)	Semi-cont
		Pretreatment	Dilution with the effluent water of wastewater treatment plant (12, 25, 40, 50, 70, 100%)	*Dilution with deionized water (3, 6, 12, 18, 24%)	adjustment (artificial seawater)	*Dilution with deionized water (3, 6, 12, 18, 24%) *Salinity	adjustment (artificial
Ta	Wostowoton	w astewater Origin	Liquor of anaerobically digested sludge	Digestate of municipal	ŴM	Digestate of municipal	M M
		Inoculum	Chlorella sp.	Namochloropsis	saura	Nannochloropsis salina	Synechocystus sp.

. :-÷ ŧ 7

	Reference	Cheng et al., 2015	Dickinson et al., 2015	Wang et al., 2010a	Wang et al., 2010b
removal	Phosphorus	TP: 99.6%	PO4-P: 1.68- 6.69 mg/L.d	TP: 74.7%	TP: 92%
Nutrient	Nitrogen	NH <sub>3</sub> -N: 73%	NH <sub>3</sub> -N: 16.9- 41.2 mg/L.d	TN: 82.5 % NH <sub>4</sub> +: 81-178 mg/L (100%)	TN: 93.6 % NH4+-N: 100 %
Biomass	Productivity/ Concentration	*0.601 g/L.d *4.81 g/L	0.67 g/L.d	1.71 g/L	
Specific	growth rate		0.82- 1.94 1/d	0.282- 0.409 1/d	
	Type	Batch (8-13 d)	Batch then cont. (45 d)	Batch (21 d)	Semi- cont. (30 d)
	Pretreatment	*Centrifugation *Sterilization	* Sterilization	*Dilution (10, 15, 20, 25x) *Filtration	*Dilution (20x)
Wastewater Origin		Digestate of swine manure and sewage	*Secondary municipal WW effluent *Municipal WW supplemented with digestate of swine manure and microalgae	Undigested and digested dairy manure	Undigested and digested dairy manure
	Inoculum	<i>Chlorella</i> PY- ZU1 (mutant)	Scenedesmus sp.	Chlorella sp.	Chlorella vulgaris

Table 4.1. Studies on divestate treatment using microalgae species

		Reference	Xu et al., 2015	Yan and Zheng, 2014	Yang et al., 2015	Zhao et al., 2015	Prajapati et al., 2014
	emoval	Phosphorus	TP: 88.8%	TP: 67.6%	TP: 90.7%	TP: 0.81- 1.26 mg/L.d 63.2%	TDP: 89.3%
species.	Nutrient	Nitrogen	TN: 74.6 %	TN: 73.1%	TN: 91.6 %	TN: 76.0 %	TAN: 85.2%
ng microalgae	Biomass	Productivity/ Concentration	0.311 g/L.d	0.494 g/L	*0.58 g/L.d *3.01 g/L	0.217 g/L.d	1.42 g/L
eatment usi	Specific	growth rate	0.334- 0.486 1/d			0.134- 0.451 1/d	
digestate tre		Type	Batch (7 d)	Batch (6 d)	Batch (9 d)	Batch (7 d)	Batch (12 d)
4.1. Studies on e	Pretreatment		*Sedimentation *Filtration *Sterilization *Dilution	*Ultraviolet *Filtration	*Settling *Filtration *Sterilization	*Ultraviolet *Filtration	*Settling *Filtration *Dilution (10-100%)
Table	Westewater	w asic w atcl Origin	Digestate of piggery waste	Digestate	Digestate of starch WW mixed with alcohol WW	Digestate	Chroococcus sp.
		Inoculum	Scenedesmus obliquus	Chlorella sp.	Chlorella pyrenoidosa	Chlorella vulgaris Scenedesmus obliquus Neochloris oleoabundans	Chroococcus sp.

	Reference	Singh et al., 2011	Tan et al., 2014	Uggetti et al., 2014	Ji et al., 2014
[	Phosphorus	TP: 5.2 mg/L	TP: 97.0%		TP: 0.326 mg/L.d PO <sub>4</sub> -P: 0.290 mg/L.d
e species.	Nitrogen	T/gm 67 :NT	TN: 83.1%		TN: 4.542 mg/L.d NH <sub>4</sub> <sup>+</sup> -N: 5.284 mg/L.d (100 %)
sing microalga	BIOMASS Productivity/ Concentration	*0.076 g/L.d *0.612 g/L	*0.63 g/L.d *1.90 g/L	2.6 g/L	*0.029 g/L.d *0.412 g/L
eatment us	specific growth rate		0.19- 1.02 1/d	0.04- 0.9 1/d	
algestate tre	Type	Batch (12 d)	Outdoor batch	Batch (7 d)	Batch (14 d)
e 4.1. Studies on	Pretreatment	*Centrifugation *Dilution (4, 6, 8%)	*Settling *Filtration	*Dilution	*Filtration *Dilution (2.5, 5, 10%)
1 ad	Wastewater Origin	Digestate of poultry litter effluent	Digestate of wheat starch processing WW	Digestate of WW treatment plant	Digestate of pig manure
	Inoculum	Chlorella minutissima Chlorella sorokiniana Scenedesmus bijuga	Chlorella pyrenoidosa	Mixed microalgae dominated by Scenedesmus sp.	Desmodesmus sp.

Table 4.1. Studies on digestate treatment using microalgae species.

	Reference		Ji et al.,	C107	Franchino et al., 2013	Park et al., 2010	
	emoval	Phosphorus	PO <sub>4</sub> -P: 100% 0.244 mg/L.d	PO4-P: 88.7% 0.390 mg/L.d	PO4-P: 97.3% 0.28 mg/L.d		
.evivyle v	Nutrient r	Nitrogen	TN: 75.6% 6.227 mg/L.d NH <sub>4</sub> +-N: 92.7% 7.701 mg/L.d	TN: 94.2% 9.464 mg/L.d NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N: 91.1% 8.920 mg/L.d	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N: 99.9% 7.8 mg/L.d	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N: 6.46 mg/L.d	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N: 89% 19.2 mg/L.d
	Biomass Productivity/	Concentration	0.324 g/L	1.039 g/L	0.26 g/L.d	0.118 g/L.d	0.213 g/L.d
מתווטווו שב	Specific growth	rate			0.23- 0.64 1/d	0.038- 0.091 1/d	
urgeomer ue	Tvne		Batch (10 d)	Fed-batch (40 d)	Batch (21 d)	Batch	Semi- cont.
	Pretreatment		*Filtration *Dilution	(2.5, 5,10% for batch)	*Dilution (1:10, 1:15, 1:20, 1:25)	*Filtration *Sterilization	*Dilution
TOPT	Wastewater	Origin	Digestate of	pig manure	Digestate of cattle slurry and raw cheese whey	Digestate of the wastes of	piggery farm
	Inoculum		-	Desmodesmus sp.	Chlorella vulgaris Neochloris oleoabundans Scenedesmus. obliquus	Scenedesmus	accumunatus

Table 4.1. Studies on digestate treatment using microalgae species.

	Reference	Montero et al., 2018		Deng et al., 2017
removal	Phosphorus		PO <sub>4</sub> <sup>3-</sup> : 1.6 mg/L.d	TP: 29.7% TP: 54.4%
Nutrient 1	Nitrogen	NH4 <sup>+-</sup> N: 5.3 mg/L.d	1	TN: 55.4% NH $_{4}^{+}$ -N: 99.8 % TN: 70.8% NH $_{4}^{+}$ -N: 99.9
Biomass	Productivity/ Concentration	0.85 g/L 0.029 g/L.d	0.64 g/L 0.024 g/L.d	0.10-0.14 g/L.d 1.1 g/L
Specific	growth rate			
	Type	c-batch (27 d)	nc- batch (24 d)	au- batch (7 d) Nau- batch (7 d)
Pretreatment		*Filtration *Centrifugation *Dilution (2, 5, 6, 8%) *Filtration	*Centrifugation *Dilution (5.6%)	*Ammonia stripping *Settling *Centrifugation *Dilution (2, 3, 4x)
Wostaniotar	w astewater Origin	Digestate of pig manure		Digestate of liquid swine manure
	Inoculum	Cholorococcum sp.		Chlorella vulgaris

Table 4.1. Studies on digestate treatment using microalgae species.

WW: wastewater; cont: continuous; au-batch: autoclaved and batch; nau-batch: not autoclaved and batch; c-batch: controlled batch; nc-batch: non- controlled batch.

#### 4.2 Materials and Methods

#### 4.2.1 Mixed microalgal culture

Mixed microalgal culture was taken from Lake Eymir in Ankara, Turkey. The culture was initially grown and kept as a stock culture by weekly feeding with liquid digestate taken from an anaerobic digester of Tatlar Wastewater Treatment Plant (Ankara, Turkey) that processed sewage sludges as raw feedstock (56% primary and 44% secondary sludge). The plant had 14-21 days of hydraulic retention time and 8 digesters with 1.5 MW total installed capacity. Microalgal inoculum used was obtained from the mentioned stock microalgal culture and characterized for TS, VS, DRP, total dissolved phosphorus (TDP), NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N and chlorophyll-a concentrations (Table 4.2).

#### 4.2.2 Wastewater origin

An anaerobic fixed-film reactor was previously set as an additional treatment step for the digestate taken from a full-scale AD plant (Chapter 3). The plant had a conventional completely mixed anaerobic digester and used a manure mixture of 90% laying hen and 10% cattle manure as a raw feedstock. Processing of the digestate in an AFFR was aimed to treat the residual organic content and to capture the associated biogas during the treatment. The effluent of AFFR was collected during steady-state operation of the last cycle and was settled for 1 day. The liquid phase above the settled portion of AFFR effluent (AFFR liquor) was further used in nutrient removal processes by mixed microalgal culture. The characterization of the AFFR effluent before settling and AFFR liquor is given in Table 4.2.

	inocul	um.	
Parameter	AFFR effluent	AFFR liquor	Microalgal inoculum
рН	8.84	8.84	7.58
TS, mg/L	$11580\pm60$	$8700\pm0$	$2820\pm40$
VS, mg/L	$5610\pm50$	$4130\pm150$	$1320\pm20$
Chlorophyll-a, mg/L	-*	-*	$3.6\pm0.409$
NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N, mg/L	$1950.0\pm30.00$	$1616.3 \pm 23.75$	$1.6\pm0.12$
$NO_3$ -N, mg/L	_*	$11.4 \pm 0.18$	$103.0\pm0.50$
NO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup> -N, mg/L	_*	$0.0\pm0.00$	$165.3\pm1.85$
DRP, mg/L	$45.40\pm0.20$	$41.00\pm0.00$	$2.72\pm0.00$
TDP, mg/L	$51.25 \pm 1.75$	$42.75\pm0.25$	$9.25\pm0.25$
VS/TS, %	48.4	47.5	46.8
DRP/TDP, %	88.6	95.9	29.4

Table 4.2. The characterization of the AFFR effluent, AFFR liquor and microalgal

\* Not measured.

### 4.2.3 Analytical methods

TS, VS, chlorophyll-a and DRP concentrations were analyzed according to the Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater (APHA, 2005). TDP, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N (nitrate nitrogen) were measured photometrically as described in the manual provided by the manufacturer (Aqualytic, 2014). NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>-N was measured by Dionex ICS-1000 ion chromatography. The samples were first filtered from 0.45  $\mu$ m pore-sized cellulose acetate filters for NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N, NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>-N (nitrite nitrogen), DRP and TDP determination. All experiments were performed in replicates. The results were given with the averages and standard deviations.

## 4.2.4 Particle size distribution analysis

Particle size distribution analysis was performed to determine the agglomerated formations of microalgae species in Central Laboratory of Middle East Technical University using Malvern Mastersizer 2000. Samples for particle size distribution analysis were collected from randomly selected reactors after DRP exhaustion. They were collected in eppendorf tubes, wrapped with aluminum foil, and kept at 4°C in a refrigerator before analyses. Analyses were completed within 24 hours of sample collection.

### 4.2.5 Microalgal species characterization

The samples for microscopic species characterization were immediately fixed after collection using Lugol's iodine solution and left at room temperature in the dark. The mixed microalgal culture taken from Lake Eymir and the grown microalgal species in the reactors were identified and counted using Leica DMI 4000 B inverted microscope by Department of Biological Sciences, Biology /Molecular Biology and Genetics.

### 4.2.6 Settling test

The samples for the settling test were taken from the same reactors which were used in particle size distribution analysis after DRP exhaustion. 100 mL of graduated cylinder was filled with sample and subjected to gravitational sedimentation for 2 days. Liquid-solid phase separation was done by pipetting the liquid phase (supernatant). The chlorophyll-a content and the volume of the collected supernatant was determined.

The chlorophyll-a concentration of the settled biomass  $(C_b)$  was calculated using the chlorophyll-a concentrations and the volumes of the overall content and the supernatant obtained after solid-liquid phase separation. To calculate the  $C_b$  following formula was used:

$$C_{b} = \frac{[V_{t}xC_{t}] - [V_{s}xC_{s}]}{V_{b}}$$

$$[4.1]$$

Ct: Chlorophyll-a concentration at the end of the reactor operation, mg/L

Cs: Chlorophyll-a concentration of the supernatant at the end of the settling test, mg/L

Cb: Chlorophyll-a concentration of the settled biomass, mg/L

Vt: Total volume of the sample after settling, mg/L

Vs: Volume of the pipetted supernatant, mg/L

V<sub>b</sub>: Volume of the settled biomass, mg/L

## 4.2.7 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) Imaging

SEM imaging was performed to visualize the biological formations after the nutrient removal process. The imaging was done in Central Laboratory of Middle East Technical University using QUANTA 400F Field Emission SEM. 1 mL sample was taken from randomly selected reactors and diluted by 1/6 using ethanol within eppendorf tubes. Eppendorf tubes were then wrapped with aluminum foil, and kept at 4°C in a refrigerator before imaging. SEM imaging was performed within 3-4 days of sample collection.

# 4.2.8 Experimental Setup

Photobioreactors used in the microalgal nutrient removal experiments were made of glass with an outside diameter of 8.6 cm and a height of 25.7 cm. Eight reactors were used in the setup (Table 4.3). Seven reactors were prepared by using 4 different dilutions of the AFFR liquor (Table 4.3). The AFFR liquor was diluted with deionized water by 1/6 for T1a and T1b, by 1/8 for T2a and T2b, by 1/10 for T3a and T3b and by 1/12 for T4. T1a and T1b, T2a and T2b, T3a and T3b were replicates of each other and were operated to investigate the repeatability of the experiments. These seven reactors were inoculated with 40 mL of microalgal inoculum (Table 4.2) and

completed to 1000 mL using the diluted AFFR liquor. One reactor was set as a control reactor (C) with 40 mL of microalgal inoculum and 800 mL of deionized water to observe the pH change during operation. PBRs were operated in batch at room temperature ( $26 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C). Total operation time of the reactors varied for each reactor (Table 4.3) depending on the time required for a DRP removal of 99-100%. DRP is the highly available form of phosphorus to algae (Ekholm and Krogerus, 2003).

Reactor	Dilution	Total operation period, days	
T1a	1/6	25.2	
T1b	1/6	25.2	
T2a	1/8	17.6	
T2b	1/8	18.9	
T3a	1/10	12.6	
T3b	1/10	14.2	
T4	1/12	11.6	

Table 4.3. Dilution ratios and total operation periods for reactors.

pH was monitored by Oakton pH/CON 450 pH meter and adjusted for 3-4 times a day using concentrated hydrochloric acid (HCl) or sodium hydroxide (NaOH) (6N, 3N or 1N). PBRs were continuously aerated at a flow rate of 1 L/min with ambient air and continuously illuminated at  $4.05 \pm 0.460$  Klux. Light intensity was measured by Extech EasyView<sup>TM</sup> 31 Light Meter at 13 different locations in the setup where the reactors run. The illumination of the experimental setup is depicted in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1. Illumination of the experimental setup.

## 4.3 Results and Discussion

### **4.3.1** Determination of the microalgae species

Microalgae species were determined in the samples obtained both from the Lake Eymir (Section 4.3.1.1) and from the randomly selected reactors (Section 4.3.1.2).

# 4.3.1.1 Microalgae species in mixed microalgal culture

The sample obtained from Lake Eymir could be characterized by the presence of 17 different microalgae species (Table 4.4). *Bacillariophyta* was the main group of microalgae (56.76% by biovolume) dominated in the Lake sample. The biovolume of *Cyanophyta* species was 20.67%. *Chlorophyta* species including *Chlorella vulgaris* and *Scenedesmus* sp. was represented by 1.32% by biovolume (Table 4.1). These species were extensively used in the previous studies on microalgal wastewater treatment. The presence of *Chlorella* and *Scenedesmus* species in a wastewater

treatment plant pre-dominantly among 71 species (Renuka et al., 2015) is an indication of their high adaptability to wastewaters.

		Count,	Biovolume,	Group
Group	Species	%	%	biovolume, %
Bacillariophyta	Synedra ulna	0.16	56.67	56.76
Bacillariophyta	Nitzschia acicularis	0.00	0.09	
Cyanophyta	Anabaena sp1	4.29	11.75	20.67
Cyanophyta	Pseudanabaena limneticum	2.31	4.76	
Cyanophyta	Anabaena sp2	0.16	3.41	
Cyanophyta	Microcystis sp.	0.05	0.74	
Cyanophyta	Merismopedia tenuissima	0.01	0.01	
	Picoplankton - unidentified			
Picoplankton	single cells <2 μm diam.	92.71	13.33	13.33
Dinophyta	Plagioselmis lacustris	0.11	2.65	4.10
Dinophyta	Peridinium sp.	0.00	1.45	
Cryptophyta	Cryptomonas sp.	0.02	3.82	3.82
Chlorophyta	Chlorella vulgaris	0.07	0.33	1.32
Chlorophyta	Closteriopsis longissima	0.04	0.29	
Chlorophyta	Scenedesmus sp.	0.04	0.32	
Chlorophyta	Ankistrodesmus sp.	0.01	0.29	
Chlorophyta	Monoraphidium arcuatum	0.00	0.01	
Chlorophyta	Oocystis sp.	0.00	0.09	

Table 4.4. Microalgae counts and biovolumes in the sample of Lake Eymir.

### 4.3.1.2 Microalgae species grown after nutrient removal processes

T1b and T2b were sampled for microscopic investigation after the nutrient removal process. The microscopic images obtained during the count of the species are given in Figure 4.2. *Chlorella vulgaris* was dominated among the other species by over 99% in both count and biovolume at the end of the operation of the reactors (Figure 4.3). The domination of *Chlorella* sp. by 99.30-99.60 % was previously reported in the treatment of secondary sewage effluent at the end of 30 days of operation (Marchello et al., 2015). *Chlorella vulgaris* is predominantly present in most wastewaters

including temperate climates and it has been widely employed in wastewater treatment studies due to its efficient assimilation of organics and nutrients as well as its and rapid growth (Ge et al., 2018). The survival of *Chlorella vulgaris* as a dominating species among 17 different algal species also indicated the high tolerance and adaptability of *Chlorella vulgaris* to the digestates which contained high ammonium and phosphorus concentrations. *Chlorella* sp. were previously noted as having excellent adaptation to livestock wastewaters (Tripathi and Kumar, 2017).



Figure 4.2. Microscopic images taken from the samples of (a) T1b and (b) T2b.



Figure 4.3. Microalgal species dominated at the end of the reactor operations.

#### 4.3.2 pH control and adjustment

pH was controlled and adjusted manually 3-4 times a day. Initial pHs of the reactors were set to 6.35-6.39 just before the start-up of the reactors. pH levels increased to 8.43-8.62 after 6 hours of operation. The increasing profile of pH after each pH adjustment continued in the first day of experiment, but at comparably lower levels (Figure 4.4). pH was adjusted to below 7 ( $6.38 \pm 0.107$ ) in the first day of operation aiming at decreasing the ammonium loss via conversion to ammonia as a consequence of increasing pHs. Nearly all ammonium is in the ionized form at approximately pH 7 and the ionized form decreases by increasing pHs (Evangelou, 1998). Cheng et al. (2015) also observed a pH increase from 6.0-6.5 to 7.7 at the initial stage of the Chlorella PY-ZU1 growth using digestate of swine manure. pH increase was probably due to the degradation of organic matters and urea hydrolysis with aeration of the manure-based product (Park et al., 2005), that is the AFFR liquor. Additionally, microalgal uptake of CO<sub>2</sub> can also give rise to pH of the environment (Delgadillo-Mirquez et al., 2016). Control reactor was operated without pH adjustment except the initial one from 7.50 to 6.57 (Figure 4.4). pH reached to 10.76 at the 1.5<sup>th</sup> day of operation. Thus, microalgal activity may be an inducing factor for pH increase at the early stages of the experiment. The microalgal species might have survived via uptake of the residual nutrients in the microalgal inoculum content (Table 4.2).

pH tended to decrease after the initial operation day (Figure 4.4) and the adjustment was made by increasing the pH to  $6.97 \pm 0.092$ . Increasing the pH to neutral levels aimed to avoid the inhibition of microalgal species due to excessive acidification of the growth environment (Eustance et al., 2013). pH decrease can be attributed to ammonium-based nutrition of microalgal species. For a molecular ammonium uptake of the organism, a proton is released to the environment to maintain the neutrality of the cell which results in the acidification of the environment. This fact significantly

lowers the pH of the environment during the exponential growth of organisms which can further inhibit the growth (Eustance et al., 2013). A rapid decrease in pH from 9.87 to 6.64 was observed between the days 2.6 and 3.6 in the control reactor. pH oscillated between 7.24 and 7.90 from the day 4.9 on in control reactor although pH was adjusted and increased in the reactors including AFFR liquor. Almost stable pH (7.24-7.90) in the control reactor may be an indication of ceasing of the nutrition of the microalgal species.

A similar pattern in pH variation, an increase in pH within the initial days of cultivation followed by a rapid decrease in pH to values near 7, was also previously observed during the cultivation of microalgae using the liquid digestate of a wastewater treatment plant (Uggetti et al., 2014). The authors reported the main reason behind the pH decrease to near neutral levels as nitrification of ammonium. Therefore, both microalgal uptake of ammonium and ammonium conversion into nitrite and nitrate by nitrifiers are expected to have an effect on the decrease of pH during the growth of microalgal species.



(Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12) Figure 4.4. pH change and adjustment during the operation of microalgal batch reactors.

### 4.3.3 The removal of the nutrients by microalgal-bacterial consortium

The removal of the nutrients by microalgal-bacterial consortium was evaluated with respect to the overall change in nutrient concentrations at the end of the operation period of the reactors and then the stepwise change of the nutrient concentrations throughout the process. As will be discussed in detail in the following sections, the profile of the change in nutrient concentrations during the stepwise measurements indicated an increase in the nutrient concentrations (ammonium, dissolved reactive and total dissolved phosphorus) within earlier days after the start-up of the reactors. On the other hand, the microalgal species was in growth state depending on the chlorophyll-

a measurements when the nutrients were increasing (Section 4.3.4.2). The growth of microalgal species together with the increasing amounts of nutrients suggested simultaneous dissolution and removal of nutrients at the initial stages of the operation. Therefore, a reaction kinetics study was performed on the removal of nutrients to estimate the total concentrations and the additional dissolved amounts of the nutrients.

The data points obtained from the measurements during the operation of the reactors were observed to follow two distinct patterns. The first pattern included the increase in the concentration of the constituents followed by a subsequent decrease where dissolution and uptake were simultaneously experienced. The second pattern had a steady reduction in the related concentrations and was considered as being representative of the removal of the constituents. The data points involved in second pattern were subjected to reaction kinetics analysis to estimate the order of removal for each constituent. A minimum of four data points was included in the reaction kinetics analysis.

The reaction kinetics analysis was based on linear line fitting to the data points. Linear line fitting was applied by drawing ' $\sqrt{(nutrient concentration)}$  vs time' (Denton and Rostron, 2013), 'nutrient concentration vs time', 'ln (nutrient concentration) vs time' and '1/(nutrient concentration) vs time' (Heldman, 2003) graphs to calculate the R<sup>2</sup> value for the one-half-order, zero-order, first-order and second-order reaction kinetics, respectively. The decision on the representative reaction kinetics was made based on the R<sup>2</sup> values of the fitted linear lines.

The linear fitting line in 'y=ax+b' form enables the rate constant of the reaction (k) to be estimated from the slope (a) of the line. If the line is extended back to the y-axis keeping the rate constant the same (where x=0), the interception is the point where

total concentration of the nutrients (initial concentrations before consumption) can be read. This total concentration is representative of the sum of the measured concentration at the start-up and the amount of the nutrients released due to dissolution. Therefore, the nutrient release and the total nutrient removal rates of microalgalbacterial consortium could be estimated from the linear fitting line of the related order of kinetics. The overall change and the stepwise change in nutrient concentrations as well as the analysis on reaction kinetics are given in detail in the following sections.

#### 4.3.3.1 The changes in NH4<sup>+</sup>- N, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>-N concentrations

 $NH_4^+$ - N,  $NO_3^-$ -N and  $NO_2^-$ -N concentrations within the reactors were evaluated according to the initial and final concentrations within reactors in Section 4.3.3.1.1 (overall change) and according to the stepwise measurements made during the operation of the reactors in Section 4.3.3.1.2. The estimation of the  $NH_4^+$ - N removal kinetics and actual removal rates are given in Section 4.3.3.1.3. The corrected nitrification and microalgal uptake of  $NH_4^+$ - N depending on the consideration of additional dissolved amounts are presented in Section 4.3.3.1.4.

#### 4.3.3.1.1 The overall change in NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>-N concentrations

The initial NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentration applied in the reactors ranged between 127.5-316.3 mg/L (Table 4.5). The dilutions in the treatment of AFFR liquor using microalgal species were made according to NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentrations which corresponded to NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentrations below 350 mg/L. 350 mg/L NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N was reported to be toxic for phytoplankton (Barsanti and Gualteri, 2014). The survival of *Chlorella vulgaris* among 17 algal species counted in the mixed microalgal culture as a dominating species indicated the tolerance of *Chlorella vulgaris* to high NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentrations.

Total NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N removal was the highest in T1a and T1b (90.8 and 90.3%, respectively) which also had the highest amount of AFFR liquor at the initial setting (Table 4.5). Consequently, the retained NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentrations after microalgal treatment of the AFFR liquor was the lowest in T1a and T1b (29.0 $\pm$ 1.00 and 26.0 $\pm$ 0.50 mg/L, respectively). On the other hand, the lowest total NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N removal was observed in T3a (45.6%) and T4 (45.7%) which were operated with the 1/10 and 1/12 dilution ratios of the AFFR liquor, respectively. The retained NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentrations were 93.0 $\pm$ 5.50 and 69.3 $\pm$ 1.00 mg/L in these respective reactors. T3a and T4 were operated for a shorter time period (12.6 and 11.6 days, respectively) compared to the others (14.2-25.2 days) due to earlier DRP consumption (Section 4.3.3.2.1). The earlier DRP consumption these reactors may have resulted in lower removal efficiencies for NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N. The NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N removal was dependent on the availability of phosphorus in the growth environment of microalgal species. T3a and T4 reactors included the most diluted AFFR liquor and this fact may have leaded to phosphorus limited conditions for further removal of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N.

The removal of  $NH_4^+$ -N in microalgal nutrient removal processes can be due to nitrification, denitrification and stripping during the growth of microalgal-bacterial consortium (Delgadillo-Mirquez et al., 2016). The reduction of  $NO_2^-$ -N and  $NO_3^-$ -N to molecular nitrogen (denitrification) is a biologically mediated process under anoxic conditions (Savaglio and Puopolo, 2012). Denitrification was not considered as a removal mechanism for  $NH_4^+$ -N in this study due to continuous aeration and illumination of the reactors which is inhibitory for denitrification. Microalgae produces oxygen continuously under the condition of continuous illumination which potentially inhibit the denitrification process (Jia and Yuan, 2016). Delgadillo-Mirquez et al. (2016) also pointed out that denitrification was not likely to occur mainly due to aerobic conditions and increasing dissolved oxygen concentrations in a

mixed microalgae and bacteria culture for nitrogen and phosphate removal from wastewater. Furthermore, volatilization of ammonia (ammonia stripping) was assumed not to be a removal mechanism for ammonium due to the maintenance of pH around neutral. A similar assumption was previously made by Rada-Ariza et al. (2017) for the operational pH interval between 7.5 and 8.0. Ammonia stripping was previously noted as a removal mechanism for nitrogen in the treatment of the digestate of starch wastewater and alcohol wastewater using Chlorella pyrenoidosa at pHs 8.5-9.5 (Yang et al., 2015). Anammox process was also previously discussed as an ammonium removal mechanism under anaerobic conditions (Section 2.3.7.4). However, ammonium removal in microalgal nutrient removal process by Anammox was not expected based on the fact that Anammox can be severely inhibited by oxygen. A dissolved oxygen concentration of 0.25 mM was previously reported to inhibit the Anammox activity by 90% (Carvajal-Arroyo et al., 2013). Additionally, the formation of nitrite and nitrate can possibly be inhibitory for Anammox (Jin et al., 2012; Carvajal-Arroyo et al., 2013) during the operation of the microalgal reactors. Therefore, nitrification and microalgal uptake were accepted as the major removal mechanisms for ammonium in microalgal process and the anammox, denitrification and stripping pathways were excluded for the reasons described above.

 $NO_2^{-}N$  and  $NO_3^{-}N$  concentrations in the reactors (0.9-6.3 and 2.7-3.7 mg/L, respectively) were much lower at the initial stage of the experiment for all reactors compared to  $NH_4^+-N$  concentrations (127.5-316.3 mg/L) (Table 4.5).  $NO_3^{-}-N$  concentrations increased from the initial concentrations of 2.7-3.7 mg/L to 34.5-146 mg/L at the end of operation considering all reactors. The increasing concentrations of the  $NO_3^{-}-N$  within the reactors at the end of the experiment suggested nitrification of ammonium. Nitrification is a process by which reduced nitrogen compounds (mainly ammonia) are sequentially converted into  $NO_2^{-}$  and  $NO_3^{-}$  by nitrifying microorganisms (U.S. EPA, 2002). The mineral forms of nitrogen that can be assimilated by microalgae also include  $NO_3^{-}$  and  $NO_2^{-}$  as well as  $NH_4^+$  (Cadoret et al., 2014; Delgadillo-Mirquez

et al., 2016). However, microalgae prefer to metabolize  $NH_4^+$  rather than other forms of nitrogen (Delgadillo-Mirquez et al., 2016) due to lower energy requirement (Cadoret et al., 2014). Therefore, any  $NO_2^-$  or  $NO_3^-$  removal by microalgal assimilation was not expected due to the  $NH_4^+$  content remaining at the end of the experiment in each reactor which was in the range of 26-93 mg/L (Table 4.5).

Even if the microalgal nutrient removal process was evaluated in terms of the overall decrease in  $NH_4^+$ -N concentration, the stepwise measurements during the operation of the reactors were also examined in Section 4.3.3.1.2. Further discussion on the  $NH_4^+$ -N removal was carried out in Sections 4.3.3.1.3 and 4.3.3.1.4 after inclusion of the additional dissolved amounts.
				Reactor			
Constituent	Tla	T1b	T2a	T2b	T3a	T3b	T4
	(25.2 days)	(25.2 days)	(17.6 days)	(18.9 days)	(12.6 days)	(14.2 days)	(11.6 days)
$NH_{4}^{+}$ - N, Initial	$316.3 \pm 89.41$	$268.8 \pm 12.75$	$222.5 \pm 2.00$	$230.9 \pm 2.63$	$170.9 \pm 2.13$	$166.1 \pm 4.63$	$127.5 \pm 6.25$
mg/L Removed	287.3	242.8	$07.0 \pm 0.20$ 137.8	164.4	00:0 ± 0.00	94.4	58.3 58.3
Initial	$3.0 \pm 0.10$	$3.6\pm0.10$	$3.1\pm0.10$	$3.7 \pm 0.25$	$3.2\pm0.10$	$2.7 \pm 0.13$	$2.7 \pm 0.40$
NO3-N, Final	$146.0\pm1.00$	$141.5\pm0.50$	$46.6\pm0.38$	$54.0\pm0.00$	$50.1\pm1.25$	$40.6\pm0.85$	$34.5\pm0.45$
mg/L Formed	143.0	137.9	43.5	50.4	46.9	37.8	31.8
MO - M	$0.9\pm0.09$	$2.2\pm0.18$	$2.5 \pm 0.14$	$2.2\pm0.15$	$4.4\pm0.26$	$6.3\pm0.34$	$5.4 \pm 1.34$
NO2 -N, Final	$3.1 \pm 0.16$	$0.1\pm0.01$	$42.4\pm1.79$	$48.7\pm1.67$	$0.0\pm\ 0.00$	$4.3\pm0.11$	$0.0\pm0.00$
mg/L Formed	2.3	-2.1	40.0	46.5	-4.4	-2.0	-5.4
(NO <sub>3</sub> N)+(NO <sub>2</sub> N), mg/L	145.3	135.8	83.5	96.8	42.4	35.8	26.4
Total NH4 <sup>+-</sup> N removal, %	90.8	90.3	61.9	71.2	45.6	56.8	45.7
NH4 <sup>+</sup> - N conversion by nitrification, %	50.6	55.9	60.6	58.9	54.5	38.0	45.3
NH4 <sup>+</sup> - N removal by assimilation into biomass, mg/L	142.0	107.0	54.3	67.5	35.4	58.6	31.9
NH4 <sup>+-</sup> N removal by assimilation into biomass, %	49.4	44.1	39.4	41.1	45.5	62.0	54.7
Note 1: A sample calculation Note 2: Dilution ratio of AFF	on NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N remova R liquor for T1a-T	al is provided in . 1b: 1/6, for T2a-'	Appendix I. T2b: 1/8, for T3	a-T3b:1/10, for	T4: 1/12.		

f th + 7 ц Ц Ц initio1 + + h NO. N NIU + NI NIO - NI v V Table

# **4.3.3.1.2** The changes in NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N concentrations during the operation of the reactors

NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N reduction and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N accumulation profiles were investigated by stepwise measurements made during the operational period of the reactors (Figure 4.5 and 4.6, respectively). The reactors containing the most concentrated AFFR liquor (T1a, T1b) experienced an increase in the NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N concentration in the first 3.5 days of operation which was followed by a reduction. The concentration of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N decreased to its initial start-up value after 7 to 9 days of operation. Similarly, NH4<sup>+</sup>- N increase was observed for 1.5 days in T2b (1/8 diluted AFFR liquor) which was reduced to its startup value after one day. NH4<sup>+</sup>- N concentration decreased at the second measurement (on the 1.5th day of operation) for the rest of the reactors (T2a, T3a, T3b and T4). Dissolution of particulate fraction of the digestate may contribute to an increase in the concentration of ammonium (Botheju et al., 2010). The degradation of organic matter or urea hydrolysis can also be accounted for the reason of NH4<sup>+</sup>- N increase as previously discussed in Section 4.3.2. The increase in the concentration of the nutrients (ammonium and phosphate) was previously observed in the treatment of centrate wastewater of anaerobically digested sludge using Chlorella vulgaris culture (Ge et al., 2018). The authors linked the reason behind the increase in the concentration of the nutrients to the release of intracellular materials from the dead cells (Ge et al., 2018). The study of concern included a sterilization process as a pre-treatment step and did not involve any solids removal process. On the other hand, the studies on nutrient removal from digestates using microalgal cultures included filtration and/or centrifugation as a general approach (Table 4.1). The removal of solids before microalgal nutrient removal processes may constitute the reason behind the dissolution of nutrients not previously reported and evaluated elsewhere in the studies aiming at nutrient removal from the digestates using microalgal cultures. In these studies, the particulates which might be responsible for the additional dissolution of the nutrients have probably been removed from the wastewater by the application of solids removal processes as a pretreatment step, thus, the associated dissolution may not have been occur. Likewise, the increase in ammonium concentration suggested the dissolution of nutrients into water as the AFFR liquor was not filtered or centrifuged to remove the particulate matters before the application of microalgal nutrient removal process.

The concentration of  $NO_3^{-}N$  was observed to increase in all reactors from the range of 2.7-3.7 to 34.5-146 mg/L which indicated nitrification (Figure 4.6). The increase in  $NO_3^{-}N$  in T2a and T2b continued until 9.6 days and remained approximately constant to the end of operation (17.6 and 18.9<sup>th</sup> day, respectively). The stabilized concentration of nitrate justified that the denitrification process was not experienced during the operation.

Microalgae species was in growth phase within the earlier days of experiment (Section 4.3.4.2) when dissolution of nutrients was experienced. Thus, the dissolution and the removal of nutrients were experienced simultaneously within the early days of the experiment. Section 4.3.3.1.3 describes the application of the reaction kinetics on the removal of the nutrients in order to estimate the additional dissolved amounts and actual removal rates of the NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N. NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N removal via nitrification and microalgal NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N removal was re-calculated based on the kinetics fitted in Section 4.3.3.1.4.



(Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12) Figure 4.5. The change in NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N concentration during the operation.



(Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12) Figure 4.6. The change in NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> N concentration during the operation.

# 4.3.3.1.3 Estimation of the NH4<sup>+</sup>-N removal kinetics and actual removal rates

The reaction kinetics study on  $NH_4^+$ - N removal was performed as described in Section 4.3.3. The details of  $NH_4^+$ - N removal kinetics are provided in Appendix J.

One-half-order kinetics was found to represent the removal of  $NH_4^+$ - N in all reactors with a coefficient of determination of 0.9516-0.9930. The  $NH_4^+$ - N removal profiles obtained by the application of one-half-order kinetics are presented in

Figure 4.7. Total NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+-</sup> N concentrations in the reactors were found to range between 140.4-412.1 mg/L which were expectedly higher than the ones measured at the initial start-up of the reactors (127.5-316.3 mg/L) (Table 4.6) due to the dissolution of additional NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+-</sup> N from the digestate content. The additional dissolved NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+-</sup> N was in the range of 6.7 and 143.4 mg/L (Table 4.6) which increased the NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+-</sup> N concentration by 4-53% within the reactors. Even though the dissolution of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+-</sup> N from the digestate content increased the abundance of this constituent in the growth environment of microalgal-bacterial consortium, the total NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+-</sup>N concentrations reaching up to 412 mg/L did not have any inhibitory effect. 350 mg/L NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+-</sup>N is toxic for phytoplankton (Barsanti and Gualteri, 2014) as previously mentioned. However, the extension of the dissolution process over a time period as well as the simultaneous NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+-</sup>N uptake by microalgal-bacterial consortium probably avoided the inhibitory effects of high NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+-</sup>N concentrations.

The additional dissolved NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N could not be approximated between the replicates of the reactors and the initial concentrations of the AFFR liquor added to the reactors (Table 4.6) which was probably due to uneven distribution of the particulates and/or organics in AFFR liquor.



Note: The shaded area shows the data points included in the estimation of the removal kinetics. (Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12)

Figure 4.7. NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N removal profiles estimated by one-half-order reaction kinetics analysis.

Reactor	Half-order linear line equation	y values at x=0	Total concentration of NH4 <sup>+-</sup> N, mg/L	Measured NH4 <sup>+-</sup> N at the initial start-up, mg/L	Additional dissolved NH <sub>4</sub> <sup>+-</sup> N, mg/L	Final NH4 <sup>+</sup> - N (measured) in the reactor, mg/L	Actual NH4 <sup>+</sup> - N removed, mg/L	Total operation period, d	Rate of NH4 <sup>+</sup> - N removal, mg/L.d	Removal Efficiency, %
	А	В	$\mathbf{C} = (\mathbf{B})^2$	D	$\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{D}$	ц	$\mathbf{G}=\mathbf{C}\text{-}\mathbf{F}$	Н	I = G / H	J=(C-F)*100/C
Tla	y=-0.5704x+19.493	19.493	379.9770	316.3	63.7	29.0	350.977	25.2	13.9	92.4
T1b	y=-0.5984x+20.300	20.300	412.0900	268.8	143.3	26.0	386.09	25.2	15.3	93.7
T2a	y=-0.3488x+15.192	15.192	230.7969	222.5	8.3	84.8	145.9969	17.6	8.3	63.3
T2b	y=-0.4261x+15.978	15.978	255.2965	230.9	24.4	66.5	188.7965	18.9	10.0	74.0
T3a	y=-0.3014x+13.325	13.325	177.5556	170.9	6.7	93.0	84.5556	12.6	6.7	47.6
T3b	y=-0.3444x+13.444	13.444	180.7411	166.1	14.6	71.8	108.9411	14.2	7.7	60.3
Т4	y=-0.2987x+11.849	11.849	140.3988	127.5	12.9	69.3	71.0988	11.6	6.1	50.6
Note 1: x	values represented til	me and y (B	) values represe	ented √(NH <sub>2</sub>	<sup>+</sup> - N). Total	concentration of	f NH4 <sup>+</sup> - N (C	C) was calcu	lated from	the equation of
y=B=√(N	H4 <sup>+</sup> - N).									
Note 2: D	ilution ratio of AFFR	liquor for T	1a-T1b: 1/6, fo	r T2a-T2b:	1/8, for T3a	-T3b:1/10, for	T4: 1/12.			

n process.
olutior
e disse
g th
ncludin
N if
_ I
VH4 <sup>-</sup>
f
lc
remova
the
on
ations
calcul
The
4.6.
Table

The actual NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+-</sup> N removal was found as 351.0, 386.1, 146.0, 188.8, 84.6, 108.9 and 71.1 mg/L for T1a, T1b, T2a, T2b, T3a, T3b and T4, respectively, under the consideration of dissolution (Table 4.6). These actual removals were expectedly higher than that of obtained without considering the dissolution (58.3-242.8 mg/L) (Table 4.5). The highest NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+-</sup> N removal efficiency was recorded as 92.4 for T1a and 93.7% for T1b which contained the most concentrated AFFR liquor. Even though complete ammonium removal was previously reported in the treatment of digestates using microalgal cultures (Wang et al., 2010a and 2010b; Ji et al., 2014 and 2015), these high removal efficiencies can be attributed to the uncontrolled increase in pH during operation. pH increase is an inducing factor for ammonia volatilization and decreasing the pH to near neutral levels has a potential to limit the ammonia volatilization. Cheng et al. (2015) previously reported 73% ammonium removal with an operational pH between 7.0 and 7.5 whereas 100% ammonium removal was obtained at higher pHs of 9-10 (Ji et al., 2014).

Actual NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N removal could be related to the total concentrations within the reactors with an R<sup>2</sup> of 0.9917 (Figure 4.8). The reactors having higher total NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N concentration, thus, presented better NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N removal (Table 4.6). The better NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N removal with the use of more concentrated AFFR liquor was previously attributed to the elimination of phosphorus deficit environment for microalgal-bacterial consortium (Section 4.3.3.1.1). The NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N removal rates calculated in the range of 6.1-15.3 mg/L.d were consistent with the studies integrating digestates with microalgal treatment. Franchino et al. (2013) reported NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N elimination capacity of *Chlorella vulgaris* as 3.4-7.8 mg/L.d for different dilutions of digestate of cattle slurry and raw cheese whey. Higher removal rates were also obtained as 19.2 mg/L.d NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N using *Scenedesmus accuminatus* in the treatment of digestates of the piggery wastes in semicontinuous reactors (Park et al., 2010). NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N removal rates were also found to be increasing with the increasing amount of AFFR liquor used at the start-up of the reactor (13.9-15.3, 8.3-10.0, 6.7-7.7 and 6.1 mg/L.d for T1a-T1b, T2a-T2b, T3a-T3b and T4,

respectively). The dependence of removal to initial concentration of  $NH_4^+$ - N was found to be agreed well with that of Wang et al. (2014). The authors observed different nutrient removal rates in wastewater containing different concentrations of nitrogen using the same species of algae.



Figure 4.8. Correlation between total and actual removed NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N concentrations.

# 4.3.3.1.4 Nitrification of NH4<sup>+</sup>- N and microalgal NH4<sup>+</sup>-N removal

The nitrified concentrations and biological uptake of ammonium were re-calculated (Table 4.7) based on the total and additional dissolved concentrations estimated using reaction kinetics (Section 4.3.3.1.3). The calculations showed that the nitrified NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+-</sup> N concentration was in the range of 32.9-57.2% of the removed NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+-</sup> N. The increase in cumulative nitrite and nitrate concentrations corresponded to 26.4-145.3 mg/L which resulted in the final concentrations ranging between 34.5-149.1 mg/L. Uggetti et al. (2014) also reported the nitrification of ammonium in the treatment of the digestate of a wastewater treatment plant using a mixed microalgae culture dominated by *Scenedesmus* sp. The authors observed an increase in the NO<sub>x</sub>-N concentration from approximately 30 to 140 mg/L. The abundance of oxygen in microalgal treatment processes has a potential to stimulate ammonium nitrification (Uggetti et al., 2014).

				Reactor			
Constituent	Tla	T1b	T2a	T2b	T3a	T3b	T4
	(25.2 days)	(25.2 days)	(17.6 days)	(18.9 days)	(12.6 days)	(14.2 days)	(11.6 days)
MIT + NI Initial	380.0	412.1	230.8	255.3	177.6	180.7	140.4
$\mathbf{NH}^{4}$ - $\mathbf{N}$ , Final	29.0	26.0	84.8	66.5	93.0	71.8	69.3
mg/L Removed	351.0	386.1	146.1	188.8	84.6	109.0	71.2
Initial	3.0	3.6	3.1	3.7	3.2	2.7	2.7
INO3 -IN, Final	146.0	141.5	46.6	54.0	50.1	40.6	34.5
mg/L Formed	143.0	137.9	43.5	50.4	46.9	37.8	31.8
NO. N. Initial	0.9	2.2	2.5	2.2	4.4	6.3	5.4
NO2 -IN, Final	3.1	0.1	42.4	48.7	0.0	4.3	0.0
mg/L Formed	2.3	-2.1	40.0	46.5	-4.4	-2.0	-5.4
(NO3 <sup>-</sup> -N)+(NO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup> -N), mg/L	145.3	135.8	83.5	96.8	42.4	35.8	26.4
Total NH $_4^+$ - N removal, %	92.4	93.7	63.3	74.0	47.6	60.3	50.7
NH4 <sup>+-</sup> -N conversion by nitrification, %	41.4	35.2	57.2	51.3	50.2	32.9	37.1
NH4 <sup>+-</sup> N removal by assimilation into biomass, mg/L	205.7	250.3	62.6	92.0	42.1	73.2	44.8
NH4 <sup>+-</sup> - N removal by assimilation into biomass, %	58.6	64.8	42.8	48.7	49.8	67.1	62.9
Note: Dilution ratio of AFFR lique	or for T1a-T1b	i: 1/6, for T2a	a-T2b: 1/8, fo	r T3a-T3b:1/1	0, for T4: 1/12		

Table 4.7. The corrected nitrified and biomass uptake of  $NH_{4}^{+}$ - N via dissolution consideration.

Despite playing an important role in the ammonium removal process by converting it into oxidized forms, nitrification was not considered in the studies (Wang et al., 2010a; Cai et al., 2013b) achieving 100% ammonium removal. On the other hand, nitrification may possibly represent the main removal mechanism for ammonium removal in microalgal photobioreactors (Rada-Ariza et al., 2017). Investigating the growth of the nitrifying bacteria in the presence of cyanobacteria and algae in a labscale continuous flow nitrifying bioreactor seeded with activated sludge, Choi et al. (2010) reported the unchanged community structure of nitrifying bacteria while microalgae and cyanobacteria were grown. The authors addressed Nitrosospira, Nitrospira, and Nitrobacter species as the dominant species. Gammaproteobacteria, which have an ability to oxidize ammonia, were also identified in the algal-bacterial photobioreactors treating piggery wastewaters (Ferrero et al., 2012). Nitrosococcus oceani and Nitrosococcus halophilus are the two species that represent the gammaproteobacterial ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (Koops et al., 2006). The probable source of the nitrifiers in microalgal nutrient removal process from AFFR liquor can be the mixed microalgal culture obtained from a Lake Eymir which was initially grown in the digestate of Tatlar Wastewater Treatment Plant (Section 4.2.1). Nevertheless, nitrification of ammonium has a potential to open a pathway for further removal of nitrogen by converting nitrite and nitrate into gaseous nitrogen via denitrification. This can be achieved via introducing dark cycles in microalgal reactors in the presence of sufficient organic carbon (Rada-Ariza et al., 2017).

The uptake of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N by microalgal bacterial biomass was in the range of 42.1-250.3 mg/L which constituted 42.8-67.1% of the removed portion of the NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N. This finding was in agreement with the study reporting 45-84% of ammonium removal by the assimilation into algal bacterial biomass during the treatment of pretreated swine slurry using *Chlorella sorokiniana* and a mixed bacterial culture (de Godos et al., 2009). The correlation between chlorophyll-a and algal NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N consumption for different batches was also evaluated in the treatment of AFFR liquor (Figure 4.9)

which yielded a  $R^2$  value of 0.8499 and a correlation coefficient (R) of 0.9219. The  $R^2$  of 0.8499 obtained for different batches indicated that the ammonium uptake increased with the abundance of microalgal species. However, the uptake could not be directly related to the growth of the microalgal culture as  $R^2$  represented a value not very close to perfect fit. The reason behind not being able to directly correlate the ammonium uptake with microalgal growth may be probably due to uptake of ammonium by other microorganisms in the growth environment. On the other hand, the  $R^2$  value obtained for chlorophyll-a and microalgal NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N consumption was in agreement with the ones obtained between 0.85-0.97 for the removal of nutrients (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>and PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup>) from wastewater by mixed microalgae-bacteria culture (Delgadillo-Mirquez et al., 2016).



Figure 4.9. Correlation of chlorophyll-a concentration with ammonium assimilation.

# 4.3.3.2 The changes in DRP and TDP concentrations

DRP and TDP removals were evaluated considering the overall change of concentrations (Section 4.3.3.2.1) and the data obtained during the operation of the reactors (Section 4.3.3.2.2).

#### **4.3.3.2.1** The overall change in DRP and TDP concentrations

AFFR liquor was initially characterized as comprising of 95.9% of the dissolved phosphorus in reactive form (DRP/TDP) (Table 4.2). Therefore, 95.9% of the dissolved phosphorus was readily available for the microalgal species at the initial stage of the experiment. TDP removal efficiencies were observed as 95.6% for T1a and T1b, 95.2 and 95.3% for T2a and T2b, 94.4 and 94.1% for T3a and T3b, respectively, and 93.3% for T4 (Table 4.8). The longer operation periods and the use of more concentrated AFFR liquor resulted in higher removal efficiencies of TDP. Microalgal-bacterial consortium was observed to be capable of removing 7.60-16.01 mg/L TDP with 93-95% treatment efficiencies. Phosphorus can be removed by bacterial or microalgal uptake as well as precipitation in microalgal nutrient removal processes, the latter induced by high pHs (Lau et al., 1995; Cho et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2015). Inorganic phosphates can be coagulated and adsorbed in algal systems at pHs higher than 8 (Li et al., 2011). The pH of the reactors in microalgal nutrient removal setup was kept around 7, thus, the main mechanism for phosphorus removal was considered as biological uptake of microalgal-bacterial consortium. A similar approach for phosphorus precipitation at high pHs was previously used by Su et al. (2012) and Ji et al. (2014).

						)	-	
					Reactor			
Constituent		Tla	T1b	T2a	T2b	T3a	T3b	T4
		(25.2 days)	(25.2 days)	(17.6 days)	(18.9 days)	(12.6 days)	(14.2 days)	(11.6 days)
	Initial	$13.10\pm0.14$	$14.63\pm0.13$	$11.47\pm0.17$	$11.68\pm0.20$	$9.46\pm0.22$	$9.20\pm0.16$	$7.72 \pm 0.16$
DRP, mg/L	Final	$0.00\pm0.00$	$0.00\pm0.00$	$0.08\pm0.00$	$0.06\pm0.02$	$0.08\pm0.00$	$0.08\pm0.00$	$0.00\pm0.00$
)	Removed	13.10	14.63	11.39	11.62	9.38	9.12	7.72
	Initial	$16.75 \pm 1.00$	$0.02 \pm 0.00$	$13.63 \pm 0.38$	$12.60 \pm 0.40$	$9.60 \pm 0.20$	$9.45 \pm 0.00$	$c_{0.0} \pm c_{1.8}$
TDP, mg/L	Final	$0.74\pm0.06$	$0.69\pm0.09$	$0.65\pm0.3$	$0.59\pm0.01$	$0.54\pm0.04$	$0.56\pm0.04$	$0.55\pm0.05$
	Removed	16.01	15.06	12.98	12.01	9.06	8.89	7.60
Total DRP re	moval, %	100.0	100.0	99.3	99.5	99.2	99.1	100.0
Total TDP re	moval, %	95.6	95.6	95.2	95.3	94.4	94.1	93.3
Note 1: A sar	nple calculatio	n on the removal	efficiencies of ]	DRP and TDP i	s presented in A	ppendix K.		
Note 2: Diluti	on ratio of AFF	FR liquor for T1a	-T1b: 1/6, for T	2a-T2b: 1/8, for	: T3a-T3b:1/10,	for T4: 1/12.		

Table 4.8. DRP and TDP concentrations at the initial and final stages of the experiment.

DRP removal efficiency of 99-100% was achieved in all reactors under different operation periods of the reactors (Table 4.8). These removal efficiencies accounted for 7.72-13.10 mg/L of DRP consumption by microalgal-bacterial consortium. DRP and TDP removals were further investigated during the operation of the reactors by stepwise measurements given in Section 4.3.3.2.2.

# **4.3.3.2.2** The changes in TDP and DRP concentrations during the operation of the reactors

TDP accumulated in all reactors at the early days of the experiment at significant concentrations (Figure 4.10). The maximum concentrations of TDP were observed to be 23.75, 24.00, 16.88, 16.10, 12.70, 11.15, 10.00 mg/L in T1a, T1b, T2a, T2b, T3a, T3b and T4, respectively, after the start-up of the reactors. The peak TDP concentrations were recorded on different days of the experiment (1.5<sup>th</sup> day for T1a, T1b and T2a, 3.6<sup>th</sup> day for T2b, 2.6<sup>th</sup> day for T3a and T3b and 2<sup>nd</sup> day for T4). These concentrations were accounted for an increase of the TDP concentration in T1a, T1b, T2a, T2b, T3a, T3b and T4 by 42, 52, 24, 28, 32, 18 and 23%, respectively, with respect to the initial TDP concentration within the reactor. The increase in TDP concentrations can be a result of the maintenance of pH at around 7 using HCl. Decreasing the pH using a concentrated acid as used in this study (e.g. HCl) may cause dissolution of the particulate phosphorus into soluble form (Zhang et al., 2010). Total phosphorus in manures is comprised of inorganic phosphorus by a majority and mostly bounded to the particulates as calcium and/or magnesium-phosphorus. The particulates in manures can also contain calcium-phosphorus (Ca-P) compounds due to their low solubility. Acidification would protonate the phosphate ions of Ca-P compounds and would result in the dissolution of bounded phosphorus into solution (Zhang et al., 2010). Therefore, HCl addition to regulate pH and the corresponding TDP increase at the early days of the experiment is an indication of acidification induced dissolution of phosphorus.

The increase in DRP concentrations were also observed after the start-up of reactors (Figure 4.11). The highest DRP concentrations measured were 18.56 mg/L for T1a, 19.46 mg/L for T1b, 13.54 mg/L for T2a, 14.29 mg/L for T2b, 9.61 mg/L for T3a, 10.85 mg/L for T3b and 8.49 mg/L for T4. These concentrations accounted for an increase in the DRP concentrations by 42, 33, 18, 22, 2, 18 and 10% in T1a, T1b, T2a, T2b, T3a, T3b and T4, respectively, with respect to the initial DRP concentrations. The maximum concentrations of DRP in T1a and T1b, which contained the most concentrated AFFR liquor, were observed at a later operation time than that of observed for maximum TDP concentration for the same reactors. This fact suggested the stepwise conversion of particle phosphorus into dissolved form phosphorus and then later conversion into dissolved reactive phosphorus. The dissolved phosphorus from particulates is comprised of dissolved reactive and unreactive phosphorus. Dissolved unreactive phosphorus mainly includes dissolved organic phosphorus and polyphosphates (Güngör and Karthikeyan, 2008). The organic compounds in dissolved phase can be hydrolyzed into inorganic phosphorus with an alkaline enzyme phosphatase by algal species (Åkerström et al., 2014). Polyphosphate compounds may be originally present in the environment or may be formed as a result of the dissociation of the organic compounds. These compounds are unstable and are converted to orthophosphate (DRP) in water eventually (Spellman, 2006). Hence, the stepwise conversion of particulate phosphorus into dissolved reactive phosphorus is probable to be observed in particulate- dissolved unreactive- dissolved organicdissolved inorganic- dissolved reactive phosphorus pathway.

Sections 4.3.3.2.3 and 4.3.3.2.4 describe the application of the reaction kinetics to estimate the dissolved amounts and actual removal rates of the TDP and DRP, respectively.



(Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12) Figure 4.10. The change in TDP concentration during the operation of the reactors.



(Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12) Figure 4.11. The change in DRP concentration during the operation of the reactors.

#### 4.3.3.2.3 Estimation of the TDP removal kinetics and actual removal rates

The TDP removal within the reactors was well represented with zero-order kinetics having a  $R^2$  between 0.9833-0.9988 (Appendix L). TDP removal profiles estimated using zero-order kinetics are given in Figure 4.12. Total TDP concentration was calculated as in the range of 12.631-31.557 mg/L for all the reactors (Table 4.9). TDP removal corresponded to 95.6-97.8% which was in agreement with that of the treatment of the digestate of piggery waste (maximum 93.41-97.16%) using *Scenedesmus obliquus* (Xu et al., 2015).



Note: The shaded area shows the data points included in the estimation of the removal kinetics. (Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12) Figure 4.12. TDP removal profiles estimated by zero-order reaction kinetics

analysis.

Additional phosphorus release due to dissolution ranged between 4.169-15.422 mg/L (Table 4.9) which corresponded to an increase by 88, 98, 49, 67, 69, 44 and 55 % for T1a, T1b, T2a, T2b, T3a, T3b and T4, respectively, with respect to the initial measured concentrations within reactors. The dissolution driven increase in phosphorus concentrations (44-98%) were observed to be higher than that of  $NH_4^+$ - N (4-53%). This fact may be speculated to be due to different dissolution processes governing for each specific nutrient. Phosphorus dissolution may originate from the particulate fraction containing calcium phosphate precipitates. The calcium phosphate precipitates were probably formed during the high-rate anaerobic treatment of the liquid digestate as previously discussed (Chapter 3, Section 3.3.4.2). These precipitates can be broken down with the acidic treatment enabling the release of bounded phosphorus into solution (Zhang et al., 2010). The addition of HCl to regulate pH may have acted as a chemical treatment for more phosphorus release in the simultaneous dissolution and uptake of the nutrients. On the other hand, ammonium release can be due to degradation of organic matter and urea hydrolysis driven by aeration (Park et al., 2005). Thus, the different dissolution pathways for ammonium and phosphorus may have resulted in the release of associated compounds at different proportions.

Additional dissolved amounts of phosphorus were expectedly higher in the reactors containing the most concentrated AFFR liquor (T1a and T1b) (Table 4.9) which was probably due to inclusion of more solids in the reactor setup. The additional phosphorus dissolved was consumed, not accumulated, depending on the fact that total TDP concentration in the range of 12.631-31.557 mg/L was decreased to the too low levels of 0.54-0.74 mg/L at the end of reactor operation. The concentrations of dissolved phosphorus in T1a and T1b measured initially at the start-up (16.75 and 15.75 mg/L, respectively) almost doubled as a result of additional dissolution from the content of the digestate (31.56 and 31.17 mg/L, respectively) (Table 4.9). Higher TDP concentrations reached via dissolution in T1a and T1b also enabled more NH4<sup>+</sup>- N

removal from AFFR liquor (92.7, 93.7 %, respectively) (Table 4.7). Hence, it can be concluded that more dissolution avoided phosphorus limited conditions within the reactors so that more ammonium could be assimilated. Limited phosphorus concentration below 8 mg/L was previously noted as reducing the biomass productivity of *Chlorella* sp. (Åkerström et al., 2014). On the other hand, excess phosphorus was observed to inhibit the growth of *Chlorella* PY-ZU1 probably because of the high cellular osmotic pressure (Cheng et al., 2015). Hence, simultaneous dissolution and uptake may present an opportunity to avoid phosphorus limited conditions in the growth environment and to treat more phosphorus by its release extended over a time period without inhibition of the species.

Nutrient deficiency in the reactors can also be estimated at the begining of the experiment depending on the molar ratio of DIN/DRP (dissolved inorganic nitrogen to dissolved reactive phosphorus) ratio (Redfield ratio) (Wilcock et al., 2007). DIN:DRP at the initial characterization of the reactor content was 29.3, 33.1, 26.0, 26.5, 21.9, 21.5 and 18.2 for T1a, T1b, T2a, T2b, T3a, T3b and T4, respectively. Phosphorus deficiency was probable to be observed in the reactors based on the fact that average DIN/DRP ratio for phytoplankton was 16:1 derived from the stoichiometric formula of  $C_{106}H_{181}O_{45}N_{16}P$  (Choi and Lee, 2015). Microalgal species in the reactors other than T3b and T4 were most probable to be prone to phosphorus limitation since DIN/DRP ratios higher than 22 previously reported as phosphorus limited for microalgae (Hillebrand and Sommer, 1999). Even though the reliability of designing microalgal reactors for nutrient removal purposes depending on a fixed stoichiometry such as Redfield ratio is questionable (Whitton et al., 2016), it can be indicative for nutrient deficiency in the reactors.

	I adle 4.9.	. The Ca	uculations on	une piologi	cal 1DF upt	ake including		uuon proc	cess.	
Reactor	Zero-order linear line equation	y values at x=0	Total concentration of TDP, mg/L	Measured TDP at the initial start- up, mg/L	Additional dissolved TDP, mg/L	Final TDP (measured) in the reactor, mg/L	Actual TDP removed, mg/L	Total operation period, d	Rate of TDP removal, mg/L.d	Removal Efficiency, %
	А	В	C = B	D	$\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{D}$	Ц	$\mathbf{G} = \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{F}$	Η	I= G /H	J=(C- F)*100/C
T1a	y= -1.2469x+31.557	31.557	31.557	16.75	14.807	0.74	30.817	25.2	1.22	97.7
T1b	y = -1.2291x + 31.172	31.172	31.172	15.75	15.422	0.69	30.482	25.2	1.21	97.8
T2a	y = -1.0841x + 20.264	20.264	20.264	13.63	6.634	0.65	19.614	17.6	1.11	96.8
T2b	y= -1.0836x+20.995	20.995	20.995	12.60	8.395	0.59	20.405	18.9	1.08	97.2
T3a	y= -1.2399x+16.209	16.209	16.209	9.60	6.609	0.54	15.669	12.6	1.24	96.7
T3b	y= -0.9292x+13.619	13.619	13.619	9.45	4.169	0.56	13.059	14.2	0.92	95.9
T4	y = -1.0587x + 12.631	12.631	12.631	8.15	4.481	0.55	12.081	11.6	1.04	95.6
Note 1: 3 Note 2: 1	x values represented tir. Dilution ratio of AFFR	ne and y <sup>-</sup> liquor fo	values represent r T1a-T1b: 1/6,	ed TDP conce for T2a-T2b:	entration. 1/8, for T3a-T	3b:1/10, for T4:	1/12.			

	U	2
	ř,	ñ
	4	1
	a.	)
	~	ς
	C	,
	ē	-
	5	-
	⊾	
	6	-
	+	
	-	
	+	
	C	2
	~	1
٠	Π	5
	+	
	-	1
	_	1
7	-	
	C	1
	2	2
	v	-
	U	2
	-	5
÷	÷	÷
	C	2
	۸	٦
	4	_
_		
7	1	5
	-	
	-	
	¢	Ų
	ē	
	Ł	
٠	÷	
-	÷	4
	9	1
	-	ł
	-	-
٣	-	
	C	)
	2	2
	5	2
	5	2
1	-	1
		\$
	đ	,
	K.	2
-	Y	4
	~	ł
	5	4
	+	-
	~	٦
	+	
	-	1
	_	
C	٦.	
-	_	
1		١
Ŀ	_	
'n		
F	-	
•		
-		
		1
	2	5
	ŝ	5
	ŝ	5
•		
•	50 50 50	
•	60100	
•	6060	
•	60100	
•	80 B C	
•	50 BC C	
	200 010 000	
		UNDER COL
- - -		
	s on the high on a	
	ne on the high once	
	and on the biological	
	TONS ON the MOLOURS	
	MIDDE ON THE MOLOGICAL	
	ations on the biological	
	ations on the high once	
	ilations on the high once	
	illations on the high once	
	The high on the high once	
	Cillations on the biological	
	I PII at the bin for the bin hours	
	a culations on the high once	
	rainitations on the high ourse	
	rainiations on the high onreal	
	realingtions on the high oursel	
	U The calculations on the biological	
		$\pm 5$ . The calculations on the provider of
	4  J $1  he calculations on the biological$	$(\pm, \pm)$ . THE CALCULATION OF THE DIVINED AT
		C = 1, the calculations on the protocital
	P = A = P	$10 \pm 3$ . The calculations on the protocital
		DIC = 1, $TIC CUICUIALION ON UNCOUNTRY$
		$a_{101}$ $+$ $\cdot$ $\cdot$ $\cdot$ $\cdot$ $\cdot$ $\cdot$ $\cdot$ $\cdot$ $\cdot$ $\cdot$
	able 4.9. The calculations on the biological	$a(x) \in T$ , $T(x) \in Calculation is on the product of$
	I able 4.9 I be calculations on the biological	I all $T = 1$ . The calculations on the proposition
	I able 4.9 The calculations on the biological	1  aDIV = 7.2. THY CALCULATION IS VIETUAL DIVINE FOR
	lable 4.9 The calculations on the biological	1  and  7.7. The calculations on the production
		$1 \text{ aDIV} \mp (2, -1) \text{ IDV}  CalCULATION IS OF CHORNES OF CALCULATION IN CONTRACTOR INCONTRACTOR IN CONTRACTOR INCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR IN CONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR INCONTRACTOR INTERCONTRACTOR $

The rate of biological TDP uptake (TDP removal rate) was between 0.92-1.24 mg/L.d (Table 4.9). This rate corresponded to 12.1-30.8 mg/L of TDP removal by microalgalbacterial consortium in the course of operation period. The TDP removals were observed to be higher than the ones when dissolution was not taken into account (7.60-16.01 mg/L). TDP removal rates agreed with the range of 0.25-4.10 mg/L.d previously reported for the nutrient removal processes from the liquor of anaerobically digested sludge diluted with the effluent water of a wastewater treatment plant using *Chlorella* sp. (Åkerström et al., 2014).

#### 4.3.3.2.4 Estimation of the DRP removal kinetics and actual removal rates

The DRP removal within the reactors was well represented with zero-order kinetics with a R<sup>2</sup> ranging between 0.9802-0.9951. The details of DRP removal kinetics are provided in Appendix M. DRP removal profiles obtained following zero-order kinetics are given in Figure 4.13. The total DRP concentrations was found to range between 11.21-28.01 mg/L which almost completely exhausted at the end of the reactor operation (Table 4.10).

Additional dissolution of DRP resulted in an increase in the DRP concentrations by 114, 84, 73, 72, 54, 50 and 45% for T1a, T1b, T2a, T2b, T3a, T3b and T4, respectively, within the reactors. The regulation of pH by the addition of HCl also led to an increase the readily available form of phosphorus for biological uptake (DRP) within the reactors, even more than two times the measured initial DRP concentrations (Table 4.10). The dissolution of reactive phosphorus varied between 3.494 and 14.910 mg/L and was slightly lower than the total phosphorus dissolution (4.169-15.422 mg/L). This fact suggested the dissolution of unreactive phosphorus as well as reactive phosphorus, but, at a comparably lower amount.



Note: The shaded area shows the data points included in the estimation of the removal kinetics. (Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12) Figure 4.13. DRP removal profiles estimated by zero-order reaction kinetics

analysis.

Table 4.10. The calculations on the biological DRP uptake including the dissolution process.

#### 4.3.4 Biological Growth

Biological growth was investigated in terms of total solids concentration for microalgal-bacterial consortium in Section 4.3.4.1 and in terms of chlorophyll-a concentration for microalgal species in Section 4.3.4.2.

#### 4.3.4.1 Overall growth of microalgal-bacterial consortium

Biomass production and productivity were evaluated with respect to the concentration of total solids. The concentration of total solids was observed to be increasing during the entire operational period for all the reactors (Figure 4.14). 2.11-4.72 g/L of biomass was produced until the end of the operation of the reactors (Table 4.11). Biomass production was the highest in the reactors containing the most concentrated AFFR liquor (4.49 and 4.72 g/L for T1a and T1b, respectively) and the lowest for the reactor containing the most diluted AFFR liquor (2.11 g/L for T4). Biomass production within reactors were found to be comparable with the ones obtained using Chlorella PY-ZU1 (4.81 g/L) in the treatment of the digestate of swine manure and sewage (Cheng et al., 2015), using *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* (3.01 g/L) in the treatment of anaerobically digested starch wastewater mixed with alcohol wastewater (Yang et al., 2015) and using a mixed culture dominated with Scenedesmus sp. (2.6 g/L) in the treatment of the digestate of wastewater treatment plant (Uggetti et al., 2014). A linear biomass growth was observed within the reactors with R<sup>2</sup> values of 0.9813, 0.9899, 0.9929, 0.9823, 0.9881, 0.9802 and 0.9992 for T1a, T1b, T2a, T2b, T3a, T3b and T4, respectively. An increase in the concentration of the AFFR liquor ended up with the higher biomass concentrations with extended operation periods as a result of the linear biomass growth. Åkerström et al. (2014) previously observed a linear biomass growth in their study investigating nutrient removal from sludge liquor using Chlorella sp. Higher biomass concentrations would probably reduce the harvesting costs of biomass

(Åkerström et al., 2014). The increasing concentration of biomass even in the reactors containing the most concentrated AFFR liquor was also an indication of no interference of the light transmission during the operation.

Biomass productivity could be represented by  $0.18 \pm 0.021$  g/L.d for all the reactors contained in the experiment (Table 4.11). 0.21-0.26 g/L.d of biomass productivity was previously reported for *Chlorella vulgaris* grown in the mixture of the digestate of cattle slurry and raw cheese whey (Franchino et al., 2013). Similar biomass productivities for all the reactors suggested no inhibition due to the high ammonium content (Section 4.3.3.1.3) or the phosphorus concentration (Section 4.3.3.2.3).



(Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12) Figure 4.14. The change in the concentration of total solids during operation.

	T1a	T1b	T2a	T2b	T3a	T3b	T4
Time of operation, d	25.2	25.2	17.6	18.9	12.6	14.2	11.6
Biomass production, mg/L	4490	4720	3310	2790	2790	2360	2110
Biomass productivity, mg/L.d	178	187	188	148	222	166	183
Note: Dilution ratio of AFFR lique	or for T1	a-T1b:	1/6, for 7	Г2a-T2b	: 1/8, fo	r T3a-T	3b:1/10,

for T4: 1/12.

 Table 4.11. Biomass production and biomass productivity at the end of the operation.

# 4.3.4.2 Microalgal growth

Microalgal growth was assessed depending on the chlorophyll-a concentrations measured. The chlorophyll-a concentrations increased from 0.42-0.52 to 1.10-3.64 mg/L within 2.23-2.90 days of the operation (Table 4.12). The growth of microalgal species continued till the end of the experiment (Figure 4.15). The increasing chlorophyll-a concentrations in the early days of the experiment indicated that the microalgal species was in growth stage when the additional nutrients dissolved. Therefore, dissolution and uptake of the nutrients were simultaneously experienced as previously discussed in Section 4.3.3.1.2.

Table 4.12. Chlorophyll-a concentrations at the start-up and second measurement.

Reactor	Chloro	phyll-a, mg/L	Time of the second
	Start-up	Second measurement	measurement, days
T1a	$0.50{\pm}0.02$	2.52±0.48	2.90
T1b	$0.50{\pm}0.03$	$2.46 \pm 0.60$	2.90
T2a	$0.52{\pm}0.13$	3.64±0.18	2.90
T2b	$0.46{\pm}0.10$	2.17±0.07	2.90
T3a	$0.42{\pm}0.05$	3.06±0.22	2.90
T3b	$0.42{\pm}0.05$	$1.79{\pm}0.20$	2.23
T4	$0.52{\pm}0.00$	$1.10{\pm}0.06$	2.56

Note: Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12.



(Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12) Figure 4.15. The change in chlorophyll-a concentrations during the operation.

The chlorophyll-a contents at the end of the microalgal treatment of different dilutions of AFFR liquor ranged between 6.36-15.48 mg/L (Figure 4.16). Significant chlorophyll-a buildup (12-31 times increase with respect to the initial chlorophyll-a concentrations) was observed in the reactors. The increase in the chlorophyll-a contents and the maximum chlorophyll-a concentration measured were consistent with the ones reported by Singh et al. (2011). The authors reached to a final chlorophyll-a concentration of 17-42 times higher than the initial measurement with a maximum of 14.05 mg/L in the treatment of anaerobically digested poultry litter using *Chlorella minutissima, Chlorella sorokiniana, Scenedesmus* sp. A chlorophyll-a concentration of 13.6 mg/L was previously reported during the mixotrophic growth of *Chlorella vulgaris* using a centrate of anaerobically digested sludge (Ge et al., 2018).

The highest chlorophyll-a content was observed in T1a and T1b which had the highest concentration of the AFFR liquor at the start-up. Although dilution of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b (1/6) and T2a-T2b (1/8) were close to each other, chlorophyll-a content

almost doubled in T1a-T1b compared to T2a-T2b (Figure 4.16). This fact can be due to the increase in the concentration of the limiting substrate, phosphorus, via dissolution (Sections 4.3.3.2.3 and 0). Dissolution mediated total dissolved phosphorus release was 14.807 and 15.422 mg/L in T1a and T1b while that of in T2a and T2b were 6.634 and 8.395 mg/L. TDP concentrations in T1a and T1b approximately doubled compared to T2a and T2b which was in accordance to the chlorophyll-a concentrations. Thus, as more phosphorus dissolved, it was utilized by the species in extended time periods, resulting in more biomass built-up and higher removals in the ammonium content (Section 4.3.3.1.3). The additional phosphorus supply in phosphorus limited wastewaters have a potential to increase the biomass production which is possibly due to contribution to ATP (adenosine triphosphate) synthesis to yield energy to metabolic activities (Cheng et al., 2015).



(Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12) Figure 4.16. The chlorophyll-a contents at the end of the operational periods.

The uptake ratio of  $NH_4^+$ -N:TDP by microalgal-bacterial consortium was 6.7, 8.2, 3.2, 4.5, 2.7, 5.6 and 3.7 for T1a, T1b, T2a, T2b, T3a, T3b and T4, respectively. It was observed that significantly higher  $NH_4^+$ -N:TDP ratios (6.7 for T1a, 8.2 for T1b) resulted in the highest microalgal biomass concentrations in terms of chlorophyll-a (Figure 4.16).

## 4.3.5 Particle Size Distribution

The samples taken from AFFR liquor (diluted by 1/10 to decrease the viscosity) and from the reactors T1a, T2a, T3a and T4 were characterized by a bimodal particle size distribution (Figure 4.17). 0.01-10  $\mu$ m sized particles in AFFR liquor was comprised 70.3% of the volume and the larger particles had lower share (Table 4.13). The volume fraction of the particles in 0.01-10  $\mu$ m particle size range in T1a, T2a, T3a and T4 (35.1, 42.7, 43.4 and 21.7%, respectively) was lower compared to that of AFFR liquor. The major volume was rather occupied by 10-100  $\mu$ m-sized particles within the reactors (Table 4.13). Examining the rheological properties of *Porphyridium cruentum* and *Chlorella vulgaris*, Bernaerts et al. (2018) also observed biomodal particle size distribution for both species and indicated that the first peak at 1-10  $\mu$ m was accounted for the individual cells and the second peak at 10-100  $\mu$ m was for clusters of intact cells.

Larger particle sizes (above 100  $\mu$ m) were also recorded at signicant volume fractions (14.6, 11.5, 7.9, 11.4 and 11.3 % for T1a, T2a, T3a, T4 and AFFR liquor, respectively). The particles above 100  $\mu$ m may probably originate from the AFFR liquor itself based on the fact that the share of these particles in AFFR liquor (11.3%) was not too distinct from other samples taken from the reactors.

Additionally, 0.3-0.55  $\mu$ m-sized particles was 4.7% by volume and no particles were recorded below 0.3  $\mu$ m in AFFR liquor. On the other hand, there were no 0.55  $\mu$ m or below-sized particles in the samples of microalgal reactors. The disappearance of the 0.3-0.55  $\mu$ m-sized particles from the AFFR liquor during the microalgal cultivation may be speculated to be a sign of disintegration of these small-sized particles and to form the background of the dissolution of nutrients. The attachment of the microorganisms and the structuring of biofilms on 0.3-0.55  $\mu$ m-sized particles can

also be speculated to result in the disappearance of such particles as a consequence of growing sizes. However, these speculations require further investigation due to lack of research on particle size distribution in microalgal wastewater treatment studies.



(Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12.) Figure 4.17. Particle size distribution of the samples.

Table 4.13. Volume fraction of the particles within the approximated size ranges.

				Volu	me Fraction, %
Particle Size, µm	T1a	T2a	T3a	T4	liquid portion of AFFR effluent
0.01-0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
0.3-0.55	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.7
0.01-10	35.1	42.7	43.4	21.7	70.3
10-100	49.3	45.8	48.8	66.9	18.4
100-1000	14.6	11.5	7.9	11.4	11.3
1000-10000	1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Note: Dilution ratio of AFFR liquor for T1a-T1b: 1/6, for T2a-T2b: 1/8, for T3a-T3b:1/10, for T4: 1/12.

# 4.3.6 SEM imaging

SEM imaging was performed to visualize the formations of the microalgal species in clusters (Figure 4.18). SEM visualization also confirmed the results of the particle size analysis by the observation of the individual species and agglomerated forms.



Figure 4.18. SEM images for sample from (a) T1b at 6000x, (b) T1b at 1500x, (c) T2b at 6000x, (d) T2b at 1500x.

#### 4.3.7 Settleability of the microalgal biomass

The samples taken from T1a, T2a, T3a and T4 were subjected to settling test to evaluate the settleability of the microalgal biomass after nutrient removal process. Figure 4.19 shows the pictures taken at the initial and final stages of the settling test. The last column included the ones after solid and liquid phase separation.

The chlorophyll-a concentrations of the supernatants were measured as  $0.65\pm0.008$ ,  $1.13\pm0.064$ ,  $0.26\pm0.003$  and  $0.24\pm0.026$  mg/L for T1a, T2a, T3a and T4, respectively. The chlorophyll-a concentration of the settled biomass was calculated using the formula given in Section 4.2.6 and ranged between 164-503 mg/L which can be sorted in a decreasing order as T4, T1a, T3a and T2a (503, 327, 211 and 164 mg/L, respectively). The initial concentration of AFFR liquor used in the setup could not be directly related to the settleability of the microalgal species. Nevertheless, the sorting of the chlorophyll-a concentrations was in very well agreement with the particle size distribution of these biomasses presented in Section 4.35. The volume fraction of the 10-100 µm-sized particles of the samples (the formations in clusters) had also a decreasing proportion in the order of the samples of T4, T1a, T3a and T2a (Table 4.13). Thus, the higher volumes of 10-100 µm-sized particles, addressing the microalgal formations in clusters (Bernaerts et al., 2018), might have leaded the microalgal biomass to have better settleability.

The overall chlorophyll-a concentration within the reactors before settling  $(15.48\pm0.832, 7.72\pm1.570, 8.78\pm0.429 \text{ and } 6.36\pm1.125 \text{ mg/L}$  for T1a, T2a, T3a and T4, respectively) could be concentrated by 21-79 times (2100-7900%) after gravity sedimentation. 21-79 times concentrated biomass and the low residual chlorophyll-a content of the supernatant in the range of 0.24-1.13 mg/L indicated good settleability of the microalgal culture. The good settleability of the algal biomass can be attributed

to the formation of the microalgal bacterial clusters. The cluster formations during wastewater treatment results in an easily settleable biomass which can be separated by simple gravitational settling. These formations provide efficient and cost-effective harvesting of the microalgal biomass (Quijano et al., 2017). Thus, AFFR liquor treatment using *Chlorella* sp. presents an opportunity to produce a well-settled biomass which can potentially harvested by a cost-effective method as simple gravity sedimentation.



Figure 4.19. Settling test applied to samples from randomly selected reactors.

## 4.4 Conclusions

AFFR liquor obtained from the high-rate anaerobic treatment of a digestate sample was subjected to a nutrient removal process by using mixed microalgal cultures. The dominating microalgae species was *Chlorella vulgaris* which indicated its well adaptability to such wastewater types (i.e. digestates).

Ammonium nitrogen concentration could be reduced by 92.4-93.7%. The removal of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N was mainly due to microalgal uptake (by 58.6-64.8%) and nitrification (by 35.2-41.4%). 95.6-97.8% TDP removal and the complete removal of the DRP were achieved in the treatment of AFFR liquor using microalgal culture. The additional dissolution of phosphorus from the digestate content in an extended period of time avoided the phosphorus limited conditions as well as the inhibition due to excessive phosphorus loading at the initial stages. Moreover, more ammonium removal could be attained particularly because of the high amounts of additional dissolved phosphorus. Particulates such as calcium phosphate formations contained in the wastewaters were found to act as an additional phosphorus source, thus, the removal of these particulates before application of microalgal treatment have a potential to create phosphorus limited conditions in the growth environment of microalgal species.

The microalgal content of the reactors increased by 12-31 times the initial concentration of the reactors at the end of the growth period. Additionally, microalgal biomass could be concentrated by 2100-7900% via gravity sedimentation which was induced by the formation of microalgal bacterial clusters. Good settleability of microalgal species has a potential to decrease the harvesting costs which is the main bottleneck in large scale application of wastewater treatment using microalgal cultures and the valorization of the biomass.
## **CHAPTER 5**

## CONCLUSIONS ON THE ENTIRE PROCESSES APPLIED AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This thesis study covered the residual biogas potential test, high-rate anaerobic treatment and microalgal nutrient removal process applied for the purpose of treatment and valorization of the digestate. The applied processes can potentially reduce the NH4<sup>+</sup>-N concentration from 6637±140 mg/L (Chapter 3 Section 3.2.2) to 26-29 mg/L (Chapter 4 Section 4.3.3.1.1) including the dilutions made. Dissolved reactive phosphorus content of the liquid digestate was decreased from 151±0.2 mg/L (Chapter 3 Section 3.2.2) to the complete exhaustion (Chapter 4 Section 4.3.3.2.1). The plant of sampling for the digestate used in high-rate anaerobic and microalgal treatment processes already produces a commercial fertilizer from the digestate and thus can be regulated under the plants of composite fertilizer production covered in the Regulation on Water Pollution Control (Official Gazette No: 25687, Date: 31.12.2004). The regulation indicates the discharge limits for the nutrients as 50 mg/L ammonium nitrogen, 50 mg/L nitrate nitrogen and 35 mg/L phosphate phosphorus for the composite fertilizer producing plants. The minimum ammonium nitrogen concentration at the end of the microalgal nutrient removal process was 26-29 mg/L and the total dissolved phosphorus was 0.69-0.74 mg/L. Dissolved reactive phosphorus was completely removed at the end. The ammonium nitrogen and phosphate phosphorus concentrations were well below the limits set for the discharge. On the other hand, nitrate concentrations accumulated in the microalgal reactors have a potential to reach 141.5-146.0 mg/L as a consequence of nitrification activity. Nitrifiers potentially originated from the sample obtained from Lake Eymir as mixed microalgal source. Even though molecular identification of the community structure was not included within the scope of the Thesis, it still remains as an attractive research field. On the other hand, nitrate content should be further reduced to comply with the discharge standards. Further removal can be achieved by providing additional available phosphorus to microalgal culture to assimilate nitrate. Microalgal cultures were previously noted as being capable of consuming nitrate and nitrite in the absence of ammonium (Section 4.3.3.1.1). A denitrification process, which converts nitrate and nitrite to molecular nitrogen, can also be applied to reduce the nitrate concentration.

AFFR treatment of the liquid digestate was found to have a potential to capture more than 38.9-48.6 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/m<sup>3</sup> digestate.d greenhouse gas before being emitted to the atmosphere (Chapter 3, Section 3.3.8). Furthermore, the microalgal process applied after the high-rate treatment of the liquid digestate can capture additional CO<sub>2</sub>, in spite of not being quantified. Even the pH regulation below 7 prevented the release of ammonia gas during microalgal nutrient removal process that would have potentially converted into nitrous oxide, a greenhouse gas. Nitrous oxide has 265 times more GWP than CO<sub>2</sub>. Thus, the overall process applied for the treatment of liquid digestate would have a positive environmental impact in terms of greenhouse gas capture.

The entire process offered, that is the coupled high-rate anaerobic and microalgal treatment, has also energy production profits as well as the removal of nutrients from the digestate and reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. The average biogas yields obtained ( $0.395-0.430 \text{ m}^3/\text{kg VS}_{added}$ ) were found to be comparable to many substrates such as municipal wastewater sludge, sheep excreta, vegetable wastes, straw from cereals, pig excreta, liquid cattle manure, molasses, maize and potato distillery slops. The biogas production corresponded to an additional 24.7-30.9 kW power output for 80 m<sup>3</sup> of daily production of digestate which represented the 1/47-1/59 of the total power output of the plant. The power output from the plant predicted to be capable of meeting the energy requirement of 408 to 512 residences based on the declared

information from the plant. Even though power output obtained by digestate processing was not very high compared to the power output of the plant, meeting the power demand of several units in the installations would favor the applicability of such a process chain when environmental and legal concerns are considered.

On the other hand, the microalgal biomass obtained could be concentrated by simple gravitational sedimentation to 164-503 mg/L which were 2100-7900% higher than the overall microalgal concentration. Good settleability of the microalgal biomass enables the processes to be applied on large scales with reduced harvesting costs. Reducing the harvesting costs, microalgal biomass obtained can further be employed for energy production at large scales such as biodiesel, bioethanol, biomethane and biohydrogen production. Among these energy production options, biomethane production from algal biomass can serve as an on-site management option for the digestates in the plant. Microalgal biomass obtained can be recycled back into the main anaerobic digester after being settled. The liquid portion can be discharged after nitrate concentration is decreased either by microalgal assimilation or denitrification or any other process. The introduction of more biomass into the digester may probably increase the biogas production within the plant after the operational conditions are adjusted, depending on the fact that microalgal biomass promotes biogas production (Perazzoli et al., 2013). Specifically, the methane yield of *Chlorella vulgaris* was previously reported as 0.286 L CH<sub>4</sub>/g VS (Lakaniemi et al., 2011). In addition to the recycling of the settled portion of microalgal biomass, the overall content of the microalgal nutrient removal process can be recycled back to the main digester. The recycling of the overall content of the microalgal process have a potential to at least partially meet the water requirement for diluting the raw feedstock. Thus, the water footprint of the overall processes can be reduced. The recycling of the microalgal biomass back into the digester can fulfill the requirement of recovery and reuse of this biological waste which is a core issue in the management of the biological wastes in international agenda. Nevertheless, as previously mentioned, nitrate content is required to be treated by microalgal assimilation or denitrification or any other process, to prevent nitrate accumulation in the main digester in such a case.

Even if this thesis study has proved the potential applicability of the high-rate anaerobic treatment and the subsequent microalgal nutrient removal from the digestates, there remains additional studies that can be carried out. First of all, the residual biogas potential test revealed that the digestates had a significant biogas potential, but, some may need additional pretreatment for improving the associated biogas yields. The pretreatment methods should be investigated to increase the applicability of such an integrated process chain by improving the economics of the plant. As an additional recommendation, the removal of further nitrate content can be enhanced by a denitrification or microalgal uptake process. These two processes is required to be evaluated considering the economic viability of each to prevent financial burden for the plant investors. The entire digestate management loop may also be investigated with the aim of closing the loop by the recycling of the overall content of the microalgal nutrient removal process back into the main digester. Moreover, the phosphorus removal in the high-rate anaerobic treatment of the liquid digestate was grounded on the formation of the calcium phosphate precipitates. Closer investigation on the phosphate removal in anaerobic digestion is required for understanding the removal mechanisms to enable the recovery of this World's limited reserve in a simultaneous treatment process. Additionally, the enhancement of the simultaneous dissolution and uptake of the nutrients can also be carried out since such a process can have promising results in nutrients removal from the digestate content. The optimization of the process parameters for dissolution-enhanced nutrient removal using microalgal cultures can be investigated within this scope.

## REFERENCES

- Abbasi, T., Abbasi, S.A. (2012). Renewable energy sources: Their impact on global warming and pollution. PHI Learning. ISBN 8120339940, 9788120339941.
- Abbasi, T., Tauseef, S.M., Abbasi, S.A. (2012). Anaerobic digestion for global warming control and energy generation—An overview. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 16, 3228– 3242. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2012.02.046.
- Abu Hajar, H. A., Riefler, R. G., Stuart, B.J. (2016). Anaerobic digestate as a nutrient medium for the growth of the green microalga *Neochloris oleoabundans*. Environmental Engineering Research, 21(3), 265-275. DOI: 10.4491/eer.2016.005.
- Acharya, B.K., Mohana, S., Madamwar, D. (2008). Anaerobic treatment of distillery spent wash - a study on upflow anaerobic fixed film bioreactor. Bioresource Technology, 99 (11), 4621-4626. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2007.06.060.
- Åkerström, A. M., Mortensen, L. M., Rusten, B., Gislerød, H. R. (2014). Biomass production and nutrient removal by *Chlorella* sp. as affected by sludge liquor concentration. Journal of Environmental Management, 144, 118-124. DOI: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.05.015.
- Al Nozaily, F. (2000). Performance and process analysis of duckweed-covered sewage lagoons for high strength sewage The case of Sana'a, Yemen. IHE PhD thesis, CRC Press. ISBN: 9789054104254.
- Alaica, A. L. (2012). On-Site total phosphorus removal from wastewater. A Thesis Presented to Ryerson University, Master of Applied Science of Civil Engineering, Toronto, Ontario, Canada 2012.

- Alcaraz-Gonzalez, V., Fregoso-Sanchez, F. A., Seyer, J-P., Mendez-Acosta, H. O., Gonzalez-Alvarez, V., Sandoval, J. P. G. (2015). Exponential regulation of alkalinity and VFA in continuous anaerobic digestion processes under uncertain operational conditions. WSEAS Transactions on Systems and Control, 10, 453-460. E-ISSN: 2224-2856.
- Alkaya, E., Ergüder, T. H., Demirer, G. N. (2010). Effect of operational parameters on anaerobic co-digestion of dairy cattle manure and agricultural residues: A case study for the Kahramanmaraş region in Turkey. Engineering in Life Sciences, 10 (6), 552-559. DOI: 10.1002/elsc.201000037.
- Al Seadi, T., Lukehurst, C. (2012). Quality management of digestate from biogas plants used as fertilizer. IEA Bioenergy, Task 37, Energy from Biogas.
- Angelidaki, I., Boe, K., Ellegaard, L. (2005). Effect of operating conditions and reactor configuration on efficiency of full-scale biogas plants. Water Science and Technology, 52 (1), 189-194.
- Anthonisen, A. C., Loehr, R. C., Prakasam, T. B. S., Srinath, E. G. (1976). Inhibition of nitrification by ammonia and nitrous acid. Journal of Water Pollution Control Federation, 48(5), 835-852.
- APHA (2005). Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater. American Public Health Association (APHA), American Water Works Association (AWWA), Water Environment Federation (WEF).
- Appel, F., Ostermeyer-Wiethaup, A., Balmann, A. (2016). Effects of the German Renewable Energy Act on structural change in agriculture – The case of biogas. Utilities Policy, 41, 172-182. DOI: 10.1016/j.jup.2016.02.013.
- Aqualytic. (2014). Spectrophotometer AL800/SpectroDirect Instruction Manual, Retrieved 6 27, 2015, from Aqualytic http://dl.aqualytic.de/instructions/al800/ins\_al800\_spectrodirect\_gb\_aqua.pdf

- Bajpai, P., Kondo, R. (2012). Biotechnology for environmental protection in the pulp and paper industry. Springer Science and Business Media. ISBN: 3642601367, 9783642601361.
- Barber, W. P., Stuckey, D. C. (1999). The use of the anaerobic baffled reactor (ABR) for wastewater treatment: A review. Water Research, 33 (7), 1559-1578. DOI: 10.1016/S0043-1354(98)00371-6.
- Barsanti L, Gualtieri P. (2014). Algae: Anatomy, biochemistry, and biotechnology. 2nd Ed. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis.
- Becker, E. W. (1994). Microalgae: biotechnology and microbiology. Cambridge University Press. ISBN: 9780521350204.
- Berg-Nilsen, J. (2006). Production of microalgae-based products: A map of available production methods for micro algae and market opportunities for algae-based products as a basis for establishing commercial operations. Nordic Innovation Centre.
- Bernaerts, T.M.M., Panozzo, A., Verhaegen, K.A.F., Gheysen, L., Foubert, I., Moldenaers, P., Hendrickx, M.E., van Loey, A.M. (2018). Impact of different sequences of mechanical and thermal processing on the rheological properties of *Porphyridium cruentum* and *Chlorella vulgaris* as functional food ingredients. Food and Function, 9 (4), 2433-2446. DOI: 10.1039/c8fo00261d.
- Borgström, Y. (2011). Pretreatment technologies to increase the methane yields by anaerobic digestion in relation to cost efficiency of substrate transportation. Master's Thesis, Department of Water and Environmental Studies, Linköping Institut of Technology, Linköping University.
- Botheju, D., Svalheim, Ø., Bakke, R. (2010). Digestate nitrification for nutrient recovery. The Open Waste Management Journal, 3 (1), 1-12. DOI: 10.2174/1876400201003010001.

- Braun, R. (2007). Anaerobic digestion: a multi-faceted process for energy, environmental management and rural development. In: Ranalli, P. (Ed) Improvement of crop plants for industrial end uses. Springer, Dordrecht. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4020-5486-0\_13.
- Cadoret, J.P., Garnier, M., Saint-Jean, B. (2012). Microalgae, functional genomics and biotechnology. In: Genomic insights into the biology of algae. Ed. Pinaneau, G. Academic Press. Advances in Botanical Research, V. 64. ISSN 0065-2296.
- Cadoret, J.P., Bougaran, G., Bérard, J. B., Carrier, G., Charrier, A., Coulombier, N., Garnier, M., Kaas, R., le Déan, L., Lukomska, E., Nicolau, E., Rouxel, C., Saint-Jean, B., Schreiber, N. (2014). Microalgae and biotechnology. In: Development of marine resources. DOI:10.1002/9781119007760.ch2.
- Cai, T., Park, S. Y., Racharaks, R., Li, Y. (2013a). Cultivation of *Nannochloropsis* salina using anaerobic digestion effluent as a nutrient source for biofuel production. Applied Energy, 108, 486–492. DOI: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.03.056.
- Cai, T., Ge, X., Park, S.Y., Li, Y. (2013b). Comparison of *Synechocystis* sp. PCC6803 and *Nannochloropsis salina* for lipid production using artificial seawater and nutrients from anaerobic digestion effluent. Bioresource Technology, 144, 255-260. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2013.06.101.
- Calicioglu, O, Demirer, G.N. (2015). Integrated nutrient removal and biogas production by *Chlorella vulgaris* cultures. Journal of Renewable and Sustainable Energy, 7, 033123. DOI: 10.1063/1.4922231.
- Calicioglu, O, Demirer, G.N. (2016). Biogas production from waste microalgal biomass obtained from nutrient removal of domestic wastewater. Waste and Biomass Valorization, 7 (6), 1397-1408. DOI: 10.1007/s12649-016-9546-9.
- Calli, B.; Mertoglu, B.; Inanc, B.; Yenigun, O. (2005) Effects of high free ammonia concentrations on the performances of anaerobic bioreactors. Process Biochemistry, 40, 1285–1292. DOI: 10.1016/j.procbio.2004.05.008.

- Camarero, L., Diaz, J.M., Romero, F. (1996). Final treatments for anaerobically digested piggery slurry effluents. Biomass and Bioenergy, 11 (6), 483-489. DOI: 10.1016/S0961-9534(96)00049-9.
- Camilleri-Rumbau, M. S., Norddahl, B., Nielsen, A. K., Christensen, K. V., Søtof, L. F. (2013). Comparative techno-economical study between membrane technology systems for obtaining concentrated fertilizers from biogas plant effluents. RAIMIRAN 2013, 15th International Conference Proceedings. 1<sup>st</sup> Ed., Vol. 1, 1-4, Paris, France.
- Carvajal-Arroyo, J. M., Sun, W., Sierra-Alvarez, R., Field, J. A. (2013). Inhibition of anaerobic ammonium oxidizing (Anammox) enrichment cultures by substrates, metabolites and common wastewater constituents. Chemosphere, 91 (1), 22-27. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.11.025.
- Chai, S., Guo, J., Chai, Y., Cai, J., Gao, L. (2014). Anaerobic treatment of winery wastewater in moving bed biofilm reactors. Desalination and Water Treatment, 52, 10-12, 1841-1849. DOI: 10.1080/19443994.2013.792008.
- Cheng, J., Xu, J., Huang, Y., Li, Y., Zhou, J., Cen, K. (2015). Growth optimisation of microalga mutant at high CO2 concentration to purify undiluted anaerobic digestion effluent of swine manure. Bioresource Technology, 177, 240–246. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2014.11.099.
- Chisti, Y. (2007). Biodiesel from microalgae. Biotechnology Advances, 25 (3), 294-306. DOI: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2007.02.001.
- Christenson, L., Sims, R. (2011). Production and harvesting of microalgae for wastewater treatment, biofuels, and bioproducts. Biotechnology Advances, 29 (6), 686–702. DOI: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.05.015.
- Cho, S., Luong, T.T., Lee, D., Oh, Y-K., Lee, T. (2011). Reuse of effluent water from a municipal wastewater treatment plant in microalgae cultivation for biofuel production. Bioresource Technology, 102 (18), 8639-45. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2011.03.037.

- Choi, O., Das, A., Yu, C-P., Hu, Z. (2010). Nitrifying bacterial growth inhibition in the presence of algae and cyanobacteria. Biotechnology and Bioengineering, 107(6), 1004-1011. DOI: 10.1002/bit.22860.
- Choi, H. J., Lee, S. M. (2015). Effect of the N/P ratio on biomass productivity and nutrient removal from municipal wastewater. Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering, 38(4), 761-766. DOI: 10.1007/s00449-014-1317-z.
- Chowdhury, M.M.I., Nakhla, G., Zhu, J. (2017). Ultrasonically enhanced anaerobic digestion of thickened waste activated sludge using fluidized bed reactors. Applied Energy, 204, 807-818. DOI: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.07.057.
- Chua, H., Hu, W. F., Yu, P. H. F., Cheung, M. W. L. (1997). Responses of an anaerobic fixed-film reactor to hydraulic shock loadings. Bioresource Technology, 61, 79-83.
- Cioabla, A. E., Ionel, I., Dumitrel, G.-A., Popescu, F. (2012). Comparative study on factors affecting anaerobic digestion of agricultural vegetal residues. Biotechnology for Biofuels, 5, 39. DOI: 10.1186/1754-6834-5-39.
- Clemens, J., Trimborn, M., Weiland, P., Amon, B. (2006). Mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions by anaerobic digestion of cattle slurry. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 112, 171-177. DOI: 10.1016/j.agee.2005.08.016.
- Córdoba, V., Fernández, M., Santalla, E. (2017). The effect of substrate/inoculum ratio on the kinetics of methane production in swine wastewater anaerobic digestion. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. DOI 10.1007/s11356-017-0039-6.
- Cunha, J. R., Tervahauta, T., van der Weijden, R. D., Hernández Leal, L., Zeeman, G., Buisman C. J. N. (2018a). Simultaneous recovery of calcium phosphate granules and methane in anaerobic treatment of black water: Effect of bicarbonate and calcium fluctuations. Journal of Environmental Management, 216, 399-405. DOI: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.09.013.

- Cunha, J. R., Schott, C., van der Weijden, R. D., Hernández Leal, L., Zeeman, G., Buisman, C. (2018b). Calcium addition to increase the production of phosphate granules in anaerobic treatment of black water. Water Research, 130, 333-342. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2017.12.012.
- Dahlin, J., Nelles, M., Herbes, C. (2017). Biogas digestate management: Evaluating the attitudes and perceptions of German gardeners towards digestate-based soil amendments. Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 118, 27-38. DOI: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2016.11.020.
- Dalkılıç, K., Uğurlu, A. (2015). Biogas production from chicken manure at different organic loading rates in a mesophilic-thermophilic two stage anaerobic system. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering, 120 (3), 315-322. DOI: 10.1016/j.jbiosc.2015.01.021.
- DEFRA (Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs). (2016). Guidance: Use organic manures and manufactured fertilisers on farmland. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nitrates-and-phosphates-plan-organic-fertiliser-and-manufactured-fertiliser-use/use-organic-manures-and-manufactured-fertilisers-on-farmland.
- de Godos, I., González, C., Becares, E., García-Encina, P.A., Muñoz, R. (2009). Simultaneous nutrients and carbon removal during pretreated swine slurry degradation in a tubular biofilm photobioreactor. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 82(1), 187-194. DOI: 10.1007/s00253-008-1825-3.
- de Lemos Chernicharo, C.A. (2007). Anaerobic Reactors. Biological Wastewater Treatment Series, Volume 4. IWA Publishing. Available at: http://www.iwapublishing.com/sites/default/files/ebooks/9781780402116.pdf
- Delgadillo-Mirquez, L., Lopes, F., Taidi, B., Pareau, D. (2016). Nitrogen and phosphate removal from wastewater with a mixed microalgae and bacteria culture. Biotechnology Reports, 11, 18-26. DOI: 10.1016/j.btre.2016.04.003.

- del Pozo, R., Diez, V., Beltrán, S. (2000). Anaerobic pre-treatment of slaughterhouse wastewater using fixed-film reactors. Bioresource Technology, 71 (2), 143-149. DOI: 10.1016/S0960-8524(99)90065-2.
- de Mes, T. Z. D., Stams, A. J. M., Reith, J. H., Zeeman, G. (2003). Methane production by anaerobic digestion of wastewater and solid wastes. In: Reith, J. H., Wijffels, R. H., Barten, H. (Eds). Bio-methane and bio-hydrogen: status and perspectives of biological methane and hydrogen production. Dutch Biological Hydrogen Foundation, The Hague, The Netherlands.
- Demirer, G. N., Chen, S. (2004). Effect of retention time and organic loading rate on anaerobic acidification and biogasification of dairy manure. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, 79, 1381-1387. DOI: 10.1002/jctb.1138.
- Demirer, G. N., Chen, S. (2005a). Two-phase anaerobic digestion of unscreened dairy manure. Process Biochemistry, 40, 3542-3549. DOI: 10.1016/j.procbio.2005.03.062.
- Demirer, G. N., Chen, S. (2005b). Anaerobic digestion of dairy manure in a hybrid reactor with biogas recirculation. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 21, 1509-1514. DOI: 10.1007/s11274-005-7371-6.
- Demirer, G. N., Othman, M. (2008). Two-phase thermophilic acidification and mesophilic methanogenesis anaerobic digestion of waste-activated sludge. Environmental Engineering Science, 25 (9), 1291-1300. DOI: 10.1089/ees.2007.0242.
- Deng, X-Y., Gao, K., Zhang, R-C., Addy, M., Lu, Q, Ren, H-Y., Chen, P., Liu, Y-H., Ruan, R. (2017). Growing *Chlorella vulgaris* on thermophilic anaerobic digestion swine manure for nutrient removal and biomass production. Bioresource Technology, 243, 417–425, DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2017.06.141.
- Denton, P., Rostron, C. (2013). Pharmaceutics: The Science of Medicine Design. OUP Oxford. ISBN: 9780199655311.

- Dickinson, K. E., Bjornsson, W. J., Garrison, L. L., Whitney, C. G., Park, K.C., Banskota, A. H., McGinn, P.J. (2015). Simultaneous remediation of nutrients from liquid anaerobic digestate and municipal wastewater by the microalga Scenedesmus sp. AMDD grown in continuous chemostats. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 118, 75-83. DOI: 10.1111/jam.12681.
- Drosg, B., Fuchs, W., Seadi, T.A., Madsen, M., Linke, B. (2015). Nutrient recovery by biogas digestate processing. International Energy Agency (IEA), IEA Bioenergy.
- EC (European Commission). (2009). Regulation (EC) No. 1069/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 laying down health rules as regards animal by-products and derived products not intended for human consumption and repealing. Regulation (EC) No. 1774/2002 (Animal by-products Regulation). Official Journal of the European Union, L300/1-33.
- EC (European Commission). (2014). Proposal for a Directive of The European Parliament and of The Council amending directives 2008/98/EC on waste, 94/62/EC on packaging and packaging waste, 1999/31/EC on the landfill of waste, 2000/53/EC on end-of-life vehicles, 2006/66/EC on batteries and accumulators and waste batteries and accumulators, and 2012/19/EU on waste electrical and electronic equipment. European Commission, Brussels.
- Ekholm, P., Krogerus, K. (2003). Determining algal-available phosphorus of differing origin: Routine phosphorus analyses versus algal assays. Hydrobiologia, 492 (1-3), 29-42. DOI: 10.1023/A:1024857626784.
- El Bayoumy, M. A., Bewtra, J. K., Ali, H. I., Biswas, N. (1999). Sulfide production by sulfate reducing bacteria with lactate as feed in an upflow fixed film reactor. Water, Air and Soil Pollution, 112, 67-84.
- Ergüder, T.H., Tezel, U., Güven, E., Demirer, G.N. (2001). Anaerobic biotransformation and methane generation potential of cheese whey in batch and UASB reactors. Waste Management, 21, 643-650. DOI: 10.1016/S0956-053X(00)00114-8.

- Escudié, R., Cresson, R., Delgenès, J-P., Bernet, N. (2011). Control of start-up and operation of anaerobic biofilm reactors: An overview of 15 years of research. Water Research, 45 (1), 1-10. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2010.07.081.
- Estevez, M. M, Sapci, Z., Linjordet, R. Schürer, A., Morken, J. (2014). Semicontinuous anaerobic co-digestion of cow manure and steam-exploded Salix with recirculation of liquid digestate. Journal of Environmental Management, 136, 9-15. DOI: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.01.028.
- Eustance, E., Gardner, R.D., Moll, K.M., Menicucci, J., Gerlach, R., Peyton, B. M. (2013). Growth, nitrogen utilization and biodiesel potential for two chlorophytes grown on ammonium, nitrate or urea. Journal of Applied Phycology, 25 (6), 1663-1677. DOI: 10.1007/s10811-013-0008-5.
- Evangelou, V.P. (1998). Environmental soil and water chemistry: Principles and applications. Wiley, ISBN 978-0-471-16515-6.
- Fechter, M., Kraume, M. (2016). Digestate treatment techniques. Technical Transactions, 1-M/2016. Available at http://www.ejournals.eu/pliki/art/7547/.
- Ferrero, E. M, de Godos, I., Rodríguez, E. M., García-Encina, P. A., Muñoz, R., Bécares, E. (2012). Molecular characterization of bacterial communities in algal-bacterial photobioreactors treating piggery wastewaters. Ecological Engineering, 40, 121-130. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoleng.2011.10.001.
- Franchino, M., Comino, E., Bona, F., Riggio, V. A. (2013). Growth of three microalgae strains and nutrient removal from an agro-zootechnical digestate. Chemosphere, 92 (6), 738–744. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.04.023.
- Franke-Whittle, I.H., Walter, A., Ebner, C., Insam, H. (2014). Investigation into the effect of high concentrations of volatile fatty acids in anaerobic digestion on methanogenic communities. Waste Management, 34 (11), 2080-2089. DOI: 10.1016/j.wasman.2014.07.020.

- Fuess, L. T., Kiyuna, L. S. M., Júnior, A. D. N. F., Persinoti, G. F., Squina, F. M., Garcia, M. L., Zaiat, M. (2017). Thermophilic two-phase anaerobic digestion using an innovative fixed-bed reactor for enhanced organic matter removal and bioenergy recovery from sugarcane vinasse. Applied Energy, 189, 480-491. DOI: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.12.071.
- García-Albacete, M., Tarquis, A.M., Cartagena, M.C. (2014). Risk of leaching in soils amended by compost and digestate from municipal solid waste. Scientific World Journal, 2014, 565174. DOI: 10.1155/2014/565174.
- Garoma, T. and Pappaterra, D. (2018). An investigation of ultrasound effect on digestate solubilization and methane yield. Waste Management, 71, 728-733. DOI: 10.1016/j.wasman.2017.03.021.
- Ge, S., Qiu, S., Tremblay, D., Viner, K., Champagne, P. Jessop, P. G. (2018). Centrate wastewater treatment with *Chlorella vulgaris*: Simultaneous enhancement of nutrient removal, biomass and lipid production. Chemical Engineering Journal, 342, 310-320. DOI: 10.1016/j.cej.2018.02.058.
- Ghyselbrecht, K., Monballiu, A., Somers, M. H., Sigurnjak, I., Meers, E., Appels, L., Meesschaert, B. (2017). The fate of nitrite and nitrate during anaerobic digestion, Environmental Technology. DOI: 10.1080/09593330.2017.1415380.
- Gioelli, F., Dinuccio, E., Balsari, P. (2011). Residual biogas potential from the storage tanks of non-separated digestate and digested liquid fraction. Bioresource Technology, 102, 10248-10251. DOI: /10.1016/j.biortech.2011.08.076.
- Golueke, C., G., Oswald, W. J. (1959). Biological conversion of light energy to the chemical energy of methane. Applied Microbiology, 7(4): 219–227.
- Gong, W., Li, W., Liang, H. (2010). Application of A/O-MBR for treatment of digestate from anaerobic digesion of cow manure. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, 85, 1334-1339. DOI: 10.1002/jctb.2437.

- Gooch, C.A, Inglis, S.F., Wright, P.E. (2006). Biogas distributed generation systems evaluation and technology transfer – Interim report. NYSERDA Project No. 6597. New York State Energy Research and Development Authority.
- Gopal, K. (2007). Water and waste water. APH Publishing. ISBN: 9788131302620.
- Gouveia, L. (2011). Microalgae as a feedstock for biofuels. Springer Briefs in Microbiology. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-17997-6.
- Grotenhuis, J. T. C. (1992). Structure and stability of methanogenic granular sludge. Wageningen University, The Netherland, PhD Thesis.
- Gu, A.Z., Liu, L., Neethling, J.B., Stensel, H.D., Murthy. S. (2011). Treatability and fate of various phosphorus fractions in different wastewater treatment processes. Water Science and Technology, 63(4), 804-810. DOI: 10.2166/wst.2011.312.
- Gudin, C., Thepenier, C. (1986). Bioconversion of solar energy into organic chemicals by microalgae. Advances in Biotechnological Processes, 6, 73–110.
- Güngör, K., Karthikeyan, K.G. (2008). Phosphorus forms and extractability in dairy manure: A case study for Wisconsin on-farm anaerobic digesters. Bioresource Technology, 99, 425-436. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2006.11.049.
- Hall, E. R. (1992). Anaerobic treatment of wastewaters in suspended growth and fixed-film processes. In J. F. Malina & F. G. Pohland (Eds.), Design of anaerobic processes for treatment of industrial and municipal waste.
- Hamilton, D. (2012). Types of anaerobic digesters. Extension Organization. Available at: http://articles.extension.org/pages/30307/types-of-anaerobic-digesters.
- Hamoda, M.F., Kennedy, K.J. (1987). Biomass retention and performance of anaerobic fixed-film reactors treating acetic acid wastewater. Biotechnology and Bioengineering, 30(2), 272-81. DOI: 10.1002/bit.260300218.

- Hansen, T. L., Sommer, S. G., Gabriel, S., Christensen, T H. (2006). Methane production during storage of anaerobically digested municipal organic waste. Journal of Environmental Quality, 35 (3), 830-836. DOI: 10.2134/jeq2005.0239.
- Heldman, D. R. (2003). Encyclopedia of agricultural, food, and biological engineering. CRC Press. ISBN: 9780824709389.
- Henze, M., van Loosdrecht, M. C. M., Ekama, G. A., Brdjanovic, D. (2008). Biological wastewater treatment. IWA Publishing. ISBN: 9781843391883.
- Hillebrand, H., Sommer, U. ().The nutrient stoichiometry of benthic microalgal growth: Redfield proportions are optimal. Limnology and Oceanography, 44(2), 440-446. DOI:10.4319/lo.1999.44.2.0440.
- Irving, T., Allen, D. (2011). Species and material considerations in the formation and development of microalgal biofilms. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 92(2), 283-294. DOI: 10.1007/s00253-011-3341-0.
- ISAT, GTZ. (1998). Biogas digest- Volume II: Biogas application and product development. Information and Advisory Service on Appropriate Technology (ISAT) & GATE in Deutsche Gesellschaft f
  ür Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ).
- ISO (International Organization for Standardization) (2002). Water quality- Digestion for the determination of selected elements in water. BS EN 15587-1:2002, Part 1. Aqua regia digestion.
- Jhung, J. K., Choi, E. (1995). A comparative study of UASB and anaerobic fixed film reactors with development of sludge granulation. Water Research, 29 (1), 271-277. DOI: 10.1016/0043-1354(94)E0123-N.

- Ji, F., Liu, Y., Hao, R., Li, G., Zhou, Y., Dong, R. (2014). Biomass production and nutrients removal by a new microalgae strain *Desmodesmus* sp. in anaerobic digestion wastewater. Bioresource Technology, 161, 200–207. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2014.03.034.
- Ji, F., Zhou, Y., Pang, A., Ning, L., Rodgers, K., Liu, Y., Dong, R. (2015). Fed-batch cultivation of *Desmodesmus* sp. in anaerobic digestion wastewater for improved nutrient removal and biodiesel production. Bioresource Technology, 184, 116–122. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2014.09.144.
- Jia, H., Yuan, Q. (2016). Removal of nitrogen from wastewater using microalgae and microalgae–bacteria consortia. Cogent Environmental Science, 2 (1), DOI: 10.1080/23311843.2016.1275089.
- Jin, R-C., Yang, G-F., Yu, J-J., Zheng, P. (2012). The inhibition of the Anammox process: A review. Chemical Engineering Journal, 197, 67–79. DOI: 10.1016/j.cej.2012.05.014.
- Jingura R.M., Kamusoko R. (2017). Methods for determination of biomethane potential of feedstocks: A review. Biofuel Research Journal 14, 573-586. DOI: 10.18331/BRJ2017.4.2.3.
- Jo, Y., Kim, J., Hwang, K. Lee, C. (2018). A comparative study of single- and twophase anaerobic digestion of food waste under uncontrolled pH conditions. Waste Management, 78, 509,520. DOI: 10.1016/j.wasman.2018.06.017.
- Juncà, S. (2010). Production of easily biodegradable carbon source for nutrient removal from wastewater through primary sludge hydrolysis - Impact on methane potential. Master's Thesis, Water and Environmental Engineering, Department of Chemical Engineering, Lund University.
- Kafle, G. K., Chen, L. (2016). Comparison on batch anaerobic digestion of five different livestock manures and prediction of biochemical methane potential (BMP) using different statistical models. Waste Management, 48, 492–502. DOI: 10.1016/j.wasman.2015.10.021.

- Karlsson, A., Björn, A., Yekta, S. S., Svensson, B. H. (2014). Improvement of the biogas production process. Explorative project (EP1), Biogas Research Center (BRC), Report 2014:2, Linköping, Sweden.
- Keating, C., Chin, J.P., Hughes, D., Manesiotis, P., Cysneiros, D., Mahony, T., Smith, C.J., McGrath, J.W., O'Flaherty, V. (2016). Biological phosphorus removal during high-rate, low-temperature, anaerobic digestion of wastewater. Frontiers in Microbiology,7 (226). DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00226.
- Kesaano, M., Sims, R. C. (2014). Algal biofilm based technology for wastewater treatment. Algal Research, 5, 231-240. DOI: 10.1016/j.algal.2014.02.003.
- Kim, E., Lee, S., Jo, H., Jeong, J., Mulbry, W., Rahman, S., Ahn, H. (2018). Solidstate anaerobic digestion of dairy manure from a sawdust-bedded pack barn: Moisture responses. Energies, 11, 484. DOI: 10.3390/en11030484.
- Kishore, V. V. N. (2010). Renewable energy engineering and technology: Principles and practice. The Energy and Resources Institute (TERI). ISBN 9788179932216.
- Kocadagistan, B., Kocadagistan, E., Topcu, N., Demircioglu, N. (2005). Wastewater treatment with combined upflow anaerobic fixed-bed and suspended aerobic reactor equipped with a membrane unit. Process Biochemistry 40, 177–182.
- Koops, H.P., Purkhold, U., Pommerening-Röser, A., Timmermann, G., Wagner, M. (2006). The lithoautotrophic ammonia-oxidizing bacteria. In: Dworkin M., Falkow S., Rosenberg E., Schleifer KH., Stackebrandt E. (Eds) The Prokaryotes. Springer, New York, NY. DOI: 10.1007/0-387-30745-1\_36.
- Koshta, V., Chaudhari, A. R., Upadhyay, J. B. (2017). Tracer study of anaerobic fixed film reactor used for treatment of dairy effluent. International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences, 6(11), 1445-1451. DOI: 10.20546/ijcmas.2017.611.172.

- Lakaniemi, A-M., Hulatt, C. J., Thomas, D. N., Tuovinen, O. H., Puhakka, J. A. (2011). Biogenic hydrogen and methane production from *Chlorella vulgaris* and *Dunaliella tertiolecta* biomass. Biotechnology for Biofuels, 4 (34). DOI: 10.1186/1754-6834-4-34.
- Langone, M., Saldano, M., Fabbri, C., Pirozzi, F., Andreottola, G. (2018). Anaerobic digestion of cattle manure influenced by swirling jet induced hydrodynamic cavitation. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology, 184 (4), 1200–1218. DOI: 10.1007/s12010-017-2612-3.
- Larronde-Larretche, M., Jin, X. (2016). Microalgae (*Scenedesmus obliquus*) dewatering using forward osmosis membrane: Influence of draw solution chemistry. Algal Research, 15, 1-8. DOI: 10.1016/j.algal.2016.01.014.
- Latkar, M., Swaminathan, K., Chakrabarti, T. (2003). Kinetics of anaerobic biodegradation of resorcinol, catechol and hydroquinone in upflow fixed film-fixed bed reactors. Bioresource Technology, 88, 69-74.
- Lau, P.S., Tam, N.F.Y., Wong, Y.S. (1995). Effect of algal density on nutrient removal from primary settled wastewater. Environmental Pollution, 89 (1), 59-66. DOI: 10.1016/0269-7491(94)00044-E.
- Lee, C.S., Lee, S-A, Ko, S-R., Oh, H-M., Ahn, C-Y. (2015). Effects of photoperiod on nutrient removal, biomass production, and algal-bacterial population dynamics in lab-scale photobioreactors treating municipal wastewater. Water Research, 68, 680-691. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2014.10.029.
- Lettinga, G., Hulshoff Pol, L. W., Koster, I. W., Wiegant, W. M., de Zeeuw, W. J., Rinzema, A., Grin, P. C., Roersma, R. E., Hobma, S. W. (1984). High-rate anaerobic wastewater treatment using UASB reactor under a wide range of temperature conditions. Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering Reviews, 2, 253-284.

- Li, K., Fang, F., Wang, H., Wang, C., Chen, Y., Guo, J., Wang, X., Jiang, F. (2017). Pathways of N removal and N<sub>2</sub>O emission from a one-stage autotrophic N removal process under anaerobic conditions. Scientific Reports, 7, 42072. DOI: 10.1038/srep42072.
- Li, Y., Chen, Y-F., Chen, P., Min, M., Zhou, W., Martinez, B., Zhu, J., Ruan, R. (2011). Characterization of a microalga *Chlorella* sp. well adapted to highly concentrated municipal wastewater for nutrient removal and biodiesel production. Bioresource Technology, 102 (8), 5138-5144. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2011.01.091.
- Li, Y., Gao, M., Hua, D., Zhang, J., Mu, H., Xu, H., Zhang, X. (2015). Recycling of biogas residue derived from the anaerobic digestion of lipid-extracted algae.
  In: Zhou, S., Patty, A., Chen, S. (Eds), Advances in energy science and equipment engineering. Proceedings of the International Conference on Energy Equipment Science and Engineering, (ICEESE 2015), Guangzhou, China. CRC Press. ISBN: 9781315667980.
- Lide, D. R. (2006). CRC handbook of chemistry and physics. 87th Ed. Taylor & Francis, ISBN: 9780849304873.
- Lindner, J., Zielonka, S., Oechsner, H., Lemmer, A. (2015). Effects of mechanical treatment of digestate after anaerobic digestion on the degree of degradation. Bioresource Technology, 178, 194-200. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2014.09.117.
- Liu, T., Wang, J., Hu, Q., Cheng, P., Ji, B., Liu, J., Chen, Y., Zhang, W., Chen, X., Chen, L., Gao, L., Ji, C., Wang H. (2013). Attached cultivation technology of microalgae for efficient biomass feedstock production. Bioresource Technology, 127, 216-222. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2012.09.100.
- Liu, X., Lendormi, T., Boy, V., Lanoiselle, J-L. (2017). What is the future of the hygienization of biowastes used for anaerobic digestion? 15th IWA World Conference on Anaerobic Digestion, Beijing, China.
- Lo, K. V., Chiu, C., Liao, P. H. (1991). Anaerobic treatment of molasses wastewater I. start up and steady state performance. Canadian Agricultural Engineering.

- Lukehurst, C.T., Frost, P., Al Seadi, T. (2010). Utilisation of digestate from biogas plants as biofertiliser. IEA Bioenergy, Task 37.
- Lymperatou, A., Gavala, H.N., Esbensen, K.H., Skiadas, I. V. (2015). AMMONOX: Ammonia for enhancing biogas yield and reducing NO<sub>x</sub>—Analysis of effects of aqueous ammonia soaking on manure fibers. Waste and Biomass Valorization, 6, 449. DOI: 10.1007/s12649-015-9365-4.
- Makádi, M., Tomócsik, A., Orosz, V. (2012). Digestate: A new nutrient source Review. In: Kumar, S. (Ed.), Biogas. DOI: 10.5772/31355.
- Mancipe-Jiménez, D. C., Costa, C., Márquez, M. D. C. (2017). Methanogenesis inhibition by phosphorus in anaerobic liquid waste treatment. Liquid Waste Recovery, 2, 1–8. DOI: 10.1515/lwr-2017-0001.
- Manyuchi, M. M., Mbohwa, C., Muzenda, E. (2018). Resource recovery from municipal sewage plants: An energy-water-nutrients nexus for developing countries. CRC Press. ISBN: 9780429013706.
- Mao, C., Feng, Y., Wang, X., Ren, G. (2015). Review on research achievements of biogas from anaerobic digestion. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 45, 540-555. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2015.02.032.
- Marañón, E., Castrillón, L., Vázquez, I., Sastre, H. (2001). The influence of hydraulic residence time on the treatment of cattle manure in UASB reactors. Waste Management Res., 19, 436–441. DOI: 10.1177/0734242X0101900508.
- Marchello, A. E., Lombardi, A. T., Dellamano-Oliveira, M. J., de Souza, C. W. O. (2015). Microalgae population dynamics in photobioreactors with secondary sewage effluent as culture medium. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology, 46(1), 75-84. DOI: 10.1590/S1517-838246120131225.
- Mata-Alvarez, J. (2002). Biomethanization of the organic fraction of municipal solid wastes. IWA Publishing. ISBN: 9781900222143.

- Maynaud, G., Druilhe, C., Daumoin, M, Jimenez, J., Patureau, D., Torrijos, M., Pourcher, A-M., Wéry, N. (2017). Characterisation of the biodegradability of post-treated digestates via the chemical accessibility and complexity of organic matter. Bioresource Technology, 231, 65-74. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2017.01.057.
- McPhail, S.J., Cigolotti, V., Moreno, A. (2012). Fuel cells in the waste-to-energy chain: Distributed generation through non-conventional fuels and fuel cells. Green Energy and Technology. Springer Science and Business Media. ISBN: 9781447123682
- Menardo, S., Gioelli, F., Balsari, P. (2011). The methane yield of digestate: Effect of organic loading rate, hydraulic retention time, and plant feeding. Bioresource Technology, 102, 2348-2351. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2010.10.094.
- Michaud, S., Bernet, N., Buffière, P., Roustan, M., Moletta, R. (2002). Methane yield as a monitoring parameter for the start-up of anaerobic fixed film reactors. Water Research, 36(5), 1385-1391. DOI: doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(01)00338-4.
- Minitab 17. Available at http://www.minitab.com/en-us/.
- Molinuevo, B., García, M.C., Karakashev, D., Angelidaki, I. (2009). Anammox for ammonia removal from pig manure effluents: Effect of organic matter content on process performance. Bioresource Technology, 100(7), 2171-2175. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2008.10.038.
- Monhonval, J. (2015). Stable increase of organic loading rate in anaerobic membrane bioreactors working at ambient temperature. Master Thesis, Water and Environmental Engineering Department of Chemical Engineering, Lund University.
- Monnet, F. (2003). An introduction to anaerobic digestion of organic wastes. Final report. Remade Scotland.

- Montero, E., Olguín, E.J., De Philippis, R., Reverchon, F. (2018). Mixotrophic cultivation of *Chlorococcum* sp. under non-controlled conditions using a digestate from pig manure within a biorefinery. Journal of Applied Phycology, 1-11. DOI: 10.1007/s10811-018-1467-5.
- Moody, L. B., Burns, R. T., Stalder, K. J. (2009). Effect of anaerobic digestion on manure characteristics for phosphorus precipitation from swine waste. Applied Engineering in Agriculture, 25(1), 97-102.
- Möller, K., Müller, T. (2012). Effects of anaerobic digestion on digestate nutrient availability and crop growth: A review. Engineering in Life Sciences, 12 (3), 242–257. DOI: 10.1002/elsc.201100085.
- Murray, W. D., van den Berg, L. (1981). Effects of nickel, cobalt, and molybdenum on performance of methanogenic fixed-film reactors. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 42 (3), 502-505.
- Myhre, G., Shindell, D., Bréon, F.-M., Collins, W., Fuglestvedt, J., Huang, J., Koch, D., Lamarque, J.-F., Lee, D., Mendoza, B., Nakajima, T., Robock, A., Stephens, G., Takemura, T., Zhang, H. (2013). Anthropogenic and natural radiative forcing. In: Climate change 2013: The physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., Qin, D., Plattner, G.-K., Tignor, M., Allen, S.K., Boschung, J., Nauels, A., Xia, Y., Bex, V., Midgley, P.M. (Eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Nandy, T., Kaul, S. N. (2001). Anaerobic pre-treatment of herbal-based pharmaceutical wastewater using fixed-film reactor with recourse to energy recovery. Water Research, 35 (2), 351-362. DOI: 10.1016/S0043-1354(00)00263-3.
- Nasir, I., M., Ghazi, T. I. M., Omar, R. (2012). Anaerobic digestion technology in livestock manure treatment for biogas production: A review. Engineering in Life Sciences, 12 (3), 258–269. DOI: 10.1002/elsc.201100150.

- Nel, L. H., Britz, T. J., Lategan, P. M. (1985). The effect of trace elements on the performance efficiency of an anaerobic fixed film reactor treating a petrochemical effluent. Water SA, 11 (3), 107 110.
- Nges, I. A., Wang, B., Cui, Z., Liu, J. (2015). Digestate liquor recycle in minimal nutrients-supplemented anaerobic digestion of wheat straw. Biochemical Engineering Journal, 94, 106-114. DOI: 10.1016/j.bej.2014.11.023.
- Nielfa, A., Cano, R., Fdz-Polanco, M. (2015). Theoretical methane production generated by the co-digestion of organic fraction municipal solid waste and biological sludge. Biotechnology Reports, 5, 14–21. DOI: 10.1016/j.btre.2014.10.005.
- Nikolaeva, S. N., Hernandez, E.P.S, Borja, R. (2013). Dairy wastewater treatment by anaerobic fixed bed reactors from laboratory to pilot-scale plant: A case study in Costa Rica operating at ambient temperature. International Journal of Environmental Research. 7 (3). 759-766. ISSN: 1735-6865.

Nitrates Directive. 91/676/EEC. European Union Commission.

- Nkoa, R. (2014). Agricultural benefits and environmental risks of soil fertilization with anaerobic digestates: a review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 34 (2), 473-492. DOI: 10.1007/s13593-013-0196-z.
- Notification on mechanical separation, bio-drying and bio-methanation plants and fermented product management (Official Gazette No: 29498, 10.10.2015).
- Noyola, A., Macarie, H., Guyot, J. P. (1990). Treatment of terephthalic acid plant wastewater with an anaerobic fixed film reactor. Environmental Technology, 11(3), 239-248. DOI: 10.1080/09593339009384862.
- O'Flaherty, V., Collins, G., Mahony, T. (2006). The microbiology and biochemistry of anaerobic bioreactors with relevance to domestic sewage treatment. Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology, 5(1), 39–55. DOI: 10.1007/s11157-005-5478-8.

- Olguin, E. (2012). Dual purpose microalgae-bacteria-based systems to treat wastewater and to produce biodiesel and chemical products within a biorefinery. Biotechnology Advances, 30, 1031-1046. DOI: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2012.05.001.
- Owen J. J., Silver, W. L. (2015). Greenhouse gas emissions from dairy manure management: A review of field-based studies. Global Change Biology. DOI: 10.1111/gcb.12687.
- Palmer, C. M. (1969). A composite rating algae tolerating organic pollution. Journal of Phycology, 5 (1), 78-82. DOI: 10.1111/j.1529-8817.1969.tb02581.x.
- Park, J., Jin, H-F., Lim, B-R, Park, K-Y., Lee, K. (2010). Ammonia removal from anerobic digestion effluent of livestock waste using green alga *Scenedesmus* sp. Bioresource Technology, 101 (22), 8649-8657. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2010.06.142.
- Park, K. J., Zhu, J., Zhang, Z. (2005). Influence of aeration rate and liquid temperature on ammonia emission rate and manure degradation in batch aerobic treatment. Transactions of Asae 48 (1), 321-30.
- PAS110:2014. Specification for whole digestate, separated liquor and separated fibre derived from the anaerobic digestion of source-segregated biodegradable materials. The British Standards Institution.
- Patel, H., Madamwar, D. (2002). Effects of temperatures and organic loading rates on biomethanation of acidic petrochemical wastewater using anaerobic upflow fixed-film reactor. Bioresource Technology, 82, 65-71.
- Patel, P., Desai, M., Madamwar, D. (1995). Biomethanation of cheese whey using anaerobic upflow fixed film reactor. Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering, 79 (4), 398-399.

- Peng, W., Pivato, A. (2017). Sustainable management of digestate from the organic fraction of municipal solid waste and food waste under the concepts of back to earth alternatives and circular economy. Waste and Biomass Valorization, 1-17. DOI: 10.1007/s12649-017-0071-2.
- Perazzoli, S., Steinmetz, R. L. R., Mezzari, M. P., Nunes, E. O., da Silva, M. L. B. (2013). Biogas production from microalgae biomass. III Simpósio Internacional Sobre Gerenciamento De Resíduos Agropecuários E Agroindustriais.
- Prajapati, S. K., Kumar, P., Malik, A., Vijay, V. K. (2014). Bioconversion of algae to methane and subsequent utilization of digestate for algae cultivation: A closed loop bioenergy generation process. Bioresource Technology, 158, 174–180. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2014.02.023.
- Puyuelo, B., Ponsá, S., Gea, T., Sánchez, A. (2011). Determining C/N ratios for typical organic wastes using biodegradable fractions. Chemosphere, 85 (4), 653-659. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.07.014.
- Qazi, J. I., Nadeem, M., Baig, S. S., Baig, S., Syed, Q. (2011). Anaerobic fixed film biotreatment of dairy wastewater. Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research, 8 (3), 590-593.
- Quijano, G., Arcila, J. S., Buitrón, G. (2017). Microalgal-bacterial aggregates: Applications and perspectives for wastewater treatment. Biotechnology Advances, 35(6), 772-781. DOI: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2017.07.003.
- Rada-Ariza, A. M., Lopez-Vazquez, C. M., van der Steen, N. P., Lens, P. N. L. (2017). Nitrification by microalgal-bacterial consortia for ammonium removal in flat panel sequencing batch photo-bioreactors. Bioresource Technology, 245 (A), 81-89. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2017.08.019.
- Rajagopal, R., Saady, N. M. C., Torrijos, M., Thanikal, J. V., Hung, Y-T. (2013). Sustainable agro-food industrial wastewater treatment using high rate anaerobic process. Water, 5(1), 292-311. DOI: 10.3390/w5010292.

- Rajakumar, R., Meenambal, T., Banu, J.R. Yeom, I. T. (2011). Treatment of poultry slaughterhouse wastewater in upflow anaerobic filter under low upflow velocity. International Journal of Environmental Science & Technology, 8 (1), 149-158. DOI: 10.1007/BF03326204.
- Rao, A. G., Naidu, G. V., Prasad, K. K., Rao, N. C., Mohan, S. V., Jetty, A., Sarma, P. N. (2005). Anaerobic treatment of wastewater with high suspended solids from a bulk drug industry using fixed film reactor (AFFR). Bioresource Technology, 93 (3), 241-247. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2003.11.004.
- REN21. (2016). Renewables 2016: Global status report. Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century. Available at: http://www.ren21.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/GSR\_2016\_Full\_Report\_lowres.pdf.
- REN21. (2018). Renewables 2018: Global status report. Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century. Available at: http://www.ren21.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/17-8652\_GSR2018\_FullReport\_web\_final\_.pdf.
- Renuka, N., Sood, A., Prasanna, R., Ahluwalia, A. S. (2015). Phycoremediation of wastewaters: A synergistic approach using microalgae for bioremediation and biomass generation. International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology, 12, 1443–1460. DOI: 10.1017/s13762-014-0700-2.
- Rico, C., Rico, J. L. Tejero, I. Muñoz, N., Gómez, B. (2011). Anaerobic digestion of the liquid fraction of dairy manure in pilot plant for biogas production: Residual methane yield of digestate. Waste Management, 31, 2167-2173. DOI: 10.1016/j.wasman.2011.04.018.
- Rico, C., Montes, J.A., Rico, J. L. (2017). Evaluation of different types of anaerobic seed sludge for the high rate anaerobic digestion of pig slurry in UASB reactors. Bioresource Technology, 238, 147-156. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2017.04.014.
- Ripley, L. E., Boyle, W. C., Converse, J. C. (1986). Improved alkalimetric monitoring for anaerobic digestion of high- strength wastes. Journal Water Pollution Control Federation, 58 (5), 406-411.

- Roels, J., Verstraete, W. (2001). Biological formation of volatile phosphorus compounds. Bioresource Technology, 79, 243-250.
- Romero-Güiza, M. S., Mata-Alvarez, J., Rivera, J. M. C., Garcia, S. A. (2016a). Nutrient recovery technologies for anaerobic digestion systems: An overview. Revista Ion, 29 (1), 7-26. DOI: 10.18273/revion.v29n1-2016001.
- Romero-Güiza, M.S., Vila, J., Mata-Alvarez, J., Chimenos, J.M., Astals, S. (2016b). The role of additives on anaerobic digestion: A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 58, 1486-1499, DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2015.12.094.
- Ruile, S., Schmitz, S., Mönch-Tegeder, M., Oechsner, H. (2015). Degradation efficiency of agricultural biogas plants – A full-scale study. Bioresource Technology, 178, 341-349. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2014.10.053.
- Sabumon, P.C. (2007). Anaerobic ammonia removal in presence of organic matter: A novel route. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 149(1), 49-59. DOI:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.03.052.
- Sakar, S., Yetilmezsoy, K. Kocak, E. (2009). Anaerobic digestion technology in poultry and livestock waste treatment – A literature review. Waste Management and Research, 27, 3–18. DOI: 10.1177/0734242X07079060.
- Salkinoja-Salonen, M.S., Nyns, E-J., Sutton, P. M., van den Berg, L., Wheatley, A. D. (1983). Starting-up of an anaerobic fixed-film reactor. Water Science and Technology, 15 (8-9), 305-308.
- Sambusiti, C., Monlau, F., Ficara, E., Musatti, A., Rollini, M., Barakat, A., Malpei, F. (2015). Comparison of various post-treatments for recovering methane from agricultural digestate. Fuel Processing Technology, 137, 359-365. DOI: 10.1016/j.fuproc.2015.04.028.

- Savaglio, N., Puopolo, R. (2012). Denitrification: processes, regulation and ecological significance. Chemical Engineering Methods and Technology Environmental Science, Engineering and Technology Series, ISBN 978-1-61470-879-7.
- Schievano, A., Pognani, M., D'Imporzano, G., Adani, F. (2008). Predicting anaerobic biogasification potential of ingestates and digestates of a full-scale biogas plant using chemical and biological parameters. Bioresource Technology, 99(17), 8112-8117. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2008.03.030.
- Seppälä, M., Pyykkönen, V., Väisänen, A., Rintala, J. (2013). Biomethane production from maize and liquid cow manure – Effect of share of maize, postmethanation potential and digestate characteristics. Fuel, 107, 209-216. DOI: 10.1016/j.fuel.2012.12.069.
- Serejo, M. L., Posadas, E., Boncz, M. A., Blanco, S., García-Encina, P., Muñoz, R. (2015). Influence of biogas flow rate on biomass composition during the optimization of biogas upgrading in microalgal-bacterial processes. Environmental Science and Technology, 49 (5), 3228–3236. DOI: 10.1021/es5056116.
- Sigurnjak, I., Michels, E., Tack, F. M. G., Meers, E. (2015). Heavy metal concentration in manure and digestate: A simulation model. 2nd International Conference on Manure Management and Valorisation (ManuResource-2). Ghent, Belgium.
- Simm, S., Orrico, A.C.A., Orrico J. M. A. P., da Silva Sunada, N., Schwingel, A. W., de Mendonça Costa, M.S.S. (2017). Crude glycerin in anaerobic co-digestion of dairy cattle manure increases methane production. Scientia Agricola, 74(3), 175-179. DOI: 10.1590/1678-992x-2016-0057.
- Singh, M., Reynolds, D.L., Das, K.C. (2011). Microalgal system for treatment of effluent from poultry litter anaerobic digestion. Bioresource Technology, 102 (23), 10841–10848. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2011.09.037.

- Singh, V., Singh, B. (2015). Granulation process in UASB reactor and its enhancement: A review. International Journal of Science, Technology & Management, 4 (1), 53-59.
- Smyth, B. (2013). Energy and agricultural policy in relation to biomethane, with particular reference to the transport sector. In: Korres, N., O'Kiely, P., Benzie, J. A. H., West, J. S. (Eds.), Bioenergy production by anaerobic digestion: Using agricultural biomass and organic wastes. Routledge. ISBN: 9781136489648.
- Solera, R. Romero, L. I., Sales, D. (2002). The evolution of biomass in a two-phase anaerobic treatment process during start-up. Chemical and Biochemical Engineering, 16 (1), 25-29.
- Spellman, F. R. (2006). Chemistry for nonchemists: Principles and applications for environmental practitioners. Government Institutes. ISBN: 9781591919612.
- Strik, D.P.B.T.B., Domnanovich, A. M., Holubar, P. (2006). A pH-based control of ammonia in biogas during anaerobic digestion of artificial pig manure and maize silage. Process Biochemistry, 41 (6), 1235-1238, DOI: 10.1016/j.procbio.2005.12.008.
- Su, Y., Mennerich, A., Urban, B. (2012). Comparison of nutrient removal capacity and biomass settleability of four high-potential microalgal species. Bioresource Technology, 124, 157-162. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2012.08.037.
- Şen, S., Demirer, G. N. (2003). Anaerobic treatment of real textile wastewater with a fluidized bed reactor. Water Research, 37, 1868–1878. DOI: 10.1016/S0043-1354(02)00577-8.
- Tan, X., Chu, H., Zhang, Y., Yang, L., Zhao, F., Zhou, X. (2014). *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* cultivation using anaerobic digested starch processing wastewater in an airlift circulation photobioreactor. Bioresource Technology, 170, 538–548. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2014.07.086.

- Tartakovsky, B., Mehta, P., Bourque, J-S., Guiot, S. R. (2011). Electrolysis-enhanced anaerobic digestion of wastewater. Bioresource Technology, 102 (10), 5685-5691. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2011.02.097.
- Tauseef, S. M., Abbasi, T., Abbasi, S. A. (2013). Energy recovery from wastewaters with high-rate anaerobic digesters. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 19, 704-741. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2012.11.056.
- Tay, J-H., Show, K-Y, Lee, D-J. Zhang, Z-P. (2010). Anaerobic granulation and granular sludge reactor systems. In: Environmental Anaerobic Technology: Applications and New Developments, Ed. Ping, F. H. H.. World Scientific. ISBN 9781908978059.
- Tchobanoglous, G., Burton,L. D, Stensel, H. D. (2003). Wastewater engineering: Treatment and reuse. McGraw-Hill Education, 4th Edition, ISBN: 9780070418783.
- Tervahauta, T., van der Weijden, R.D., Flemming, R.L., Hernández Leal, L., Zeeman, G., Buisman, C.J. (2014). Calcium phosphate granulation in anaerobic treatment of black water: A new approach to phosphorus recovery. Water Research, 48, 632-642. DOI:10.1016/j.watres.2013.10.012.
- The Regulation on Water Pollution Control (Offical Gazette No: 25687, Date: 31.12.2004). The Ministry of Environment and Forestry.
- Thygesen, O., Sommer, S. G., Shin, S. G., Triolo, J. M. (2014). Residual biochemical methane potential (BMP) of concentrated digestate from full-scale biogas plants. Fuel, 132, 44-46. DOI: 10.1016/j.fuel.2014.04.062.
- Tripathi, B. N., Kumar, D. (2017). Prospects and challenges in algal biotechnology. Springer. ISBN: 9789811019500.
- Tritt, W.P., Kang, H. (2017). Slaughterhouse wastewater treatment in a bamboo ring anaerobic fixed-bed reactor. Environmental Engineering Research, 23 (1), 70-75. DOI: 10.4491/eer.2017.040.

- Uggetti, E., Sialve, B., Latrille, E., Steyer, J. P. (2014). Anaerobic digestate as substrate for microalgae culture: the role of ammonium concentration on the microalgae productivity. Bioresource Technology, 152, 437-443. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2013.11.036.
- Uludag-Demirer, S., Demirer, G. N., Chen, S. (2005). Ammonia removal from anaerobically digested dairy manure by struvite precipitation. Process Biochemistry, 40 (12), 3667-3674. DOI:10.1016/j.procbio.2005.02.028.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA), (2002). Nitrification. Office of Water (4601M), Office of Ground Water and Drinking Water, Distribution System Issue Paper.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S.EPA). (2007). Biological nutrient removal processes and costs. EPA-823-R-07-002. Washington, DC.
- van Haandel, A., van der Lubbe, J. (2012). Handbook of biological wastewater treatment. London: IWA Publishing.
- van Langerak, E.P.A., Hamelers, H. V. M., Lettinga, G. (1998). Phosphate removal and kinetics of CaCO<sub>3</sub> precipitation in anaerobic reactors. In: Control of calcium carbonate precipitation in anaerobic reactors. E.P.A. Veenendaal, The Netherlands. ISBN 90-5485-923-7.
- van Lier, J. B., Mahmoud, N., Zeeman, G. (2008). Anaerobic wastewater treatment. In: Biological wastewater treatment: Principles, modeling and design. Ed. Henze, M., van Loosdrecht, M. C. M., Ekama, G. A., Brdjanovic, D. IWA Publishing. ISBN: 9781843391883.
- Vartak, D.R., Engler, C.R., McFarland, M.J., Ricke, S.C. (1997). Attached-film media performance in psychrophilic anaerobic treatment of dairy cattle wastewater. Bioresource Technology, 62 (3), 79-84. DOI: 10.1016/S0960-8524(97)00135-1.

- Venkatesan, J., Manivasagan, P., Kim, S-K. (2015). Marine microalgae biotechnology: Present trends and future advances. In: Handbook of marine microalgae: Biotechnology advances, Ed. Kim, S-K. Academic Press, ISBN 978-0-12801-124-9.
- Venkiteshwaran, K., McNamara, P.J., Mayer, B.K. (2018). Meta-analysis of nonreactive phosphorus in water, wastewater, and sludge, and strategies to convert it for enhanced phosphorus removal and recovery. Science of the Total Environment, 644, 661-674. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.369.
- Wang, C., Hong, F., Lu, Y., Li, X., Liu, H. (2017). Improved biogas production and biodegradation of oilseed rape straw by using kitchen waste and duck droppings as co-substrates in two-phase anaerobic digestion. PLOSONE, 12(8). DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0182361.
- Wang, L., Li, Y., Chen, P., Min, M., Chen, Y., Zhu, J., Ruan, R.R. (2010a). Anaerobic digested dairy manure as a nutrient supplement for cultivation of oil-rich green microalgae *Chlorella* sp. Bioresource Technology, 101 (8), 2623-2628. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2009.10.062.
- Wang, L., Wang, Y., Chen, P., Ruan, R. (2010b). Semi-continuous cultivation of *Chlorella vulgaris* for treating undigested and digested dairy manures. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology, 162 (8), 2324-2332. DOI: 10.1007/s12010-010-9005-1.
- Wang, M., Kuo-Dahab, W. C., Dolan, S., Park, C. (2014). Kinetics of nutrient removal and expression of extracellular polymeric substances of the microalgae, *Chlorella* sp. and *Micractinium* sp., in wastewater treatment. Bioresource Technology, 154, 131-137. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2013.12.047.
- Whitton, R., Le Mével, A., Pidou, M., Ometto, F., Villa, R., Jefferson, B. (2016).
  Influence of microalgal N and P composition on wastewater nutrient remediation. Water Research, 91, 371-378. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2015.12.054.

- Wijffels, R. H., Barbosa, M. J. (2010). An outlook on microalgal biofuels. Science, 329 (5993), 796-799. DOI: 10.1126/science.1189003.
- Wilcock, B., Biggs, B., Death, R., Hickey, C., Larned, S., Quinn, J. (2007). Limiting nutrients for controlling undesirable periphyton growth. National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research Ltd. (NIWA), Project no: ELF07202, Report no: HAM2007-006.
- Wilkie, A. C. (2005). Anaerobic digestion of dairy Manure: Design and process considerations. In: Dairy manure management: Treatment, handling, and community relations.
- Wojnowska-Baryła, I., Bernat, K., Sartowska, S. (2018). Biological stability of multicomponent agri-food digestates and post-digestates. Waste Management, 77, 140-146. DOI: 10.1016/j.wasman.2018.05.016.
- WRAP (Waste and Resources Action Programme) (2010). Residual biogas potential test for digestates: Development and evaluation of a method for testing the residual biogas potential of digestates. Project code: OFW004-005.
- WRAP (Waste and Resources Action Programme). (2012). Enhancement and treatment of digestates from anaerobic digestion. A review of enhancement techniques, processing options and novel digestate products. Project code: OMK006 – 002. Pell Frischmann Consultants Ltd.
- WRAP (Waste and Resources Action Programme) (2013). Review of the application of the Residual Biogas Potential (RBP) test. Project code: OMK002-014.
- Xia, A., Murphy, J.D. (2016). Microalgal cultivation in treating liquid digestate from biogas systems. Trends in Biotechnology, 34 (4), 264-275. DOI: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2015.12.010.

- Xu, J., Zhao, Y., Zhao, G., Zhang, H. (2015). Nutrient removal and biogas upgrading by integrating freshwater algae cultivation with piggery anaerobic digestate liquid treatment. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 99 (15), 6493-6501. DOI: 10.1007/s00253-015-6537-x.
- Yan, C., Zheng, Z. (2014). Performance of mixed LED light wavelengths on biogas upgrade and biogas fluid removal by microalga *Chlorella* sp.. Applied Energy, 113, 1008–1014. DOI: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.07.012.
- Yan, M., Zhang, J. Hu, B. (2012). Integration of anaerobic digestion and oil accumulation: Bioenergy production and pollutants removal. In: Microbial biotechnology: Energy and environment, Ed. Arora, R. CAB books, DOI: 10.1079/9781845939564.0190.
- Yang, L., Tan, X., Li, D., Chu, H., Zhou, X., Zhang, Y., Yu, H. (2015). Nutrients removal and lipids production by *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* cultivation using anaerobic digested starch wastewater and alcohol wastewater. Bioresource Technology, 181, 54–61. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2015.01.043.
- Yangin-Gomec, C., Pekyavas, G., Sapmaz, T., Aydin, S., Ince, B., Akyol, Ç., Ince, O. (2017). Microbial monitoring of ammonia removal in a UASB reactor treating pre-digested chicken manure with anaerobic granular inoculum. Bioresource Technology, 241, 332-339. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.070.
- Yenigün, O., Demirel, B. (2013). Ammonia inhibition in anaerobic digestion: A review. Process Biochemistry, 48 (5–6), 901-911. DOI: 10.1016/j.procbio.2013.04.012.
- Yeshanew, M.M., Frunzo, L., Luongo, V., Pirozzi, F., Lens, P.N.L., Esposito, G. (2016). Start-up of an anaerobic fluidized bed reactor treating synthetic carbohydrate rich wastewater. Journal of Environmental Management, 184, 456-464. DOI: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.10.001.
- Yildiz, İ, Nguyen-Quang, T., Mehlitz, T., Brooker, B. (2013). Algae, biofuels, and modeling. In: Causes, impacts and solutions to global Warming. Ed. Dinçer, İ, Çolpan, C. O., Kadıoğlu, F. Springer Science & Business Media. ISBN 978-1-46147-588-0.
- Yousefzadeh, S., Ahmadi, E., Gholami, M., Ghaffari, H. R., Azari, A., Ansari, M., Miri, M., Sharafi, K., Rezaei, S. (2017). A comparative study of anaerobic fixed film baffled reactor and up-flow anaerobic fixed film fixed bed reactor for biological removal of diethyl phthalate from wastewater: a performance, kinetic, biogas, and metabolic pathway study. Biotechnology for Biofuels, 10 (139). DOI: 10.1186/s13068-017-0826-9.
- Yu, K.L., Show, P.L., Ong, H. C., Ling, T.C., Lan, J.C-W., Chen, W-H., Chang, J-S. (2017). Microalgae from wastewater treatment to biochar – Feedstock preparation and conversion technologies. Energy Conversion and Management, 150, 1-13. DOI: 10.1016/j.enconman.2017.07.060.
- Zhang, J., Loh, K-C, Li, W., Lim, J. W., Dai, Y., Tong, Y. W. (2017). Three-stage anaerobic digester for food waste. Applied Energy, 194, 287-295. DOI: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.10.116.
- Zhang, P., Zeng, G., Zhang, G., Li, Y., Zhang, B., Fan, M. (2008). Anaerobic codigestion of biosolids and organic fraction of municipal solid waste by sequencing batch process. Fuel Processing Technology, 89 (4), 485-489. DOI: 10.1016/j.fuproc.2007.11.013.
- Zhang, T., Bowers, K.E., Harrison, J. H., Chen, S. (2010). Releasing phosphorus from calcium for struvite fertilizer production from anaerobically digested dairy effluent. Water Environment Research, 82 (1), 34-42. DOI: 10.2175/106143009X425924.
- Zhao, Y., Sun, S., Hu, C., Zhang, H., Xu, J., Ping, L. (2015). Performance of three microalgal strains in biogas slurry purification and biogas upgrade in response to various mixed light-emitting diode light wavelengths. Bioresource Technology, 187, 338-345. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2015.03.130.

- Zheng, M., Yan, Z., Zuo, J., Wang, K. (2014). Concept and application of anaerobic suspended granular sludge bed (SGSB) reactor for wastewater treatment. Frontiers of Environmental Science & Engineering, 8 (5), 797–804. DOI: 10.1007/s11783-013-0597-x.
- Zupančič, G. D., Grilc, V. (2012). Anaerobic treatment and biogas production from organic waste, Management of Organic Waste, Dr. Sunil Kumar (Ed.), ISBN: 978-953-307-925-7, InTech, Available at: http://www.intechopen.com/books/management-of-organic-waste/anaerobictreatment-and-biogas-production-from-organic-wastes.
- URL 1. Biogas digestate: composition, use, logistics, processing. Algae Biogas. Retrieved 12 12, 2017, from https://algaebiogas.eu/biogas\_digestate

#### **APPENDICES**

## A. Application and evaluation of solids removal methods for a digestate sample

A liquid digestate sample was taken from a beef cattle manure processing plant with the aim of microalgal nutrient removal. The sample had a high solids concentration (72075 mg/L TS) compared to the applied solids contents in the previous studies conducted using microalgal cultures (Table A.1). The high solids concentration had a potential to prevent the light penetration required for the growth of microalgal cultures. Therefore, the sample was subjected to simple solids removal processes such as gravity sedimentation, filtration, centrifugation, coagulation and flocculation with and without dilution. This appendix includes the preliminary evaluation of the solid removal options for the liquid digestate sample.

Table A.1. Pretreatment methods for solids removal from various digestates and the applied solids concentrations in microalgal processes previously studied.

Pretreatment	Before	After	Poforanco
method	pretreatment	pretreatment	Reference
Filtration	1040 mg/L SS	negligible	Park et al., 2010
Dilution	1.1 g/L TSS	0.4 and 1.8 g TSS/L	Uggetti et al., 2014
Dilution, Filtration	6%	0.24-0.6 %	Wang et al., 2010(a)
Dilution	1590 mg/L TSS	191-1113 mg/L	Åkerström et., 2014
Precipitation, Filtration	high	46-71 mg/L TSS	Tan et al., 2014
Dilution, Centrifugation	4.71 % TS	0.2355-0.471 %	Franchino et al., 2013
Dilution	0.4 g/L TSS	0.04 g /L	Serejo et al., 2015
Sedimentation, Filtration	438 mg/L TSS	307 mg/L TSS	Xu et al., 2015
Dilution	6.80 % TS	0.34 %	Wang et al., 2010 (b)
Dilution		0.0078- 0.12 g/L TSS	Dickinson et al., 2015

#### **Materials and Methods**

# Liquid digestate

The liquid digestate (LD) sample was obtained from the outlet of the liquid line of a gravitational solid-liquid phase separation unit of an anaerobic digester operated with 100% beef cattle manure. The plant had an approximate hydraulic retention time of 30 days with 278-288 tons of daily digestate production (Chapter 2, digestate of anaerobic digester 1). LD was characterized for TS, volatile solids VS, COD<sub>t</sub>, COD<sub>s</sub>, TP, total soluble phosphorus (TSP), total nitrogen (TN) and total soluble nitrogen (TSN) concentrations (Table A.2).

Constituent	Concentration, mg/L
TS	72 075
VS	38 507
CODt	62 467
CODs	11 985
TN	3 800
TSN	2 333
TP	1 850
TSP	550

Table A.2. The initial characterization of the liquid digestate.

#### Analytical methods

TS, VS,  $COD_t$ ,  $COD_s$ , TP and TSP were measured according to standard methods (APHA, 2005). TN and TSN were analyzed photometrically according to the instructions given by the manufacturer (Aqualytic, 2014). Samples were first filtered from 0.45  $\mu$ m pore-sized filter papers for determination of COD<sub>s</sub>, TSP and TSN.

#### Gravity settling analysis

Two cylindrical graduated glass containers of 66 cm height and 4.5 cm radius were used for settling analysis. Three liters of effective volume was filled with LD. LD was allowed to settle for 5 days. Sampling was done at 9 cm and 27.5 cm depths from the initial surface, on the first, second and fifth day of the experiment. The samples were analyzed for their TS concentrations.

#### Filterability analysis

LD sample was individually filtered from several meshes with pore sizes of 600, 425, 175, 100, 63 and 53  $\mu$ m. TS concentration of the filtrate (the liquid portion passing through the filter) was measured.

#### Dilution and sequential filtration analysis

Dilution of LD was done using a raw wastewater (RWW) sample taken from the inlet of a domestic wastewater treatment plant of Middle East Technical University. RWW was settled for 2.5 hours and then filtered from 38  $\mu$ m mesh filter to remove the large particles in order to obtain dilution wastewater (DWW). TS, VS and solid content of RWW and DWW are given in Table A.3.

Wastewater	TS, mg/L	VS, mg/L	Solid content, %
RWW	1150	313	0.119
DWW	887	120	0.093

Table A.3. Solids characterization of RWW and DWW.

The steps carried out in dilution and sequential filtration analysis is shown in Figure A.1. LD was first diluted with DWW by 1/5 and 1/10 dilution ratios. Diluted LD (DLD) was manually filtered through 53 and 38  $\mu$ m pore-sized meshes, sequentially,

by revolving a plastic apparatus over the mesh. The mesh-filtered DLD (MFDLD) was additionally filtered from coarse filter paper using a vacuum pump. To examine the further TS removal capability via filtration, MFDLD of 1/10 diluted LD was subjected to further vacuum filtration through 11 and 2.5 µm pore-sized filters, sequentially. The filtrates were analyzed for TS concentrations and solid contents.



Dashed lines show the flow chart of 1/10 diluted LD processing, solid lines flow show the one of 1/5 diluted LD processing Figure A.1. The flowchart of dilution and sequential filtration analysis.

# Centrifugation analysis

Unprocessed LD and 1/10 diluted, sequentially filtered LD from 600, 425, 175, 100, 63 and 53  $\mu$ m pore-sized filters (DSFLD) were centrifuged at different centrifugation

speeds and times (Table A.4). Total solids concentration was measured for the supernatant of the centrifuged samples.

Input	Centrifugation speed, rpm	Centrifugation time, min
LD	10 000	10
	1 000	10
	5 000	10
	5 000	20
DSF LD	5 000	30
	10 000	10
	10 000	20
	10 000	30

Table A.4. Centrifugation speed and time applied on LD and DSFLD.

#### Mass centrifugation of LD and subsequent dilution analysis

LD sample of 40 L was first centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 10 min and the supernatant is collected. The supernatant was diluted by 1/10 ratio using raw domestic wastewater obtained from the inlet of a domestic wastewater treatment plant of Middle East Technical University. Domestic wastewater employed in this analysis was not filtered but just settled for 2.5 hours and the liquid phase was used in the dilution of the supernatant of LD.

#### Coagulation and flocculation analysis

Coagulation and flocculation analysis were performed on both LD and DSFLD.  $Al_2(SO_4)_3.18H_2O$  was used as a coagulant. Unprocessed LD was subjected 100, 1000, 5000, 10000, 50000 mg/L of coagulant doses. 100, 1000, 5000, 10000 and 23077 mg/L  $Al_2(SO_4)_3.18H_2O$  was used for coagulation of DSFLD. The solid content and the volumetric sludge generation percentage were analyzed after 1 hour settling of the coagulated sample.

# Results

# Settleability of the LD

The initial TS concentration of the LD was 72 g/L and could only be reduced to approximately 65 g/L by gravitational sedimentation for 5 days. The maximum reduction in TS was in the range of 9.2-9.7 % (Table A.5). The measurements on day 2 at 9 cm depth was found to be higher than the one measured on day 1 which suggested the formation of scum in the settling containers.

Container 1		ner 1	Container 2		
Day	27.5 cm	9 cm	27.5 cm	9 cm	
0	72075	72075	72075	72075	
1	69280	65960	69200	67690	
2	68500	67020	66490	69500	
5	65450	65430	65100	65590	
Maximum TS					
reduction, %	9.2	9.2	9.7	9.0	

Table A.5. TS concentrations given in mg/L in settling analysis.

#### Filterability of the LD

Filterability of the liquid digestate was tested with the mesh filters of different pore sizes. Gravitational filtration could not be achieved when the LD left idle on the meshes. Hence, a plastic apparatus was revolved over the meshes to enable filtering of LD. Revolving helped the digestate to pass through the filters with pore-sizes of 600, 425, 175, 100 and 63  $\mu$ m. However, sequestration of the LD while revolving the plastic apparatus was required to enable the filtration of LD through 53  $\mu$ m pore-sized mesh which resulted in higher concentration of TS compared to that of 63  $\mu$ m (

Table A.6). Maximum TS removal was achieved using a 63 μm pore-sized mesh (16.4 %) which corresponded to 60 230 mg/L retaining solids concentration.

Pore size, µm	TS, mg/L	TS reduction, %
600	67555	6.3
425	66585	7.6
175	63900	11.3
100	62090	13.9
63	60230	16.4
53	61290	15.0

Table A.6. TS concentrations of the filtered LDs.

#### Dilution and sequential filtration

The poor settleability and poor filterability of the LD lead to a search for an alternative and economic method for solids reduction. Dilution with raw domestic wastewater by 1/5 and 1/10 was decided to be applied to reduce the solid content of LD. The solid contents were reduced to 1.517 and 0.791 % for 1/5 and 1/10 dilution ratios, respectively (Table A.7). Franchino et al. (2013) reported that microalgae were able to survive at a solid content of 0.942%. However, the experiments they conducted were performed using solids contents in the range of 0.118-0.471% which were obtained by dilution with tap water. A digestate sample having 0.34% solid content was also used by Wang et al. (2010, b). Thus, further reduction in solids content was required for LD. DLD was then sequentially filtered from 53 and 38 µm pore-sized filters manually and then a coarse paper filter under vacuum to provide LD sample with a solid content applicable for microalgal growth. The solid contents of DSFLD after sequential filtration were obtained as 1.114 % for 1/5 diluted and 0.575 % for 1/10 diluted LD which were still higher than the ones applied in the previous studies aiming at nutrient removal from digestates using microalgal cultures.

Dilution ratio	Pore size,	TS,	TS	Solid
Difution fatio			reduction, %	content, %
	unfiltered	14725	79.6	1.517
1 /5	53	11940	83.4	1.191
1/3	38	11830	83.6	1.181
	paper filter (vacuum)	11140	84.5	1.114
	unfiltered	7860	89.1	0.791
1/10	53	6500	91.0	0.661
1/10	38	6170	91.4	0.632
	paper filter (vacuum)	5710	92.1	0.575

Table A.7. Solid contents after dilution-sequential filtration processes.

1/10 diluted DSFLD was further subjected to vacuum filtration through 11 and 2.5 µm pore-sized papers sequentially (Table A.8). The solids content could be reduced to 0.45 % at the end of filtration by 2.5 µm pore-sized filter. However, these two filters were immediately clogged and thus decided to be not easily applicable for solids reduction.

Table A.8. Solid contents after 11- and 2.5-micron sequential filtration.

Dilution ratio	Pore size, µm	TS, mg/L	Solid content, %
1/10	11	4830	0.49
1/10	2.5	4460	0.45

# Centrifugation

# Centrifugation of unprocessed liquid digestate

LD was centrifuged without any processing. The supernatant of the centrifuged samples had 23 975 mg/L TS concentration which corresponded to a solid content of 2.413 %.

Centrifugation was also carried out for 1/10 diluted and sequentially filtered LD with pore sizes 600, 425, 175, 100, 63 and 53  $\mu$ m. 0.285 % solid content was obtained at 10 000 rpm centrifugation for 10 minutes (

Table A.9). The solid content obtained at 5000 rpm and 10 minutes of centrifugation (0.326 %) was also applicable for microalgal processes when compared to the those of given by Franchino et al. (2013) and Wang et al. (2010, b).

Centrifugation	Centrifugation	TS,	Solid content,
Speed, rpm	Time, min	mg/L	%
1000	10	4600	0.462
5000	10	3240	0.326
10000	10	2830	0.285

Table A.9. Initial centrifugation analysis

The time of centrifugation was also extended for 5000 and 10 000 rpm to investigate the effect of centrifugation time on solids removal (Table A.10). The solid contents were in the range of 0.281-0.304% for centrifugation at 5000 rpm and of 0.264-0.277 % for centrifugation at 10 000 rpm. Thus, increasing the time for centrifugation did not result in a considerable reduction in solid contents.

Centrifugation	Centrifugation	TS,	Solid content,
Speed, rpm	Time, min	mg/L	%
5000	10	2877	0.304
	20	2690	0.290
	30	2703	0.281
10000	10	2470	0.277
	20	2560	0.267
	30	2587	0.264

Table A.10. Centrifugation at different time intervals.

# Mass centrifugation of the liquid digestate and its subsequent dilution with raw domestic wastewater

The centrifugation of large volumes of 1/10 diluted LD was an energy intensive process. The LD was decided to be first centrifuged and then diluted with settled domestic wastewater. The solid content of the resultant mixture was 0.322% in which microalgae was probable to grow (Table A.11). On the other hand, the compositions of the constituents were also determined for raw domestic wastewater, settled domestic wastewater, LD and the centrifuged LD before and after dilution (Table A.11). Even though the solids content for microalgal growth was satisfied by centrifugation, the nutrients especially phosphorus content was scrapped from the liquid phase by centrifugation at significant amounts. The phosphorus is usually a limiting substrate for microalgal species and wasting it via centrifugation was not meeting the scope of microalgal nutrient removal processes.

		the	centrifuged L	D.					
	TS, mg/L	VS, mg/L	Solid content, %	TN, mg/L	TSN, mg/L	TP, mg/L	TSP, mg/L	COD <sub>t</sub> , mg/L	CODs, mg/L
kaw domestic wastewater	806	256	0.083	70	63	×	2	419	196
ettled domestic wastewater	636	133	0.071	60	53	9	5	169	69
Ď	72075	38507	N.D.	3800	2333	1850	550	62467	11985
Centrifuged LD	20558	7366	2.503	N.D.	N.D.	80	15	27033	12565
/10 diluted centrituged LD at 10 000 rpm for 10 min)	2406	584	0.322	377	273	13	9	3150	1235

an
E
wastewater,
ed domestic
settle
wastewater,
domestic
f raw e
compositions o
The constituent
1. T
ole A.1
Tał

#### Coagulation

#### Coagulation of unprocessed liquid digestate

LD was coagulated using coagulant doses between 100-50000 mg/L. Scum formation was measured by the ratio of the volume of scum layer to complete volume of the sample. Scum layer was not observed at the 100 and 1000 mg/L coagulant doses (Table A.12). The scum layer was observed to occupy 24 and 30 % of the total volume at 5000 and 10000 coagulant doses, respectively. Sudden and almost complete scum formation was observed in the application of 50000 mg/L coagulant which resulted in the frothing of the LD. Therefore, solids data could not be obtained for this coagulant dose. Coagulation of the unprocessed LD was found as not being feasible for the high solid content observed even after coagulation (6.998-7.085 %), very high amounts of coagulant doses applied and the large amounts of scum formation.

Coagulant	TS,	Solid	Scum formation,
dose, mg/L	mg/L	content, %	%
100	70820	6.998	Not observed
1000	72140	7.085	Not observed
5000	66380	6.998	24
10000	63360	6.774	30
50000		Not mea	surable

Table A.12. The solid content after coagulation of the unprocessed LD.

#### Coagulation of 1/10 diluted and sequentially filtered liquid digestate

Coagulation experiments were also performed for 1/10 diluted and sequentially filtered LD (through 600, 425, 175, 100, 63 and 53 µm pore-sized filters) at different coagulant doses (Table A.13). There observed a clear interface between the coagulated sludge and the liquid portion at the doses of 5000, 10000, 23077 mg/L coagulant (Figure A.2). Volume of sludge generated corresponded to 60, 36 and 23% relative to the total volumes of the samples after 1 hour of settling. The solid content was also found to range between 0.428-7.73 %.

The optimum coagulant dose to reduce the solid content to be applicable in microalgal nutrient removal process was achieved at 5 000 mg/L of coagulant. On the other hand, 5 grams of coagulant application to 1L of LD was decided not to be an economical way for solids reduction. Additionally, the sludge generated (60 % of volume) was comparably higher than the ones for higher doses which may represent a potential problem in disposal.

Dilution	Coagulant dose, mg/L	TS, mg/L	Solid content, %	pН	Sludge generated, %
1/10	100	5825	0.598	7.73	No clear interface
1/10	1000	5055	0.520	7.28	No clear interface
1/10	5000	4175	0.428	6.13	60
1/10	10000	6620	0.695	4.28	36
1/10	23077	17655	1.781	3.89	23

Table A.13. Coagulation of 1/10 diluted and sequentially filtered digestate.



Figure A.2. Samples after 30 minutes settling of coagulated LD.

#### Conclusions

The direct application of the liquid digestate for microalgal nutrient removal processes was not feasible due to its high solids content that could potentially prevent the growth of microalgal species. Settling and filtration analysis revealed that liquid digestate was poorly settleable and filterable. 1/10 diluted and sequentially filtrated LD could have

been applied before centrifugation process to reduce the solid content. However, the dilution of LD before centrifugation increases the volume to be centrifuged which in turn makes such a process energy intensive. Mass centrifugation of the LD followed by its dilution with domestic wastewater resulted in a solid content of 0.32% which is fairly applicable for microalgal growth. However, it was concluded that the nutrient concentrations were decreased by centrifugation which was not a desired option for microalgal processes. Coagulation of 1/10 diluted and sequentially filtered liquid digestate required a coagulant dose of 5000 mg/L with a 60% of total volume sludge production. Such a process had a potential to increase the chemical costs associated with the large amounts of consumption. Moreover, the large volumes of sludge production were another concern in the management of the LD. Therefore, it was decided that the solids reduction methods implemented did not provide an efficient or cost-effective solution based on the results of the analysis.

# **APPENDICES**

# **B.** The statistical evaluation of the results of the analysis obtained from R2 reactors

The results of the analysis applied for each parameter for R2 reactors were evaluated using normal and t-test methods conducted by Minitab 17 software. The 95% confidence interval for each parameter was given in lower and upper limits in Table B.1. The statistical evaluation showed that the results were representative in 95% confidence interval.

			conf	idence in	tervals.				- - -
					ч ч ч	Confidence	interval with	hin 95% confi	dence level
Parameter	Nutrient	Triplicate	Measured	Mean	Standard	Normal	method	t-t	est
	supprementation	4			deviation	Lower	Upper	Lower	Upper
		1	7.97						
	with	2	7.83	7.91	0.07	7.21	8.60	7.7304	8.08
11.		3	7.92						
нd		1	7.99						
	without	2	8.04	8.00	0.04	7.60	8.39	7.90	8.10
		e	7.96						
		1	5510						
	with	2	5524	5515	8.1	5436	5594	5495	5535
Alkalınıty		3	5510						
(mg/L as		1	5786						
Ca(U3)	without	2	5757	5771	14.5	5629	5913	5735	5807
		3	5771						
		1	10805						
	with	2	11341	11142	293	8272	14012	10413	11870
		3	11279						
CUDt, mg/L		1	11397						
	without	2	11557	11457	87	10604	12310	11240	11674
		3	11417						
		1	14810						
	with	2	14895	14967	202	12987	16947	14464	15469
TC m2/I		3	15195						
1 Э, ш <u>у</u> L		1	14985						
	without	2	15085	14893	250	12442	17345	14271	15515
		e	14610						

Table B.1. Statistical analysis of the results obtained from R2 reactors at the end of RBP test and the 95%

Table ]	B.1. Statistical an	alysis of th	e results obt conf	ained fro	m R2 react tervals.	ors at the en	d of RBP	test and the	95%
						Confidence	interval with	in 95% conf	idence level
Parameter	Nutrient	Triplicate	Measured	Mean	Standard	Normal	method	1	est
	supplementation				deviation	Lower	Upper	Lower	Upper
		1	6610						
	with	2	6620	6668	93	5763	7574	6439	6898
L		e	6775						
v.S, mg/L		1	6740						
	without	5	6810	6737	75	6002	7471	6550	6923
		ε	6660						
		1	1491						
	with	2	1623	1537	74	810	2264	1353	1722
		e e	1498						
INH4 -IN, IIIg/L		1	1484						
	without	2	1456	1470	14	1333	1607	1435	1505
		3	1470						
		1	1568						
	with	5	1725	1630	84	810	2449	1422	1838
TUNI		3	1596						
I NN, IIIg/L	مىدە ئەلىكىد	1	1561						
	MILIOUL	2	1526	1547	19	1366	1728	1501	1593
		n	1554						
		1	513						
	with	2	516	521	10.8	415	626	494	548
TD		3	533						
IF, IIIg/L		1	441						
	without	2	440	445	8.4	363	527	425	466
		m	455						

247

#### **APPENDICES**

## C. Calculations regarding anaerobic treatment in RBP test

The treatment potential of the digestates were evaluated both considering the difference between the initial and final concentrations in the reactors and the concentrations of the constituents in the digestate content at the beginning and at end of the operation. The second approach, that is the concentrations of the constituents in the digestate content, required the exclusion of the concentrations of the constituents resulting from the inoculum itself at the end of operation. The calculation methodology of the concentrations of the constituents in the digestate content at the end of the operation and the results of these calculations are given in the following tables.

Table C.1. Nomenclatures, units and the calcul	ations for the rem	oval effic	iency of the constituents from digestate content.
Quantity	Nomenclature	Unit	Source
Constituent	X	ı	COD <sub>t</sub> , TS, VS, NH <sub>4</sub> +-N, TKN, DRP, TP
Volume of digestate in reactor	$\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{d}}$	mL	measured
Volume of inoculum in reactor	$V_{\mathrm{I}}$	mL	measured
Volume of nutrient and trace metal solution within reactor	$\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{NT}}$	mL	measured
Total effective volume within reactor	$\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{T}}$	mL	$\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{d}} + \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{i}} + \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{NT}}$
Initial X concentration of digestate	$[\mathbf{X}]_{d,i}$	mg/L	measured
Initial X concentration of inoculum	$[\mathbf{X}]_{\mathrm{Li}}$	mg/L	measured
Initial X concentration of nutrient and trace metal solution	$[\mathbf{X}]_{NT,i}$	mg/L	measured
Initial X amount of digestate	$\mathbf{X}_{\mathrm{d,i}}$	mg	${ m X}_{ m d,i} = [{ m X}]_{ m d,i} * { m V}_{ m d}$ / 1000
Initial X amount of inoculum	$\mathbf{X}_{\mathrm{I,i}}$	mg	${ m X}_{ m I,i} = [{ m X}]_{ m I,i} * { m V}_{ m I}$ / 1000
Initial X amount of nutrient and trace metal solution	$\mathbf{X}_{\mathrm{NT,i}}$	mg	$X_{ m NT,i} = [X]_{ m NT,i} * V_{ m NT} / 1000$
Initial total X amount within reactor	$\mathbf{X}_{\mathrm{T,i}}$	mg	$\mathrm{X}_{\mathrm{T,i}} = \mathrm{X}_{\mathrm{d,i}} + \mathrm{X}_{\mathrm{Li}} + \mathrm{X}_{\mathrm{NT,i}}$
Initial X concentration within reactor	$[\mathbf{X}]_{\mathrm{T,i}}$	mg/L	$[\mathrm{X}]_{\mathrm{T,i}} = (\mathrm{X}_{\mathrm{T,i}} / \mathrm{V}_{\mathrm{T}})^* 1000$
Calcula	ations for specific X 1	removal in	reactors
Final concentration of X within inoculum-only reactor	$[\mathbf{X}]_{\mathbf{T},\mathbf{f}}$ (inoculum-only)	mg/L	measured
X amount remained in inoculum-only reactor	$X_{T,f}$ (inoculum-only)	mg	$X_{T,f}$ (inoculum-only)= $[X]_{T,f}$ (inoculum-only) $*V_{T}$ (inoculum-only) /1000
Initial X amount of nutrient and trace element solution in	${ m X}_{ m NT,i}$ (inoculum-only)	mg	$X_{NT,i}$ (inoculum-only) = $[X]_{NT,i}$ (inoculum-only) $^{*}V_{NT}$ (inoculum-only) / 1000
inoculum-only reactor			
Initial X amount of inoculum in inoculum-only reactor	${ m X}_{ m I,i}$ (inoculum-only)		$X_{Li}$ (inoculum-only) = $[X]_{Li}$ (inoculum-only) $* V_{I}$ (inoculum-only) / 1000
Initial total X amount within inoculum-only reactor	${ m X}_{ m T,i}$ (inoculum-only)	mg	${ m X}_{ m T,i}$ (inoculum-only) $= { m X}_{ m I,i}$ (inoculum-only) $+ { m X}_{ m NT,i}$ (inoculum-only)
Initial X concentration within inoculum-only reactor	$[X]_{T,i}$ (inoculum-only)	mg/L	$[X]_{T,i(inoculum-only)} = (X_{T,i(inoculum-only)}  /  V_{T(inoculum-only)}) * 1000$
Specific X removal of inoculum	$I_{\rm s}$	mg/mL	$I_{s} = (X_{T,i} (inoculum-only) - X_{T,f} (inoculum-only))/V_{T(inoculum-only)}$
Calculations for X removal e	fficiency from digest	ates by exe	mpting inoculum contribution
Inoculum X removal amount in each reactor	${ m X}_{ m I,removed}$	mg	${ m X}_{ m I,removed} = { m I_s}^{*} * ({ m V_I} + { m V}_{ m NT})$
Inoculum X remaining in the reactor	${\rm X}_{{\rm l},{\rm f}}$	mg	$X_{I,remained} = (X_{I,i} + X_{NT,i}) - X_{I,removed}$
Final X concentration within reactor	$[\mathbf{X}]_{\mathrm{T,f}}$	mg/L	measured
Final X amount within reactor	$\mathbf{X}_{\mathrm{T,f}}$	mg	${ m X}_{{ m T,f}} = [{ m X}]_{{ m T,f}} * { m V}_{{ m T}}/1000$
Digestate X amount remained	$\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{d},\mathbf{f}}$	mg	$\mathbf{X}_{\mathrm{d},\mathrm{f}} = \mathbf{X}_{\mathrm{T},\mathrm{f}} - \mathbf{X}_{\mathrm{L},\mathrm{f}}$
Digestate X concentration remained	$[\mathbf{X}]_{\mathrm{d},\mathrm{f}}$	mg/L	$[X]_{d,f} = X_{d,f} * 1000 / V_d$
X removal efficiency	$\mathbf{X}_{\mathrm{eff}}$	%	$X_{eff} = ([X]_{d,i} - [X]_{d,f}) * 100 / [X]_{d,i}$
d: digestate, NT: nutrient and trace element solution, I: inocu	ılum, i: initial, f:final,	T: total	

an N

		Initial C	COD <sub>t</sub> concen	trations,		V - loome -	T. L. L.		т				COD <sub>t</sub> co	oncentration in		Specific	In a surbury (			Digestate	CODt
			mg/L			volumes	used, IIIL		1	initial COD <sub>t</sub> a	infounts, fing		reac	tor, mg/L	Final COD <sub>t</sub>	CODt	moculum	JOD <sub>t</sub> , Ing	Digestate	CODt	removal
Depator	Triplicate			Nutrient			Nutrient	Total			Nutrient	Total in			amount in	removal of	_		CODt	concentration	efficiency
Reactor	code	Digestate	Inoculum	medium	Digestate	Inoculum	medium	volume	Digestate	Inoculum	medium	reactor	Initial	Final	reactor, mg	inoculum,	Removed	Remained	remained, mg	remained,	from
				meanam				, oralle				reactor				mg/mL				mg/L	digestates, %
		[X]d,i	[X]1,i	[X]nt,i	Vd	V1	Vnt	Vt	Xd,i	X1,i	Xnt,i	Xt,i	[X]t,i	[X]t,f	Xt,f	Is	X1,removed	Xı,f	Xd,f	[X]d,f	X eff
Ia	1	0	12893	700	0	400.00	11	411.00	0	5157	7.7	5165	12567	10775±225	4429±92	1.79±0.225	736.4	4428.5	0.0±0.0	$0{\pm}0$	14±2
R1 <sup>a</sup>	1	111056	12893	700	9.83	387.97	11	408.80	1092	5002	7.7	6101	14925	11240±302	4595±124	1.79	714.8	4295.0	299.9±123.6	30512±12579	73±11
R2 <sup>a</sup>	1	39010	12893	700	26.17	371.06	11	408.23	1021	4784	7.7	5813	14239	10805±120	4411±49	1.79	684.5	4107.2	303.8±48.9	11610±1868	70±5
R2 <sup>a</sup>	2	39010	12893	700	26.18	371.06	11	408.24	1021	4784	7.7	5813	14239	11341±353	4630±144	1.79	684.5	4107.2	522.5±144.0	19958±5502	49±14
R2 <sup>a</sup>	3	39010	12893	700	26.19	371.06	11	408.25	1022	4784	7.7	5813	14240	11279±89	4605±36	1.79	684.5	4107.2	497.5±36.4	18992±1391	51±4
R3 <sup>a</sup>	1	57334	12893	700	18.34	380.01	11	409.35	1051	4900	7.7	5958	14556	12122±176	4962±72	1.79	700.6	4206.6	755.5±72.2	41202±3938	28±7
R4 <sup>a</sup>	1	76675	12893	700	13.88	384.09	11	408.97	1064	4952	7.7	6024	14729	11744±353	4803±144	1.79	707.9	4251.9	551.0±144.3	39707±10399	48±14
R5 <sup>a</sup>	1	43751	12893	700	24.28	373.64	11	408.93	1062	4817	7.7	5888	14398	11495±8	4700±3	1.79	689.2	4135.9	564.5±3.3	23247±136	47±0
R6 <sup>a</sup>	1	21079	12893	700	62.58	335.93	11	409.51	1319	4331	7.7	5658	13816	10699±185	4381±76	1.79	621.6	3717.3	663.9±75.6	10609±1209	50±6
I <sup>b</sup>	1	0	12893	700	0.00	400.00	0	400.00	0	5157	0	5157	12893	10850±150	4340±60	2.04±0.15	817.2	4340.0	$0.0\pm0.0$	$0{\pm}0$	16±1
R1 <sup>b</sup>	1	111056	12893	700	9.83	387.97	0	397.80	1092	5002	0	6094	15318	11667±99	4641±39	2.04	792.6	4209.5	431.6±39.4	43912±4005	60±4
R2 <sup>b</sup>	1	39010	12893	700	26.21	371.06	0	397.26	1022	4784	0	5806	14616	11397±223	4528±89	2.04	758.1	4026.0	501.6±88.7	19140±3386	51±9
R2 <sup>b</sup>	2	39010	12893	700	26.17	371.06	0	397.23	1021	4784	0	5805	14614	11557±194	4591±77	2.04	758.1	4026.0	564.7±77.2	21574±2950	45±8
R2 <sup>b</sup>	3	39010	12893	700	26.21	371.06	0	397.27	1022	4784	0	5806	14616	11417±231	4536±92	2.04	758.1	4026.0	509.8±91.9	19451±3507	50±9
R3 <sup>b</sup>	1	57334	12893	700	18.28	380.01	0	398.30	1048	4900	0	5948	14933	11795±4	4698±2	2.04	776.4	4123.1	574.8±1.7	31438±91	45±0
R4 <sup>b</sup>	1	76675	12893	700	13.81	384.09	0	397.90	1059	4952	0	6011	15107	12174±288	4844±115	2.04	784.7	4167.4	676.6±114.5	48997±8293	36±11
R5 <sup>b</sup>	1	43751	12893	700	24.3	373.64	0	397.94	1063	4817	0	5880	14777	12172±25	4844±10	2.04	763.4	4054.0	789.9±10.0	32507±413	26±1
R6 <sup>b</sup>	1	21079	12893	700	62.57	335.93	0	398.50	1319	4331	0	5650	14178	10956±27	4366±11	2.04	686.3	3644.9	720.9±10.7	11522±171	45±1

Table C.2. COD<sub>t</sub> calculations with and without nutrient supplementation.

<sup>b</sup> without nutrient supplementation.

		Initial TS	concentratio	ons, mg/L		Volumes	used, mL			Initial TS arr	nounts, mg		TS cone react	centration in tor, mg/L	Final TS amount in	Specific TS removal of	Inoculum	TS, mg	Digestate TS	Digestate TS concentration	TS removal efficiency
Reactor	Triplicate	Digestate	Inoculum	Nutrient	Digestate	Inoculum	Nutrient	Total	Digestate	Inoculum	Nutrient	Total in	Initial	Final	reactor. mg	inoculum,	Removed	Remained	remained, mg	remained,	from
	code	8		medium	0		medium	volume	0		medium	reactor				mg/mL				mg/L	digestates, %
		[X]d,i	[X]1,i	[X]nt,i	Vd	V1	Vnt	Vt	Xd,i	X1,i	Xnt,i	Xt,i	[X]t,i	[X]t,f	Xt,f	Is	X1,removed	Xı,f	Xd,f	[X]d,f	X eff
I <sup>a</sup>	1	0	14107	26590	0	400.00	11	411.0	0	5643	292.5	5935	14441	13005±15	5345±6	1.44±0.015	590	5345	0±0	$0\pm0$	10±0
R1 <sup>a</sup>	1	105250	14107	26590	9.83	387.97	11	408.8	1034	5473	292.5	6800	16634	14645±155	5987±63	1.44	573	5193	794±63	80810±6447	23±6
R2 <sup>a</sup>	1	53263	14107	26590	26.17	371.06	11	408.2	1394	5235	292.5	6921	16954	14810±30	6046±12	1.44	549	4978	1068±12	40790±468	23±1
R2 <sup>a</sup>	2	53263	14107	26590	26.18	371.06	11	408.2	1394	5235	292.5	6921	16954	14895±205	6081±84	1.44	549	4978	1102±84	42109±3197	21±6
R2 <sup>a</sup>	3	53263	14107	26590	26.19	371.06	11	408.2	1395	5235	292.5	6922	16956	15195±105	6203±43	1.44	549	4978	1225±43	46771±1637	12±3
R3 <sup>a</sup>	1	59053	14107	26590	18.34	380.01	11	409.3	1083	5361	292.5	6736	16456	14845±25	6077±10	1.44	562	5092	985±10	53719±558	9±1
R4 <sup>a</sup>	1	74830	14107	26590	13.88	384.09	11	409.0	1038	5418	292.5	6749	16503	14725±95	6022±39	1.44	567	5144	879±39	63316±2800	15±4
R5 <sup>a</sup>	1	49920	14107	26590	24.28	373.64	11	408.9	1212	5271	292.5	6776	16570	14665±65	5997±27	1.44	552	5011	986±27	40595±1095	19±2
R6 <sup>a</sup>	1	18773	14107	26590	62.58	335.93	11	409.5	1175	4739	292.5	6206	15155	13940±70	5709±29	1.44	498	4533	1175±29	18781±458	0±2
						_										_					_
I <sup>b</sup>	1	0	14107	26590	0	400.00	0	400.0	0	5643	0	5643	14107	13125±65	5250±26	0.98±0.065	393	5250	0±0	$0{\pm}0$	7±0
R1 <sup>b</sup>	1	105250	14107	26590	9.83	387.97	0	397.8	1034	5473	0	6508	16359	14545±105	5786±42	0.98	381	5092	694±42	70599±4250	33±4
R2 <sup>b</sup>	1	53263	14107	26590	26.21	371.06	0	397.3	1396	5235	0	6630	16690	14985±115	5953±46	0.98	364	4870	1083±46	41321±1743	22±3
R2 <sup>b</sup>	2	53263	14107	26590	26.17	371.06	0	397.2	1394	5235	0	6629	16687	15085±25	5992±10	0.98	364	4870	1122±10	42870±379	20±1
R2 <sup>b</sup>	3	53263	14107	26590	26.21	371.06	0	397.3	1396	5235	0	6631	16690	14610±150	5804±60	0.98	364	4870	934±60	35634±2274	33±4
R3 <sup>b</sup>	1	59053	14107	26590	18.28	380.01	0	398.3	1080	5361	0	6441	16170	14960±60	5959±24	0.98	373	4988	971±24	53100±1307	10±2
R4 <sup>b</sup>	1	74830	14107	26590	13.81	384.09	0	397.9	1033	5418	0	6452	16215	14940±250	5945±100	0.98	377	5041	903±99	65420±7203	13±10
R5 <sup>b</sup>	1	49920	14107	26590	24.30	373.64	0	397.9	1213	5271	0	6484	16294	15255±75	6071±30	0.98	367	4904	1167±30	48009±1228	4±2
R6 <sup>b</sup>	1	18773	14107	26590	62.57	335.93	0	398.5	1175	4739	0	5914	14840	14065±125	5605±50	0.98	330	4409	1196±50	19112±796	-2±4

Table C.3. TS calculations with and without nutrient supplementation.

<sup>b</sup> without nutrient supplementation.

		Initial VS	concentratio	ons mg/L		Volumes i	used mL			Initial VS an	nounts mg		VS con	centration in		Specific	Inoculum	VS mg		Digestate VS	VS removal
		initiai vis	concentration	, ing/ L		v orunies (	used, IIIL			initiai vis an	liounts, ing		reac	tor, mg/L	Final VS	VS	moculum	v 5, mg	Digestate VS	concentration	efficiency
Reactor	Triplicate			Nutrient			Nutrient	Total			Nutrient	Total in			amount in	removal of			remained mo	remained	from
Redetor	code	Digestate	Inoculum	medium	Digestate	Inoculum	medium	volume	Digestate	Inoculum	medium	reactor	Initial	Final	reactor, mg	inoculum,	Removed	Remained	remained, ing	mg/L	digestates. %
				mean			meurum	volume			meanum	reactor				mg/mL				<u>8</u> , 2	angestates, /o
		[X]d,i	[X]1,i	[X]nt,i	Vd	V1	Vnt	Vt	Xd,i	X1,i	Xnt,i	Xt,i	[X]t,i	[X]t,f	Xt,f	Is	X1,removed	Xı,f	Xd,f	[X]d,f	X eff
I <sup>a</sup>	1	0	7330	14520	0	400.00	11	411.0	0	2932	159.7	3092	7522	6345±15	2608±6	$1.18\pm0.01$	484	2608	0±0.0	0±0	16±0
R1 <sup>a</sup>	1	72630	7330	14520	9.83	387.97	11	408.8	714	2844	159.7	3717	9093	7285±65	2978±27	1.18	470	2534	444±26.6	45208±2704	38±4
R2 <sup>a</sup>	1	25970	7330	14520	26.17	371.06	11	408.2	680	2720	159.7	3559	8719	6610±20	2698±8	1.18	450	2430	269±8.2	10266±312	60±1
R2 <sup>a</sup>	2	25970	7330	14520	26.18	371.06	11	408.2	680	2720	159.7	3559	8719	6620±80	2703±33	1.18	450	2430	273±32.7	10421±1248	60±5
R2 <sup>a</sup>	3	25970	7330	14520	26.19	371.06	11	408.2	680	2720	159.7	3560	8720	6775±5	2766±2	1.18	450	2430	336±2.0	12835±78	51±0
R3 <sup>a</sup>	1	38013	7330	14520	18.34	380.01	11	409.3	697	2785	159.7	3642	8898	7445±5	3048±2	1.18	460	2485	563±2.0	30693±112	19±0
R4 <sup>a</sup>	1	50953	7330	14520	13.88	384.09	11	409.0	707	2815	159.7	3682	9003	7470±20	3055±8	1.18	465	2510	545±8.2	39282±589	23±1
R5 <sup>a</sup>	1	28180	7330	14520	24.28	373.64	11	408.9	684	2739	159.7	3583	8762	7215±75	2950±31	1.18	453	2446	505±30.7	20786±1263	26±4
R6 <sup>a</sup>	1	9837	7330	14520	62.58	335.93	11	409.5	616	2462	159.7	3238	7906	6600±30	2703±12	1.18	408	2214	489±12.3	7817±196	21±2
Ip	1	0	7330	14520	0	400.00	0	400.0	0	2932	0	2932	7330	6350±10	2540±4	0.98±0.01	392	2540	0±0.0	0±0	13±0
R1 <sup>b</sup>	1	72630	7330	14520	9.83	387.97	0	397.8	714	2844	0	3558	8943	7315±65	2910±26	0.98	380	2464	446±25.9	45408±2631	37±4
R2 <sup>b</sup>	1	25970	7330	14520	26.21	371.06	0	397.3	681	2720	0	3400	8560	6740±40	2678±16	0.98	364	2356	321±15.9	12262±606	53±2
R2 <sup>b</sup>	2	25970	7330	14520	26.17	371.06	0	397.2	680	2720	0	3400	8558	6810±110	2705±44	0.98	364	2356	349±43.7	13331±1669	49±6
R2 <sup>b</sup>	3	25970	7330	14520	26.21	371.06	0	397.3	681	2720	0	3401	8560	6660±110	2646±44	0.98	364	2356	290±43.7	11049±1667	57±6
R3 <sup>b</sup>	1	38013	7330	14520	18.28	380.01	0	398.3	695	2785	0	3480	8738	7510±20	2991±8	0.98	372	2413	578±8.0	31620±436	17±1
R4 <sup>b</sup>	1	50953	7330	14520	13.81	384.09	0	397.9	704	2815	0	3519	8844	7485±105	2978±42	0.98	376	2439	539±41.8	39053±3025	23±6
R5 <sup>b</sup>	1	28180	7330	14520	24.30	373.64	0	397.9	685	2739	0	3424	8603	7280±50	2897±20	0.98	366	2373	524±19.9	21581±819	23±3
R6 <sup>b</sup>	1	9837	7330	14520	62.57	335.93	0	398.5	616	2462	0	3078	7724	6605±85	2632±34	0.98	329	2133	499±33.9	7974±541	19±6

Table C.4. VS calculations with and without nutrient supplementation.

<sup>b</sup> without nutrient supplementation.

		Initial NI	H <sub>4</sub> <sup>+</sup> -N conce	ntrations,		Volumes i	ised mL		Ini	itial NH₄+-N	amounts m	σ	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N	concentration	Final	Specific	Inoculum N	H₄+-N mg		Digestate	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N
			mg/L			v ordines (	used, IIIL			100110114 10	amounts, m	5	in rea	ctor, mg/L	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N	moeurum ru	114 1 <b>1</b> , 115	Digestate	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N	removal
	Triplicate			Nutrient			Nutrient	Total			Nutrient	Total in			amount in	removal of			NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N	concentration	efficiency
Reactor	code	Digestate	Inoculum	medium	Digestate	Inoculum	medium	volume	Digestate	Inoculum	medium	reactor	Initial	Final	reactor mg	inoculum,	Removed	Remained	remained, mg	remained,	from
				mearum			medium	volume			meanum	reactor			reactor, mg	mg/mL				mg/L	digestates, %
		[X]d,i	[X]1,i	[X]nt,i	Vd	V1	Vnt	Vt	Xd,i	X1,i	Xnt,i	Xt,i	[X]t,i	[X]t,f	Xt,f	Is	X1,removed	Xı,f	Xd,f	[X]d,f	X eff
Ia	1	0	892	3290	0	400.00	11	411.0	0.0	357	36.2	393	956	1120±3	460±1.2	-0.16±0.003	-67.3	460.3	$0{\pm}0.0$	0±0	0±0
R1 <sup>a</sup>	1	3288	892	3290	9.83	387.97	11	408.8	32.3	346	36.2	415	1014	1196±12	489±4.6	-0.16	-65.4	447.6	41±4.6	4186±466	-27±14
R2 <sup>a</sup>	1	7703	892	3290	26.17	371.06	11	408.2	201.6	331	36.2	569	1393	1491±7	609±2.9	-0.16	-62.6	429.8	179±2.9	6836±109	11±1
R2 <sup>a</sup>	2	7703	892	3290	26.18	371.06	11	408.2	201.7	331	36.2	569	1393	1623±2	662±0.6	-0.16	-62.6	429.8	233±0.6	8887±22	-15±0
R2 <sup>a</sup>	3	7703	892	3290	26.19	371.06	11	408.2	201.8	331	36.2	569	1394	1498±14	612±5.7	-0.16	-62.6	429.8	182±5.7	6941±218	10±3
R3 <sup>a</sup>	1	1782	892	3290	18.34	380.01	11	409.3	32.7	339	36.2	408	996	1139±2	466±0.6	-0.16	-64.1	439.2	27±0.6	1456±31	18±2
R4 <sup>a</sup>	1	4569	892	3290	13.88	384.09	11	409.0	63.4	343	36.2	442	1081	1212±1	495±0.2	-0.16	-64.7	443.5	52±0.2	3733±15	18±0
R5 <sup>a</sup>	1	4071	892	3290	24.28	373.64	11	408.9	98.9	333	36.2	468	1145	1285±2	526±0.8	-0.16	-63.0	432.5	93±0.8	3836±34	6±1
R6 <sup>a</sup>	1	826	892	3290	62.58	335.93	11	409.5	51.7	300	36.2	388	946	1118±2	457±0.6	-0.16	-56.8	392.7	65±0.6	1035±10	-25±1
												r			1						
Ip	1	0	892	3290	0	400.00	0	400.0	0.0	357	0	357	892	1037±0	415±0.1	-0.15±0	-58.1	414.9	0±0.0	$0\pm0$	0±0
R1 <sup>b</sup>	1	3288	892	3290	9.83	387.97	0	397.8	32.3	346	0	378	951	1108±13	441±5.0	-0.15	-56.3	402.4	38±5.0	3878±510	-18±16
R2 <sup>b</sup>	1	7703	892	3290	26.21	371.06	0	397.3	201.9	331	0	533	1341	1484±0	590±0.0	-0.15	-53.9	384.9	205±0.0	7810±0	-1±0
R2 <sup>b</sup>	2	7703	892	3290	26.17	371.06	0	397.2	201.6	331	0	533	1341	1456±0	578±0.0	-0.15	-53.9	384.9	194±0.0	7393±0	4±0
R2 <sup>b</sup>	3	7703	892	3290	26.21	371.06	0	397.3	201.9	331	0	533	1341	1470±14	584±5.6	-0.15	-53.9	384.9	199±5.6	7597±212	1±3
R3 <sup>b</sup>	1	1782	892	3290	18.28	380.01	0	398.3	32.6	339	0	372	933	1074±7	428±2.8	-0.15	-55.2	394.2	34±2.8	1840±152	-3±9
R4 <sup>b</sup>	1	4569	892	3290	13.81	384.09	0	397.9	63.1	343	0	406	1020	1166±9	464±3.3	-0.15	-55.8	398.4	65±3.3	4739±241	-4±5
R5 <sup>b</sup>	1	4071	892	3290	24.30	373.64	0	397.9	98.9	333	0	432	1086	1280±14	509±5.6	-0.15	-54.3	387.5	122±5.6	5007±229	-23±6
R6 <sup>b</sup>	1	826	892	3290	62.57	335.93	0	398.5	51.7	300	0	351	882	1044±2	416±0.9	-0.15	-48.8	348.4	$68 \pm 0.9$	1080±15	-31±2

Table C.5. NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N calculations with and without nutrient supplementation.

<sup>b</sup> without nutrient supplementation.

		Initial 7	TKN concent mg/L	trations,		Volumes u	used, mL		Ι	nitial TKN a	mounts, mg		TKN conc reacto	centration in or, mg/L	Final TKN	Specific TKN	Inoculum 7	ſKN, mg	Digestate	Digestate TKN	TKN removal
Reactor	Triplicate code	Digestate	Inoculum	Nutrient medium	Digestate	Inoculum	Nutrient medium	Total volume	Digestate	Inoculum	Nutrient medium	Total in reactor	Initial	Final	amount in reactor, mg	removal of inoculum, mg/mL	Removed	Remained	TKN remained, mg	remained, mg/L	efficiency from digestates, %
		[X]d,i	[X]1,i	[X]nt,i	Vd	V1	Vnt	Vt	Xd,i	X1,i	Xnt,i	Xt,i	[X]t,i	[X]t,f	Xt,f	Is	X1,removed	Xı,f	Xd,f	[X]d,f	X eff
Ia	1	0	1274	3290	0	400.00	11	411.0	0	509.6	36.2	545.8	1328	1189±5	488±1.8	0.14±0.004	57.3	489	0±0.0	0±0	11±0
R1 <sup>a</sup>	1	3694	1274	3290	9.83	387.97	11	408.8	36.3	494.3	36.2	566.8	1386	1237±12	506±5.1	0.14	55.6	475	31±5.1	3139±514	15±14
R2 <sup>a</sup>	1	8394	1274	3290	26.17	371.06	11	408.2	219.7	472.7	36.2	728.6	1785	1568±28	640±11.4	0.14	53.2	456	184±11.4	7047±437	16±5
R2 <sup>a</sup>	2	8394	1274	3290	26.18	371.06	11	408.2	219.7	472.7	36.2	728.7	1785	1725±17	704±6.9	0.14	53.2	456	248±6.9	9491±262	-13±3
R2 <sup>a</sup>	3	8394	1274	3290	26.19	371.06	11	408.2	219.9	472.7	36.2	728.8	1785	1596±28	652±11.4	0.14	53.2	456	196±11.4	7479±436	11±5
R3 <sup>a</sup>	1	2285	1274	3290	18.34	380.01	11	409.3	41.9	484.1	36.2	562.2	1373	1214±21	497±8.6	0.14	54.5	466	31±8.6	1692±469	26±21
R4 <sup>a</sup>	1	5147	1274	3290	13.88	384.09	11	409.0	71.4	489.3	36.2	596.9	1460	1300±1	532±0.4	0.14	55.1	471	61±0.4	4412±28	14±1
R5 <sup>a</sup>	1	4815	1274	3290	24.28	373.64	11	408.9	116.9	476.0	36.2	629.1	1539	1362±3	557±1.0	0.14	53.6	459	98±1.0	4052±43	16±1
R6 <sup>a</sup>	1	1051	1274	3290	62.58	335.93	11	409.5	65.8	428.0	36.2	529.9	1294	1185±9	485±3.5	0.14	48.3	416	69±3.5	1107±56	-5±5
		1		1	1	T	1	r.	1	T	1			r	1	T		T			
Іь	1	0	1274	3290	0	400.00	0	400.0	0	509.6	0	509.6	1274	1124±29	449±11.4	0.15±0.029	60.2	449	0±0.0	0±0	12±2
R1 <sup>b</sup>	1	3694	1274	3290	9.83	387.97	0	397.8	36.3	494.3	0	530.6	1334	1194±35	475±13.9	0.15	58.3	436	39±13.9	3979±1417	-8±38
R2 <sup>b</sup>	1	8394	1274	3290	26.21	371.06	0	397.3	220.0	472.7	0	692.7	1744	1561±21	620±8.3	0.15	55.8	417	203±8.3	7754±318	8±4
R2 <sup>b</sup>	2	8394	1274	3290	26.17	371.06	0	397.2	219.7	472.7	0	692.4	1743	1526±14	606±5.6	0.15	55.8	417	189±5.6	7230±212	14±3
R2 <sup>b</sup>	3	8394	1274	3290	26.21	371.06	0	397.3	220.0	472.7	0	692.7	1744	1554±0	617±0.0	0.15	55.8	417	200±0.0	7647±0	9±0
R3 <sup>b</sup>	1	2285	1274	3290	18.28	380.01	0	398.3	41.8	484.1	0	525.9	1320	1146±6	456±2.5	0.15	57.1	427	29±2.5	1605±139	30±6
R4 <sup>b</sup>	1	5147	1274	3290	13.81	384.09	0	397.9	71.1	489.3	0	560.4	1408	1272±17	506±6.7	0.15	57.8	432	75±6.7	5406±485	-5±9
R5 <sup>o</sup>	1	4815	1274	3290	24.30	373.64	0	397.9	117.0	476.0	0	593.0	1490	1383±0	550±0.0	0.15	56.2	420	131±0.0	5375±0	-12±0
R6 <sup>0</sup>	1	1051	1274	3290	62.57	335.93	0	398.5	65.8	428.0	0	493.7	1239	1106±14	441±5.4	0.15	50.5	378	63±5.4	1011±86	4±8

Table C.6. TKN calculations with and without nutrient supplementation.

<sup>b</sup> without nutrient supplementation.

		Initial I	ORP concent mg/L	rations,		Volumes u	used, mL		Ι	nitial DRP a	mounts, mg		DRP con reac	ncentration in tor, mg/L	Final DRP	Specific DRP	Inoculum I	DRP, mg	Digestate	Digestate DRP	DRP removal
Reactor	Triplicate code	Digestate	Inoculum	Nutrient medium	Digestate	Inoculum	Nutrient medium	Total volume	Digestate	Inoculum	Nutrient medium	Total in reactor	Initial	Final	amount in reactor, mg	removal of inoculum, mg/mL	Removed	Remained	DRP remained, mg	remained, mg/L	from digestates, %
		[X]d,i	[X]1,i	[X]nt,i	Vd	V1	Vnt	Vt	Xd,i	X1,i	Xnt,i	Xt,i	[X]t,i	[X]t,f	Xt,f	Is	X1,removed	Xı,f	Xd,f	[X]d,f	X eff
Ia	1	0	27	3310	0.00	400.00	11	411.0	0.0	10.9	36	47.3	115	24.4±0.1	10.0±0.0	0.09±0	37.2	10.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	0±0	79±0
R1 <sup>a</sup>	1	1156	27	3310	9.83	387.97	11	408.8	11.4	10.6	36	58.3	142.7	14.1±0.0	5.8±0.0	0.09	36.1	10.9	-5.1±0.0	-520±0	145±0
R2 <sup>a</sup>	1	1098	27	3310	26.17	371.06	11	408.2	28.7	10.1	36	75.2	184.3	60.8±0.4	24.8±0.2	0.09	34.5	12.0	12.9±0.2	492±6	55±1
R2 <sup>a</sup>	2	1098	27	3310	26.18	371.06	11	408.2	28.7	10.1	36	75.2	184.3	54.6±0.2	22.3±0.1	0.09	34.5	12.0	10.3±0.1	395±3	64±0
R2 <sup>a</sup>	3	1098	27	3310	26.19	371.06	11	408.2	28.8	10.1	36	75.3	184.3	60.8±0.2	24.8±0.1	0.09	34.5	12.0	12.9±0.1	492±3	55±0
R3 <sup>a</sup>	1	290	27	3310	18.34	380.01	11	409.3	5.3	10.3	36	52.1	127.2	$7.6\pm0.0$	3.1±0.0	0.09	35.4	11.4	-8.3±0.0	-450±1	255±0
R4 <sup>a</sup>	1	466	27	3310	13.88	384.09	11	409.0	6.5	10.4	36	53.3	130.4	22.3±0.0	9.1±0.0	0.09	35.7	11.1	-2.0±0.0	-146±1	131±0
R5 <sup>a</sup>	1	549	27	3310	24.28	373.64	11	408.9	13.3	10.2	36	59.9	146.5	32.5±0.0	13.3±0.0	0.09	34.8	11.8	$1.5\pm0.0$	62±0	89±0
R6 <sup>a</sup>	1	34	27	3310	62.58	335.93	11	409.5	2.1	9.1	36	47.6	116.4	20.6±0.0	8.4±0.0	0.09	31.4	14.2	-5.8±0.0	-92±0	373±0
											1	1			1			1			
I <sup>b</sup>	1	0	27	3310	0.00	400.00	0	400.0	0.0	10.9	0	10.9	27.2	6.5±0.1	2.6±0.0	0.02±0	8.3	2.6	0.0±0.0	0±0	76±0
R1 <sup>b</sup>	1	1156	27	3310	9.83	387.97	0	397.8	11.4	10.6	0	21.9	55.1	11.3±0.0	4.5±0.0	0.02	8.0	2.5	2.0±0.0	203±0	82±0
R2 <sup>b</sup>	1	1098	27	3310	26.21	371.06	0	397.3	28.8	10.1	0	38.9	97.8	26.2±0.0	10.4±0.0	0.02	7.7	2.4	8.0±0.0	305±0	72±0
R2 <sup>b</sup>	2	1098	27	3310	26.17	371.06	0	397.2	28.7	10.1	0	38.8	97.7	25.4±0.3	10.1±0.1	0.02	7.7	2.4	7.7±0.1	294±5	73±0
R2 <sup>b</sup>	3	1098	27	3310	26.21	371.06	0	397.3	28.8	10.1	0	38.9	97.8	27.2±0.2	10.8±0.1	0.02	7.7	2.4	8.4±0.1	321±3	71±0
R3 <sup>b</sup>	1	290	27	3310	18.28	380.01	0	398.3	5.3	10.3	0	15.6	39.2	7.6±0.0	3.0±0.0	0.02	7.9	2.5	$0.6{\pm}0.0$	31±1	89±0
R4 <sup>b</sup>	1	466	27	3310	13.81	384.09	0	397.9	6.4	10.4	0	16.9	42.4	8.7±0.0	3.5±0.0	0.02	8.0	2.5	1.0±0.0	71±1	85±0
R5 <sup>b</sup>	1	549	27	3310	24.30	373.64	0	397.9	13.3	10.2	0	23.5	59.1	10.0±0.0	4.0±0.0	0.02	7.7	2.4	1.6±0.0	65±1	88±0
R6 <sup>b</sup>	1	34	27	3310	62.57	335.93	0	398.5	2.1	9.1	0	11.2	28.2	9.1±0.0	3.6±0.0	0.02	7.0	2.2	$1.4\pm0.0$	23±0	32±1

Table C.7. DRP calculations with and without nutrient supplementation.

<sup>b</sup> without nutrient supplementation.

		Initial TP	concentratio	ons, mg/L		Volumes	used, mL			Initial TP an	nounts, mg		TP con reac	centration in tor, mg/L	Final TP amount in	Specific TP removal of	Inoculum	TP, mg	Digestate TP	Digestate TP concentration	TP removal efficiency
Reactor	code	Digestate	Inoculum	Nutrient medium	Digestate	Inoculum	Nutrient medium	Total volume	Digestate	Inoculum	Nutrient medium	Total in reactor	Initial	Final	reactor, mg	inoculum, mg/mL	Removed	Remained	remained, mg	remained, mg/L	from digestates, %
		[X]d,i	[X]1,i	[X]nt,i	Vd	V1	Vnt	Vt	Xd,i	X1,i	Xnt,i	Xt,i	[X]t,i	[X]t,f	Xt,f	Is	X1,removed	Xı,f	Xd,f	[X]d,f	X eff
Ia	1	0	409	3373	0.00	400.00	11	411.0	0.0	163.6	37.1	200.7	488.3	377±0.9	155±0.4	0.11±0.001	45.9	154.8	0.0±0.0	$0{\pm}0.0$	23±0°
R1 <sup>a</sup>	1	2314	409	3373	9.83	387.97	11	408.8	22.7	158.7	37.1	218.5	534.6	423±0.9	173±0.4	0.11	44.6	151.2	21.8±0.4	2221±39	4±2
R2 <sup>a</sup>	1	2786	409	3373	26.17	371.06	11	408.2	72.9	151.8	37.1	261.8	641.3	516±0.0	211±0.0	0.11	42.7	146.2	64.4±0.0	2462±0.0	12±0
R2 <sup>a</sup>	2	2786	409	3373	26.18	371.06	11	408.2	72.9	151.8	37.1	261.8	641.3	519±0.9	212±0.4	0.11	42.7	146.2	65.5±0.4	2503±15	10±1
R2 <sup>a</sup>	3	2786	409	3373	26.19	371.06	11	408.2	73.0	151.8	37.1	261.8	641.4	515±0.9	210±0.4	0.11	42.7	146.2	64.2±0.4	2450±15	12±1
R3 <sup>a</sup>	1	1340	409	3373	18.34	380.01	11	409.3	24.6	155.4	37.1	217.1	530.4	409±0.9	167±0.4	0.11	43.7	148.9	18.4±0.4	1005±21	25±2
R4 <sup>a</sup>	1	1555	409	3373	13.88	384.09	11	409.0	21.6	157.1	37.1	215.8	527.6	403±0.9	165±0.4	0.11	44.1	150.1	14.6±0.4	1052±28	32±2
R5 <sup>a</sup>	1	1725	409	3373	24.28	373.64	11	408.9	41.9	152.8	37.1	231.8	566.9	462±0.0	189±0.0	0.11	43.0	147.0	42.0±0.0	1728±0	$0\pm0$
R6 <sup>a</sup>	1	352	409	3373	62.58	335.93	11	409.5	22.0	137.4	37.1	196.5	479.9	411±0.9	168±0.4	0.11	38.7	135.8	32.4±0.4	518±6	-47±2
	1		1	1		1	1		1	1	1					1	•	1	1		
Ip	1	0	409	3373	0.00	400.00	0	400.0	0.0	163.6	0	163.6	409.0	288±0.0	115±0.0	0.12±0.000	48.4	115.2	0.0±0.0	0±0.0	30±0
R1 <sup>b</sup>	1	2314	409	3373	9.83	387.97	0	397.8	22.7	158.7	0	181.4	456.1	329±0.9	131±0.4	0.12	46.9	111.7	19.0±0.4	1934±38	16±2
R2 <sup>b</sup>	1	2786	409	3373	26.21	371.06	0	397.3	73.0	151.8	0	224.8	565.8	443±0.9	176±0.4	0.12	44.9	106.9	69.3±0.4	2643±14	5±1
R2 <sup>b</sup>	2	2786	409	3373	26.17	371.06	0	397.2	72.9	151.8	0	224.7	565.6	443±0.9	176±0.4	0.12	44.9	106.9	69.0±0.4	2635±14	5±1
R2 <sup>b</sup>	3	2786	409	3373	26.21	371.06	0	397.3	73.0	151.8	0	224.8	565.8	457±0.9	182±0.4	0.12	44.9	106.9	74.8±0.4	2855±14	-2±1
R3 <sup>b</sup>	1	1340	409	3373	18.28	380.01	0	398.3	24.5	155.4	0	179.9	451.7	320±0.0	127±0.0	0.12	46.0	109.4	18.0±0.0	985±0.0	26±0
R4 <sup>b</sup>	1	1555	409	3373	13.81	384.09	0	397.9	21.5	157.1	0	178.6	448.8	319±0.9	127±0.4	0.12	46.5	110.6	16.4±0.4	1191±27	23±2
R5 <sup>b</sup>	1	1725	409	3373	24.30	373.64	0	397.9	41.9	152.8	0	194.7	489.4	394±0.0	157±0.0	0.12	45.2	107.6	49.2±0.0	2024±0.0	-17±0
R6 <sup>b</sup>	1	352	409	3373	62.57	335.93	0	398.5	22.0	137.4	0	159.4	400.1	299±0.9	119±0.4	0.12	40.6	96.7	22.5±0.4	360±6.0	-2±2

Table C.8. TP calculations with and without nutrient supplementation.

<sup>b</sup> without nutrient supplementation.
#### D. Effect of chloride ion concentration on COD measurements

Chloride and chemical oxygen demand were measured according to Standart Methods (APHA, 2005). HgSO<sub>4</sub>:Cl<sup>-</sup> ratio (by weight) ranged between 175-2285 according to the results of the analysis (Table D.1). A HgSO<sub>4</sub>:Cl<sup>-</sup> (mercury sulfate:chloride) of 10:1 (by weight) is offered in the measurement of COD to eliminate the interference of chloride ions (Gopal, 2007). Chloride ions were found to be not interfering with the results due to high HgSO<sub>4</sub>:Cl<sup>-</sup> ratios during COD measurements.

Digestate of anaerobic digester	Chloride, mg/L	Sample volume taken for COD analysis, mL	Chloride amount of sample, mg	HgSO4 added, g	HgSO <sub>4</sub> :Cl <sup>-</sup>
1	3374	0.2141	0.722	1.0771	1491
	3374	0.2627	0.886	2.0254	2285
2	4724	1.2121	5.725	1.0040	175
	4724	1.1415	5.392	2.0017	371
3	2849	0.3458	0.985	1.0085	1024
	2849	0.3791	1.080	2.0145	1865
4	8797	0.3420	3.009	1.0069	335
	8797	0.2967	2.610	2.0064	769
5	4599	0.3256	1.497	1.0150	678
	4599	0.3207	1.475	2.0023	1358
6	1425	1.3840	1.972	1.0091	512
	1425	1.5222	2.168	2.0021	923

Table D.1. Chloride concentrations of the digestates and related HgSO<sub>4</sub>:Cl<sup>-</sup> ratios during the COD measurements.

#### E. Negative biogas production periods in the related reactors

The negative biogas production periods of 5 or more days was observed in one of the nutrient supplemented R1 and one of R2 reactors and given in Figure E.1 and Figure E.2, respectively.



Figure E.1. Negative biogas production period experienced in one of the nutrient supplemented R1 reactor.



Figure E.2. Negative biogas production period experienced in one of the nutrient supplemented R2 reactor.

### F. Inconsistent data observed in RBP test

Inconsistent data, i.e. spike formation, observed in the residual biogas potential graphs is given in Figure F.1 and Figure F.2.



Figure F.1. The formation of a spike in one R5 reactor without nutrient supplementation.



Figure F.2. The formation of a spike in one R6 reactor with nutrient supplementation.

G. Correlation between biogas yields and removed volatile solids from digestate samples

The residual biogas yields calculated based on the added VS of the digestates and the corresponding removed amounts of VS from the digestates are given in Tables G.1 and G.2 with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively.

Table G.1. Residual biogas yields and VS removed from digestates with nutrient supplementation.

The digestate of anaerobic digester	Residual biogas yield, L <sub>biogas</sub> /g VS <sub>added</sub>	VS removal amounts from the digestate, mg
1	$0.256 \pm 0.024$	270±27
2	$0.299\pm0.005$	387±37
3	$0.111 \pm 0.013$	134±2
4	$0.181\pm0.014$	162±8
5	$0.146\pm0.013$	179±31
6	$0.227\pm0.001$	127±12

Table	G.2. Residual	biogas yields an	d VS	removed	from	digestates	without	nutrient
		sur	plem	entation.				

The digestate of	Residual biogas yield,	VS removal amounts
anaerobic digester	$L_{biogas}/g \ VS_{added}$	from the digestate, mg
1	$0.210\pm0.015$	268±26
2	$0.326\pm0.009$	361±44
3	$0.123 \pm 0.009$	$117\pm8$
4	$0.175 \pm 0.015$	165±42
5	$0.181 \pm 0.013$	161±20
6	$0.195\pm0.014$	117±34

The correlation between RBYs and removed VS was evaluated using the average values for both variables. The coefficient of determinations ( $R^2$ ) were found as 0.6214 (Figure G.1) and 0.8026 (Figure G.2) with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively.



Figure G.1. Correlation between RBY and VS removed from digestate with nutrient supplementation including the digestate of anaerobic digester 6.



Figure G.2. Correlation between RBY and VS removed from digestate without nutrient supplementation including the digestate of anaerobic digester 6.

When the data related to digestate of anaerobic digester 6 is eliminated,  $R^2$  values increased from 0.6214 to 0.8956 (Figure G.3) and from 0.8026 to 0.9247 (Figure G.4) with and without nutrient supplementation, respectively.



Figure G.3. Correlation between RBY and VS removed from digestate with nutrient supplementation excluding the digestate of anaerobic digester 6.



Figure G.4. Correlation between RBY and VS removed from digestate without nutrient supplementation excluding the digestate of anaerobic digester 6.

#### H. Calculations on the concentration of free ammonia

Free ammonia nitrogen (FAN) concentrations were theoretically calculated using the following formula (Anthonisen et al., 1976; Calli et al., 2005):

$$FAN = \frac{TAN}{1+10^{(pK_a-pH)}}$$
[H.1]

where, TAN is the concentration of total ammonia nitrogen and  $pK_a$  is the acid dissociation constant (8.95 at 35°C).

#### The estimation of FAN concentrations at the beginning of the RBP test

FAN concentrations were calculated depending on the individual pHs of the components and the initial NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentrations in the reactors (Table H.1). pH in the reactors were initially not measured to preserve the anaerobic conditions after nitrogen purging. Thus, the FAN concentrations were calculated based on the pH of the digestate and the pH of the inoculum independently for each reactor (Table H.1).

Nutrient supplementation	Reactor	Initial pH of digestate A	Initial pH of inoculum B	pKa at 35°C C	Initial TAN concentration in the reactor, mg/L D	Potential FAN concentration due to digestate, mg/L E=D/(1+10 <sup>C-A</sup> )	Potential FAN concentration due to inoculum, mg/L F=D/(1+10 <sup>C-B</sup> )
	R1	8.78	8.71	8.95	1014	409	370
	R2	8.50	8.71	8.95	1393	365	509
with	R3	8.72	8.71	8.95	996	369	364
	R4	8.87	8.71	8.95	1081	491	395
	R5	8.60	8.71	8.95	1145	354	418
	R6	8.36	8.71	8.95	946	193	346
	R1	8.78	8.71	8.95	951	384	347
	R2	8.50	8.71	8.95	1341	351	490
without	R3	8.72	8.71	8.95	933	346	341
	R4	8.87	8.71	8.95	1020	463	373
	R5	8.60	8.71	8.95	1086	335	397
	R6	8.36	8.71	8.95	882	180	322

Table H.1. FAN estimates at the beginning of the test.

# The estimation of final FAN concentrations at the end of the RBP test

Final FAN concentrations were calculated depending on the measured pH and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N concentrations at the end of operation (Table H.2).

Nutrient	Reactor	Final pH	pK <sub>a</sub> at 35°C	Final TAN concentration in the reactor, mg/L	Potential FAN concentration in the reactor, mg/L
supplementation		А	В	С	D=C/(1+10 <sup>B-A</sup> )
	R1	7.53	8.95	1196	44
	R2	7.91	8.95	1537	128
:41-	R3	7.66	8.95	1139	56
WITU	R4	7.75	8.95	1212	72
	R5	8.13	8.95	1285	169
	R6	8.07	8.95	1118	130
	R1	7.72	8.95	1108	62
	R2	8	8.95	1470	148
without	R3	7.91	8.95	1074	90
without	R4	7.8	8.95	1166	77
	R5	7.81	8.95	1280	86
	R6	7.94	8.95	1044	93

Table H.2. FAN estimates at the end of the test.

# I. A sample calculation for NH4<sup>+</sup>-N removal in T1a

The major mechanisms for ammonium removal were assumed as nitrification and microalgal-bacterial uptake. The related calculations were given in the following table.

Cor	nstituent	T1a	Formula	Calculation
NTLL + NL	Initial	$316.3 \pm 89.41$	А	316.3
$NH_4^{-} - N$ ,	Final	$29.0\pm1.00$	В	29.0
mg/L	Removed	287.3	C= (A-B)	316.3-29.0= 287.3
	Initial	$3.0 \pm 0.10$	D	3.0
$NO_3^{-}-N,$	Final	$146.0 \pm 1.00$	Е	146.0
mg/L	Formed	143.0	F=(E-D)	146.0-3.0=143.0
	<b>T</b> 1.1 1		G	0.0
$NO_2^{-}-N$ .	Initial	$0.9 \pm 0.09$	G	0.9
mg/L	Final	$3.1 \pm 0.16$	H	3.1
8, —	Formed	2.3*	I= (H-G)	3.1-0.9= 2.2*
(NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> -N)+	$(NO_2^N), mg/L$	145.3	J=F+I	143.0+2.3= 145.3
Total NH4 <sup>+</sup>	- N removal, %	90.8	K= C*100/A	287.3*100/316.3=90.3
NH <sub>4</sub> <sup>+</sup> - N contribution	onversion by 1, %	50.6	L= J*100/C	145.3*100/287.3= 50.6
Microalgal NH4 <sup>+</sup> - N removal, mg/L		142.0	M= (C-J)	287.3-145.3= 142.0
Microalgal removal, %	NH4 <sup>+</sup> - N	49.4	N= M*100/C	142.0*100/287.3=49.4

Table I.1. Sample calculation for NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N removal

\* The difference between values was based on the significant digits used in actual calculations.

#### J. NH4<sup>+</sup>-N removal kinetics

Linear fitting lines according to zero-, one-half-, first- and second-order kinetics on  $NH_4^+$ - N removal are shown in Figure J.1 and the related  $R^2$  values of these lines are given in Table J.1. The maximum and minimum  $R^2$  values obtained by the application of zero-, one-half- and first-order kinetics were observed to be very close to each other (Table J.1). The variation between  $R^2$  values for each reactor was then calculated by taking the difference between maximum and minimum  $R^2$  values. The related variations were found as 0.0558, 0.0414 and 0.0532 according to zero-, one-half- and first-order kinetics, respectively. The application of one-half-order kinetics resulted in respectively less variation between maximum and minimum  $R^2$  values, thus, found to be the best representative on the removal of  $NH_4^+$ - N.

	Zero-order	One-half-order	First-order	Second-order
T1a	0.9382	0.9844	0.9859	0.8747
T1b	0.9546	0.9893	0.9748	0.8
T2a	0.9800	0.9930	0.9972	0.976
T2b	0.9342	0.9516	0.9592	0.936
T3a	0.9900	0.9867	0.9808	0.962
T3b	0.9721	0.9602	0.9440	0.9012
T4	0.9753	0.9693	0.9612	0.9387
max	0.9900	0.9930	0.9972	0.9760
min	0.9342	0.9516	0.9440	0.8000
variation between R <sup>2</sup> values	0.0558	0.0414	0.0532	0.1760

Table J.1. R<sup>2</sup> values of the linear fitting lines for NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N removal.



Figure J.1. NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>- N removal linear fitting lines: (a) zero-order, (b) one-half-order, (c) first-order, (d) second-order kinetics.

# K. A sample calculation on DRP and TDP removal

DRP and TDP removal was calculated based on the assumption that the only removal mechanism was the biological uptake (Table K.1).

Constituent		T1a	Formula	Calculation
	Initial	$13.10\pm0.14$	А	13.10
DRP (mg/L)	Final	$0.00\pm0.00$	В	0.00
	Removed	13.10	C= (A-B)	13.10-0.00= 13.10
	Initial	$16.75\pm1.00$	D	16.75
TDP (mg/L)	Final	$0.74\pm0.06$	E	0.74
-	Removed	16.01	F= (D-E)	16.75-0.74= 16.01
Total DRP rea	moval (%)	100.0	G= (C*100)/A	13.10*100/13.10=100
Total TDP rer	noval (%)	95.6	H= (F*100)/D	16.01*100/16.75=95.6

Table K.1. Sample calculation on DRP and TDP removal.

### L. TDP removal kinetics

Linear fitting lines according to zero-, first- and second-order kinetics for TDP removal are shown in Figure L.1 and the related  $R^2$  values of these lines are given in Table L.1. The first and second order kinetics had a lower coefficient of determination in the range of 0.8062-0.8894 and 0.5701-0.6237, respectively, compared to the zero-order kinetics (0.9833-0.9988). Hence, zero-order kinetics was found to be representative for the removal of TDP in all reactors and used for further estimation of total concentration of TDP within the reactors.

	Zero-order	First-order	Second-order
T1a	0.9971	0.8894	0.6076
T1b	0.9981	0.8803	0.5859
T2a	0.9853	0.8062	0.6145
T2b	0.9833	0.8438	0.5701
T3a	0.9924	0.8356	0.6237
T3b	0.9923	0.8533	0.5911
T4	0.9988	0.8822	0.6217
Max	0.9988	0.8894	0.6237
Min	0.9833	0.8062	0.5701

Table L.1. R<sup>2</sup> values of the linear fitting lines for TDP removal.



Figure L.1. TDP removal linear fitting lines: (a) zero-order, (b) first-order, (c) second-order kinetics.

#### M. DRP removal kinetics

Linear fitting lines according to zero-, first- and second-order kinetics of DRP removal are shown in Figure M.1 and the related R<sup>2</sup> values of these lines are given in Table M.1. The DRP removal within all the reactors was well represented with zero-order kinetics with a R<sup>2</sup> ranging between 0.9802-0.9951. The first and second order kinetics had a lower coefficient of determination in the range of 0.8223-0.8799 and 0.4461-0.6758, respectively. Zero-order kinetics was found to be representative for the removal of DRP in all reactors and used for further estimation of total concentration of DRP within the reactors.

	Zero-order	First-order	Second-order
T1a	0.9951	0.8406	0.5746
T1b	0.9934	0.8799	0.6202
T2a	0.9921	0.8578	0.4629
T2b	0.9892	0.8279	0.6758
T3a	0.9898	0.8223	0.453
T3b	0.9802	0.8543	0.4461
T4	0.9890	0.8441	0.5491
Max	0.9951	0.8799	0.6758
Min	0.9802	0.8223	0.4461

Table M.1. R<sup>2</sup> values of the linear fitting curves for DRP



Figure M.1. DRP removal linear fitting lines: (a) zero-order, (b) first-order, (c) second-order reaction.

# **CURRICULUM VITAE**

## PERSONAL INFORMATION

: Ülgüdür, Nilüfer
: Turkish (TC)
: 10 November 1981, Çanakkale
: +90 505 713 91 94
: niluferdem@gmail.com

### **EDUCATION**

Degree	Institution	Year of
		Graduation
MS	METU Environmental Engineering	2013
BS	METU Environmental Engineering	2004
High School	Çankaya Milli Piyango High School, Ankara	1999

## WORK EXPERIENCE

Year Place H	Enrollment
2018-Present Düzce University F	Research Assistant
2013-2018 Middle East Technical University F	Research Assistant
2011-2013 Düzce University F	Research Assistant
2008-2011 ENÇEV Ltd. Co.	Air Quality Modeling
2006-2007 ODAK Ltd. Co. N	Management Systems
2005-2006 MASS Inc. Co. N	Management Systems
2004-2005 ARITES Ltd. Co. E	Environmental Engineering

### FOREIGN LANGUAGES

Advanced English, Beginner German

# **PUBLICATIONS**

1. Ulgudur, N., Ergüder, T. H., Demirer, G. N. (submitted to a journal). Simultaneous dissolution and uptake of nutrients in the microalgal treatment of a digestate.

- 2. Ulgudur, N., Ergüder, T. H., Uludağ-Demirer, S., Demirer, G. N. (submitted to a journal). Anaerobic treatment and valorisation of digestate using high-rate fixed film reactors.
- 3. Ulgudur, N., Demirer, G. N. (2019). Anaerobic treatability and residual biogas potential of the effluent stream of anaerobic digestion processes. Water Environment Research, 91(3), 259-268. DOI: 10.1002/wer.1048.
- 4. Arslan, B., Ulgudur N., Erdogan M., Imamoglu I., Karakaya I. (2014). Comparison of structual properties of copper deposits from sulfate and pyrophosphate electrolytes. ECS Transactions, 58 (32), 105-113.

# INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE PROCEEDINGS

Ülgüdür N., Karakaya, İ., İmamoğlu, İ. "Environmentally friendly copper electroplating process development", IWA Biennial World Water Congress 2014 Lisbon, Portugal, 21-26 September, 2014.

Ülgüdür N., Erdoğan, M., Karakaya, İ., İmamoğlu, İ. "Environmentally friendly copper strike electroplating process development", ISGMA 2014 International Symposium on Green Manufacturing and Applications, Busan, S.Korea, 24-28 June, 2014.

Ülgüdür N., İ. Karakaya, İ. İmamoğlu "Evaluation of non-cyanide alternative in a labscale copper strike electroplating process by monitoring bath parameters and product quality assessment", ISGMA 2014 International Symposium on Green Manufacturing and Applications, Busan, S.Korea, 24-28 June, 2014.

# NATIONAL CONFERENCE PROCEEDINGS

Ülgüdür N., Karakaya İ., İmamoğlu İ., "Laboratuvar ölçekli bakır elektrokaplama sürecinde temiz üretim uygulamaları", 10. Ulusal Çevre Mühendisliği Kongresi, Ankara, 12-14 Eylül 2013.